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Nickel Asia Corporation (NAC) is 
the Philippines' largest producer 
of lateritic nickel ore and one of 
the largest In the world . We have 
a long operating history, starting 
with the sale of ore in 1977 from 
our first mine, Rio Tuba. Since 
then, we have expanded to fou r 
operating mines and have sold a 
total of about 96 million tonnes 
of ore up to 2013. 

Taking Pride In Rtsponslble Minerlll Development 

We export both saprolit e and 
limonit e ore to customers in Japan 
and China. OU r customers use ou r 
ore for t he production offerronlckel 
and nickel pig Iron, both used to 
produce stainless stee l. and for 
t he product ion of pig Iron used 
for carbon steel. We are also the 
exclusive supplier of limonite ore 
from our Rio Tuba mine to the 
country's first hydrometallurglcal 
nickel processing plant, Coral 
Bay, where we have a 1 0% equity 
interest. Coral Bay became 
operational in 2005 and currently 
operates at a capacity of 24,000 
t onnes of contained nicke l and 1 ,500 
tonnes of contained cobalt per year 
in t he form of a mixed nickel-cobalt 
sulfide. It has proven to be t he 
world's most efficient facility using 
the high-pressure acld leach (HPAL) 
process. 

In 2010. we made an Investment 
of P4.4 billion for a 22.5% equity 
int erest in t he country's second 
hydrometallurglcal nickel processing 
plant under Taganito HPAL Nickel 
Corporat ion. The plant started its 
commercial operat ion in October 
2013, with a capacity of 30,000 
tonnes of contained nicke l and 2,600 
tonnes of contained cobalt per year. 
Our Taganito mine supplies all of the 
limonite ore for the plant. At a total 
project cost of US$1 .7 bil lion, t he 
plant represents the single largest 
investment in th e Ph il ippine minerals 
sector. 

Apart from our four operat ing mines. 
we have five properties in various 
stages of explorat ion for nickel. In 
November 20 10, we concluded t he 
purchase of Cordillera Exploration 
Co., Inc. from Anglo American, 
with four properties in the Central 
Cordillera of northern Luzon t hat 
are prospective for gold and copper. 
The pu rchase marks our first step 
In our vision to become a dive rsified 
mineral resource company. In 
November 20 11, Sumitomo Metal 
Mining Co., Ltd. acquired 25% equity 
In the company with an option 
t o purchase addit ional shares to 
Increase its total equity to 40%. 

We are focused on growth. At 
t he same t ime, we t ake our 
responsibilit ies t oward safety, 
environmental protection 
and community relat ions and 
development seriously. Our efforts 
In t hese fields have resulted in 
numerous awards received over t he 
years during the annual Presidential 
Mineral Industry Environmental 
Awards. We believe that sustainable 
development is t he only way forward 
for any mlnlng operat ion and we 
exert great effort to achieve its 
principles. We are committed to 
responsible mining and to running 
eve ry facet of our operations ln a 
world-class manner. 
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Vision 
To be a world-class diversified mineral resource 
company that has exemplary relationships with all 
stakeholders. 

Mission Statement 
Using best global industry practices, we are committed to: 

• Optimizing our current operations; 

• Exploring and developing additional deposits for 
nickel and other minerals to sustain our growth; 

• Delivering to our customers quality mineral 
products in a timely manner; 

• Nurturing our employees and providing a safe 
and healthy workplace for them to achieve their full 
potential; 

• Uplifting the quality of life of our host 
communities; 

• Protecting the environment in all our operations; and 

• Adopting the highest standards of corporate 
governance. 

Core Values 
Competence 
Efficiency 
Responsibility to all stakeholders 
Teamwork 
Integrity and honesty 
Financial growth 
Dedication 
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From Manila, the Company arranged for a flight to Guiuan 
filled with medicines along with five doctors from the Philippine 
General Hospital. It was the first private aircraft to land on the 
Guiuan airstrip and the first to bring medical supplies from the 
"outside world". 

Taking directions from the most senior managers in the Manila 
head office, our subsidiary, Hinatuan Mining Corporation 
(HMC) began its relief effort by dispatching one Landing 
Craft Transport (LCT) from Surigao, laden with assorted food 
items, beddings, flashlights, bottled water, milk for children, 
to Manicani and Victory islands for distribution among its 
residents. Clearing operations in Manicani followed three days 
after the first round of relief goods were distributed. Two more 
rounds of relief goods followed, with a medical mission led by 
HMC doctor Oliver Lao treating more than a hundred residents 
of Manicani. The municipality of Guiuan also requested help in 
clearing its debris. In response, HMC deployed a dozen of its 
workers for four months to do the job in partnership with the 
municipal engineering office. 

On the island, Trina Malaga, HMC's Manicani operations OIC 
(who survived the winds of Yolanda crouched under a table as 
the roofing of her quarters and its windows were blown away) 
coordinated the relief effort with the four barangay chairmen 
on the island, communicating with Manila and Surigao through 
intermittent mobile phone signals. In fact, the very morning 
after Yolanda, about 1 00 staff of HMC who had been pre­
emptively evacuated to the mine campsite returned to their 
barangays to check on their relations and possessions, while 
the seven regular employees stayed behind to respond to the 
immediate needs of the nearby community, providing first aid 
and food and helping collect scrap material and nails plus 
beddings and clothing for their makeshift homes. Others started 
repair work on their damaged pumpboats. 

Stress debriefing activities were conducted by HMC staff in 
the barangays of Manicani and on Victory island- in the form 
of story-telling, games for school children, thanksgiving cum 
Christmas cheers, and a thanksgiving lunch with the newly 
elected barangay officials. Everything possible was being done 
to bring life closer to "normal" after the typhoon, given that 
this period of the year should have been a joyous run-up to 
Christmas. 

All of these efforts were conducted in coordination with the local 
government unit (LGU) of Guiuan through Mayor Christopher 
Gonzales, himself still reeling from the total devastation of his 
town. It became very clear early on that the immediate effort 
of relief should be directed at providing transitional housing for 
everyone -because they had lost their homes to Yolanda (365 
were totally damaged and 124 were partially damaged)- as 
well as a means to resume making a livelihood after all their 
fishing boats were washed away or destroyed. 



As a result, the Company announced 
the adoption of Manicani Island as the 
focal point of its assistance to areas 
affected by Yolanda. A PSO-million 
coastal rehabilitation plan, drawn up 
a few months prior to the calamity, 
was superseded by a reconstruction 
plan for the island. This plan now 
included assistance to all the 489 
households whose houses were either 
totally or partially damaged by the 
super typhoon: each house would 
now be rebuilt on its original location 
as transitional housing, while a study 
would be conducted as to where best 
to permanently relocate the islanders 
to lessen the damage from any future 
Yolanda-like calamity. 

Also included in the plan is the 
reconstruction of the four barangay 
halls, four churches and the health 
center on the island, along with 
the rehabilitation of the heavily 
damaged Manicani Island National 
High School that the Company had 
previously built. For the Poblacion 
proper, the Company will rebuild ten 
barangay halls, a health center, and 
assist the National Museum in the 
effort to reconstruct the damaged 
Guiuan Church, a National Historical 
landmark. 

The reconstruction of every home 
on the island is a clear testament to 
the sense of responsibility that the 
Company has towards the island and 
its residents despite the suspension 
of the Company's operations in 
2002. Plus, the additional provision 
of 20 fishing boats worth P2 million 
is the Company's way of helping 
the residents revive fishing as their 
means of livelihood. An Information, 
Education and Communication (IEC) 
campaign about Coastal Resources 
Management is in the works. Also, 
college scholarship grants to five 
deserving and qualified high school 
graduates are being processed. 
Post-Yolanda, the Company is keen 
on investing on the next generation, 
particularly the school children 
and youth. For medium term stress 
debriefing and as a means of 
leadership training the Company is 
considering using the visual arts or 
community theatre workshops as a 
medium. 

In the meantime, having complied with all the requirements 
imposed by the DENR, HMC looks forward to being able to 
resume operations in due course, because the harsh reality 
is this: the fishing grounds around the island have long been 
depleted of their catch, partly because of the perils of dynamite 
fishing and partly because of poachers with bigger boats moving 
into the area. Without a responsible mining operation, the 
islanders of Manicani will surely find getting back on their feet 
a real struggle in Yolanda's harsh wake. A responsible mining 
operation in Manicani will also mean greater local tax collections 
for the Guiuan LGU- funds it will be in desperate need offor 
years to come. 

By coming to the assistance of the islanders despite the absence 
of any commercial operations on Manicani itself, the Company 
is in effect telling the island residents that it, too, is willing to 
bear part of the "hit" that Vola nda has caused, with or without 
operations. 

There can be no better testament to social 
responsibility than this. 
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Summary of Ore Reserves and Resources 

TOTAL ORE RESERVES Cll as of December 31,2013 

Operation Mineral Type 

Rio Tuba 

Taganito 

Cagdianao 

Hinatuan 

Total 
Reserves 

This summary was prepared by Engr. Jose S. Saret, who is the current Chief Operating Officer of Nickel Asia Corporation. Engr. Saret is a Competent Person 
under the definition of the Philippine Mineral Reporti ng Code (PMRC) and has sufficient experience as to the type of deposit and mineralization. He has given 
his consent to the public reporting of this statement concerning Ore Reserve Estimation. 

TOTAL MINERAL RESOURCES C2l as of December 31, 2013 

Rio Tuba 

Taganito 

Cagdianao 

Hinatuan 

Total 
Resources 

Tonnes 
(kwmt) 

This summary was prepared by Radegundo S. de Luna, who is a Consultant Geologist for Nickel Asia Corporation. Mr. de Lu na is a Competent Person for 
Exploration and Mineral Resource Estimation under the definition of PMRC and has sufficient experience as to the type of deposit and mineralization. He has 
given his consent to the public report ing of this statement concerning Mineral Resources Estimation. 

'' ' Ore Reserves and Mineral Resource tonnages are shown in full. Nickel Asia Corporation owns 60% of Rio Tuba, 65% ofTaganito, and 100% of Cagdianao and Hinatuan. 

t2'J Inclusive of Mineral Resources converted to Ore Reserves 

Note: Cut-off grades used for Estimation of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 

Rio Tuba 

Taganito 

Cagdianao 

Hinatuan 

Saproli t e: Ni 2: 0.85%, Fe< 20% Limonite HPAL type: Ni 2: 0.80o/o, Fe 2: 20% Limonite Export type: Ni < 0.80%, Fe 2: 44% 

Saprolite: Ni 2: 1.24%, Fe < 20% Limonite HPAL type: Ni 2: 0.80%, Fe <: 20% Limonite Export type: Ni < 0.80%, Fe 2: 48% 

Saprolite: Ni 2: 1.00%, Fe< 20% Limonite HPAL type: Ni > 0.80%, Fe 2: 20% Limonite Expol1 type: regardless % Ni, Fe > 45% 

Saprolite: Ni 2: 1.00%, Fe < 20% Limonite HPAL type: Ni > 0.80%, Fe 2: 20% Limonite Expol1 type: regardless % Ni, Fe > 45% 
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Review of Operations 

Rio Tuba Nickel 
Mining Corporation 
(RTN - 60°/o Owned) 

MINING VOLUME 

The volume of ore mined for the 
year amounted to 3,024,767 WMT. 
consisting of 1 ,491 ,877 WMT of 
saprolite ore and 1,532,890 WMT of 
limonite ore. Stripping volume for the 
year amounted to 126,048 WMT. 

RTN also retrieved 41 6,602 WMT of 
saprolite ore and 3,237,579 WMT 
of limonite ore from stockpiles to 
meet the budgeted annual saprolite 
shipment volume and to provide 
limonite ore feed to the Coral Bay 
Nickel Corporation (CBNC) HPAL 
facility, respectively. Consequently, 
RTN's year-end limonite ore stockpile 
inventory amounted to 1 9,967,929 
WMT. Furthermore, 883,133 WMT of 
oversized materials were recovered 
from ore delivered to the plant, 
consisting of 551,129 WMT of 
reclassified saprolite ore and 332,004 
WMT of limonite ore. 

M1ning operations focused on previous 
partially mined areas, the aim of 
which is to completely mine out the 
areas and prepare them for mine 
rehabilitation. 

~ 
To cope with the low metal prices 
prevailing in the international 
market, RTN resorted to various 
production strategies, such as: 
(a) upg-rading of medium-grade 
saprolite ore shipments; 
(b) segregation and shipment to 
Chlna of high-iron limonite ore 
(below the 0.80% Ni cut-off grade 
of HPAL limonite ore); and (c) 
implementation of cost~cutting 
measures. 

SHIPMENTS 

RTN sold a total of 5,744,430 WMT 
of nickel ore in 2013. High-grade 
saprolite ore ( 1.80% Ni grade and 
above) totaling 295,329 WMT and 
medium-grade saprolite ore ( 1.50% 
Ni grade) totaling 80,847 WMT 
were sold to Pacific Metals Co., Ltd. 
(PAMCO) and Sumitomo Metal Mining 
Co., Ltd. (SMM). The realized LME 
nickel price for these shipments 
averaged US$7.36 per pound. 

In addition, medium-grade saprolite 
ore totaling 1,352,072 WMT were sold 
to Chinese customers at an average 
price ofUS$13.73 per WMT. Limonite 
high-iron ore totaling 640,901 
WMT was likewise sold to Chinese 
customers at an average price of 
US$19. 72 per WMT. 

For CBNC related activities, HPAL­
grade limonite ore (approximately 
1.21% Ni grade) totaling 3,405,281 
WMT was delivered to the Coral Bay 
HPAL facility. The realized LME nickel 
price forth is tonnage averaged 
US$6.78 per pound. In addition, 
211,560 WMT of limestone was sold 
to, and a variety of services such as 
handling and hauling of materials 
and supplies for the Coral Bay HPAL 
facility were rendered to, CBNC. Other 
activities included the development 
of the Gotok quarry (Phase 2) for 
the projected increase in limestone 
requirement of CBNC. 

1,793,848 1,689,425 

1.57% 1.63% 
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Taganito 
Mining Corporation 
(TMC- 65°/o Owned) 

MINING VOLUME 

The volume of ore mined for the 
year amounted to 5,620,383 WMT 
consisting of 1,325,051 WMT of 
saprolite ore and 4,295,332 WMT 
of limonite ore. Of the total limonite 
mining volume, 1 ,602,333 WMT was 
intended for shipment to China while 
2,692,999 WMT was for the Taganito 
HPAL (THPAL) facility. 

~ 
In addition, TMC continued 
to build limonite stockpile for 
the THPAL plant which started 
commercial operations last 
October 2013. At year end, the 
total volume of limonite stockpile 
amounted to 24,089,876 WMT. 

~ 
The decline in nickel prices negatively 
impacted TMC's profitability. As a 
result, TMC revised its mine plan to 
attain projected revenues amidst 
the difficult economic environment. 
Excavation of about 1.5 million WMT 
of low-grade soft ore from TAGA-2 
was deferred in favor of higher grade 
ore from Urbiztondo. 

Taking Pride in Responsible Min era I Development 

SHIPMENTS 

TMC sold a total of 3,893,150 WMT 
of nickel ore, the highest so far in 
the company's history. High-grade 
saprolite ore amounting to 445,012 
WMT was sold to PAMCO. The realized 
LME nickel price for these shipments 
averaged US$7.30 per pound. 

In addition, saprolite ore totaling 
971,576 WMT was sold to Chinese 
customers at an average price of 
US$17.31 per WMT. Low-grade 
limonite ore (0.80% Ni and 0.90% Ni) 
totaling 1,602,333 WMT was likewise 
sold to Chinese customers at an 
average price of US$21.63 per WMT. 

Finally, HPAL grade limonite ore 
totaling 874,229 WMT was delivered 
to the THPAL facility. The realized LME 

Limonite- China 

Average nickel grade 

Average price (per WMT) 

nickel price for this tonnage averaged 
US$6.33 per pound. 

There were two major adjustments 
from the original shipment plan: 
the upgrading of medium-grade ore 
shipment from 1.50% Ni to 1.60% Ni, 
and the increase in low-grade 
limonite ore (0.80% Ni- 0.90% Ni) 
shipment volume to China, boosting 
the originally planned number of 
shipments from 47 to 57. In addition, 
all materials from stripping with 
grades of0.80% Ni and at least 49% 
Fe were shipped-out. 

651,490 

1.02% 

US$ 26.64 US$ 16.55 
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Review of Operations 

Hinatuan Mining 
Corporation 
(HMC- 1 00°/o Owned) 

MINING VOLUME 

~-----------------
The volume of ore mined for the 
year amounted to 2,904,194 WMT, 

~ 

consisting of 212,837 WMT of 
saprolite ore and 2,691 ,357 WMT 
of limonite ore. Stripping volume 
for the year amounted to 528,623 
WMT of low grade in-situ materials 
such as topsoil, boulders and other 
waste materials which were used for 
rehabilitation and other environmental 
projects. 

SHIPMENTS 

HMC sold 3,342,936 WMT of low­
grade limonite ore in 2013 at an 
average price of US$23. i 5 per WMT 
to Chinese customers. Saprolite 
ore sold to Chinese and Japanese 
customers totaled 99,043 WMT at an 
average price of US$29.05 per WMT. 

HMC's original budget of nine 
saprolite shipments for 2013 was 
trimmed down to three due to the 
low international market price of 
the said ore. However, with the 
consistently high demand for limonite 
ore, the originally planned number of 
shipments increased from 48 to 6i. 

Tonnage Mined (in WMT) 

Saprolite 
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Cagdianao Mining 
Corporation 
(CMC - 1 00°/o Owned) 

MINING VOLUME 

~~-------------------------
The volume of ore mined for the 
year 2013 amounted to 
593,311 WMT, 

~ 

consisting of 426,458 WMT of 
saprolite ore and 166,853 WMT of 
limonite ore. Stripping volume for the 
year amounted to 656,654 WMT. 

SHIPMENTS 

CMC sold a total of 888,832 WMT of 
nickel ore in 2013. A total of 199,676 
WMT of high-grade saprolite ore 
was sold to PAMCO. The realized 
LME nickel price for these shipments 
averaged at around US$6.97 per 
pound. 

In addition, high-grade and medium­
grade saprolite ore totaling 150,607 
WMT was sold to Chinese customers 
at an average price of US$29.92 per 
WMT. Medium-grade limonite ore with 
a total of 538,549 was likewise sold to 
Chinese customers at an average price 
of US$1 0.67 per WMT. 

Taking Pride in Responsible Mineral Development 

Tonnage Mined (in WMT) 

Saprolite 

Average nickel grade 

Average payable nickel 

Average realized LME price 
(per pound) 

Limonite- China (WMT) 

Average nickel grade 

Average price (per WMT) 

18.89% 25.27% 

US$ 8.08 US$ 10.03 

795,279 330,262 

1.52% 1.49% 

US$ 21.91 US$ 25.65 
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Rio Tuba Nickel Corporation (RTN) 

Development drilling was focused on 
the Umawi area within RTN's existing 
MPSA. For the development drilling, a 
total of 617 holes equivalent to 4, 726 
meters were completed. 

~ 
Development drllling resulted in 
the upgrading of 1.4 million WMT 
of ore (composed of 0.9 million 
WMT of saprolite and 0 .5 million 
WMT of limonite ore) previously 
classified as inferred and indicated 
mineral resource to measured 
resource category. 

The renewal and conversion of the 
expired Mining Lease Contract on 
the Bulanjao property into a Mineral 
Production Sharing Agreement 
(MPSA) has not been completed 
pending the issuance of the SEP 
clearance by the Palawan Council 
for Sustainable Development. Partial 
drilling conducted in the past has 
resulted in measured and indicated 
mineral resources of 19 million WMT 
of limonite ore with average grades 
of 1.24% nickel and 35.5% iron and 
11.1 million WMT of saprolite ore with 
an average grade of 1.77% nickel. 
Further drilling will be undertaken 
upon the issuance of the MPSA. 

Production drilling was conducted 
in Guintalunan and Mangingidong 
to guide ore extraction activities in 
the segregation of high-iron limonite 
ore for direct shipment to China. A 
total of 494 holes equivalent to 3,428 
meters were completed. 

ANNUAL REPORT 2013 



Taking Pride in Responsible Mineral Development 

Taganito Mining Corporation (TMC) 

For this year, exploration activities 
were focused on the northeastern part 
of Kepha Mining Exploration Company 
(KMEC) claim, located southwest of 
TMC's MPSA. The KMEC claim is an 
expansion project of TMC which is 
expected to provide additional source 
of ore for the THPAL plant. 

Exploration activities included 
reconnaissance surveying, 
test-pitting and mechanized drilling. 
Initial exploration activities such as 
mapping and surface sampling began 
in March. A total of 1,700 hectares 
was covered by reconnaissance survey 
and 13 test pits measuring 1m x 1m 
on the surface at 300m x 300m grid 
interval were excavated for further 
studies. Based on the initial results of 
test pitting, infill drilling was carried 
out in test pits that showed favorable 
results. A total of 61 drillholes in 
between test pits at 1OOm x 1OOm 
interval were completed. 

By the end of October, exploration 
activities were temporarily stopped 
in anticipation of the rainy season. 
Excavated test pits and drillhole 
locations were then backfilled, re­
contoured, compacted and planted 
with wildlings. Exploration activities 
will continue in 2014 particularly at 
the southern to southwestern part of 
the claim. 

~ 

Exploration drilling resulted in 
the blocking of an additional 5 
million WMT of limonite ore with 
average grades of 0.94% nickel 
and 33.17% iron, and 0.29 million 
WMT of saprolite ore with an 
average grade of 2.34% nickel, 
in both indicated and inferred 
mineral resource category. 

Relative to the exploration activities is 
the implementation of the Community 
Development Project (COP). This 
included the provision of school 
uniforms for elementary students at 
Urbiztondo, Jetm a tic Water system for 
Cabugo, and Educational assistance 
for the Camam-onan IP community. 

Cagdianao Mining Corporation (CMC) 

Exploration and development drilling 
activities were conducted within the 
immediate vicinity of the presently 
defined pit limits. For exploration 
drilling, a total of 83 holes equivalent 
to 1 ,030 meters with an average 
depth of 12.4 meters; and for 
development drilling, a total of 11 0 
holes equivalent to 1,850 meters with 
an average depth of 1 7 meters, were 
completed. 

Valencia Active Mine Pit 
Valencia development drilling covered 
the periphery of the active mine pit 
from July to October 2012. Based on 
the drill hole data, average grade of 
limonite is 1.03% Ni and 30.93% Fe 
with average thickness of six meters. 
For saprolite, average grade is 1.22% 
Ni and 14.45% Fe with average 
thickness of four meters. 

Southwest Valencia 
Exploration drilling was conducted at 
the southwest portion of the Valencia 
tenement from June to December 
2012. It followed a grid spacing of 
1 00 meters x 1 00 meters. Based on 
the drillhole data, the limonite grade 
averages 1. 21% Ni and 41 .83% Fe, 
having an average thickness of seven 
meters. Saprolite, on the other hand 
has an average grade of 1.39% Ni 
and 1 4.59% Fe, having an average 
thickness of three meters. No further 
exploration drilling was conducted 
for 2013 because priority drilling 
activities were focused on production 
drilling of active mine pits. 

Boa 
The Boa area is covered by a separate 
MPSA and is contiguous to the 
Valencia mining tenement. 167 drill 
holes were intended to be drilled 
by the third quarter of 2012, but 
because of the delayed issuance of 
the tenement's permit for extension 
of exploration period, there were still 
no exploration activities done in the 
area. Other exploration activities in 
the form of geologic mapping to find 
chromite in commercial quantities will 
consequently be carried out as soon 
as perm it for extension of exploration 
period is granted. 
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Review of Exploration 
NICKEL 

Hinatuan Mining Corporation (HMC) 

For 2013, drilling activities were 
focused on condemnation drilling 
of mined out areas to confirm if the 
areas had no more significant volume 
of mineable materials. Drill holes were 
randomly drilled on mined out areas 
at 200 x 200 meters spacing and 
targeted to attain 40 meters depth 
from the collar elevation. By the latter 
part of 2013, production drilling was 
conducted at Area 7 to update the 
block model and bench plans. The 
updated bench plans will be used as 
reference for the production slices 
of 2014 mining operation. Previous 
development drill holes were in-filled 
at a spacing of 12.5 meters. 

For the condemnation drilling, a total 
of 17 holes equivalent to 649 meters 
were completed. For the production 
drilling, a total of99 holes equivalent 
to 2,1 08 meters were completed. The 
result of the production drilling will 
increase the level of confidence on 
the previously blocked ore resource 
considering the closer spacing of the 
drill holes. 

The Island property in Guiuan, Eastern 
Samar was partially drilled and mined 
in the 1990s. Shipments of stockpiled 
ore were made in 2004 and 2005 
by contractors, which resulted in 
social problems. In 2004 a Regional 
Panel of Arbitrators recommended 
the cancellation ofthe MPSA on 
environmental grounds. 

HMC disputed the allegations and the 
Mines Adjudication Board of the DENR 
upheld the MPSA in September 2009. 
Since then, substantial social 
development work has been 
accomplished. Towards the latter part 
of 201 0, favorable endorsements were 
received from the host communities 
and local government units approving 
the resumption of operations. Upon 

receipt of final approval by the DENR, 
HMC will commence drilling work to 
delineate the deposit prior to mine 
development. Previous drilling work 
shows 2.5 million WMT of saprolite ore 
with an average grade of 1.80% nickel 
and 35.6 million WMT of limonite 
ore with an average grade of 1.20% 
nickel in the inferred mineral resource 
category. 
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GOLD AND COPPER 

Cord illera Exploration Co., Inc. 
(CEXCI- 71.25% Owned) 

CEXCI has an approved Exploration 
Permit (EP) over the Manmanok 
Property in Apayao Province, an 
application for EP over the Kutop 
Property in the province of Abra, 
and an application for Financial and 
Technical Assistance Agreement 
(FTAA) over the Mankayan Property, 
within the adjoining provinces of 
Benguet, !locos Sur and the Mountain 
Province. 

Manmanok 
The Manmanok property, located 
within the Municipality of Conner, 
Apayao Province, is covered by an EP 
first granted in October 2006, and 
subsequently renewed twice with 
a final total area of approximately 
4,996 hectares. Following the 
second renewal in April 20j 1. a 
Stage 1 exploration program was 
planned and implemented. The 
plan consisted of detailed mapping 
and sampling, a reinterpretation of 
previous geophysical and geochemical 
data, followed by scout diamond 
drilling over areas surrounding 
the central argillic zone. A total of 
nine (9) diamond drill holes with an 
aggregate length of 2,368 meters 
were completed in April2013. Gold 
intercepts were encountered, mainly 
as disseminations in a quartz-bearing 
volcaniclastic unit and within quartz 
veins and shear zones. 

The data obtained from the drill holes 
indicated a low-sulfidation epithermal­
style mineralization, although with 
low ore grades, resulting in the 
termination ofthe drilling program. 
The possibility of higher-grade 
mineralization still exists at the base 
of the limestone unit as well as the 
northwest extension of the argillic 
zone within the tenement. A decision 
on further work in these areas will be 
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made should the third renewal of the 
EP be approved, which is currently 
pending. The remoteness of the area, 
its lack of infrastructure and other 
factors will be considered in this 
determination. 

Kutop 
The Kutop property is located within 
the municipalities of Malibcong and 
Daguioman in the Province of Abra, 
and the municipality of Balbalan in 
the Province of Kalinga. The property, 
with a total area of 13,268 hectares, is 
covered by an application for EP. 

CEXCI is now in the process of 
having the Work and Financial Plan 
for the conduct of "field-based 
investigations" approved. This is a 
requisite for the start of the Free Prior 
and Informed Consent (FPIC) process 
prior to the granting of the "Certificate 
of Precondition" from the National 
Commission on Indigenous Peoples 
(NCIP), which is in turn a requisite for 
the grant! ng of the Exploration Permit. 

Mankayan 
The Mankayan Property is located 
within two regions, the Cordillera 
Administrative Region (CAR) and 
Region I, and principally consists of 
a FTAA application covering 77,549 
hectares. Following publication, 
and the exclusion of built-up and 
agricultural areas, the final cleared 
area covering the FTAA application 
amounted to 54,936 hectares. 
In order to systematically obtain 
approval and explore such a large 
area, a decision was made to convert 
the FTAA application into three (3) 
EP applications. The area initially 
targeted for conversion is 11,169 
hectares covering the Mankayan/ 
Cervantes area. The conversion has 
been approved and designated by 
MG B as EP Application-1 i 6. Currently, 
the application has been endorsed 
to the concerned regional offices of 
the NCIP, while at the NCIP Region 
I office, a Work and Financial Plan 
for the conduct of the FPIC process 
is now approved and ready for 
execution. 
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The management of Nickel Asia Corporation and Subsidiaries (the "Group'') is responsible for 
the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, including the additional components attached therein, in accordance 
with Philippine Financial Reporting standards. This respnnsiblity includes designing and 
implementing internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances. 

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements and submits the 
same to the stock holders of the Group. 

SyCip, Gorres, Velayo & Co., the independent auditors, appointed by the stockholders, has 
examined the consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with Philippine 
Standards on Auditing, and in its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the 
fairness of presentation upon completion of such ex..<unination. 

rimo 
President and Chief Executive Oflicer 

z:.:.::~ 
Senior Vice President/Chief f-inancial Officer 

Signed this 241h day of March 2014 
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lNDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors 
Nickel Asia Corporation and Subsidiaries 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements ofNickel Asia Corporation and 
its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at 
December 31, 2013 and 2{)12, and the consolidated statements of income, statements of 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2013, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such intemal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free !Tom material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibiJity is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financiaJ statemeJtS, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectrveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

- 2-

In our opinjon, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Nickel Asia Corporation and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
and their financial performance and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 20 13 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELA YO & CO. 

'~·Jk___, 
Eleanore A. Layug- 0- ·~ 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 0 I 00794 
SEC Accreditation No. 1250-A (Group A), 

August 9, 2012, valid until August 8, 2015 
Tax ldenti fication No. 163-069-453 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-00 1998-97-2012, 

January II, 2012, valid until January 10,2015 
PTR No. 4225180, January 2, 2014, Makati City 

March 24,2014 
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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at December 31, 2013 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) 
Trade and other receivables (Note 5) 
Inventories (Note 6) 
Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets (Note 7) 
PreEayments and other current assets ~Note 82 
Total Current Assets 
Noncurrent Assets 
AFS financial assets - net of current portion (Note 7) 
Property and equipment (Note 9) 
Investment properties (Note 1 0) 
Investment in an associate (Note 11) 
Long-term stockpile inventory- net of current portion 

(Note 12) 
Deferred income tax assets -net (Note 33) 
Other noncurrent assets (Note 13) 
Total Noncurrent Assets 
TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
Current Liabilities 
Trade and otherpayables (Note 14) 
Current portion oflong-terrn debt (Note 15) 
Income tax Eayable 
Total Current Liabilities 
Noncurrent Liabilities 
Long-term debt- net of current portion (Note 15) 
Deferred income tax liabilities -net (Note 33) 
Provision for mine rehabilitation and deoornmissioning 

(Note 16) 
Deferred income -net of current portion 
Pension liability ~Note 322 
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 
Capital stock (Note 17) 
Additional paid-in capital 
Other components of equity: 

Net valuation gains on AFS financial assets 
(Note 7) 

Cost of share-based payment plan (Note 18) 
Asset revaluation surplus 
Share in cumulative translation adjustment 

(Note 11) 
Retained earnings: 

Appropriated (Note 17) 
U naEEWEri ated 

Non-controllino Interests 
Total Eguity 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

December 3 1, 
2012 

December 31, (As restated, 
2013 Note 22 

~10,234,336 ¥9,263,451 
839,449 937,860 

2,044,469 2,004,188 
1,257,370 1,086,104 

225,412 157,944 
14,601,036 13 449 547 

1,181,568 1,041,934 
6,585,752 5,949,928 

29,000 72,191 
4,112,126 3,988,929 

981,463 1,266,010 
344,443 364,897 

1,078,140 1,045,781 
14,312,492 13 ,729,670 

~8,913,528 ¥27,179,2 17 

1!928,113 ¥864,0 15 
117,469 116,619 
263,381 295,095 

1,308,963 1,275,729 

1,421,128 1,422,670 
486,228 550,451 

130,927 132,522 
75,419 79,609 

279,075 136,532 
2z392z777 2,321,784 

1,266,780 1,013,938 
8,151,603 8,117,558 

99,506 65, 199 
49,524 57,464 
33,629 34,012 

140,201 (136,909) 

1,000,000 
9,748,905 9,725,164 

20,490,148 18,876,426 
4,721,640 4,705,278 

25,211,788 23,581,704 
~8,913,528 ¥27,179,217 

January 1, 
2012 

(As restated, 
Note 2) 

¥10,350,592 
1,156,293 
2,008,003 

660,223 
94,284 

14,269,395 

907,597 
4,216,838 

53,637 
4,371,867 

1,357,675 
501,851 
724,038 

12, 133,503 
¥26,402,898 

¥1,238,10 1 
124,545 
275,169 

1,637,815 

1,643,908 
585,625 

61,726 
84,154 

157,065 
2,532,478 

677,116 
8,075,641 

20,889 
64,308 
34,395 

118,251 

8,883,432 
17,874,032 
4,358,573 

22,232,605 
¥26,402,898 
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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Earnings per Share) 

Years Ended December 31 
2012 2011 

(As restated, (As restated, 
2013 Note 2) Note 2) 

REVENUES (Note 31) 
Sale of ore P10,475,497 P11,143,293 P12,230,278 
Services and others 634,032 463,614 464,428 

11,109,529 11,606,907 12,694,706 

COSTS AND EXPENSES 
Cost of sales (Note 20) 4,489,294 4,467,215 3,349,690 
Cost of services (Note 21) 335,292 260,399 214,260 
Shipping and loading costs (Note 22) 1,398,771 1,400,550 1,286,076 
Excise taxes and royalties (Note 23) 648,608 707,937 736,262 
Marketing (Notes 36e and 36i) 65,629 94,354 68,176 
General and administrative (Note 24) 624,819 527,581 577,425 

7,562,413 7,458,036 6,231,889 

FINANCE INCOME (Note 27) 166,753 235,040 208,436 

FINANCE EXPENSES (Note 28) (128,298) (114,536) (66,615) 

EQUITY IN NET LOSSES OF AN 
ASSOCIATE (Note 11) (184,703) (114,639) (196,185) 

OTHER INCOME - Net (Note 29) 309,783 300,262 745,200 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 3,710,651 4,454,998 7,153,653 

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) 
INCOME TAX (Note 33) 

Current 1,169,504 1,264,270 1,619,779 
Deferred (45,289) 70,428 66,236 

1,124,215 1,334,698 1,686,015 

NET INCOME P2,586,436 P3,120,300 P5,467,638 

Net income attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent P2,053,674 P2,207,210 P3,537,782 
Non-controlling interests 532,762 913,090 1,929,856 

P2,586,436 P3,120,300 P5,467,638 

Earnings per share (EPS; Note 19) 
Basic P0.82 P0.88 P1.41 

Diluted P0.81 P0.88 P1.40 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Taking Prid ~ in R~sponsibl~ Min~ra l D~v~lopm~nt 31 



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

Years Ended December 31 
2012 2011 

(As restated, (As restated, 
2013 Note 2) Note 2) 

NET INCOME P2,586,436 P3,120,300 P5,467,638 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(LOSS) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) to be 
reclassified to consolidated statements of 
income in subsequent periods: 
Share in translation adjustment of an 

associate (Note 11) 307,900 (268,299) (2,401) 
Income tax effect (30,790) 13,139 241 

277,110 (255,160) (2,160) 
Net valuation gains (loss) on AFS financial 

assets (Note 7) 45,679 66,910 (23,756) 
Income tax effect (Note 7) (15,636) (16,048) 7,371 

30,043 50,862 (16,385) 
Net other comprehensive income (loss) to be 

reclassified to consolidated statements of 
income in subsequent periods 307,153 (204,298) (18,545) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) not to be 
reclassified to consolidated statements of 
income in subsequent periods: 
Remeasurement gain (loss) on pension 

liability (Note 32) (149,686) 92,417 1,395 
Income tax effect 44,906 (27,725) (418) 

(104,780) 64,692 977 
Asset revaluation surplus (547) (547) (547) 
Income tax effect 164 164 164 

(383) (383) (383) 
Net other comprehensive income (loss) not to be 

reclassified to consolidated statements of 
income in subsequent periods (105,163) 64,309 594 

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME {LOSS}- NET OF TAX 201,990 (139,989) (17,951) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME- NET OF TAX P2,788,426 ¥2,980,311 ¥5,449,687 

Total comprehensive income attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent P2,292,064 ¥2,035,344 ¥3,520,200 
Non-controlling interests 496,362 944,967 1,929,487 

P2,788,426 ¥2,980,311 ¥ 5,449,687 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,2013,2012 AND 2011 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

E~ui!z Attrib utable to E~ui!z Holders of the Paren t 
Net Valuation 

Cost of G ains Sh are in 
Share-b ased on AF S Cumulative 

Capital Additional Payment F inancial Translation A sset Retained Earnings 
Stock Paid-in Plan Assets Adjnstment Revaluation Appropriated 

~ole 17) C!!J!ital ~ole 18) ~ote 7) ~ole 11) SU!}!lUS Una(!J.!rO(!riated ~ote l 7) 

Balances at December 31, 2012, as p reviously stated P1,0 13,938 P8,117,558 P57,464 P 65,199 (P136,909) P34,012 P9,737,447 P-

Effect of adoption of Revised Philippine Accounting 
Standards (PAS)19 ~ole 2) (12,283) 

Balances at December 31, 2012, as r estated 1,013,938 8,117,558 57,464 65,199 (136,909) 34,012 9,725,164 

Net income 2,053,674 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 34,307 277,110 (383) (72,644) 

Total comprehe nsive Income (loss) 3 4,307 277,110 (383) 1,981,030 

Cost of share-based payment plan (Note 18) 10,369 

Cash dividends - P0.35 per conmton share (N ole 17) (705,252) 

7% Cash dividends - Preferred share (504) 

Stock dividends (N ole 17) 251,916 (251,916) 

Exercise of •1ock options (N ole 18) 926 34,045 (18,309) 

Share of non-cont rolling interest in cash dividends of a 
subsidiary 

Appropriation (N ole 17) (1,000,000) 1,000,000 

Asset r evaluation •urplus tran•ferred to retained earnings 383 

Balances at December 3 2013 P1266,780 P8,151 603 P49,524 P99,506 P140,201 P33,629 P9,748,905 P1,000,000 

Non-controlling 
Total Interests Total 

P 18,888,709 P4,712,116 P23,600,825 

(12,283) (6,83~ ( 19,121) 

18,876,426 4,705,278 23,581,704 

2 ,053,674 532,762 2,586,436 

238,390 (36,400) 201,990 

2,292,064 496,362 2 ,788,426 

10,369 10,369 

(705,252) (705,252) 

(504) (504) 

16,662 16,662 

(480,000) (480,000) 

383 383 

P20 490,148 P4 721,640 P25,21l 788 
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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,2013,2012 AND 2011 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

Equity Atllibutable to Equity Holders of the Parent 

Balances at December 31, 2011 , as previously 'tated 

Effect of adoption ofRevisedPAS 19 (Note2) 

Balances at December 31 , 2011, as restated 

Net income 

Other comprehensive income Q oss) 

Total comprehemive income (loss) 

Cost of share-based payment (Note 18) 

Caffi dividends- !'0. 80 per common share (Nate 17) 

7% Cash dividends- Preferred share 

Stock dividends (Note 17) 

Exercise of stock options (Note 18) 

Share of non-controlling intere& in caffi dividends of a subsidiary 

Re&ructuring of a subsidiary 

Asset revaluation surplus transferred to retained earnings 

Balances at December 31 , 2012 

Capital 
Stock 

(Note 17) 

'1'677,116 

677,116 

335 ,579 

1,243 

!'1 ,013,938 

Co& of 
Share-based 

Additional Payment 
Paid-in Plan 
Capital (Note 18) 

!'8,075,641 !'64,308 

8,075,641 64,308 

2 ,759 

41,917 (9,603) 

!'8,117 ,558 !'57,464 

Net 
Valuati on 

Gains Share in 
on AFS CUmulative 

Financial Trat1slation Asset 
Assets Aqju&ment Revaluation 

(Note 7) (Note 11) Surplus 

!'20 ,889 !'11 8,251 !'34 ,395 

20,889 118,251 34,395 

44,310 (255,160) (383) 

44,310 (255,160) (383) 

!'65,199 (!'136,909) !'34,012 

R etained Non-e ontrolling 
Earnings Total Interests Total 

!'8,920,976 !'17,911 ,576 !'4,381 ,233 !'22,292 ,809 

(37,544) (37,544) (22,660) (60,204) 

8,883,432 17,874,032 4 ,358,573 22,232 ,605 

2,207,210 2,207,210 913,090 3,120,300 

39,367 (171,866) 31 ,877 (139,989) 

2,246 ,577 2,035 ,344 944,%7 2,980,311 

2 ,759 2 ,759 

(1,073,452) (1,073,452) (1 ,073 ,452) 

(504) (504) (504) 

(335,579) 

33 ,557 33,557 

(600,000) (600,000) 

4,307 4,307 1 ,738 6 ,045 

383 383 383 

!'9,725 ,164 !'18,876 ,426 !'4 ,705,278 !'23,581 ,704 
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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,2013,2012 AND 2011 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

Egui!1 Attributable to E!J!!!!1 Holders of the Parent 
Net 

Valuation 
Co& of Gains (Loss) Share in 

Additional Share-based on AFS Cumulative Asset 
Capital Paid-in Payment Financial Tram;lation Revaluation 

Stock CaE!tal Plan Assets Aqju&ment Surplus 

Balances atD e<:ember 3 1, 2010 , as previously &ated 1'677 ,116 1>8 ,075 ,641 1>1 ,101 1>37,589 1>120,411 1>34,778 

Effect of adoption ofRevisedPAS 19 (Note 2) 

Balances at December 31 , 2010 , as restated 677 ,116 8,075,641 1,101 37,589 120,411 34 ,778 

Net income 

Other comprehensive income (I ass) (16 ,700) (2 ,160) (383) 

T otal comprehemive income (loss) (16,700) (2 ,160) (383) 

Cost of share-based payment 63 ,207 

Cafi:t dividends · 1'0.50 per common share (Note 17) 

7% Cash dividends· Preferred share 

Share of non-controlling intere& in cash dividends of a sub.tdi ary 

Share of non-controlling intere& in a subsidiary 

Asset revaluation surplus transferred to retained earnings 

Balances at December 31 , 2011 1>677,116 P8,075,641 1>64 ,308 1>20 ,889 1>11 8,251 1>34 ,395 

See accompanying tes to Consolida ed Ftnancial &atwnents 

Retained Non-e ontrolling 
Eamings Total Intere;ts Total 

1>6,055 ,043 1>15,001 ,679 1>3 ,141,889 !>18,143,56 8 

(40,513) (40,513) (22,749) (63,262) 

6,014 ,530 14,961,166 3,119,140 18,080 ,306 

3,537,782 3,537,782 1,929,856 5,467,638 

1,661 (17,582) (369) (17,951) 

3,539,443 3,520 ,200 1,929,487 5,449,687 

63,207 63 ,207 

(669,916) (669,916) (669,916) 

(1,008) (1,008) (1,008) 

(757,500) (757,500) 

67 ,446 67 ,446 

383 383 383 

1'8,883,432 P17 ,874,032 }'4,358,573 1>22,232 ,605 



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

Years Ended December 31 
2012 2011 

(As restated, (As restated, 
2013 Note 2) Note 2) 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Income before income tax P3,710,651 ¥4,454,998 ¥7,153,653 
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation, amortization and 
depletion (Note 26) 1,262,651 981,883 733,821 

Equity in net losses of an associate (Note 11) 184,703 1 14,639 196,185 
Interest income (Note 27) (156,288) (226,414) (208,436) 
Dividend income (Notes 7 and 29) (62,654) (192,720) (436,369) 
Movements in pension liability 49,841 34,451 35,651 
Unrealized foreign exchange losses 

(gains)- net (Note 29) 41,647 (40,294) (23, 773) 
Interest expense (Notes 21 and 28) 38,313 63,989 45, 108 
Cost of share-based payment plan (Note 18) 10,369 2,759 63,207 
Accretion interest on provision for mine 

rehabilitation and decommissioning 
(Notes 16 and 28) 8,554 13,539 10,355 

Loss (gain) on : 
Sale of investment properties (Note 29) (145,095) 
Sales of property and equipment (Note 29) (82,005) 1,369 2,896 
Valuation on AFS financial assets transferred 

from equity to statement of income - net 
(Notes 7, 27 and 28) (7,308) (6,490) 18,3 16 

Write-up oflong-term stockpile 
inventory (Note 29) (573,090) 

Casualty losses (Note 29) 2,785 239,459 
Operating income before working capital changes 4,856,164 5,201,709 7,256,983 
Decrease (increase) in: 

Trade and other receivables 88,383 219,027 (46,994) 
Inventories 244,266 95 ,480 (450,008) 
Other current assets (66,947) (63,655) (41,461) 

Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 73,959 (298,964) 276,229 
Net cash generated from operations 5,195,825 5, 153,597 6,994,749 
Income taxes paid (1,201 ,218) (1 ,244,344) (1,666,737) 
Interest r eceived 166,316 225,8 18 208,436 
Interest paid ~40,0011 (56,107) (42,72 1) 
Net cash flows from o.12eratin~ activities 4z120,922 4,078,964 5,493,727 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Acquisitions of: 

Property and equipment and investment 
properties (Notes 9 and 1 0) (1,931,125) (2,719,033) (1,293,765) 

AFS financial assets (Note 7) (374,074) (574,747) (889,929) 
Proceeds from : 

Sale of investment properties 185,576 
Sale of AFS financial assets 119,172 77,753 674,387 

(Forward) 
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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

Years Ended December 31 
2012 2011 

(As restated, (As restated, 
2013 Note 2) Note 2) 

Proceeds from: 
Sale of property and equipment P110,711 ¥!5,115 ¥!401 

Dividends received 62,654 192,720 436,369 
Decrease (increase) in other noncurrent assets (85,997) (280,460) 253,331 
Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,913,083) (3,298,652) (819,206) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES 

Proceeds from: 
Exercise of stock options 16,662 33,557 
Availment oflong-term debt 308,142 
Investment of non-controlling interest in a 

subsidiary 67,446 
Increase (decrease) in deferred income (12,867) 4,132 355 
Payments of: 

Cash dividends (Notes 17 and 30) (1,185,252) (1 ,673,452) (1,428,424) 
Long-term debt (118,473) (123 ,371 ) (85,598) 
Rehabilitation cost (Note 1 6~ {10,149} 

Net cash flows used in fmancing activities {1,310,079} (1 ,759,134) (1, 138,079) 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 897,760 (978,822) 3,536,442 

CASHAND CASHEQUIVALENTSAT 
BEGINNING OF YEAR 9,263,451 10,350,592 6,805,968 

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 732125 ~1 08 ,3 1 92 8,182 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END 
OF YEAR (Note 4) P1 0,234,336 ¥!9,263,451 ¥!10,350,592 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Finane ial S tatements. 
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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Number of Shares, Per Share Data and as Indicated) 

I. Corporate Information 

Nickel Asia Corporation (NAC, Parent Company) was registered with the Philippine Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC) on July 24, 2008. The Parent Company is primarily engaged in 
investing in and holding of assets of every kind and description and wherever situated, as and to 
the extent permitted by Jaw. It is a lso registered, within the limits prescribed by law, to engage in 
the business of mining of all kinds of ore, metals and minerals. 

On November 22, 2010, the Company was listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) with an 
initial public offering (lPO) of 304,500,000 common shares (consisting of 132,991,182 shares 
held in treasury and new common shares of I 71,508,818 with an offer price of P 15.00 per share. 
which is equivalent to P8.00 per share after the stock dividends (see Note 17). 

Parent Companv Ownership Map 
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HMC was registered with the SEC on October 9, 1979, is a one hundred percent (100%) owned 
subsidiary of the Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and exporting or 
nickel ore located in Hinatuan and Nonoc Islands, Surigao del Norte and Manicani Island, Eastern 
Samar. The registered office address of HMC is at 29th floor NAC Tower 32nd Street, Bonifacio 
Global City, Taguig. 

CMC 
CMC was registered with the SEC on July 25, 1997, is a one hundred percent (I 00%) owned 
subsidiary of the Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and exporting of 
nickel ore located in Barangay Valencia, Municipality of Cagdianao, Province of Dinagat Island. 
The registered office address ofCMC is at 29th floor NAC Tower 32nd Street, Bonifacio Global 
City, Taguig. 

TMC 
TMC was registered .. vith the SEC on March 4, 1987, is a sixty-five percent (65%) owned 
subsidiary of the Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and exporting of 
nickel ore located in Claver, Surigao del Norte. TMC also provides non-mining services such as 
handling, bauling and transportation of materials required in the processing operations ofTHNC. 
The registered office address ofTMC is at 29th floor NAC Tower 32nd Street, Bonifacio Global 
City, Taguig. 
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RTN 
RTN was registered with the SEC on July 15, 1965, is a sixty percent (60%) owned subsidiary of 
the Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and exporting of nickel ore 
located in Barangay Rio Tuba, Municipality ofBataraza, Palawan and providing non-mining 
services. The registered office address of RTN is at 29th floor NAC Tower 32nd Street, Bonifacio 
Global City, Taguig. 

FE! 
FEI was registered with the SEC on November 22, 2005, is an eighty-eight percent (88%) owned 
subsidiary of the Company through HMC, CMC and TMC, and is primarily engaged in the 
business of e>-.'Ploring, prospecting and operating mines and quarries of all kinds of ores and 
minerals, metallic and non-metallic. FEI is dormant until the Company decides to resume its 
operations. The registered office address of FEI is at 29th floor NAC Tower 32nd Street, 
Bonifacio Global City, Taguig. 

LCSLC 
LCSLC was registered with the SEC on October 23, 1992, is a one hundred percent (1 00%) 
owned subsidiary of the Company through HMC, and is primarily engaged in the chartering out of 
Landing Craft Transport (LCT) and providing complete marine services. The registered office 
address of the Company is at 29th floor NAC Tower 32nd Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig. 
LCSLC was acquired by HMC in April 2010. 

SNMRC 
SNMRC was registered with the SEC on March 11, 2010, is a one hundred percent (100%) owned 
subsidiary of the Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and exporting of 
mineral ores. SNMRC has not yet started commercial operations. The registered office address of 
SNMRC is at 29th floor NAC Tower 32nd Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig. 

CExCI 
CExCI was registered with the SEC on October 19, 1994, is a seventy-one percent (71 %) owned 
subsidiary of the Company and is primarily engaged in the business of large-scale exploration, 
development and utilization of mineral resources. CExCI has a number of mining properties at 
various stages of e>-'Ploration. It is currently not engaged in any development or commercial 
production activities. The registered office address of CExCI is at 29th floor NAC Tower 32nd 
Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig. 

Executive Order CEO) 79 
On July 12, 2012, EO 79 was released to lay out the framework for the implementation of mining 
reforms in the Philippines. The policy highlights several issues that includes area of coverage of 
mining, small-scale mining, creation of a council, transparency and accountability and reconciling 
the roles of the national government and local government units. Management believes that 
EO 79 has no major impact on its current operations since the operating subsidiaries and mines are 
covered by existing Mineral Production Sharing Agreements (MPSA) with the government. 
Section 1 of EO 79, provides that mining contracts approved before the effectivity of the EO shall 
continue to be valid, binding, and enforceable so long as they strictly comply with existing laws, 
rules and regulations and the terms and conditions of their grant. The EO could, however, delay or 
adversely affect the conversion of the Group's mineral properties covered by Exploration Permits 
or Exploration Permit Application or Application for Production Sharing Agreements given the 
provision of the EO on the moratorium on the granting of new mineral agreements by the 
government until a legislation rationalizing existing revenue sharing schemes and mechanisms 
shall have taken effect. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

On March 24, 2014, the Board of Directors (BOD) of the Parent Company approved the 
amendment of its Articles oflncorporation to reflect the change in its principal office address from 
6th floor NAC Centre, 143 Dela Rosa Street, Legaspi Village, Makati City to NAC Tower 32nd 
Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig, subject to the approval of the Parent Company's 
stockholders in June 2014 (see Note 37) . 

The consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 and for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2013 were authorized for issuance by the Parent 
Company's BOD on March 24, 2014. 

2. Basis ofPreparation and Consolidation, Statement of Compliance and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Preparation 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
AFS fmancial assets which are measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements and 
these notes are presented in Philippine peso, the Parent Company' s and its subsidiaries' functional 
currency. All amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand (POOO), except when otherwise 
indicated. 

The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous 
period. In addition, the Group presents an additional consolidated statement of financial position 
at the beginning of the earliest period presented when there is a retrospective application of an 
accounting policy, a retrospective restatement, or a reclassification of items in the consolidated 
financial statements. An additional consolidated statement of financial position as at 
January 1, 2012 is presented in these consolidated financial statements due to retrospective 
application of certain accounting policy as discussed below in changes in accounting policy and 
disclosures. 

The specific accounting policies followed by the Group are disclosed in the following section. 

Statement of Compliance 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 

Basis of Consolidation from January l, 2010 
The consolidated financial statements include the Parent Company and the following subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the Group) and associate: 

Principal Place Principal Effective Ownership 
of Business Activities 2013 2012 

Subsidiaries 
HMC Philippines Mining 100.00% 100.00% 
CMC Philippines Mining 100.00% 100.00% 
SNMRC Philippines Mining 100.00% 100.00% 
LCSLC* Philippines Services 100.00% 100.00% 
FEI* Philippines Mining 88.00% 88.00% 

(Forward) 
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Principal Place Principal Effective Ownershi_e 
of Business Activities 2013 2012 

CExCI Philippines Mining 71.25% 71.25% 
Mining and 

TMC Philippines Services 65.00% 65.00% 
Mining and 

RTN Philippines Services 60.00% 60.00% 

Associate 
THNC Philippines Manufacturing 22.50% 22.50% 

*Direct and indirect ownership 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at 
December 31 of each year. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same 
reporting year as the parent company using uniform accounting policies. 

Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Parent Company has control. 

Control is achieved when the Parent Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the investee. 

Specifically, the Parent Company controls an investee if and only if the Parent Company has: 
• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 

activities of the in vestee) ; 
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

When the Parent Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an in vestee, 
the Parent Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has 
power over an investee, including: 
• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 
• The Parent Company's voting rights and potential voting rights. 

The Parent Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an in vestee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a 
subsidiary begins when the Parent Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the Parent Company loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
income from the date the Parent Company gains control until the date the Parent Company ceases 
to control the subsidiary. 

Consolidated statement of income and each component of consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the Parent Company and to the 
non-controlling interests (NCI), even if this results in the NCI having a deficit balance. When 
necessary, adjustments are made to the separate financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring 
their accounting policies in line with the Group's accounting policies. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NCI 
NCI represents interest in a subsidiary that is not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Parent 
Company. 

NCI represents the portion of profit or loss and the net assets not held by the Group. Transactions 
with non-controlling interest are accounted for using the entity concept method, whereby the 
difference between the consideration and the book value of the share of the net assets acquired is 
recognized as an equity transaction. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. If the Parent Company loses control over a subsidiary, it: 
• Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary; 
• Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests; 
• Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; 
• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received; 
• Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained; 
• Recognizes any surplus or deficit in the consolidated statement of income; and 
• Reclassifies the Parent Company's share of components previously recognized in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income to consolidated statement of income or 
retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Parent Company had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from 
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. 

Basis of Consolidation Prior to January l, 2010 
The above mentioned requirements were applied on a prospective basis. The following 
differences, however, are carried forward in certain instances from the previous basis of 
consolidation: 
• Non-controlling interests represented the portion of profit or loss and net assets in the 

Subsidiaries not held by the Group and are presented separately in the consolidated statement 
of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of financial position separately from the parent's 
equity. 

• Acquisition of non-controlling interest is accounted for using the entity concept method, 
whereby the difference between the consideration and the book value of the share of the net 
assets acquired is recognized as an equity transaction. 

• Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non-controlling interest until the balance 
was reduced to nil. Any further excess losses were attributable to the parent, unless the non­
controlling interest had a binding obligation to cover these. 

• Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the investment retained at its proportionate 
share of net asset value at the date control was lost. 

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for 
the following am ended PFRS, PAS, and Philippine Interpretations which were adopted as at 
January 1, 2013. 
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• PFRS 7, Financial Instrnments: Disclosures- Offtetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities (Amendments) 
These amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights of set-off and related 
arrangements (such as collateral agreements). The new disclosures are required for all 
recognized financial instruments that are set off in accordance with PAS 32, Financial 
Instrnment: Presentation. These disclosures also apply to recognized financial instruments 
that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or "similar agreement", 
irrespective of whether they are set-off in accordance with PAS 32. The amendments require 
entities to disclose, in a tabular format, unless another format is more appropriate, the 
following minimum quantitative information. This is presented separately for financial assets 
and financial liabilities recognized at the end of the reporting period: 
a) The gross amounts of those recognized financial assets and recognized financial liabilities; 
b) The amounts that are set off in accordance with the criteria in PAS 32 when determining 

the net amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position; 
c) The net amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position; 
d) The amounts subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement 

that are not otherwise included in (b) above, including: 
1. Amounts related to recognized financial instruments that do not meet some or all 

of the offsetting criteria in PAS 32; and 
ii. Amounts related to financial collateral (including cash collateral); and 

e) The net amount after deducting the amounts in (d) from the amounts in (c) above. 

The amendments affect disclosures only and have no impact on the Group's financial position 
or performance. 

• PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements 
The Group adopted PFRS 10 in the current year. PFRS 10 replaced the portion of PAS 27, 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, that addressed the accounting for 
consolidated financial statements. It also included the issues raised in Standing Interpretations 
Committee (SIC) 12, Consolidation- Special Purpose Entities. PFRS 10 established a single 
control model that applied to all entities including special purpose entities. The changes 
introduced by PFRS 10 require management to exercise significant judgment to determine 
which entities are controlled, and therefore, are required to be consolidated by a parent, 
compared with the requirements that were in PAS 27. The adoption of this standard did not 
have a significant impact on the Group's statement of financial position and performance and 
that the Parent Company retained the control of the companies under the Group. 

• PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements 
PFRS 11 replaced PAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures, and SIC 13, Jointly Controlled 
Entities - Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. PFRS 11 removed the option to account 
for jointly controlled entities using proportionate consolidation. Instead, jointly controlled 
entities that meet the definition of a joint venture must be accounted for using the equity 
method. The Group has assessed that the application of PFRS 11 has no impact on the 
Group's financial position or performance. 
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• PFRS 12, Disclosure ofinterests in Other Entities 
PFRS 12 sets out the requirements for disclosures relating to an entity's interests in 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities. The requirements in 
PFRS 12 are more comprehensive than the previously existing disclosure requirements for 
subsidiaries (for example, where a subsidiary is controlled with less than a majority of voting 
rights). While the Group has subsidiaries with material noncontrolling interests, there are no 
unconsolidated structured entities. PFRS 12 disclosures are provided in Note 30. 

• PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement 
PFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under PFRSs for all fair value measurements. 
PFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides 
guidance on how to measure fair value under PFRS. PFRS 13 defines fair value as an exit 
price. PFRS 13 also requires additional disclosures. 

As a result of the guidance in PFRS 13, the Group re-assessed its policies for measuring fair 
values, in particular, its valuation inputs such as non-performance risk for fair value 
measurement of liabilities. The Group has assessed that the application ofPFRS 13 has not 
materially impacted the fair value measurements of the Group. Additional disclosures, where 
required, are provided in the individual notes relating to the assets and liabilities whose fair 
values were determined. 

• PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Presentation of I terns of Other Comprehensive 
Income or OCI (Amendments) 
The am endments to PAS 1 introduced a grouping of items presented in OCI. Items that will 
be reclassified (or "recycled") to the consolidated statement of income at a future point in time 
(for example, upon derecognition or settlement) will be presented separately from items that 
will never be recycled. The amendments were applied retrospectively and resulted to the 
modification of the presentation of items of OCI on the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income. 

• PAS 19, Employee Benefits (Revised) 
The revised standard includes a number of amendm ents that range from fundamental changes 
such as removing the corridor mechanism and the concept of expected returns on plan assets 
to simple classifications and rewordings. The revised standard also requires new disclosures 
such as, among others: 
a) a sensitivity analysis for each significant actuarial assumption; 
b) information on asset-liability matching strategies; 
c) duration ofthe defined benefit obligation; and 
d) disaggregation of plan assets by nature and risk. 

For defined benefit plans, the Revised PAS 19 requires all actuarial gains and losses to be 
recognized in OCI and unvested past service costs previously recognized over the average 
vesting period to be recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of income when 
incurred. 

Prior to adoption of the Revised PAS 19, the Group recognized actuarial gains and losses as 
income or expense when the net cumulative umecognized gains and losses for each individual 
plan at the end of the previous period exceeded 10% of the higher of the defined benefit 
obligation and the fair value of the plan assets and recognized unv ested past service costs as 
an expense on a straight-line basis over the average vesting period until the benefits become 
vested. 
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Upon adoption of the revised PAS 19, the Group changed its accounting policy to recognize 
all actuarial gains and losses in ocr and all past service costs in the consolidated statement of 
income in the period they occur. 

The Revised PAS 19 replaced the interest cost and expected return on plan assets with the 
concept of net interest on defined benefit liability or asset which is calculated by multiplying 
the net balance sheet defined benefit liability or asset by the discount rate used to measure the 
employee benefit obligation, each as at the beginning of the annual period. 

The Revised PAS 19 also amended the definition of short-term employee benefits and requires 
employee benefits to be classified as short-term based on expected timing of settlement rather 
than the employee' s entitlement to the benefits. 

In addition, the Revised PAS 19 modifies the timing of recognition for termination benefits. 
The modification requires the termination benefits to be recognized at the earlier of when the 
offer cannot be withdrawn or when the related restructuring costs are recognized. 

Changes to definition of short-term employee benefits and timing of recognition for 
termination benefits do not have any impact to the Group's financial position and financial 
performance. 

The changes in accounting policies have been applied retrospectively. The effects of adoption 
on the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

Consolidated statements of financial 
position : 
Pension liability 
Deferred income tax assets 
Retained earnings attributable to : 

Equity holders of the parent 
Non-controlling interests 

Consolidated statements of financial 
posit ion : 
Pension asset under "Other 

noncurrent assets" 
Deferred income tax assets 
Pension liability 
Deferred income tax liabilities 
Retained earnings attributable to: 

Equity holders of the parent 
Non-controlling interests 
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As at December 31, 2013 
Under previous Increase Under revised 

PAS 19 (decrease) PAS 19 

1!135,028 
301,229 

9,811,708 
4,759,670 

1!144,047 
43,214 

(62,803) 
(38,030) 

1!279,075 
344,443 

9,748,905 
4,721,640 

As at December 31, 201 2, as restated 
As previously 

reported 

¥38,566 
351,177 
90,797 

544,925 

9,737,447 
4,7 12,11 6 

Increase 
(decrease) 

¥ 18,420 
13,720 
45,735 
5,526 

(12,283) 
(6,838) 

As restated 

¥56,986 
364,897 
136,532 
550,45 1 

9,725,164 
4,705,278 

4 5 
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As at January 1, 2012 
As previously Increase 

re.eorted ~decrease2 As restated 
Consolidated statements of financial 

position: 
Pension asset under "Other 

noncurrent assets" 
(Pension liability) ¥3,873 (P33,582) (¥29,709) 

Deferred income tax assets 486,124 15,727 501,851 
Pension liability 74,932 52,424 127,356 
Deferred income tax liabilities 595,700 (10,075) 585,625 
Retained earnings attributable to: 

Equity holders of the parent 8,920,976 (37,544) 8,883,432 
Non-controlling interests 4,381,233 (22,660) 4,358,573 

For the year For the year For the year 
ended ended ended 

December 31, December 31, December 31, 
2013 2012 2011 

Consolidated statements of income: 
Increase (decrease) 
Net pension costs (F3,619) ¥33,727 (P2,973) 
Provision for income tax 1,086 (10,118) 892 
Net income attributable to: 

Equity holders of the parent 1,588 (14,1 06) 1,308 
Non-controlling interests 945 (9,503) 773 

Consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income: 
Increase (decrease) 
Remeasurements of pension 

liability (130,855) 92,417 1,395 
Income tax effects 39,256 (27,725) ( 418) 

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent (57,875) 25,261 2,969 
Non-controlling interests (31,191) 15,822 89 

The net effect of all transitions adjustments are closed to retained earnings on the transition 
date. The Revised PAS 19 has been applied retrospectively from January 1, 2012, in 
accordance with its transitional provisions. Consequently, the Group has restated its reported 
results throughout the comparative periods presented and reported the cumulative effect as at 
January 1, 2012 as adjustment to opening balances. 

The application of Revised PAS 19 did not have a material effect on the consolidated 
statements of cash flows. The effect on the earnings per share and disclosures on segment 
information for the years ended December 31 , 2013, 2012 and 2011 is not materiaL 
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Change of Presentation 
Upon adoption of the Revised PAS 19, the presentation of the consolidated statement of 
income was updated to reflect these changes. Net interest is now shown under the finance 
income/expense line item (previously under personnel expenses). This presentation better 
reflects the nature of net interest since it corresponds to the com pounding effect of the long­
term net defined benefits pension liability (net defined benefits pension asset). In the past, the 
expected return on plan assets reflected the individual performance of the plan assets, which 
were regarded as part of the operating activities. 

• PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements (as revised in 2011) 
As a consequence of the issuance of the new PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, 
and PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, what remains of PAS 27 is limited to 
accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, and associates in the separate financial 
statements. The adoption of the am ended PAS 27 did not have a significant impact on the 
separate financial statements of the entities in the Group. 

• PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011) 
As a consequence of the issuance of the new PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, and PFRS 12, 
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, PAS 28 has been renamed PAS 28, Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures, and describes the application of the equity method to 
investments in joint ventures in addition to associates. The amendments affect disclosures 
only and have no material impact on the Group's financial position or performance. 

• Philippine Interpretation International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) 20, Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Suiface Mine 
This interpretation applies to waste removal costs (''stripping costs") that are incurred in 
surface mining activity during the production phase of the mine ("production stripping costs"). 
If the benefit from the stripping activity will be realized in the current period, an entity is 
required to account for the stripping activity costs as part of the cost of inventory. When the 
benefit is the improved access to ore, the entity should recognize these costs as a non-current 
asset, only if certain criteria are met ("stripping activity asset"). The stripping activity asset is 
accounted for as an addition to, or as an enhancement of, an existing asset. After initial 
recognition, the stripping activity asset is carried at its cost or revalued amount less 
depreciation or amortization and less impairment losses, in the same way as the existing asset 
of which it is a part. 

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2009-2011 cycle) 
The annual improvements to PFRSs (2009-2011 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary 
amendments to PFRSs. The Group adopted these amendments for the current year. 

• PFRS 1, First-time Adoption ofPFRS- Borrowing Costs 
The amendment clarifies that, upon adoption ofPFRS, an entity that capitalized borrowing 
costs in accordance with its previous generally accepted accounting principles, may carry 
forward, without any adjustment, the amount previously capitalized in its opening statement of 
financial position at the date of transition. Subsequent to the adoption of PFRS, borrowing 
costs are recognized in accordance with PAS 23, Borrowing Costs. The amendment does not 
apply to the Group as it is not a first-time adopter ofPFRS. 
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• PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements- Clarification of the Requirements f or 
Comparative Information 
These amendments clarify the requirements for comparative information that are disclosed 
voluntarily and those that are mandatory due to retrospective application of an accounting 
policy, or retrospective restatement or reclassification of items in the financial statements. An 
entity must include comparative information in the related notes to the financial statements 
when it voluntarily provides comparative information beyond the minimum required 
comparative period. The additional comparative period does not need to contain a complete 
set of financial statements. On the other hand, supporting notes for the third balance sheet 
(mandatory when there is a retrospective application of an accounting policy, or retrospective 
restatement or reclassification of items in the financial statements) are not required. As a 
result, the Group has not included complete comparative information in respect of the opening 
consolidated statement of financial position as at January 1, 2012. The amendments affect 
disclosures only and have no impact on the Group's financial position or performance. 

• PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment- Classification of Servicing Equipment 
The amendment clarifies that spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing equipment should 
be recognized as property, plant and equipment when they meet the definition of property, 
plant and equipment and should be recognized as inventory if otherwise. The amendment has 
no significant impact on the Group' s financial position or performance. 

• PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation- Tax Effec t of Distribution to Holders of Equity 
Instruments 
The amendment clarifies that income taxes relating to distributions to equity holders and to 
transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for in accordance with PAS 12, 
Income Taxes. The amendment does not have any significant impact on the Group's financial 
position or performance. 

• PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting - Interim Financial Reporting and Segment Information 
for Total Assets and Liabilities 
The amendment clarifies that the total assets and liabilities for a particular reportable segment 
need to be disclosed only when the amounts are regularly provided to the chief operating 
decision maker and there has been a material change from the amount disclosed in the entity's 
prev ious annual financial statements for that reportable segment. The amendm ent affects 
disclosures only and has no impact on the Group's financial position or performance. 

New Accounting Standards, Interpretations and Am endments Effective Subsequent to 
December 31, 2013 
The Group will adopt the following standards and interpretations enumerated below when these 
become effective. Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not expect the adoption of these 
new and amended standards and interpretations to have a significant impact on its consolidated 
financial statements. 

• PAS 3 6, Impairment of Assets - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 
(Amendments) 
These amendments remove the unintended consequences of PFRS 13 on the disclosures 
required under PAS 36. In addition, these amendments require disclosure of the recoverable 
amounts for the assets or cash-generating units (CGUs) for which impairment loss has been 
recognized or reversed during the period. These amendments are effective retrospectively for 
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annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014 with earlier application permitted, 
provided PFRS 13 is also applied. The amendments affect disclosures only and have no 
impact on the Group's financial position or performance. 

• Investment Entities (Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 27) 
These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 
They provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the 
definition of an investment entity under PFRS 10. The exception to consolidation requires 
investment entities to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). It is 
not expected that this amendment would be relevant to the Group since none of the entities in 
the Group would qualify to be an investment entity under PFRS 10. 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 21, Levies 
IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers 
payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. For a levy that is triggered upon 
reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability should be 
anticipated before the specified minimum threshold is reached. IFRIC 21 is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The Group does not expect that 
IFRIC 21 will have material financial impact in future consolidated financial statements. 

• PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Novation of Derivatives and 
Continuation of Hedge Accounting (Amendm ents) 
These amendments provide re lief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a 
derivative designated as a hedging instrument meets certain criteria. These amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The Group has no 
derivatives during the current period which will be considered for future novations. 

• PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments) 
The amendments apply to contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit 
plans. Contributions that are set out in the form al term s of the plan shall be accounted for as 
reductions to current service costs if they are linked to service or as part of the 
remeasurements of the net defined benefit asset or liability if they are not linked to service. 
Contr ibutions that are discretionary shall be accounted for as reductions of current service cost 
upon payment of these contributions to the plans. The amendments to PAS 19 are to be 
retrospectively applied for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014. 

• PAS 3 2, Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities (Amendments) 
The amendments clar ify the meaning of ''currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off' 
and also clarify the application of the PAS 32 offsetting criteria to settlement systems (such as 
central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement mechanisms that are not 
simultaneous. The amendments affect presentation only and have no impact on the Group's 
financial position or performance. The amendments to PAS 32 are to be retrospectively 
applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 20 14. 
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Annuallmprovements to PFRSs (20 I 0-2012 cycle) 
The annual improvements to PFRSs (2010-2012 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary 
amendments to the following standards: 

• PFRS 2, Share-based Payment- Definition of Vesting Condition 
The amendment revised the definitions of vesting condition and market condition and added 
the definitions of performance condition and service condition to clarify various issues. This 
amendment shall be prospectively applied to share-based payment transactions for which the 
grant date is on or after July 1, 2014. The Group shall consider this amendment for future 
impact on the Group's financial position or performance. 

• PFRS 3, Business Combinations- Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a Business 
Combination 
The amendment clarifies that a contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial 
instrument should be classified as a fmancialliability or as equity in accordance with PAS 32. 
Contingent consideration that is not classified as equity is subsequently measured at FVPL 
whether or not it falls within the scope ofPFRS 9 (or PAS 39, if PFRS 9 is not yet adopted). 

The amendment shall be prospectively applied to business combinations for which the 
acquisition date is on or after July 1, 2014. The Group shall consider this amendment for 
future business combinations. 

• PFRS 8, Operating Segments -Aggregation of Operating Segments andReconciliation ofthe 
Total of the Reportable Segments' Assets to the Entity's Assets 
The amendments require entities to disclose the judgment made by management in 
aggregating two or more operating segments. This disclosure should include a brief 
description of the operating segments that have been aggregated in this way and the economic 
indicators that have been assessed in determining that the aggregated operating segments share 
similar economic characteristics. The amendments also clarify that an entity shall provide 
reconciliations of the total of the reportable segments' assets to the entity's assets if such 
amounts are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker. These amendments are 
effective for annual periods begirming on or after July 1, 2014 and are applied retrospectively. 
The amendments affect disclosures only and have no impact on the Group's financial position 
or performance. 

• PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement- Short-term Receivables andPayables 
The amendment clarifies that short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rates 
can be held at invoice amounts when the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group does 
not expect that the amendment will have material financial impact in future consolidated 
financial statements. 

• PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment- Revaluation Method- Proportionate Restatement of 
Accumulated Depreciation 
The amendment clarifies that, upon revaluation of an item of property, plant and equipment, 
the carrying amount of the asset shall be adjusted to the revalued amount, and the asset shall 
be treated in one of the following ways: 
a) The gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation 

of the carrying amount of the asset. The accumulated depreciation at the date of 
revaluation is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and the 
carrying amount of the asset after taking into account any accumulated impairment losses. 

b) The accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset. 
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The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014. The 
amendment shall apply to all revaluations recognized in annual periods beginning on or after 
the date of initial application of this amendment and in the immediately preceding annual 
period. The amendment has no material impact on the Group's financial position or 
performance. 

• PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures- Key Management Personnel 
The amendments clarify that an entity is a related party of the reporting entity if the said 
entity, or any member of a group for which it is a part of, provides key management personnel 
services to the reporting entity or to the parent company of the reporting entity. The 
amendments also clarify that a reporting entity that obtains management personnel services 
from another entity (also referred to as management entity) is not required to disclose the 
compensation paid or payable by the management entity to its employees or directors. The 
reporting entity is required to disclose the amounts incurred for the key management personnel 
services provided by a separate management entity. The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and are applied retrospectively. The amendments 
may affect disclosures only and have no impact on the Group's financial position or 
performance. 

• PAS 3 8, Intangible Assets- Revaluation Method- Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated 
Amortization 
The amendments clarify that, upon revaluation of an intangible asset, the carrying amount of 
the asset shall be adjusted to the revalued amount, and the asset shall be treated in one of the 
following ways: 
a) The gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation 

of the carrying amount of the asset. The accumulated amortization at the date of 
revaluation is adjusted to equal the difference. between the gross carrying amount and the 
carrying amount of the asset after taking into account any accumulated impairment losses. 

b) The accumulated amortization is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset. 

The amendments also clarify that the amount of the adjustment of the accumulated 
amortization should form part of the increase or decrease in the carrying amount accounted for 
in accordance with the standard. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after July 1, 2014. The amendments shall apply to all revaluations recognized in annual 
periods beginning on or after the date of initial application of this amendment and in the 
immediately preceding annual period. The amendments have no impact on the Group's 
financial position or performance. 

Annuallmprovements to PFRSs (2011-2013 cycle) 
The annual improvements to PFRSs (2011-2013 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary 
amendments to the following standards: 

• PFRS 1, First-time Adoption ofPFRS- Meaning of "Effective PFRSs" 
The amendment clarifies that an entity may choose to apply either a current standard or a new 
standard that is not yet mandatory, but that permits early application, provided either standard 
is applied consistently throughout the periods presented in the entity' s first PFRS financial 
statements. This amendment is not applicable to the Group as it is not a first-time adopter of 
PFRS. 
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• PFRS 3, Business Combinations- Scope ExceptionsforJointArrangements 
The amendment clarifies that PFRS 3 does not apply to the accounting for the formation of a 
joint arrangement in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself. The amendment 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and is applied prospectively. 
The amendment has no impact on the Group's financial position or performance. 

• PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement- Portfolio Exception 
The amendment clarifies that the portfolio exception in PFRS 13 can be applied to financial 
assets, fmancialliabilities and other contracts. The amendment is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after July 1 2014 and is applied prospectively. The amendment has no 
significant impact on the Group's financial position or performance. 

• PAS 40, Investment Property 
The amendment clarifies the interrelationship between PFRS 3 and PAS 40 when classifying 
property as investment property or owner-occupied property. The amendment stated that 
judgment is needed when determining whether the acquisition of investment property is the 
acquisition of an asset or a group of assets or a business combination within the scope of 
PFRS 3. This judgment is based on the guidance of PFRS 3. This amendment is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and is applied prospectively. The 
amendment has no significant impact on the Group's financial position or performance. 

• PFRS 9, Financial Instruments 
PFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first and third phases of the project to replace PAS 39 and 
applies to the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities and hedge 
accounting, respectively. Work on the second phase, which relate to impairment of financial 
instruments, and the limited amendments to the classification and measurement model hedge 
accounting is still ongoing, with a view to replace PAS 39 in its entirety. PFRS 9 requires all 
financial assets to be measured at fair value at initial recognition. A debt financial asset may, 
if the fair value option (FVO) is not invoked, be subsequently measured at amortized cost if it 
is held within a business model that has the objective to hold the assets to collect the 
contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. All other debt 
instruments are subsequently measured at FVPL. All equity financial assets are measured at 
fair value either through ocr or profit or loss. Equity financial assets held for trading must be 
measured at FVPL. For FVO liabilities designated as at FVPL using the FVO, the amount of 
change in the fair value of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit risk must be 
presented in OCI. The remainder of the change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, 
unless presentation of the fair value change relating to the entity's own credit risk in respect of 
the liability's credit risk in ocr would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or 
loss. All other PAS 39 classification and measurement requirements for financial liabilities 
have been carried forward to PFRS 9, including the embedded derivative bifurcation 
separation rules and the criteria for using the FVO. The adoption of the first phase of PFRS 9 
will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group's financial assets, but 
will potentially have no impact on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. 

On hedge accounting, PFRS 9 replaces the rules-based hedge accounting model of PAS 39 
with a more principles-based approach. Changes include replacing the rules-based hedge 
effectiveness test with an objectives-based test that focuses on the economic relationship 
between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, and the effect of credit risk on that 
economic relationship; allowing risk components to be designated as the hedged item, not 
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only for fmancial items, but also for non-financial items, provided that the risk component is 
separately identifiable and reliably measurable; and allowing the time value of an option, the 
forward element of a forward contract and any foreign currency basis spread to be excluded 
from the designation of a financial instrument as the hedging instrument and accounted for as 
costs of hedging. PFRS 9 also requires more extensive disclosures for hedge accounting. 

PFRS 9 currently has no mandatory effective date. PFRS 9 may be applied before the 
completion of the limited amendments to the classification and measurement model and 
impairment methodology. The Group will not adopt the standard before the completion of the 
limited amendments and the second phase of the project. 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction ofReal Estate 
This interpretation covers accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that 
undertake the construction of real estate directly or through subcontractors. The interpretation 
requires that revenue on construction of real estate be recognized only upon completion, 
except when such contract qualifies as construction contract to be accounted for under PAS 11 
or involves rendering of services in which case revenue is recognized based on stage of 
completion. Contracts involving provision of services with the construction materials and 
where the risks and reward of ownership are transferred to the buyer on a continuous basis 
will also be accounted for based on stage of completion. The SEC and the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council have deferred the effectivity of this interpretation until the final 
Revenue standard is issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and an 
evaluation of the requirements of the final Revenue standard against the practices of the 
Philippine real estate industry is completed. The amendment has no impact on the Group's 
financial position or performance. 

Summazy of Significant Accounting Policies 

Presentation of Financial Statements 
The Group has elected to present all items of recognized income and expense in two statements: a 
statement displaying components of profit or loss (consolidated statement of income) and a second 
statement beginning with profit or loss and displaying components of ocr (consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income). 

Foreign Currency Transactions 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the Parent 
Company's functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own 
functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency. The functional currency of the entities in the Group is also the 
Philippine peso. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in Philippine peso at the 
rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at functional currency rate of exchange ruling at each end of the 
reporting period. All differences are taken to consolidated statement of income. Nonmonetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transaction. Nonmonetary items measured at fair value in 
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is 
determined. 

As at the end of the reporting period, the consolidated statement of financial position of an 
associate (whose functional currency is other than the Philippine peso) is translated into the 
presentation currency of the Parent Company (the Philippine peso) at the rate of exchange at the 
end of the reporting period and the statement of income is translated at the monthly average 
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exchange rates for the year. The exchange differences arising on the translation is recognized in 
OCI. Upon disposal of such associate, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign 
operation will be recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash includes cash on hand and with banks. Cash equivalents pertain to short-term cash 
investments that are made for varying periods of up to three (3) months depending on the 
immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term cash 
investment rates. 

Financial Instruments 
Date of recognition 
The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognized on 
the trade date (i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset). 

Initial Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments 
The Group determines the classification of financial instruments at initial recognition and, where 
allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at every end of the reporting period. 

All financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value. Directly attributable transaction 
costs are included in the initial measurement of all financial instruments, except for financial 
instruments measured at FVPL. 

Financial Assets 
Financial assets within the scope of PAS 39 are classified in the following categories: financial 
assets at FVPL, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity (HIM) investments, AFS financial assets, 
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they 
are quoted in an active market. 

The Group's financial assets are in the nature of loans and receivables and AFS financial assets. 
The Group has no financial assets classified as financial assets at FVPL, HIM investments and 
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge as at December 31, 2013 and 
2012. 

Financial Liabilities 
Also under PAS 39, financial liabilities are classified into financial liabilities at FVPL, other 
financial liabilities or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. 

Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument or 
a component that is a financial liability, are reported as expense or income. Distributions to 
holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity net of any 
related income tax. 

The Group's financial liabilities are in the nature of other financial liabilities. The Group has no 
financial liabilities classified as at FVPL and derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an 
effective hedge as at December 31, 2013 and 2012. 
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Fair Value Measurement 
The Group measures financial instruments, such as AFS financial assets, at fair value at each end 
of the reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either: 
• in the principal market for the asset or liability; or 
• in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group. The fair value of 
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described, as follows, based on the lowest-level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 
• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and 
• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is unobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring 
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by 
re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at each end of the reporting period. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded in organized financial markets is 
determined by reference to quoted market close prices at the close of business on the end of the 
reporting period. 

For financial instruments where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation 
techniques. Such techniques include comparison to similar investments for which market 
observable prices exist and discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level ofthe fair 
value hierarchy as explained above. 

Subsequent Measurement 
The subsequent measurement of financial instruments depends on their classification as follows: 

Loans and Receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or 
short-term resale and are not classified as "financial assets held for trading", designated as "AFS 
financial assets" or "financial assets designated at FVPL ". After initial measurement, loans and 
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receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) 
method, less any allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fee or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The 
amortization and losses arising from impairment are included in "Finance income (expenses)" in 
the consolidated statement of income. Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income when the loans are derecognized or impaired as well as through the 
amortization process. 

Loans and receivables are included in current assets if maturity is within twelve (12) months from 
the end of the reporting period or within the Group's normal operating cycle, whichever is longer. 
Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets. 

As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Group's loans and receivables include cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and other receivables, and cash held in escrow, mine rehabilitation fund (MRF), 
Social Development Management Program (SDtv.IP) fund and long-term negotiable instrument 
which are included under "Other noncurrent assets" in the consolidated statement of financial 
position (see Notes 4, 5 and 13). 

AFS Financial Assets 
AFS financial assets are those which are designated as such or do not qualify to be classified or 
designated at FVPL, HTM investments or loans and receivables. 

Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition as AFS financial assets if they are 
purchased and held indefinitely, and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes 
in market conditions. 

After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are measured at fair value. The effective yield 
component of AFS debt instruments, as well as the impact of restatement on foreign 
currency-denominated AFS debt securities, is reported in the consolidated statement of income 
under "Finance income" or "Finance expenses". The umealized gains and losses arising from the 
fair valuation of AFS financial assets are excluded from reported earnings and are reported in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as "Net valuation gain (loss) on AFS financial 
assets". Unquoted AFS financial assets, where there is no reliable basis of their fair values, are 
measured at cost less any impairment loss. 

AFS financial assets are included in current assets if it is expected to be realized or disposed of 
within twelve (12) months from the end of the reporting period. Otherwise, these are classified as 
noncurrent assets. 

When the security is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income. Where the Group holds more than one (1) 
investment in the same security, these are deemed to be disposed of on a first-in, first-out basis. 
Interest earned on holding AFS financial assets are reported as "Finance income" using the EIR. 
Dividends earned on holding AFS financial assets are recognized in the consolidated statements of 
income when the right of payment has been established. The losses arising from impairment of 
such investments are recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

The Group's investments in debt and equity securities are classified under this category 
(see Note 7). 
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Other Financial Liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading, not derivatives, or not 
designated as at FVPL upon the inception of the liability. Other financial liabilities are initially 
recognized at fair value of the consideration received, less directly attributable transaction costs. 
After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognized in the Group's statement of income when 
the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process. 

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any issue cost, and any discount or premium 
on settlement. The EIR amortization is included under "Finance expenses" in the consolidated 
statement of income. 

This accounting policy applies primarily to the Group's long-term debt, trade and other payables 
and other obligations that meet the above definition (other than liabilities that are covered by other 
accounting standards, such as income tax payable and pension; seeN otes 14 and 15). 

Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognized amounts and the Group intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and 
the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the 
related assets and liabilities are presented at gross amounts in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any objective evidence 
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an 
incurred "loss event") and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of 
impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the 
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable 
data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

Loans and Receivables 
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Group first assesses individually whether 
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group 
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial 
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar 
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, 
recognized are not included ina collective assessment of impairment. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss was incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The 
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial assets' original EIR. 
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If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the 
current ElR. 

Interest income continues to be recognized based on the original EIR of the asset. The interest 
income is recorded as part of "Finance income" in the consolidated statement of income. The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of 
the loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. Loans, together with the associated 
allowance, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral 
has been realized or has been transferred to the Group. 

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized 
cost at the reversal date. 

AFS Financial Assets 
For AFS financial assets, the Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

In the case of equity investments classified as AFS financial assets, objective evidence would 
include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below its cost. The 
determination of what is "significant" or "prolonged" requires judgment. "Significant" is to be 
evaluated against the original cost of the investment and "prolonged" against the period in which 
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the 
cumulative loss- measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized as OCI is removed 
from equity and recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated statement of 
income while increases in fair value after impairment are recognized directly in equity through the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS financial assets, impairment is assessed based on 
the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost. However, the amount recorded for 
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortized cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income. 

Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced canying amount of the asset, 
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 
impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of "Finance income" in the consolidated 
statement of income. If, in the subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and 
the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognized through the consolidated statement of income, the impairment loss is reversed through 
the consolidated statement of income. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument for 
AFS financial assets carried at cost, such as unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair 
value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Objective 
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evidence of impairment includes, but is not limited to, significant financial difficulty of the issuer 
or obligor and it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization. 

Derecognition of Financial Instruments 
Financial Assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognized when: 
• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
• the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation 

to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through" arrangement; 
or 

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either: (a) has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 
pass-through arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the 
Group's continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the 
asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay. In 
such case, the Group also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the 
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group 
has retained. 

Financial Liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, 
cancelled or has expired. 

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts of a financial liability extinguished 
or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets 
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Inventories 
Inventories, excluding the long-term stockpile inventory, are valued at the lower of cost or net 
realizable value (NR V). Cost is determined by the average production cost during the year for 
beneficiated nickel silicate ore and limestone ore exceeding a determined cut-off grade and 
moving average method for materials and supplies. NRV of beneficiated nickel silicate and 
limestone ore inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale. For materials and supplies, cost is composed of 
purchase price, transport, handling and other costs directly attributable to its acquisition. NRV of 
materials and supplies is the current replacement cost. 
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Long-term Stockpile Inventory 
The long-term stockpile inventory of RTN is carried at the lower of cost or NRV. Cost is 
represented by the fair value of the long-term stockpile inventory related to the acquisition of the 
controlling interest in RTN in August 2006. The fair value was determined using the present 
value of the estimated cash flows, which RTN will derive from the sale of this inventory to CBNC 
under its Nickel Ore Supply Agreement with CBNC (see Note 3la). After initial recognition, the 
long-term stockpile inventory is subsequently charged to cost of sales based on actual tons 
delivered to CBNC. NRV of long-term inventory stockpile is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

Other Current Assets 
Other current assets include input tax, tax credit certificates, advances and deposits and various 
prepayments which the Group's expects to realize or consume the assets within twelve (12) 
months after the end of the reporting period. 

Propertv and Equipment 
Except for land, property and equipment are stated at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day 
servicing, less accumulated depreciation and amortization and accumulated impairment loss. Such 
cost includes the cost of replacing part of such property and equipment when that cost is incurred 
if the recognition criteria are met. Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value. 

Depreciation and amortization are computed on the straight-line basis over the following e:;timated 
useful lives of the assets: 

Category 
Machinery and equipment 
Buildings and improvements 

Number of Years 
5 

5-25 

Mining properties and development costs include the capitalized cost of mine rehabilitation and 
decommissioning and other development cost necessary to prepare the area for operations. 
Depletion of mining properties and development costs is calculated using the unit-of-production 
method based on the estimated economically recoverable reserves to which they relate to or are 
written-off if the property is abandoned. Development costs are depreciated using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful life of the asset of twenty years (20) to twenty-five (25) years. 

Construction in-progress represents work under construction and is stated at cost. Construction 
in-progress is not depreciated until such time that the relevant assets are completed and available 
for use. 

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment begins when it becomes available for 
use, i.e. , when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. Depreciation and amortization ceases at the earlier of the date 
that the item is classified as held for sale (or included in the disposal group that is classified as 
held for sale) in accordance with PFRS 5, Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations, and the date the item is derecognized. 

The assets' estimated recoverable reserves, residual values, useful lives and depreciation, 
amortization and depletion methods are reviewed periodically to ensure that the estimated 
recoverable reserves, residual values, periods and methods of depreciation, amortization and 
depletion are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and 
equipment. The residual values, if any, is reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each end of the 
reporting period. 
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The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the 
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

When each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the 
property and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 

The asset revaluation surplus which arose from the acquisition of the controlling interest in RTN 
in August 2006, relates to the land, machinery and equipment, and building improvements. The 
related and applicable depreciation on these assets is transferred periodically to retained earnings. 

Borrowing Cost 
Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred. Interest on borrowed funds used to finance 
the construction of the asset to the extent incurred during the period of construction is capitalized 
as part of the cost of the asset. The capitalization of the borrowing cost as part of the cost of the 
asset: (a) commences when the expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred during the 
construction and related activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use are in 
progress; and (b) ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its 
intended use are complete. 

Investment Properties 
Investment property is measured at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount 
includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is 
incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an 
investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of twelve (12) 
years. 

Investment property is derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the 
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is 
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment 
property are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the year of retirement or 
disposal. 

As the accounting for the investment property uses the cost model, transfers between investment 
property and owner-occupied property do not change the carrying amount of the property 
transferred and they do not change the cost of that property for measurement or disclosure 
purposes. 

Investment in an Associate 
An associate is an entity over which the Company is able to exert significant influence. 
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and reporting policy decisions of 
the investee, but has no control or joint control over those policies. The Group' s investment in an 
associate is accounted for using the equity method, less any impairment in value, in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 
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The consolidated statement of income reflects the Group's share of the results of operations of the 
associate. Any change in OCI of the investee is presented as part of the Group's OCI. In addition, 
when there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate, the Group 
recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity. Umealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the 
associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate. The aggregate of the Group's 
share in profit or loss of an associate is shown in the face of the consolidated statement of income 
outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the 
subsidiaries of the associate. 

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the 
Group. 

Other Noncurrent Assets 
Other noncurrent assets of the Group include input tax, advances to claim owners, cash held in 
escrow, deferred mine exploration costs, ::MRF, SDl'viP fund, long-term negotiable instrument, 
pension asset and other deposits. These are classified as noncurrent since the Group expects to 
utilize the assets beyond twelve (12) months from the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred Mine Exploration Costs and Mining Rights 
Expenditures for the acquisition of property rights are capitalized. Expenditures for mine 
exploration work prior to drilling are charged to operations. When it has been established that a 
mineral deposit is commercially mineable and a decision has been made to formulate a mining 
plan (which occurs upon completion of a positive economic analysis of the mineral deposit), costs 
subsequently incurred to develop a mine on the property prior to the start of mining operations are 
capitalized. Upon the start of commercial operations, such costs are transferred to property and 
equipment. Capitalized amounts may be written down if future cash flows, including potential 
sales proceeds related to the property, are projected to be less than the carrying value of the 
property. If no mineable ore body is discovered, capitalized acquisition costs are expensed in the 
period in which it is determined that the mineral property has no future economic value. 
Costs incurred during the start-up phase of a mine are expensed as incurred. Ongoing mining 
expenditures on producing properties are charged against earnings as incurred. Major 
development expenditures incurred to expose the ore, increase production or extend the life of an 
existing mine are capitalized. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
Inventories and Long-term Stockpile 
The Group determines the NRV of inventories and long-term stockpile at each end of the reporting 
period. If the cost of the inventories and long-term stockpile exceeds its NR V, the asset is written 
down to its NRV and impairment loss is recognized in the statement of income in the year the 
impairment is incurred. In the case when NRV of the inventories and long-term stockpile 
increased subsequently, the NR V will increase carrying amounts of inventories but only to the 
extent of their original acquisition costs. 

Property and Equipment, Investment Properties, Nonfinancial Other Current Assets and Other 
Noncurrent Assets 
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or CGU is written down to 
its recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset' s or CGU's fair 
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value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
groups of assets. 

Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These 
calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair value indicators. 
Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Recovery of impairment losses recognized in prior years is recorded when there is an indication 
that the impairment losses recognized for the asset no longer exist or have decreased. The 
recovery is recorded in profit or loss. However, the increased carrying amount of an asset due to a 
recovery of an impairment loss is recognized to the extent it does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of depletion, depreciation and amortization) had no 
impairment loss been recognized for that asset in prior years. 

Investment in an Associate 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize 
an impairment loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting period, the Group 
determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If 
there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between 
the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognizes the amount in 
the consolidated statement of income. 

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognizes any 
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate 
upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from 
disposal is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Deferred Mine Exploration Costs 
An impairment review is performed, either individually or at the CGU level, when there are 
indicators that the carrying amount of the assets may exceed their recoverable amounts. To the 
extent that this occurs, the excess is fully provided against, in the reporting period in which this is 
determined. 

Deferred mine exploration costs are reassessed on a regular basis and these costs are carried 
forward provided that at least one of the following conditions is met: 
• such costs are expected to be recouped in full through successful development and exploration 

of the area of interest or alternatively, by its sale; or 
• exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which 

permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable 
reserves, and active and significant operations in relation to the area are continuing, or planned 
for the future. 
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Provisions 
General 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statement of 
income, net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions 
are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognized as a borrowing cost. 

Provision for Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning 
The Group records the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations 
required to restore operating locations in the period in which the obligation is incurred. The nature 
of these restoration activities includes dismantling and removing structures, rehabilitating mines 
and tailings dams, dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant and waste sites, and 
restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of affected areas. The obligation generally arises when 
the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the production location. When the 
liability is initially recognized, the present value of the estimated cost is capitalized by increasing 
the carrying amount of the related mining assets. Over time, the discounted liability is increased 
for the change in present value based on the discount rates that reflect current market assessments 
and the risks specific to the liability. 

The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognized in the consolidated statement of income as 
"Finance expenses". Additional disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized 
as additions or charges to the corresponding assets and provision for mine rehabilitation and 
decommissioning when they occur. Decrease in rehabilitation liability that exceeds the carrying 
amount of the corresponding rehabilitation asset is recognized immediately in the consolidated 
statement of income. For closed sites, changes to estimated costs are recognized immediately in 
the consolidated statement of income. 

:MRF committed for use in satisfying environmental obligations are included within "Other 
noncurrent assets" in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

ocr 
ocr comprises items of income and expense (including items previously presented under the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity) that are not recognized in the consolidated statement 
of income for the year in accordance with PFRS. 

Capital Stock 
Common shares are classified as equity. 

Preferred shares are classified as equity if it is non-redeemable, or redeemable only at the Parent 
Company's option, and any dividends are discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognized as 
distributions within equity upon approval by the Parent Company's BOD. Preferred shares are 
classified as a liability if it is redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the shareholders, or 
if dividend payments are not discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognized as "Finance 
expenses" in the consolidated statement of income as accrued. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as 
a deduction from proceeds. The excess of proceeds from issuance of shares over the par value of 
shares are credited to additional paid-in capital. 
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Retained Earnings 
Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of periodic net income or loss, dividends, prior 
period adjustments, effect of changes in accounting policies and other capital adjustments. 

Dividend distribution to the Parent Company's stockholders is recognized as a liability and 
deducted from equity in the period in which the dividends are approved or declared by the Parent 
Company's BOD and/or stockholders. 

Share-based Payment Transactions 
The executives of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby 
employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions). 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in 
equity, over the period in which the service conditions are fulfilled ending on the date on which 
the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award ("the vesting date"). The cumulative 
expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting period until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Parent Company's best estimate 
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit for a period in 
the consolidated statement of income represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized 
as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognized in personnel costs. 

No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest. 

Where the terms of an equity-settled transaction award are modified, the minimum expense 
recognized is the expense as if the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award 
are met. An additional expense is recognized for any modification that increases the total fair 
value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as 
measured at the date of modification. 

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it vested on the date of cancellation, 
and any expense not yet recognized for the award is recognized immediately. However, if a new 
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date 
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the 
original award, as described in the previous paragraph. 

Basic!Diluted EPS 
BasicEPS 
Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, 
after giving retroactive effect for any stock dividends, stock splits or reverse stock splits during the 
year. 

DilutedEPS 
Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, 
adjusted for any stock dividends declared during the year plus weighted average number of 
ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive ordinary shares into 
ordinary shares, excluding treasury shares. 
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Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognized: 

Sale ofBeneficiated Nickel Silicate and Limestone Ore 
Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have 
passed to the buyer, which in the case of deliveries other than to CBNC, coincides with the 
loading of the ores into the buyer' s vessel. In the case of deliveries to CBNC, this occurs at the 
time the ore passes into the ore preparation hopper of CBNC's plant. Under the terms of the 
arrangements with customers, the Group bills the remaining ten percent to twenty percent 
(1 0% - 20%) of the ores shipped based on the assay tests agreed by both the Group and the 
customers. Where the assay tests are not yet available as at the end of the reporting period, the 
Group accrues the remaining ten percent to twenty percent (1 0%- 20%) of the revenue based on 
the amount of the initial billing made. 

Rendering of Services 
Revenue from rendering of services consists of construction contracts, service fees, usage fees and 
materials handling fees. Contract fee is recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the 
service. Service fee, usage fee and materials handling fee are recognized when the services are 
substantially rendered. 

Interest 
Revenue is recognized as interest accrues (using the EIR method that is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrum ent to the 
net carrying amount of the financ ial asset). 

Dividend 
Dividend income is recognized when the Group's right to receive payment is established. 

Rental 
Revenue is recognized based on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease agreement. 

Despatch 
Despatch pertains to the income earned when the shipment is loaded within the allowable laytime 
Revenue is recognized when shipment loading is completed within the allowable laytime. 

Cost and Expenses Recognition 
Cost and expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the reporting period in the form of 
outflows or decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decrease in equity, other 
than those relating to distributions to equity participants. Cost and expenses, finance expenses and 
other charges are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the period these are 
incurred. 

Cost of Sales 
Cost of sales is incurred in the normal course of business and is recognized when incurred. They 
comprise mainly of cost of goods sold, which are provided in the period when goods are delivered. 

Cost of Services 
Cost of services is incurred in the normal course of business and is provided in the period when 
the related service has been rendered. 
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Operating Expenses 
Operating expenses consist of costs associated with the development and execution of marketing 
and promotional activities, cost of shipping and loading, excise taxes and royalties due to the 
Government and to indigenous people, and expenses incurred in the direction and general 
administration of day-to-day operation of the Group. These are generally recognized when the 
expense anses. 

Leases 
Determination of Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the 
asset. A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 
a) there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the 

arrangement; 
b) a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or 

extension was initially included in the lease term; 
c) there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; 

or 
d) there is a substantial change to the asset. 
e) where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when 

the change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) above, 
and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b). 

Group as a Lessee 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are amortized as expense in the 
consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Group as a Lessor 
Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same 
basis as rental income. 

Pension Costs 
The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), 
adjusted for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling. The asset ceiling 
is the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or 
reductions in future contr ibutions to the p lan. 

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the 
projected unit credit method. This method reflects service rendered by employees to the date of 
valuation and incorporates assumptions concerning the employees' projected salaries. 

Defined benefit costs comprise the following: 
• Service cost 
• Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset 
• Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset 
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Senrice costs which include current senrice costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non­
routine settlements are recognized as "Pension costs" under "Personnel costs" in the consolidated 
statement of income. Past service costs are recognized when plan amendment or curtailment 
occurs. These amounts are calculated periodically by independent qualified actuaries. 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net 
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by 
applying the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as "Interest expense" under 
"Finance expenses" in the consolidated statement of income. 

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in 
the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized 
immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they 
arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified to consolidated statement of income in subsequent 
periods. Remeasurements recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
after the initial adoption of Revised PAS 19 are closed to retained earnings. 

Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying insurance 
policies. Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Company, nor can they be paid 
directly to the Group. Fair value of plan assets is based on market price information. When no 
market price is available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future 
cash flows using a discount rate that reflects both the risk associated with the plan assets and the 
maturity or expected disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period 
until the settlement of the related obligations). If the fair value of the plan assets is higher than the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation, the measurement of the resulting defined benefit 
asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the 
plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. 

The Group's right to be reimbursed of some or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined 
benefit obligation is recognized as a separate asset at fair value when and only when 
reimbursement is virtually certain. 

Income Taxes 
Current Income Tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The income tax rates 
and income tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period. 

Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity is recognized in equity and not in the consolidated statement of income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate. 

Deferred Income Tax 
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on temporary differences 
at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
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Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
• where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable income or loss; and 

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward 
benefits of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that sufficient 
taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the 
carryforward benefits of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized except: 
• where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from 

the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor taxable income or 
loss; and 

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investment<> in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the 
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each end of the reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Umecognized 
deferred income tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognized to 
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred income tax 
asset to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on income tax rates (and 
income tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting 
period. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are not provided on non-taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in domestic subsidiaries, associates and interest injoint ventures. With respect 
to investments in other subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax 
liabilities are recognized except when the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

Deferred income tax relating to items recognized outside consolidated statement of income is 
recognized outside consolidated statement of income. Deferred income tax items are recognized 
in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other income or directly in equity. 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable 
right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
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Business Segments 
For management purposes, the Group is organized into operating segments (mining and services) 
according to the nature of the products and the services provided, with each segment representing 
a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. The segment 
locations are the basis upon which the Group reports its primary segment information for the 
mining segment. All of the segments operate and generate revenue only in the Philippines. 
Financial information on business segments is presented in Note 39. 

Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. These are 
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Events after the End of the Reporting Period 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group's position at each end of 
the reporting period (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post 
year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements when material. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 

The consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated 
financial statements and related notes. Future events may occur which will cause the assumptions 
used in arriving at the estimates to change. The effects of any change in estimates are reflected in 
the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably determinable. 

Judgments, estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual outcome can differ from these estimates. 

Judgments 
In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements: 

Determining Functional Currency 
Based on the economic substance of the underlying circumstances relevant to the Parent 
Company, the functional currency of the Parent Company has been determined to be the 
Philippine peso. Each subsidiary in the Group also determines its own functional currency. The 
functional currency of the subsidiaries in the Group is also the Philippine peso. The functional 
currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Parent Company and 
its subsidiaries operates. It is the currency that mainly influences. the costs and expenses, in which 
funds. from financing activities are generated, and in which receipts from operating activities are 
generally retained. 
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Classifying Financial Instruments 
The Group classifies a financial instrument, or its component parts, on initial recognition as a 
financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual agreement and the definitions of a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity 
instrument, rather than its legal form, governs its classification in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 

Determining Operating Lease Commitments- Group as a Lessee 
The Group has entered into commercial property and equipment leases. The Group has 
determined that it does not retain all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these 
properties which are leased out on operating leases. 

Determining Operating Lease Commitments- Group as a Lessor 
The Group has entered into a property lease on its mine infrastructure and property and equipment 
leases. The Group has determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
of the said properties which are being leased out on operating lease. 

Assessing Production Start Date 
The Group assesses the stage of each mine development project to determine when a mine moves 
into the production stage. The criteria used to assess the start date of a mine are determined based 
on the unique nature of each mine development project. The Group considers various relevant 
criteria to assess when the mine is substantially complete, ready for its intended use and moves 
into the production phase. Some of the criteria include, but are not limited to the following: 
• the level of capital expenditure compared to construction cost estimates; 
• completion of a reasonable period of testing of the property and equipment; 
• ability to produce ore in saleable form; and 
• ability to sustain ongoing production of ore. 

When a mine development project moves into the production stage, the capitalization of certain 
mine construction costs ceases and costs are either regarded as inventory or expensed, except for 
capitalizable costs related to mining asset additions or improvements, mine development or 
mineable reserve development It is also at this point that depreciation or amortization 
commences. 

Estimates and Assumptions 
The key estimates and assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty as at the end of the reporting period, that have the most significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next financial year are as follows: 

Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Trade and Other Receivables 
The Group evaluates specific accounts where the Group has information that certain customers, 
which include related parties, are unable to meet their financial obligations. The Group assesses 
individually the receivables based on factors that affect its coliectibility. Factors such as the 
Group's length of relationship with the customers, the customer's current credit status, probability 
of insolvency and significant financial difficulties of customers are considered to ascertain the 
amount of allowances that will be recorded in the receivables account. These allowances are re­
evaluated and adjusted as additional information is received. 
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In addition to specific allowance against individually significant loans and receivables, the Group 
also makes a collective impainnent allowance against exposures which, although not specifically 
identified as requiring a specific allowance, have a greater risk of default than when originally 
granted. This collective allowance is based on any deterioration in the Group's assessment of the 
accounts since their inception. The Group's assessments take into consideration factors such as 
any deterioration in country risk and industry, as well as identified structural weaknesses or 
deterioration in cash flows. 

The carrying values of trade and other receivables amounted to P839 .4 million and P93 7.9 million 
as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively (net of allowance for impairment losses of 
P38.9 million and P43.7 million as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively; see Note 5). 

Estimating Beneficiated Nickel Ore andLimestone Ore Reserves 
Ore reserves are estimates of the amount of ore that can be economically and legally extracted 
from the Group's mining properties. The Group estimates its ore reserves based on information 
compiled by appropriately qualified persons relating to the geological data on the size, depth and 
shape of the ore body, and requires complex geological judgments to interpret the data. The 
estimation of recoverable reserves is based upon factors such as estimates of foreign exchange 
rates, commodity prices, future capital requirements, and production costs along with geological 
assumptions and judgments made in estimating the size and grade of the ore body. Changes in the 
reserve or resource estimates may impact upon the carrying values of property and equipment, 
provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning, recognition of deferred income tax assets 
and depreciation and depletion charges. 

The Group also makes estimates and assumptions regarding a number of economic and technical 
factors, such as production rates, grades, production and transport costs and prices. These 
economic and technical estimates and assumptions may change in the future in ways that affect the 
quality and quantity of the reserves. The Group reviews and updates estimates as required, but at 
least annually, to reflect actual production, new exploration data or developments and changes in 
other assumptions or parameters. These estimates will change from time to time to reflect mining 
activities, analyses of new engineering and geological data, changes in ore reserve and mineral 
resource holdings, modifications of mining plans or methods, changes in nickel prices or 
production costs and other factors. 

Estimating Recoverability of Long-term Stockpile Inventory 
The determination of the Group's long-term stockpile inventory include among others, projected 
revenues, operating and delivering costs from the sale of the long-term stockpile. Actual results 
that differ from the Group's assumptions generally affect the Group's recognized expense. The 
long-term stockpile inventory is carried at the lower of cost or NR V. An allowance for inventory 
losses is recognized when the carrying value of the asset is not recoverable and exceeds the NR V. 
Long-term stockpile inventory- net of current portion amounted to P981.5 million and 
¥1,266.0 million as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively (see Note 12). 

Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Inventory 
The Group maintains allowance for inventory losses at a level considered adequate to reflect the 
excess of cost of inventories over their NRV. NRV tests are performed at least annually and 
represent the estimated future sales price of the product based on prevailing spot metals prices at 
the end of the reporting period, less estimated costs to complete production and bring the product 
to sale. Stockpiles are measured by estimating the number oftonnes added and removed from the 
stockpile and the number of contained nickel ore ounces based on assay data. Stockpile tonnages 
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are verified by periodic surveys. NR V test for materials and supplies is also performed annually 
and it represents the current replacement cost. Increase in the NR V of inventories will increase 
the cost of inventories but only to the extent of their original production costs. 

As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, inventories carried at lower of cost or NRV amounted to 
¥2,044.5 million and ¥2,004.2 million, respectively (net of allowance for inventory losses of 
¥374.3 million and¥383.4 million as at December 31,2013 and2012, respectively; see Note 6). 

Estimating Impairment Losses on AFS Financial Assets 
The Group treats AFS financial assets as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. 
The determination of what is " significant" or "prolonged" requires judgment. The Group treats 
"significant" generally as twenty percent (20%) or more of the original cost of investment, and 
"prolonged" as greater than six (6) months. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, 
including normal volatility in share price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and 
discount factors for unquoted equities in determining the amount to be impaired. 

The Group treats unquoted AFS financial assets as impaired when there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one (1) or more events or loss events and that loss event has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the AFS financial assets. An objective evidence may include 
information about significant changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the market, 
technological, economic or legal environment in which the investees operates, and indicates that 
the cost of the investment in the equity instruments m ay not be recovered. 

No impairment loss was recognized on quoted and unquoted AFS financial assets in 2013 and 2012. 
The carrying values of AFS fmancial assets amounted to ¥2,438.9 million and ¥2,128.0 million as 
at December 3 1, 2013 and 2012, respect ively (seeN ote 7). 

Estimating Useful Lives of Property and Equipment and Investment Properties 
The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipm ent and investm ent properties based 
on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful 
lives of property and equipment and investment properties are reviewed periodically and are 
updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or 
commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets. In addition, estimation 
of the useful lives of property and equipment and investment properties is based on collective 
assessm ent of industry practice, int ernal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets. It 
is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in 
estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. The amounts and timing of 
recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. 
There is no change in the estimated u seful lives of the property and equipment and investment 
properties as at December 3 1, 20 13 and 2012. 

The carrying values of property and equipment as at December 31 , 2013 and 201 2 amounted to 
¥6,585 .8 million and ¥5,9 49.9 million, respectively (net of accumulated depreciation, 
amortization and depletion of ¥5,048.0 mi llion and ¥3,951.5 million as at December 31, 2013 and 
2012, respectively; see Note 9). The carrying values of investment properties as at 
December 31 , 2013 and 2012 amounted to ¥29.0 million and ¥ 72.2 million, respectively (net of 
accumulated depreciation of nil and ¥70.0 million as at December 31 , 20 13 and 2012, 
respectively; see Note 10) . 
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Estimating Impairment Losses on Property and Equipment and Investment Properties 
The Group assesses impairment on property and equipment and investment properties whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be 
recoverable. 

The factors that the Group considers important which could trigger an impairment review include 
the following: 
• Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating 

results; 
• Significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall 

business; and 
• Significant negative industry or economic trends. 

In determining the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be generated from the 
continued use of the assets, the Group is required to make estimates and assumptions that can 
materially affect the consolidated financial statements. 

These assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized 
whenever evidence exists that the carrying value is not recoverable. For purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows. 

An impairment loss is recognized and charged to earnings if the discounted expected future cash 
flows are less than the carrying amount. Fair value is estimated by discounting the expected future 
cash flows using a discount factor that reflects the market rate for a term consistent with the period 
of expected cash flows. No impairment loss was recognized in 2013 and 2012. 

The carrying values of property and equipment and investment properties amounted to 
!'6,585.8 million and !'29.0 million, respectively, as at December 31, 2013 and !'5,949.9 million 
and !'72. 2 million, respectively, as at December 31 , 2012 (see Notes 9 and 10). 

Estimating Impairment Losses on Investment in an Associate 
Impairment review of investment in an associate is performed when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value exceeds its fair value. Management has determined 
that there are no events or changes in circumstances in 2013 and 2012 that may indicate that the 
carrying value of investment in an associate may not be recoverable. No impairment loss was 
recognized on investment in an associate in 2013 and 2012. The carrying values of the Group's 
investment in an associate amounted to !'4,112.1 million and !'3,988.9 mill ion as at 
December 3 1, 20 13 and 2012, respectively (see Note 11) . 

Estimating Recoverability of Deferred Mine Exploration Costs 
The application of the Group's accounting policy for deferred mine exploration costs requires 
judgment in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits are certain, which may 
be based on assumptions about future events or circum stances. Estimates and assumptions made 
may change if new information becomes available. If, after mine explorations costs are 
capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, 
the amount cap italized is written off in the consolidated statement of income in the period when 
the new information becomes available. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying 
value of those assets is not recoverable and exceeds their fair value. 
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Deferred mine exploration costs, included in "Other noncurrent assets", as at December 31, 2013 
and 2012 amounted to ¥197.0 million and ¥142.4 million, respectively (net of allowance for 
impairment losses of ¥144.2 million and nil as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively; see Note 13). 

Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Nonfinancial Other Current and Noncurrent 
Assets 
The Group provides allowance for impairment losses on nonfinancial other current assets and 
other noncurrent assets when they can no longer be realized. The amounts and timing of recorded 
expenses for any period would differ if the Group made different judgments or utilized different 
estimates. An increase in allowance for impairment losses would increase recorded expenses and 
decrease other current assets or other noncurrent assets. 

The carrying values of nonfinancial other current assets amounted to ¥225.4 million and 
¥157.9 million as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, while nonfinancial other 
noncurrent assets amounted to ¥840.6 million and ¥814.7 million as at December 31, 2013 and 
2012, respectively. 

The allowance for impairment losses on the Group's nonfinancial other current assets amounted to 
¥0.5 million and ¥0.9 million as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 
(see Note 8). The allowance for impairment losses on the Group's nonfinancial other noncurrent 
assets as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 amounted to ¥160.6 million and ¥16,5 million, 
respectively (seeN ote 13). 

Estimating Provision for Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning 
The Group assesses its provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning annually. 
Significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining the provision for mine 
rehabilitation as there are numerous factors that will affect the provision. These factors include 
estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation activities, technological changes, regulatory 
changes, cost increases and changes in discount rates. Those uncertainties may result in future 
actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. 

The provision at the end of the reporting period represents management's best estimate of the 
present value of the future rehabilitation costs required. Changes to estimated future costs are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position by adjusting the rehabilitation asset 
and liability. For closed sites, changes to estimated costs are recognized immediately in the 
consolidated statement of income. 

The Group revised its estimate of the mine rehabilitation and decommissioning cost resulting to an 
adjustment on capitalized cost amounting to nil and ¥57.3 million in 2013 and 2012, respectively. 
Provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning amounted to ¥130.9 million and 
¥132.5 million as at December 31 , 2013 and 2012, respectively (see Note 16). 

Determining Pension Benefits 
The determination of the Group's obligation and costs for pension benefits is dependent on the 
selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts. Those 
assumptions, as described in Note 32, include among others, discount rates, expected rates of 
return and future salary increase rates. In accordance with PAS 19, actual results that differ from 
the Group's assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore, 
generally affect the recognized expense and recorded obligations in such future periods. While 
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management believes that its assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences 
in actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the Group' s 
pension and other retirement obligations. 

As at December 31, 20 13 and 2012, pension asset included under "Other noncurrent assets" 
account amounted to nil and ¥57.0 million, respectively (see Notes 13 and 32). Pension liability 
amounted to ¥279.1 million and ¥136.5 million as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 
(see Note 32). 

Share-based Payment Transactions 
The Parent Company' s Executive Stock Option Plan (ESOP) grants qualified participants the right 
to purchase common shares of the Company at a grant price. The ESOP recognizes the services 
received from the eligible employees and an equivalent adjustment to the equity account over the 
vesting period. The Parent Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with 
employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are 
granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires determining the most 
appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This 
estimate also requires determ ining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including 
the expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about 
them. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment 
transactions are disclosed in N ote 18. 

While management believes that the estimates and assumptions used are reasonable and 
appropriate, significant differences in actual experience or significant changes in the est imates and 
assumptions may materia lly affect the stock compensation costs charged to operations. 

The cost of share-based payment plan recognized as expense in 2013, 2012 and 2011, with a 
corresponding charge to the equity account amounted to ¥ 10.4 million, ¥ 2.8 million and 
¥63.2 million, respectively. As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the balance of the cost of 
share-based payment plan in the equity section of the consolidated statements of financial position 
amounted to ¥49.5 million and ¥57.5 million, r espectively (see Note 18). 

Assessing Recoverability of Deforred Income Tax Assets 
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets at each end of the reporting 
period and reduces the amounts to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future 
taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be 
utilized. 

The Group has net deferred income tax assets amounting to ¥ 344.4 million and ¥ 364.9 million as 
at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively (see N ote 33). 

As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Group has temporary difference on net operating loss 
carry over (NOLCO) and excess Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT) over Regular 
Corporate Income Tax (RCIT) amounting to ¥ 80.6 million and ¥ 786.7 million, respectively, for 
which no deferred income tax asset was recognized because it is more likely than not that the 
carryforward benefit will not be realized on or prior to its expiration (see Note 33). 

Determining Fair Values ofFinancial l nstruments 
Where the fair values of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated statements of 
financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using internal 
valuation techniques using generally accepted market valuation models. The inputs to these 
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimates 
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are used in establishing fair values. These estimates may include considerations of liquidity, 
volatility and correlation. Certain financial assets and liabilities were initially recorded at its fair 
value (see Note 35). 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash on hand and with banks 
Short-term cash investments 

2013 
1'!4,981,843 

5,252,493 
1'!10 234 336 

2012 
¥637,617 
8,625,834 

¥9,263,451 

Cash with banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates. Short-term cash investments are 
made for varying periods of up to three (3) months depending on the immediate cash requirements 
of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term cash investment rates. 

Interest income earned from cash and cash equivalents amounted to ¥143.0 million, 
¥205.7 million and ¥196.7 million in 2013, 2012 and 201 1, respectively (see Note 27). 

The Group has US$ denominated cash and cash equivalents amounting to $59.4 million, 
equivalent to P2,636.9 million, and $15.0 million, equivalent to ¥613.9 million, as at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively (see Note 34). 

Cash with banks amounting to P65. 1 million and ¥64.2 million as at December 31, 2013 and 
2012, respectively, representing proceeds from the IPO, were deposited in escrow and are 
restricted as to withdrawal for specified purpose as determined in the prospectus submitted with 
the SEC; thus, are classified as "Other noncurrent assets" (see Note 13). 

5. Trade and Other Receivables 

Trade (see Note 31) 
Advances to suppliers and contractors 
Receivable from CBNC (see Note 31) 
Amounts owed by related parties (see Note 31) 
Notes receivable 
Others (see Note 31) 

Less allowance for impairment losses 

2013 
1'!654,568 

63,154 
50,049 

9,212 

101,409 
878,392 
38,943 

1'!839,449 

2012 
¥568,266 

119,172 
73,429 
14,251 
76,278 

130,205 
98 1,601 

43 ,741 
¥937,860 

Trade receivables and receivable from CBNC are noninterest-bearing and are generally on 
seven (7)-day to thirty (30)-days' terms. 

Advances to suppliers and contractors represent payments made in advance to suppliers and 
contractors which will be offset against future billings upon the delivery of goods and completion 
of services. 

Notes receivable pertains to US$ denominated promissory note amounting to US$ 1.9 million with 
an EIR of 4. 5%, issued by Exchange Equity Company on September 1 2, 201 2. The notes 
matured on September 12, 2013. 
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Other receivables include advances to third party companies which are collectible on demand. 
This also includes despatch receivables which are generally on seven (7)-day to thirty (30)-days ' 
terms. 

The Group has US$ denominated trade and other receivables amounting to $11 .5 million, 
equivalent to ¥538.1 million, and $13.4 million, equivalent to ¥552.1 million, as at 
December 31 , 2013 and 2012, respectively (see Note 34). 

Movements of allowance for impairment losses as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 are as follow: 

2013 
Balances at January 1 
Provisions (see Note 28) 
Write-off 
Reversal (see Note 29) 
Foreign exchange adjustments 
Balances at December 31 

2012 
Balances at January 1 
Provisions (see Note 28) 
Write-off 
Foreign exchange adjustments 
Balances at December 31 

6. Inventories 

Trade 
F32,436 

779 
(4,316) 
(4,769) 
2,020 

F26,150 

Trade 
¥224,141 

(186,035) 
(5,670) 

¥32,436 

Beneficiated nickel ore and limestone ore - at cost 
Beneficiated nickel ore - at NRV 
Current portion of long-term stockpile 

inventory (see Note 12) 
Materials and supplies : 

At NRV 
At cost 

Others 
F11,305 

1,488 

F12,793 

Others 
¥10,494 

811 

¥ 11,305 

2013 
1!1,188,354 

343,559 

188,456 

253,631 
70,469 

1!2,044,469 

Movements of allowance for inventory losses in 2013 and 2012 follow: 

Beneficiated Materials 
2013 nickel ore and su~~lies 
Balances at January 1 1!340,014 1!43,405 
Provisions (see Note 29) 63,605 
Reversals (see Note 29) {69,966} {2,802} 
Balances at December 31 1!333,653 F40,603 

Total 
F43,741 

2,267 
(4,316) 
(4,769) 
2,020 

F38,943 

Total 
¥234,635 

811 
(186,035) 

(5,670) 
¥43,741 

2012 
¥ 1,140,500 

331,239 

139,076 

352,077 
41,296 

¥ 2,004,1 88 

Total 
F383,419 

63,605 
{72,768} 

F374,256 
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Beneficiated Materials 
2012 nickel ore and supplies Total 
Balances at January 1 ¥360,052 ¥43,405 ¥403,457 
Reversals (see Note 29) (8,226) (8,226) 
Write-off (11 ,812) (11 ,812) 
Balances at December 31 ¥340,014 ¥43,405 P383,419 

The cost of beneficiated nickel ore provided with allowance for inventory losses amounted to 
¥677.2 million and ¥671.3 million as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, while the cost 
of materials and supplies provided with allowance for inventory losses amounted to 
¥294.2 million and ¥395.5 million as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

Costs of inventories charged as expense amounted to P4, 788.0 million, P4, 738.5 million and 
¥3,574.8 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively (see Notes 20 and 22). 

7. AFS Financial Assets 

Quoted instruments: 
Debt securities 
Equity securities 

Unguoted eguity securities 

Less noncurrent portion 

2013 

F!1,318,364 
201,830 
918,744 

2,438,938 
1,181,568 

F1,257,370 

2012 

¥1,020,750 
188,544 
918,744 

2,128,038 
1,041,934 

P l ,086,104 

Quoted instruments are carried at fair market value as at the end of the reporting period. Unquoted 
equity instruments are carried at cost as at the end of the reporting period, since the fair values of 
these investments cannot be reliably measured. 

The movements in AFS financial assets account follow: 

Balances at January 1 
Additions 
Disposals 
Effect of changes in foreign exchange 

rate (see Note 29) 
Valuation gains on AFS financial assets 
Balances at December 31 
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2013 2012 
F2,128,038 ¥1 ,568,861 

374,074 574,747 
(109,713) (71 ,263) 

860 (11 ,217) 
45,679 66,910 

F!2,438,938 ¥2,128,038 
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The movements in "Net valuation gains on AFS financial assets" presented as a separate 
component of equity follow: 

2013 2012 
Balances at January 1 P652199 P202889 
Movements recognized in equity: 

Gains recognized in equity 52,987 73,400 
Reclassification adjustments for income included 

in the consolidated statements of 
income (see Note 27) (7,308) (6,490) 

Income tax effect (152636} 06,0482 
Valuation gains taken into the consolidated 

statements of com12rehensive income 30,043 50,862 
Non-controlling interests in losses (gains) 

recognized in eguity 42264 (6,5522 
Balances at December 31 P99,506 P65,199 

AFS financial assets pertain to investments in common and preferred shares of various local and 
foreign public and private companies, golf club shares and debt securities. As at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, quoted debt and equity securities amounting to ¥1 ,257.4 million 
and ¥1,086.1 million, respectively, were classified as current based on management's intention to 
dispose the instruments within one (1) year from the end of the reporting period. 

The noncurrent portion of AFS financial assets amounted to P l , 181.6 million and P 1,04 1.9 million 
as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. As at December 31 , 2013, the Group has no 
intention to dispose its unquoted equity shares within the next year. 

Dividend income earned from AFS equity securities amounted to ¥62.7 million, P 192.7 million 
and P 436.4 million in 2013, 2012 and 201 1, respectively, of which ¥60.5 million, ¥ 191.9 million 
and P 434.2 million relates to dividends coming from investments in unquoted securities 
(see Note 29), while interest income from AFS debt securities amounted to P l 2.0 million, 
¥20.7 million and ¥8.5 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectively (see Note 27). 

The valuation gains of ¥ 30.0 million, P50. 9 million and valuation losses of ¥ 16.4 million is net of 
share of non-controlling interests amounting to a valuation loss of P4.3 million and valuation gains 
of¥6.6 million and ¥0.3 million as at December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

The Group uses the specific identification method in determining the cost of securit ies sold. 

No impairment loss was recognized on the Group's AFS unquoted equity securities in 2013 and 
2012. 
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8. Prepayments and Other Current Assets 

2013 2012 
Input tax (net of allowance for impairment losses 

of nil and F0.9 million in 2013 and 2012, 
respectively) F106,050 ¥84,768 

Prepaid taxes 69,744 34,635 
Prepaid insurance 27,398 7,217 
Prepaid rent and others 11,459 4,336 
Advances and deposits 7,244 20,372 
Tax credit certificates (net of allowance for impairment 

losses of F0.5 million and nil in 2013 and 2012, 
resEectively; see Note 29) 3,517 6,616 

F225,412 ¥157,944 

9. Property and Equipment 

2013 
Mining 

Properties and Machinery Buildings 
Development and and Construction 

Land Costs Egutement lmErovem ents ln-eroe:ess Total 
Cost 

Balances at Jan nary 1 P252,458 P591,689 P6,323,765 P2,384,412 P349,073 P9 ,901,397 
Additions 1,831 1,049,144 179,888 700,262 1,931,125 
Transfers/reclassification 23,272 193,388 (220,207) (3,547) 
Disl!osals (132,160} (43,567} (19,483} (195,210} 

Balances at December 31 254,289 591,689 7,264,021 2,714,121 809,645 11,633,765 
Accumulated d epreciation 

and depletion 
Balances at January 1 199,239 3,043,613 708,617 3,951,469 
Depreciation, amortization 

and depletion 
(see Note 26) 14,565 1,072,718 173,318 1,260,601 

Transfers/reclassification (338) (338) 
Diseosals ~104 ,660~ (59,059~ ~163,7 19~ 

Balances at December 31 213,804 4,011,333 822,876 5,048,013 
Net book values P254,289 P377,885 P3,252,688 P1,891,245 P809,645 P6,585,752 

2012 
Mining 

Properties and Machinery Buildings 
Development and and Construction 

Land Costs Equipment Improvements In-progress Total 
Cost 

Balances at January 1 !'242,237 !'408,125 !'4,072,444 !'2,341,263 !'135,523 !'7,199,592 
Additions 10,214 126,307 2,242,044 31,70 7 282,706 2,692,978 
Adjustment for capitalized 

cost of mine 
rehabilitation and 
decommissioning 57,257 57,257 

Transfers/reclassification 7 16,993 11,442 (64 ,721) (36,279) 
Disposals (7,716) (4,435) (12,151) 

Balances at December 31 252,458 591 ,689 6,323 765 2384,412 349,073 9,901 ,397 
Accumulated depreciation and 

depletion 
Balances at January 1 179,358 2,253,169 550,227 2 ,982 ,754 
Depreciation, amortization 

and depletion 
(seeN ote 26) 19,881 795,560 158,941 974,382 

Disposals (5,11 6) (551) (5,667) 
Balances at December 31 199,239 3,043 613 708 617 3 ,951 ,469 
Net book values !'252,458 !'392,450 !'3 ,280,1 52 !'1,675,795 !'349,073 !'5 ,949 ,928 
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Pier facilities (included under "Buildings and improvements") with a carrying value of 
¥150.3 million and ¥195.6 million as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, were 
mortgaged as collateral for the long-term debt of RTN as mentioned in Note 15. 

Depreciation on the excess of the fair value of the assets acquired from RTN over their 
corresponding book values transferred to retained earnings amounted to ¥0.4 million in 2013, 
2012 and 2011 . 

10. Investment Properties 

2013 201 2 
Cost: 

Balances at January 1 P142,151 ¥ 116,096 
Additions 26,055 
Disposals (112,491) 
Reclassification {660} 
Balances at December 31 29 000 142,151 

Accumulated depreciation: 
Balances at January 1 69,960 62,459 
Depreciation (see Note 26) 2,050 7,50 1 
Disposals {72,010} 
Balances at December 31 69,960 

Net book values 1'!29,000 ¥72, 191 

Investment properties consist of condominium units rented out as office spaces and parcels of land 
located in Surigao City which is intended for leasing to THNC in the future. Rental income in 
2013, 2012 and 201 1 amounting to ¥6.0 million, ¥ 11.7 m illion and ¥ 11.2 million, respectively, 
are included under "Services and others" in the consolidated statements of income. Direct 
operating expenses in 2013, 20 12 and 2011 amounted to ¥0.8 million, ¥6.6 million and 
¥ 10. 1 million, respectively, were included under "General and administrative expenses". 

The estimated fair value of investment properties, excluding the land located in Surigao City, 
amounted to nil and ¥234.8 million as at December 31 , 2013 and 2012, respectively. The fair 
value is determined using the approximate current selling price of the same type of building in 
Makati Central Business District. 

The fair value of the land approximates its carrying value as at December 31, 2013 and 2012. 

In 2013, investment properties with carrying amount of ¥40.5 million were sold for ¥ 185.6 million 
resulting to a gain of ¥ 145.1 million (see Note 29). 

11 . Investment in an Associate 

The Parent Company, together with Sumitomo Metal Mining Co., Ltd. (SMM) and Mitsui and 
Co., Ltd. (Mitsui) signed a Stockholders' Agreement on September 15, 2010, dividing the 
ownership of THNC, into twenty-two and a half percent (22.5%), sixty-two and a half percent 
(62.5%) and fifteen percent (15.0%), respectively. 
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On November 4, 2010, pursuant to the terms of the above Agreement, the Parent Company 
entered into a subscription agreement with THNC for the subscription of 921,375,000 common 
shares for the total amount of US$1 02.4 million or ¥4,443. 1 million, equivalent to 22.5% interest 
in THNC. 

THNC, a private entity that is not listed on any public exchange, was incorporated and registered 
with the Philippine SEC on August 22, 2008. Its principal activities consist of the manufacture 
and export of nickel/cobalt mixed sulfide. THNC has started commercial operations in 
October 2013. 

The following are the summarized financial information ofTHNC as at December 31 , 2013 and 
2012. THNC's financial statements are stated in US$ and translated at the closing rate of 
US$1 = ¥44.40 and US$1 = ¥41.05 as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, for assets 
and liabilities accounts, historical rates for equity accounts and average rate of US$1 = ¥42.43 and 
US$1 = ¥42.24 for the statements of income accounts in 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

Current assets 
Noncurrent assets 
Current liabilities 
Noncurrent liabilities 
Net assets 

Revenue 
Expenses 
Net loss 

Movements in the investment in an associate follow: 

Acquisition cost 
Accumulated equity in net earnings : 

Balances at beginning of year 
Equity in net losses 

Share in cumulative translation adjustment: 
Balances at beginning of year 
Movement 

Balances as at December 31 

2013 
P6,837,555 
67,486,190 
(7,823,555) 

(48,674,289) 
P17 ,825,901 

P577,756 
1,381,329 
P803,573 

2013 
P4,443,075 

(317,237) 
(184,703) 
(501,940) 

(136,909) 
307,900 
170,991 

P4,112,126 

2012 
¥1 ,857,348 
56,899,567 

(566,681) 
( 40,930, 006) 

¥ 17,260,228 

¥ 105,714 
615,219 

¥509,506 

2012 
¥ 4,443,075 

(202,598) 
(1 14,639) 
(317,237) 

131,390 
(268,299) 
(136,909) 

¥3,988,929 

The balance of investment in an associate includes goodwill of ¥ 105 .4 million as at 
December 31 , 2013 and 2012, while the share in cumulative translation adjustment of an associate 
is gross of deferred income tax liability of P30. 8 million and nil, respectively (see Note 33). 
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12. Long-term Stockpile Inventory 

The long-term stockpile inventory pertains to low grade ore extracted from RTN's minesite. This 
amount was not recognized inRTN's books but was recognized by the Parent Company when it 
acquired the controlling interest in RTN. The low grade ore inventory was initially recognized 
and valued at fair value. The fair value of the long-term stockpile inventory was computed using 
the present value of the estimated future cash flows of RTN which it will derive from the long­
term Nickel Ore Supply Agreement with CBNC (see Note 31a). Subsequently, this fair value 
represented the cost of the long-term stockpile inventory. The fair value of the inventory as at the 
date of acquisition amounted to ¥2,036.7 million. 

The cost of the long-term stockpile inventory is periodically charged to cost of sales based on the 
actual tonnage delivered to CBNC from the long-term stockpile. The amounts of¥235.2 million, 
¥133.0 million and ¥143.2 million were charged to "Cost of sales" in 2013, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively (see Note 20). 

A portion amounting to ¥188.5 million and ¥139.1 million, representing the estimated costs of the 
long-term stockpile inventory that will be delivered to CBNC in the next reporting period, were 
shown as part of "Inventories" as at December 31 , 2013 and 2012, respectively (see Note 6). 

The carrying value of long-term stockpile - net of current portion amounted to ¥ 981.5 million and 
¥1 ,266.0 million as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

13. Other Noncurrent Assets 

Input tax - net of current portion 
Advances to claim owners (see Note 36e) 
Deferred mine exploration costs 
1.1RF 
Deposit for aircraft acquisition 
Cash held in escrow (see Note 4) 
Long-term negotiable instruments 
SD:tv!P fund 
Pension asset (see Note 32) 
Others 

Less allowance for impairment losses 

2013 
~448,466 

235,922 
197,028 
125,467 

98,924 
65,118 
30,000 
16,999 

20,861 
1,238,785 

160,645 
1!1,078,140 

2012 
¥ 41 2,254 

208,155 
142,392 
134,288 

64,228 
30,000 

2,563 
56,986 
11 ,405 

1,062,271 
16,490 

¥ 1,045,781 

Input tax represents the value-added tax (VAT) paid on purchases of applicable goods and 
services, net of output tax, which can be recovered as tax credit against future tax liability of the 
Group upon approval by the Philippine Bureau oflnternal Revenue (BIR) and/or the Philippine 
Bureau of Customs. 

Advances to claimowners represent advance royalty payments to East Coast Mineral Resources 
Co. , Inc. (East Coast), La Salle Mining Exploration Company (La Salle), Kepha Mining 
Exploration Company (Kepha) and Ludgoron Mining Corporation (Ludgoron; see Note 36e). 
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Deferred mine exploration costs include mining rights of ¥32.3 million as at December 31, 2013 
and 2012. 

:MRF is the amount deposited in local bank accounts established by the Group in compliance with 
the requirements of the Philippine Mining Act of 1995 as amended by Department of Environment 
and Natural Resources Administrative Order No. 2005-07. The :MRF is earmarked for physical 
and social rehabilitation of areas and communities affected by mining activities and for research 
on the social, technical and preventive aspects of rehabilitation. Any disbursement in the :MRF 
should be authorized by the :MRF Committee, the external overseeing body charged with the 
duties of managing, operating, monitoring and looking after the safety of the :MRF. The :MRF 
earns interest at the respective bank deposit rates. 

RTN's deposit for aircraft acquisition pertains to advance payments made to World Aviation 
Corporation in 2013, for an absolute and exclusive right to purchase an aircraft exercisable within 
twelve (12) years. 

The long-term negotiable instrument earns interest at 5.25% per annum and will mature in 
October 2019. 

The SD!viP fund shall be used for the sustainable development of the host and neighboring 
communities of the mine site, namely, Barangays Taganito, Hayanggabon, Urbiztondo and 
Cagdianao. In 2012, the fund was extended to the ten-non mining barangays within the 
Municipality of Claver and to the Province of Surigao del Norte. The programs are intended for 
health, education, livelihood, public utilities and socio-cultural preservation. Its implementation is 
under the audit, monitoring and evaluation of the Mines and Geosciences Bureau (MGB). 
Movements of allowance for impairment losses in 2013 and 2012 follow: 

2013 
Balances at January 1 
Provisions ~see Note 29) 
Balances at December 31 

201 2 
Balances at January 1 
Write-off 
Balances at December 31 

14. Trade and Other Payables 

Trade (see Note 31) 
Accrued expenses (see Note 31) 
Excise tax and royalties 
Withholding taxes 
Retention payable 
Unearned income 
Others (see Note 31) 
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Advances to 
claim owners 

P16,490 

P16,490 

Advances to 
claim owners 

¥21,400 
(4,91 0) 

F l 6,490 

Deferred mine 
ex2loration costs 

P--
144,155 

P 144,155 

Deferred mine 
exploration casts 

F61 ,376 
( 61 ,376) 

F-

2013 
P475,971 

241,222 
87,434 
50,446 
34,168 

4,563 
34,309 

P928,113 

Total 
P16,490 
1442155 

P160,645 

Total 
F82,776 
(66,286) 

F l 6,490 

201 2 
¥403 ,250 

254,400 
1 14,591 
38,811 

446 
8,677 

43,840 
¥864,015 
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Trade, accrued expenses and other payables are noninterest-bearing and are generally settled in 
less than thirty (30) days' term. Excise tax payable is settled within fifteen (15) days after the end 
of the quarter when the beneficiated nickel ore and limestone ore were shipped. Royalties are paid 
on or before the deadline agreed with the MGB or other parties. Withholding taxes are payable 
ten (10) days after the end of each month. 

Trade payables relate to payables to suppliers and relate to transactions in the ordinary course of 
business. Accrued expenses substantially consist of contractor's fees and rental which are usual in 
the business operations of the Group. 

Retention payable pertains to the ten percent (1 0%) of the gross payable amount retained by TMC 
from its supplier and will be paid upon the completion of the construction of the conveyor system. 

The Group has US$ denominated trade and other payables amounting to $1.4 million, equivalent 
to ¥63.4 million, and $1.2 million, equivalent to ¥50.5 million as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively (see Note 34). 

15. Long-term Debt 

TMC 
RTN 

Less noncurrent portion: 
TMC 
RTN 

Current portion 

TMCLoan 

2013 
P1,359,597 

179,000 
1,538,597 

1,281,906 
139,222 

1421,128 
~117,469 

2012 
¥1,328,994 

210,295 
1,539,289 

1,257,156 
165,5 14 

1,422,670 
¥116,619 

On October 4, 2010, TMC entered into an Omnibus Agreement with THNC, wherein the latter 
granted the former a total loan facility amounting to $35.0 million at a prevailing 1 80-day British 
Banker Association London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus two percent (2%) spread, to 
exclusively finance the construction of the pier facilities within the Taganito Special Economic 
Zone (TSEZ). The loan shall be drawn down in one or multiple times by July 31, 2011. As at 
December 31 , 2013 and 2012, the total loan drawn down by TMC amounted to $35.0 million. 

Starting 2012, the interest on the loan is payable semi-annually in October 10 and AprillO. 
The total principal is payable in semi-annual installments of $0.9 million starting on 
October 10, 2011 up to April 10, 2031 . 

The Omnibus Agreement provides for restriction with respect to creation, assumption, incurrence 
and permission to exist any lien upon the pier facilities and all TMC's other real rights over the 
same except as permitted under the Omnibus Agreement. Also, the Omnibus Agreement provides 
for certain conditions which include, among others, maintenance and preservation of TMC's 
corporate existence, rights, privileges and licenses, prompt submission of written notice to THNC 
of any and all litigations and administrative arbitration proceedings before any governmental 
authority affecting TMC, prompt payment of all amounts due under the loan documents and 
maintenance of all governmental approvals necessary to perform the obligations. As at 
December 31 , 2013 and 2012, TMC is in compliance with the restrictions. 
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Interest expense in 2013, 2012 and 2011 amounting to ¥33.5 million, ¥38.1 million and 
¥27.6 million, respectively, were included in equipment operating cost under "Cost of services" 
(see Note 21). In March 2011 , TMC completed the construction of pier facilities and the related 
borrowing cost capitalized as part of the construction-in progress was ¥7.8 million. No borrowing 
costs were recognized after the completion of the construction. 

RTNLoan 
On November 25, 2002, RTN entered into an Omnibus Agreement with SJ\1M, wherein the latter 
granted the former a loan facility amounting to US$1. 8 million at prevailing 180-day LIB OR plus 
two percent (2%) spread, for the construction of the pier facilities. 

In July 2003, an additional loan amounting to US$0.2 million was granted by SMM. Starting 
2003, the interest on the original and additional loans is payable semi-annually on February 28 and 
August 31. The total principal is payable in 20 equal semi-annual installments starting on 
February 28, 2004 up to August 31 , 2013. In February 2007, RTN and SMM agreed to an 
additional loan facility amounting to US$9.0 million. Of the total loan facility, the remaining 
US$0.5 million was drawn in February and March 2008. The additional loan facility is payable in 
semi-annual installments starting on August 31, 2008 up to February 28, 2018. 

In consideration, and to ensure payment of these loans, RTN assigned, transferred, and set over to 
SJ\1M, absolutely and unconditionally, all ofRTN' s rights, title, and interest over its future 
receivable from CBNC under the Throughput Agreement (see Note 36b ). RTN also constituted a 
first ranking mortgage on the pier facilities (see Note 9). 

The Omnibus Agreement provides for restrictions with respect to creation, assumption, incurrence 
and permission to exist any lien upon the pier facilities and all RTN's other real rights over the 
same except as permitted under the Omnibus Agreement. Also, the Omnibus Agreement provides 
for certain conditions which include, among others, maintenance and preservation of RTN's 
corporate existence, rights, privileges and licenses, prompt submission of written notice to SMM 
of any and all litigations or administrative or arbitration proceedings before any governm ental 
authority affecting RTN. As at December 31 , 2013 and 2012, RTN is in compliance with the 
restrictions. 

Interest expense amounted to ¥4.8 million, ¥6.5 million and ¥7.3 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively (see Note 28). 

16. Provision for Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning 

Balances at January 1 
Payments of rehabilitation cost 
Accretion interest on provision for mine 

rehabilitation and decommissioning 
(see Note 28) 

Effect of change in estimate (see Note 9) 
Balances at December 31 
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2013 
¥132,522 

(10,149) 

8,554 

¥130,927 

2012 
¥61,726 

13,539 
57,257 

¥ 132,522 
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Provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning pertains to the estimated decommissioning 
costs to be incurred in the future on the mined-out areas of the Group. 

The Group makes a full provision for the future cost of rehabilitating mine site and related 
production facilities on a discounted basis on the development of mines or installation of those 
facilities. The rehabilitation provision represents the present value of rehabilitation costs. These 
provisions have been created based on the Group's internal estimates. Assumptions, based on the 
current economic environment, have been made which management believes are a reasonable 
basis upon which to estimate the future liability. These estimates are reviewed regularly to take 
into account any material changes to the assumptions. However, actual rehabilitation costs will 
ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary decommissioning works required 
which will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of rehabilitation 
is likely to depend on when the mine ceases to produce at economically viable rates. This, in turn, 
will depend upon future ore prices, which are inherently uncertain. 

The Group revised its estimate of the mine rehabilitation and decommissioning cost resulting to an 
adjustment on capitalized cost amounting to nil in 2013 and ¥57.3 million in 2012 (see Note 9). 

17. Equity 

Capital Stock 
The capital structure of the Parent Company as at December 3 1, 2013 and 2012 is as follows: 

Comm on stock - ¥0.50 par value 
Authorized- 4,265,000,000 shares 
Issued- 2,519,159,345 shares 

in 2013 and 2,0 13,476,263 in 2012 
Preferred stock- ¥0 .01 par value 

Authorized and Issued - 720,000,000 shares 

2013 2012 

~1,259,580 ¥ 1,006,738 

7,200 7,200 
~1,266,780 ¥ 1,013,938 

Preferred share is voting, non-participating but with a fixed cumulative dividend rate of seven 
percent (7%) per annum . 

Movements in common stock follow: 

Balances at January 1 
Declaration of stock dividends 
Exercise of stock options (see Note 18) 
Balances at December 31 

Number of 
Shares 

2,013,476,263 
503,831,864 

1,851,218 
2,519,159,345 

2013 

Total 
~1,006,738 

251,916 
926 

F1,259,580 
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Balances at January 1 
Declaration of stock dividends 
Exercise of stock options (see Note 18) 
Balances at December 31 

Number of 
Shares 

1,339,831,828 
671 ,158,752 

2,485,683 
2,013,476,263 

2012 

Total 
¥669,916 

335,579 
1,243 

¥1,006,738 

On June 16, 2010, the BOD and stockholders of the Parent Company approved the Executive 
Stock Option Plan (ESOP). On December 20, 2010, the Plan was approved by the SEC. Shares 
reserved for issue under the ESOP is 12 million shares. Basic terms and conditions of the ESOP 
are disclosed in Note 18. 

On March 28, 2012 and June 8, 2012, the Company's BOD and stockholders, respectively, 
authorized and approved the increase in authorized capital stock from P800.0 million to 
P2, 139.7 million. 

Issued Capital Stock 
The IPO of the Parent Company' s shares with an offer price of¥15.00 per share, which is 
equivalent to P8.00 per share after the stock dividends, resulted to the issuance of 217,183,818 
common shares and reissuance of 132,991,182 shares held in treasury. 

In October 2010, shares were issued to Sum itom o Metal Mining Philippine Holdings Corporation 
(S.MMPHC), Nickel Asia Holdings, Inc. (NAHI) and the President of the Parent Company 
pursuant to the Subscription Agreement entered into on September 24, 2010 whereby: 
• S.MMPHC subscribed to 13,169,982 common shares of the Parent Company for a 

consideration of ¥206.8 million. 
• The Parent Company's President subscribed to 1,855,000 common shares of the Parent 

Company for a consideration of ¥26.9 million. 
• NAHI subscribed to 720,000,000 preferred shares of the Parent Company for a consideration 

of ¥7.2 million. 

As at December 31 , 2013 and 2012, the Parent Company has forty-five ( 45) and forty-one ( 41) 
stockholders, respectively. 

As at December 31, 20 13 and 201 2, a total of 803, 135,234 or 32% and 657,060,167 or 33%, 
respectively, of the outstanding common shares of the Parent Company are registered in the name 
of forty-three ( 43) and thirty-nine (39) shareholders, respectively, while the balance of 
1,716,024,11 1 common shares or 68% and 1,356,41 6,096 common shares or 67%, respectively, 
are lodged with the Philippine Depository, Inc. (now known as Philippine Depository and Trust 
Corporation). 

Dividends 
Cash Dividends 
On April 5, 2013, the Parent Company's BOD declared cash dividends amounting to 
P705.3 million, equivalent to ¥0.35 per share, to stockholders of record as at April 22, 2013 which 
were paid on May 14, 2013. 

On March 28, 2012, the Parent Company's stockholders declared cash dividends amounting to 
P1 ,073 .5 million, equivalent to PO. 80 per share, to stockholders of record as at April 16, 2012, 
which were paid on May 1 1, 2012. 
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On October 25, 2011, the Parent Company' s BOD declared special cash dividends amounting to 
¥201.0 million, equivalent to¥0.15 per share, to stockholders of record as at November 11, 2011, 
which were paid on December 8, 2011. 

On March 25, 2011, the Parent Company' s BOD declared cash dividends amounting to 
¥468.9 million, equivalent to ¥0.35 per share, to stockholders of record as at April 11, 2011. The 
clividends were paid on May 9, 2011. 

Stock Dividends 
On June 3, 2013, the Parent Company's stockholders declared twenty-five percent (25%) stock 
dividends on the outstanding common shares amounting to P251.9 million, equivalent to 
¥0.50 per share, to stockholders of record as at June 18, 2013 which were issued on July 12, 2013. 

On June 8, 2012, the Parent Company's stockholders declared fifty percent (50%) stock dividends 
on the outstanding common shares amounting to ¥335.6 million to stockholders of record as at 
August 29, 2012 to support the increase in authorized capital stock. The stock dividends 
correspond to 671.2 million common shares at the issue price equivalent to the par value of ¥0.50 
per share. The stock dividends were issued on September 24, 2012. 

Appropriated Retained Earnings 
On November 5, 2013, the Parent Company's BOD approved the appropriation of retained 
earnings amounting to Pl,OOO.O million, for the construction, operation and maintenance of a 
bunker-fired diesel power station (see N ote 36g). 

18. Executive Stock Option Plan 

On June 16, 2010, the BOD and stockholders of the Parent Company approved the ESOP . On 
December 20, 2010, the Plan was approved by the SEC. 

The basic terms and conditions of the ESOP are: 
• The ESOP covers up to 12.0 million shares allocated to the Parent Company's officers and the 

officers of the subsicliar ies. 
• The eligible participants are the directors and officers of the Parent Company and its 

subsidiaries, specifically those with a position of Assistant Vice President and higher, 
including the Resident Mine Managers of the subsidiaries. 

• The exercise price is ¥ 13.50. 
• The grant date of the Plan is January 3, 2011 as determined by the Stock Option Committee. 
• The term of the Plan shall be six (6) years and the shares will vest to the participant at the rate 

of twenty five-percent (25%) per year after the first year of the Plan or December 21, 20 11 . 
• The participant can exercise the vested options by giving notice within the term of the Plan, 

and can opt to either purchase the shares at the exercise price or request the Parent Company 
to advance the purchase price and to sell the shares in which case the participant will receive 
the sales proceeds less the exercise price. 

The stock option agreement was made and executed on January 3 1, 2011 between the Parent 
Company and the option grantees. 
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The fair value of the stock options is ¥6.44, which was estimated as at grant date, January 3, 2011, 
using the Black Scholes-Merton model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which 
the options were granted. 

The following assumptions were used to determine the fair value of the stock options at effective 
grant date: 

Grant Date 
Spot price per share 
Exercise price 
Expected volatility 
Option life 
Dividend yield 
Risk-free rate 

January 3, 2011 
¥15 .0 

13.5 
60.34% 

3.967 years 
2.06% 
4.50% 

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility over a period similar to 
the life of the options is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual 
outcome. 

Except for the effect of stock dividends, there have been no modifications or cancellations in 2013 
and 2012. 

The following table illustrates the number of, and movements in, stock options: 

Weighted Average 
Number of Options Exercise Price 

2013 2012 2013 2012 
January 1 13,971,473 11 ,503,912 P9.00 ¥ 13.50 
Exercised (see Note 17) (1,851,218) (2,485,683) 9.00 13.50 
Forfeited ( 450,000) 13.50 
Granted 746,088 13.50 
Stock dividends 3,030,058 4,657,156 7.20 9.00 
December 31 15,150,313 13,971,473 P7.20 ¥9.00 

In 2013 and 2012, the number of shares and exercise price were adjusted for the effect of the 
twenty-fiv e percent (25%) and fifty percent (50%) stock dividends, respectively (see Note 17). 

The number of exercisable vested stock options as at December 31 , 2013 and 2012 are 9,85 1,885 
and 5,233,977, respectively. 

On September 2, 2013 and March 19, 2013, the SEC approved the exemption from registration of 
3,030,058 and 4,457, 156 common shares, respectively, which shall form part of the ESOP. 

In 2013 and 2012, the weighted average stock price at exercise dates was ¥26.62 and ¥28 .16, 
respectively, which is equivalent to ¥21.30 and ¥ 15.02 per share after the effect of stock 
dividends, respectively. 
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Movements in the cost of share-based payment plan included in equity are as follows : 

Balances at beginning of year 
Cost of share-based payment recognized as capital 

upon exerc1se 
Stock option expense (see Note 25) 
Movements during the year 
Balances at end of year 

2013 
P57,464 

(18,309) 
10,369 
(7,940) 

P49,524 

2012 
¥64,308 

(9,603) 
2,759 

(6,844) 
¥57,464 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding is two and a half (2.5) 
years and three and a half (3.5) years as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

In 2013, 2012 and 2011, the cost of share-based payments expense amounting to ¥10.4 million, 
¥2.8 million and ¥ 63.2 million, respectively (see Note 25). 

19. Earnings Per Share 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share 
computations: 

Net income attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 

Preferred stock dividends 
Net income attributable to equity 

holders of the parent for basic 
earnmgs 

Dividends on dilutive potential 
ordinary shares 

Net income attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the 
parent adjusted for the 
effect of dilution 

Weighted average number of 
common shares for basic EPS 

Effect of dilution from share 
options 

Weighted average number of 
common shares adjusted for 
the effect of dilution 

Basic EPS 
Diluted BPS 

2013 

F2,053,674 
504 

2,053,170 

F2,053,170 

2,518,547,419 

11,250,000 

2,529,797,419 
P0.82 
P0.81 

2012 

¥2,207,210 
504 

2,206,706 

474 

¥2,206,232 

2,515,828,227 

6,093,750 

2,521,921,977 

¥0.88 
¥0.88 

2011 

¥3,537,782 
504 

3,537,278 

¥3,537,278 

2,5 12,184,677 

5,625,000 

2,5 17,809,677 

¥ 1.41 

¥ 1.40 
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There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares 
between the end of the reporting period and the date of authorization of the consolidated financial 
statements. 

20. Cost of Sales 

2013 2012 2011 
Production overhead P1,938,349 ¥ 1,986,973 ¥1,594,701 
Outside services 869,379 1,194,218 931 ,168 
Depreciation and depletion 

(seeN ote 26) 830,512 615,090 423,621 
Personnel costs (see Note 25) 669,699 614,390 626,309 
Long-term stockpile inventory 

(see Note 12) 235,169 132,997 143,184 
4,543,108 4,543,668 3,718,983 

Net changes in beneficiated 
nickel ore and limestone ore {532814} ~76,4532 ~369,2932 

P4,489,294 ¥4,467,215 ¥3,349,690 

Outside services pertain to services offer ed by the contractors related to the mining activities of 
the Group. These serv ices include, but are not limited to, hauling, stevedoring, janitorial, 
maintenance, security and blasting equipment rental. 

21. Cost of Services 

Depreciation and 
depletion (see N ote 26) 

Equipment operating cost 
Personnel costs (see Not e 25) 
Overhead 
Outside services 

2013 

P133,040 
76,058 
63,836 
49,962 
12,396 

P335,292 

20 12 

P100,726 
78,681 
36,869 
15,575 
28,548 

P260,399 

2011 

P72,769 
65 ,027 
32,847 
17,33 1 
26,286 

P214,260 

Equipment operating cost includes interest expense amounting to P33.5 million., P 38.1 million and 
P27.6 million in 2013, 201 2 and 2011, respectively (see Note 15) . 

22. Shipping and Loading Costs 

2013 2012 2011 
Contract fees P801,402 P857,455 P769,647 
Supplies and fuel, oil and 

lubricants 298,752 271,266 225,1 19 
Depreciation and 

depletion (see Note 26) 155,810 123,670 102,526 
Personnel costs (see Note 25) 72,219 61,865 84,523 
Other services and fees 70 588 86,294 104,261 

P1,398,771 P 1,400,550 ¥ 1,286,076 
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23. Excise Taxes and Royalties 

Royalties (see Notes 36e and 36j) 
Excise taxes (see Note 36e) 

24. General and Administrative 

Personnel costs (see Note 25) 
Depreciation (see Note 26) 
Taxes and licenses 
Outside services 
Transportation and travel 
Entertainment, amusement and 

recreation 
Communications, light and water 
Repairs and maintenance 
Others 

2013 
P439,098 

209,510 
1!648,608 

2013 
1!223,081 

84,705 
80,474 
67,750 
20,246 

13,720 
11,882 

9,528 
113 433 

1!624,819 

2012 
¥485,072 

222,865 
¥707,937 

201 2 
¥173,819 

84,941 
66,199 
62,860 
18,257 

13,721 
13,458 
8,661 

85,665 
¥527,581 

2011 
¥491,656 

244,606 
¥736,262 

2011 
¥276,641 

81,711 
31,942 
47,437 
20,260 

15,008 
10,902 
8,364 

85,160 
¥577,425 

Other general and administrative expense is composed of dues and subscription expense, rentals, 
other service fees and other numerous transactions with minimal amounts. 

25. Personnel Costs 

2013 2012 2011 
Salaries, wages and employee 

benefits 1!963,293 ¥840,942 ¥916,767 
Pension cost (see Note 32) 55,173 43,242 40,346 
Cost of share-based payment 

J2lan ~seeN ote 182 10J69 2,759 63,207 
F1,028,835 ¥886,943 ¥ 1,020,320 

The amounts of personnel costs are distributed as follows: 

2013 2012 2011 
Cost of sales (see Note 20) F669,699 ¥614,390 ¥626,309 
General and administrative 

(see Note 24) 223,081 173,819 276,641 
Shipping and loading costs 

(see Note 22) 72,219 61,865 84,523 
Cost of services (see Note 21) 63,836 36,869 32,847 

F1,028,835 ¥886,943 ¥ 1,020,320 
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26. Depreciation and Depletion 

2013 2012 2011 
Property and equipment 

(see Note 9) P1,260,601 ¥974,382 ¥724,613 
Investment properties 

(seeN ote 102 2,050 7,501 9,208 
P1,262,651 ¥981,883 ¥733,821 

The amounts of depreciation and depletion expense are distributed as follows: 

2013 2012 2011 
Cost of sales (see Note 20) P830,512 ¥615,090 ¥423,621 
Shipping and loading 

costs (see Note 22) 155,810 123,670 102,526 
Cost of services (see Note 21) 133,040 100,726 72,769 
General and administrative 

(see Note 24) 84,705 84,941 81,711 
Others 58 584 57 456 53,194 

P1,262,651 ¥981,883 ¥733,821 

27. Finance Income 

2013 2012 2011 
Interest income 

(see Notes 4, 7 and 32) 1!159,445 ¥226,414 ¥208,436 
Gain on: 

Sale of AFS financial 
assets (see Note 7) 7,308 6,490 

Sale of investment funds 2,136 
1!166,753 ¥235,040 ¥208,436 

28. Finance Expenses 

2013 2012 2011 
Guarantee service fee 

(see Note 36f) 1!104,235 ¥83,987 ¥26,636 
Interest expense 

(see Notes 15 and 32) 13,242 16,199 7,346 
Accretion interest on provision 

for mine rehabilitation and 
decommissioning 
(see Note 16) 8,554 13,539 10,355 

Provision for impairment losses 
on trade and other receivables 
(see Note 5) 2,267 811 3,962 

Loss on sale of AFS financial 
assets 18,316 

1!128,298 ¥ 114,536 ¥66,615 
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29. Other Income - Net 

2013 2012 2011 
Gain (loss) on: 

Sale of investment properties 
(see Note 10) P145,095 ¥- ¥-

Sale of property and 
equipment 82,005 1,369 (2,896) 

Casualty (7,439) (239,459) 
Write off of input VAT (6,752) (5,068) 
Long-term stockpile 

inventory write-up 573,090 
Reversals of allowance for 

(provisions for): 
Impairment of deferred mine 

and exploration costs 
(see Note 13) (144,155) (61 ,853) 

Impairment losses on 
beneficiated nickel ore 
inventory (see Note 6) 9,163 8,226 (19,141) 

Impairment losses on trade 
and other receivables 
(see Note 5) 4,769 

Impairm ent losses on input 
VAT (see Note 8) (530) (914) 

Impairm ent of advances to 
claim owners (21,400) 

Dividend income (see Note 7) 62,654 192,720 436,369 
Foreign exchange gains 

(losses) -net 53,293 (123,466) 39,695 
Despatch (demurrage) 49,134 70,567 (63,219) 
Special projects 28,375 79,791 7,432 
Issuance of fuel, oil and 

lubricants 8,209 22,5 11 12,804 
Other services 4,766 6,489 7,347 
Rentals and accommodations 4,209 4,178 4,296 
Others - net 16,987 42,945 73,049 

P309,783 ¥300,262 ¥745,200 

Others include pen:;ion income recognized by a subsidiary as determined by the Group' s actuary 
and miscellaneous services provided to CBNC on per job order basis, net of related cost incurred. 
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30. 

Breakdown of the foreign exchange gains (losses)- net follow: 

2013 2012 2011 
Realized foreign exchange gains 

(losses) 1!90,798 (¥142,786) ¥12,801 
Umealized foreign exchange 

gains (losses) on: 
Cash and cash equivalents 77,129 (54,282) 8,358 
Trade and other receivables 4,370 (22,249) 3,062 
AF S financial assets 860 (11,217) 17,074 
Trade and other payables (504) 1,181 59 
Long-term debt (119,636) 105,793 (1 ,659) 
Other accounts 276 94 

1!53,293 (¥123,466) ¥39,695 

Material Par-tly-Owned Subsidiaries 

Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are provided 
below: 

Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests: 

PrinciEal Place of Business 2013 2012 
RTN Philippines 40.00% 40.00% 
TMC Philippines 35.00% 35.00% 

Equity attributable to material non-controlling interest: 

2013 2012 
RTN 1!2,297,884 ¥2, 41 8,262 
TMC 1,677,390 1,429,277 

Net income attributable to material non-controlling interest: 

2013 2012 
RTN 1!380,490 ¥605 ,383 
TMC 262,465 380,495 

Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to material non-controlling interest: 

RTN 
TMC 

2013 
(1!21,205) 

(15,195) 

2012 
¥24,481 

7,396 
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The summarized financial information of these subsidiaries are provided below. This information 
is based on amounts before inter-company eliminations. 

Summarized statements of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31 , 2013: 

RTN TMC 
Revenues P3,535,178 P3,370,272 
Cost of sales and services (1,932,816) (1,307,120) 
Operating expenses (579,759) (974,615) 
Other income - net 204,041 3,364 
Finance income- net 42,854 82676 
Income before income tax 1,269,498 1,100,577 
Pt·ovision for· income tax (318,274) (350,677) 
Net income 951,224 749,900 
Other com~rehensive loss {53,013} {43,413} 
Total com~rehensive income P898,211 P706,487 

Attributable to non-controlling inter·ests P292,940 P247,270 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 480,000 

Summarized statements of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2012: 

RTN 
Revenues ¥4,351,141 
Cost of sales and services (2,219,040) 
Operating expenses (556,128) 
Other income- net 242,977 
Finance income- net 57,119 
Income before income tax 1,876,069 
Provision for income tax (423,814) 
Net income 1,452,255 
Other com12rehensive income 61,202 
Total comprehensive income ¥ 1,5 13,457 

Attributable to non-controlling interests ¥566,985 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 600,000 

Summarized statements of financial position as at December 31, 2013: 

Current assets 
Noncurrent assets 
Current liabilities 
Noncur-rent liabilities 
Total equity 

Attributable to equity holders of parent 
Non-controlling interest 

RTN 
P3,690,031 

2,621,293 
(372,054) 
(194,561) 

F5,744,709 

P3,446,825 
2,297,884 

TMC 
¥3,2 18,567 
(1,113,332) 

(769,547) 
78,768 
20,692 

1,435, 148 
(369, 150) 

1,065,998 
21,132 

¥ 1,087,130 

¥380,495 

TMC 
P2,502,364 

4,263,406 
(414,052) 

(1,559,176) 
F42792,542 

F3,115,152 
1,677,390 
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Summarized statements of financial position as at December 31, 2012: 

RTN 
Current assets ¥3,739,779 
Noncurrent assets 2,976,186 
Current liabilities (469,818) 
Noncurrent liabilities ~200,4932 

Total equity ¥6,045,654 

Attributable to equity holders of parent ¥3,627,392 
Non-controlling interest 2,418,262 

Summarized cash flow information for the year ended December 31, 2013: 

Operating 
Investing 
Financing 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents 

RTN 
F1,569,339 

(121,040) 
(1,244,781) 

P203,518 

Summarized cash flow information for the year ended December 31, 2012: 

Operating 
Investing 
Financing 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

31. Related Patiy Transactions 

RTN 
¥1,643,112 
(1 ,275,849) 
(1,547,825) 

(¥1 '180,562) 

TMC 
¥2,577,490 

3,348,574 
(366,924) 

~1,475,4912 
¥4,083,649 

¥2,654,372 
1,429,277 

TMC 
F888,778 

(1,322,766) 
(108,874) 

(P542,862) 

TMC 
¥1,152,222 

(954,751) 
(112,203) 
¥85,268 

Related party relationships exist when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other 
party in making financial and operating decisions. Such relationships also exist between ancl/or 
among entities which are under common control with the reporting enterprise, or between ancl/or 
among the reporting enterprise and their key management personnel, directors, or its stockholders. 

Set out on next page are the Group's transactions with related parties in 2013, 2012 and 2011 , 
including the corresponding assets and liabilities arising from the said transactions as at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Stockholders 
Pacific Metals Co., Ud. 

(PAMCO) 

2013 
Amount 

2012 2011 

Sale of ore and P1,269, 780 P2,086,909 P2,061,853 
services 

Dividends paid 480,000 600,000 

Draft survey fee 295 388 

Despatch 1,080 
income 

SMM 
Sale of ore 42,040 125,687 407,300 

Guarantee fee 103,351 82,668 

Short-term 1,783 
advances 

(Forward) 

Trade and Other 
Receivables 
(see Note 5) 
2013 2012 

P5,948 ~61,914 

54 

1,080 

Trade and Other Payables 
(see Note 14) 
2013 2012 

P-

39,549 32,548 

Amounts Owed by 
Related Parties 

(see Note 5) 
2013 2012 

P-

532 

Long-term Debt 
(see Note 15) 

Terms Conditions 

2013 2012 

IL Ninety percent (90"/o) Unsecured; no 
upon receipt of guarantee 

documents and ten 
percent (1 0%) after the 

final dry weight and 
applicable assay have 

been determined; 
noninterest- bearing 
Payable on demand; 
noninterest-bearing 

Payable on demand; 
noninterest-bearing 

- Collectible on demand; 
noninterest-bearing 

Collectible upon 
billing; 

noninterest-bearing 
- Every twenty first (21) 

of February and 
August 

Collectible upon 
billing; 

noninterest-bearing 

Fully paid 

Unsecured; no 
guarantee 

Unsecured; no 
guarantee 

Unsecured; no 
guarantee 

Unsecured 

Unsecured; 
no guarantee 



Stockholders 
SMM 

Additional loan 
facility 

NAHI 
Short-te1m 

advances 

Dividends 
payable 

With Common 
Stockholders 

CBNC 
Sale of ore and 

services 

Infra! ease and 
throughput 

Dividend 
received 

(ForwarcQ 

Amount 
2013 2012 2011 

P-

100 106 

504 504 504 

1,744,600 1,695,491 2,286,240 

52,445 56,721 

60,480 191,880 

Trade and Other 
Receivables 
(see Note 5) 
2013 2012 

P--

200,454 312,268 

23,983 24,597 

Trade and Other Payables 
(see Note 14) 
2013 2012 

P-

2,016 1,512 

Amounts Owed by 
Related Parties 

(see Note 5) 
2013 2012 

P-

7,564 

Long-term Debt 
(see Note 15) 

2013 2012 

Terms Conditions 

11179,001 P210,295 Principal is payable in Secured; with 
semi-annual guarantee 

installments, interest is 
based on one hundred 

eighty (180)-day 
British Banker 

Associat ion LIBOR 
plus two percent (2%) 

spread 

Collect ible upon 
billing; 

noninterest-bearing 
Payab le on demand; 
noninterest-bearing 

- Seven (7) to thirty (30) 
days; 

noninterest-bearing 
Collectible at tl1e end 

of February and 
August; 

noninterest-bearing 
Collectible 

within 30 days from 
declaration date: 

noninterest-bearing 

Unsecured; 
no guarantee 

Unsecured; 
no guarantee 

Unsecured; no 
guarantee 

Unsecured; no 
guarantee 

Fully 
coll ected 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Trade and Otl1er 
Receivables Trade and Otl1er Payables 

Amount ~see Note 5l ~see Note 14l 
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2013 2012 

With Common 
Stockholders 

CBNC 
Oilier income P8,846 1240,489 jL P26,066 P48,832 P- jL 

Short-term 625 
advances 

Manta Equities, 
Inc, 

Rentals, 13,542 1,288 1,451 
dues and 
utilities 

Rental 7,896 2,292 
deposits 

Short-term 1,147 28 745 
advances 

Associate 

1HNC 
Sale of ore 237,071 75,638 

Rendering of 125,003 124,702 110,045 31,146 28,920 
service 

Materials 124,523 42,705 
handling 
(see Note 31a) 

Rental income 6,703 

(Forward) 

Amounts Owed by 
Related Parties Long-term Debt Terms Conditions 
~see Note Sl ~see Note 15l 

2013 2012 2013 2012 

P- jL P- jL Coll ectible on demand; Unsecured; no 
noninterest-bearing guarantee 

63 Collectible upon Unsecured; no 
billing; guarantee 

noninterest-bearing 

Collectible upon Unsecured; no 
billing; noninterest- guarantee 

bearing 
Collectible upon end Unsecured; 

of tl1e lease; no guarantee 
noninterest-bearing 

83 76 Collectible upon Unsecured; no 
billing; guarantee 

noninterest-bearing 

3 0 days term, Unsecured; no 
noninterest-bearing guarantee 

Collectible upon Unsecured; no 
billing; guarantee 

noninterest-bearing 
- Coll ectible on dernand; Unsecured; no 

noninterest-bearing guarantee 

Coll ectible on demand; Unsecured; no 
noninterest-bearing guarantee 
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TIINC 
Associate 

Additional loan 
facility 

Short-term 
advances 

2013 

P-

22,180 

Amount 
2012 2011 

21,446 12.492 

Trade and Otl1er 
Receivables 
(see Note 5) 
2013 2012 

P-

P411 399 P476,531 

Trade and Otl1er Payables 
(see Note 14) 
2013 2012 

P-

P43 016 ~34,060 

Amounts Owed by 
Related Parties 

(see Note 5) 
2013 2012 

P-

8,534 6,61 1 

Long-term Debt 
(see Note 15) 

2013 2012 

P1,359,596 ~ 1,328,994 

P9 212 P14,251 PI 538 597 ~ 1,539,289 

Terms 

Principal is payable in 
semi-annual 

installments, interest is 
based on one hundred 

eighty (180)-day 
British Banker 

Association LIBOR 
plus two percent (2%) 

spread 
Collectible upon 

billing; 
noninterest-bearin 

Conditions 

Secured; with 
guarantee 

Unsecured; no 
guarantee 
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Terms and Conditions ofT ransactions with Related Parties 
All sales and purchases from related parties are made at prevailing market prices. Outstanding 
balances as at December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 pertain to the extension and receipt of advances 
to and from related parties and these are unsecured, short-term, interest-free and settlement occurs 
in cash. Except for the guarantee on the CBNC and THNC Loan Obligations (see Note 36f), there 
have been no guarantees received or provided for any related party receivables or payables, 
respectively. This assessment is undertaken at each end of the reporting period through the 
examination of the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party 
operates. 

a. Sales and Service Agreements 

Nickel Ore Sale Agreements with P AMCO 
HMC, CMC and TMC supply saprolite ore to PAMCO under renewable annual agreements. 
P AMCO is a stockholder of the Parent Company and TMC. All sales made toP AMCO are 
transacted at prevailing market prices . Under the terms of the agreement, the base price of the 
ore products for a specific shipment shall be based on London Metal Exchange (LME). 
PAMCO shall pay the Group ninety percent (90%) of the provisional invoice amount upon 
receipt of the required documents and pay the final payment of each shipment after the final 
dry weight and applicable assay have been determined. Outstanding balances as at December 
31, 2013 and 2012 are unsecured, interest-free and settlement occurs in cash. Receivable from 
PAMCO is included as part of"Trade and other receivables" and is expected to be collected 
subsequently. 

Nickel Ore Sale Agreement with P AMCO and Sojitz Com oration (Sojitz) 
RTN supplies saprolite ore to PAMCO under a sale agreement, which shall continue to be 
valid and in effect until December 2015, wherein PAMCO appointed Sojitz as agent. PAMCO 
owns thirty-six percent (36%) and Sojitz owns four percent ( 4%) of the outstanding shares in 
the capital stock ofRTN. 

Nickel Ore Sale Agreement with SMM 
On April 1, 2011, RTN, TMC, HMC, CMC and SMM entered into an agreement to supply 
nickel ore to the latter. The agreement shall be valid from April2011 and shall continue to be 
valid and in effect until December 2015. 

Nickel Ore Supply Agreement with CBNC 
RTN entered into an agreement with CBNC to supply all of the limonite ore requirements for 
the Coral Bay Hydro Metallurgical Processing Plant (HPP) facility until the earlier of the 
cessation of operations at fhe Coral Bay HPP facility and exhaustion of the limonite ore reserves 
at the Rio Tuba mine. RTN has also entered into an agreement with CBNC to supply 
limestone and provide ancillary services to the Coral Bay High Pressure Acid Leach (HPAL) 
facility. CBNC is the owner of the Coral Bay HPP facility. Receivable from CBNC is 
included as part of "Trade and other receivables" and is expected to be collected subsequently. 

Nickel Ore Supply Agreement with THNC 
TMC entered into an agreement with THNC, a Philippine Corporation, covering the sale of its 
ore products. Under the terms of the agreement, the base price of the ore products for a 
specific shipment shall be based on LME. 

Service Agreements with CBNC 
RTN entered into various service agreements with CBNC pertaining to tailings dam 
construction, materials handling and others. 
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Materials Handling Agreement with THNC 
On October 7, 2013, TMC and THNC executed an agreement wherein TMC will render 
services related to the handling, hauling and transport of cargo for the latter. THNC shall 
compensate TMC based on the prices stipulated in the agreement which are determined on the 
basis of the weight of the cargo. Payment is collected within fifteen (15) days from receipt of 
TMC's billing. 

b. Stockholder Agreements 

THNC Stockholder's Agreement 
On September 15, 2010, NAC, SMM and Mitsui executed a Stockholders Agreement, pursuant 
to which the parties formed a jomt venture company, Taganito HPAL Nickel, to build and 
operate a plant in Barangay Taganito, Claver, Surigao del N orte for the purpose of producing 
and selling nickel-cobalt mixed sulfide to be used for the production of electrolytic nickel and 
electrolytic cobalt. 

Pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement, SMM granted THNC a non-exclusive license of 
technology owned by SMM to produce the products and has undertaken to provide technical 
assistance to THNC. The Parent Company has undertaken to cause TMC to supply THNC 
with nickel ore and limestone and to further cause TMC to make available to THNC the use of 
the land and infrastructure necessary for the production of the products while Mitsui shall 
assist THNC in procuring materials and equipment necessary for the mine's operations. The 
Stockholders Agreement shall terminate upon the dissolut ion of THNC. 

In a separate agreement dated December 9, 2011 , SMM, which also owns 62.5% of THNC, 
agreed to assume Parent Company's obligation to make loans to, or guarantee the repayment 
of, THNC's loans obligations. The Parent Company, in consideration for this agreement, pays 
SMM an annual guarantee fee of 1% of THNC's outstanding loans obligation. 

CBNC Stockholder Agreement 
On July 1, 2002, RTN, along with the other stockholders of CBNC, agreed to make loans to 
CBNC or guarantee the repayment ofCBNC's loans obligation in accordance with the 
financial requirements of CBNC, in proportion to their shareh olding ratio in CBNC. 

In a separate agreement dated October 22, 2002, SMM, which owns 54% of CBNC, agreed to 
assum e RTN's obligation to make loans to, or guarantee the repayment of CBNC's loans 
obligations. RTN, in consideration for this agreement, pays SMM an annual guarantee fee of 
1% of CBNC's outstanding loans obligation. 

As at December 31, 2013, RTN owns 10% of CBNC' s outstanding capital stock. In February 
201 4, RTN declared as property dividends its shares of stock in CBNC to the Parent Company. 
(see Note 37). 

c. Other Agreements 

Funding Commitment with SMM 
RTN's long-term debt was incurred to complete infrastructure projects to support the 
development of the Coral Bay HP AL facility. These projects included the causeway, trestles 
and dolphins in the Rio Tuba foreshore and offshore areas (see Note 15). 
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Funding Commitment with THNC 
TMC as owner/developer of Taganito Special Economic Zone (TSEZ) incurred a long-term 
debt to finance the construction of the pier facilities that will be utilized to support the 
operations of the Taganito HPAL facility. These projects included the jetty, dolphins, rubber 
fender, jettybollard and other pier facilities in the Taganito foreshore and offshore areas. 

d. Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

The Group considers as key management personnel all employees holding managerial 
positions up to the president. The short-term benefits of key management personnel of the 
Group in 2013, 2012 and 2011 amounted to about ¥162.6 million, ¥145.8 million and 
¥161.2 million, respectively. The post-employment benefits of key management personnel of 
the Group amounted to ¥4.1 million in 2013, ¥5.5 million in 2012 and ¥4.1 million in 2011, 
respectively. Cost of share-based payments of key management personnel in 2013, 2012 and 
2011 amounted to ¥10.4 million, ¥2.8 million and ¥63.2 million, respectively. 

e. Lease Agreement 

On March 18, 2013, the Group entered into a lease agreement with MEI for its office and 
parking space. The lease agreement is effective for a period of five (5) years starting 
May 15, 2013 and is renewable subject to negotiation of the terms and conditions and mutual 
agreement of both parties. Rent expense pertaining to the lease amounted to ¥10.0 million 
and nil in 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

Future minimum rent payable under the lease as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 are as 
follows: 

Within one (1) year 
After one (1) year but not more than five (5) years 

32. Pension Costs 

2013 
.P20,350 

70,378 
P90,728 

2012 
¥-

¥-

The Group has two (2) funded and three (3) unfunded, noncontributory defined benefit retirement 
plans covering substantially all of its employees. 

Under the existing regulatory framework, Republic Act (RA) 7641 , The Retirement Pay Law, 
requires a provision for retirement pay to qualified private sector employees in the absence of any 
retirement plan in the entity, provided however that the employee's retirement benefits under any 
collective bargaining and other agreements shall not be less than those provided under the law. 
The law does not require minimum funding of the plan. 
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The following tables summarize the pension liabilities and pension asset recognized in the 
consolidated statements of financial position: 

2013 2012 
Funded pension liabilities 

RTN ~40,187 P-
TMC 164,121 101,753 

Unfunded pension liabilities 
NAC 23,214 
CMC 31,418 24,985 
HMC 20,135 9,794 

~279,075 ¥136,532 

Funded pension asset 
RTN ¥56,986 

Taking Prid~ in R~spons ib l~ Min~ra l D~v~ lopm~nt 107 



0 
CD 

l> 
z 
z 
c 
l> 
r 
:u 
JT1 
"0 
0 
:u 
--< 

"' s 
w 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following tables summarize the components of net pension costs recognized in the consolidated statements of income and the funded status and amounts recognized 
in the consolidated statements of financial position for the respective plans: 

Changes in net defined benefit liability and fair value of plan assets in 2013, 2012 and 2011 and are as follows: 

December 31, 2013 

Net benefit cod in consolidated statements 
of inconte Remeasurements in other comprehensive inconte 

Actuarial 
Return on plan changes arising Actuarial changes 

a"ets (excluding front changes in arising from Changes in the 
January 1, Current Benerrts amoWit included rmanclal experience effect of asset De~entber 31, 

2013 service cost Net interest Subtotal eaid in net interest2 assun!!tions adjust ments ceili!!& Subtotal Contributions 2013 
RTN P306,001 P24,602 P20,715 1'45,317 (1'20,691) P- 1'54,110 1'9,491 P- 1'63,602 P- P394,229 
T MC 171,213 21,500 10,769 32,269 (5,206) 43,138 (159) 42,979 241,255 
Defmed benefit 

liabili!l 477,214 46,102 31,484 77,586 (25,897) 97,248 9,333 106,581 635,484 
RTN (370,170) (24,360) (24,360) 20,691 19,797 19,797 (354,042) 
TMC (69!460) (4,520) (4,520) 5,206 1!640 1!640 (10,000) Q?!134) 
Fair value of 

].!Ian assets (439,630) (28,880) (28,880) 25,897 21,437 21,437 (10,000) (431,176) 
RTN 7,183 487 487 (7,670) (7 ,670) 
TMC 
Restrictions on 

auet recos;nized 7,183 487 487 Q,670) Q,670) 
RTN (56,986) 24,602 (3,158) 21,444 19,797 54,110 9,492 (7,670) 75,729 40,187 
TMC 101,753 21,500 6,249 27,749 1,640 43,138 (159) 44,619 (10,000) 164,121 
Pension liabi6ty 1'44,767 1'46,102 P3,091 1'49,193 P- P21,437 1'97,248 1'9,333 (1'7,670) 1'120,348 (1'10,000) P204,308 



Decem her 31, 2012, as restated 
Net benefit cost in consolidated statements 

of income R emeasurements in other comprehensive income 
Actuarial 

Return on changes Actuarial Actuarial 
plan assets arising changes changes 
(excluding from changes arising arising Changes in 

Janu!U)' 1, mnount in from changes from the December 31, 
2012 Cun-ent Benefits included in demographic in fmancial experience effect of asset 2012 

(As restated) service cost Net interest Subtotal paid net interest) assumptions assumptions adjustments ceiling Subtotal Contributions (As restated) 

RlN 1'349,890 1'24,984 1'24,212 1'49,196 (1'33,034) I'- (1'6,177) (1'11,123) 1'17,249 I'- (!'60,051) I'- 1'306,001 
1MC 153,774 13,785 9,150 22,935 (3,772) (7,614) 5,890 (1,724) 171,213 
Defined benefit 

liability 503,664 38,769 33,362 72,131 (36,806) (6,177) (78,737) 23,139 (61,775) 477,214 
RlN (320,181) (21,933) (21 ,933) 33,034 (34,561) (34,561) (26,529) (370,170) 
1MC (57,879) (3,629) (3,629) 3,772 (1,724) (1,724) (10,000) (69,460) 
Fair value of 

plan assets (378,060) (25,562) (25,562) 36,806 (36,285) (36,285) (36,529) (439,630) 
RlN 7,183 7,183 7,183 
1MC 
Restrictions on 

asset recognized 7,183 7,183 7,183 
RlN 29,709 24,984 2,279 27,263 (34,561) (6,177) (71,123) 17,249 7,183 (87,429) (26,529) (56,986) 
1MC 95,895 13,785 5,521 19,306 (1,724) (7,614) 5,890 (3,448) (10,000) 101,753 
Pensiqn asset 1'29,709 1'24,984 1'2,279 1'27,263 I'- (1'34,561) (!'6,177) (!'71,123) 1'17,249 !'7,183 (!'87,429) (1'26,529) (!'56,986) 

Pension liability 1'95,895 !'13,785 1'5,521 1'19,306 I'- (P1,724) I'- (1'7,614) 1'5,890 I'- (1'3 ,448) (1'10,000) 1'101,753 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 20 II , as restated 

Net benefit cost in consolidated statements of income Remeasurements in other comprehensive income 

Return on 
plan assets Actuarial Actuarial 
(excluding changes arising changes arising Actuarial 

January 1, amount from changes in from changes in changes arising 
2011 Current Past Benefits included in demograph ic financial from experience 

(As restated) service cost service cost Net interest Subtotal Eaid net interest) assumEtions assumEtions adjustments 
R1N !'33 2,105 !'23,578 1"18,241 1"26,535 1"68,354 (1"40,204) I'- I'- (1"4,065) (1"6,3 00) 
TMC 126,444 11,701 9,572 21,273 (12,338) 17,902 493 
Defined benefit 

liabilit~ 458,549 35,279 36 ,107 89,627 (52,542) 13,837 (5,807) 
R1N (302,904) (23,793) (23,793 ) 4 0,204 (3,721) 
TMC (66,172) (4,543) (4,543) 12,338 498 
Fair value of 

Elan assets (369,076) (28,336) (28,3 36) 52,542 (3,223 ) 
R1N 
TMC 
Restrictions 011 

asset reco nized 
R1N 29,201 23,578 2,742 44,561 (3,721) (4,065) (6,3 00) 
TMC 60,272 11,701 5,029 16,730 498 17,902 493 
Pension liabilit~ 1"89,473 1"35,279 P- 1"7,771 1"61,291 I'- (P3,223) I'- I' 13,837 (!5,807) 

December 31, 
2011 

Subtotal Contributions (As restated) 
(1"10,365) P- 1"349 ,890 

18,395 153 ,774 

8,030 503,664 
(3, 721) (29 ,967) (320,181) 

498 (57,879) 

(3,223) (29 ,967) (378,060) 

(14,086) (29,967) 29 ,709 
18,893 95 ,895 
!'4,807 (¥29,967) 1"125,604 



Changes in unfunded pension liability as at December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are as follows: 

NAC 
CMC 
HMC 
Pension liability 

CMC 
HMC 
Pension liability 

CMC 
HMC 
Pension liability 

January 1, 
2013 

P-
24,985 

9 794 
P34,779 

January 1, 2012 
(As restated) 

1'20,614 
10,847 

1'31,461 

January 1, 2011 
(As restated) 

1'19,726 
10,482 

1'30,208 

D ecember 31, 2013 

Net benefit cost in consoUdated statements of income 

Current Benefits 
service cost Interest cost Subtotal paid 

P4,382 P- P4,382 P-
2,943 1,579 4,522 (648) 
1,746 648 2 394 

P9,071 P2,227 Pll,298 (P648) 

December 31, 2012, as restated 

Net benefit cost in consolidated statements of income 

CwTent Benefits 
service cost Interest cost Subtotal paid 

1'2,494 1'1,237 1'3,731 (!'715) 
1,979 671 2,650 (808) 

1'4,473 1'1,908 1'6,381 (!'1,523) 

December 31 , 201 1, as restated 

Net benefit cost in consolidated statements of income 

CWTent Benefits 
service cost Interest cost Subtotal paid 

1'2,960 1'1,545 1'4,505 JL 
2,107 843 2,950 

1'5,067 1'2,388 1'7,455 JL 

Remeasur ements in other compt·ehensive income 
Actuarial Actuarial 

changes arising changes arising Actuarial 
from changes in from changes in changes arising 

demo gnp hie financial from experience December 31, 
assumptions assumptions adjustments Subtotal 2013 

P- P- P18,832 P18,832 P23,214 
(4,428) 5,794 1,193 2,559 31,418 

2,783 5,164 7,947 20 135 
(P4,428) P8,577 P25,189 P29,338 P 74,767 

Remeasurements in other comprehensive income 
Actuarial Actuarial 

changes arising changes arising Actuarial 
from changes in from changes in changes arising December 31, 

demographic financial from experience 2012 
assumptions assumpt ions adjustments Subtotal (As restated) 

IL (!'553) 1'1,908 1'1,355 1'24,985 
(415) (445) (2,035) (2,895) 9,794 

(1'415) (1'998) (!'127) (!'1,540) !>34,779 

Remeasurements in other comprehensive income 
Actuarial A ctuarial 

changes arising changes arising Actuarial 
from changes in from changes in changes arising December 31, 

demographic financial from experience 2011 
assumptions assumpt ions adjustments Subtotal (As restated) 

JL 1'2,482 (1'6,099) (!'3,617) !>20,614 
(1,639) (946) (2,585) 10,847 

JL 1'843 (!>7,045) (!>6,202) !>31,461 
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The main categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets follow: 

2013 RTN TMC 
Fixed income securities 54.83% 80.49% 
Investments in shares of stock 17.24% 5.94% 
Others 27.93% 13.57% 

100.00% 100.00% 

2012 RTN TMC 
Fixed income securities 72.30% 57.23% 
Investments in shares of stock 23.30% 30.17% 
Others 4.40% 12.60% 

100.00% 100.00% 

The overall expected rate of return on assets is determined based on the market expectations 
prevailing on that date, applicable to the period over which the obligation is to be settled. 

The principal assumptions used in determining the pension asset (liability) for the Group's plans 
are shown below: 

2013 NAC RTN TMC HMC CMC 
Discount rate 4.81% 6.40% 4.77% 5.04% 4.71% 
Salary increase rate 5.00% 5.00% 10.00% 5.00% 5.00% 

2012 NAC RTN TMC HMC CM C 
Discount rate 6.77% 6.29% 6.62% 6.32% 
Salary increase rate 5.00% 10.00% 5.00% 5.00% 

2011 NAC RTN TMC HMC CMC 
Discount rate 6.92% 7.57% 8.04% 6.00% 
Salary increase rate 8.00% 10.00% 5.00% 5.00% 

Assumptions regarding future mortality rate are based on the 2001 CSO Table- Generational 
developed by the Society of Actuaries, which provides separate rates for males and females. 

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each 
significant assumption on the defined retirement benefits liability as at the end of the reporting 
period, assuming all other assumptions were held constant: 

Discount rates 

Salary increase rate 

Increase 
(decrease) 

+ 1 00 basis points 
-1 00 basis points 

+ 100 basis points 
-1 00 basis points 

2013 
(¥68,433) 

81,796 

72,534 
(62,379) 

As at March 24, 2014, the Group has not yet reasonably determined the amount of 2014 
contributions to the retirement fund. 
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Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments : 

Within the next twelve (12) months 
Between two (2) and five (5) years 
Between five (5) and ten (10) years 
Total expected payments 

2013 
¥36,272 
188,555 
292,457 

¥517,284 

The average duration of the defined retirement benefits liability as at December 31, 2013 is 
16.8 years. 

33. Income Taxes 

The provision for current income tax shown in the consolidated statements of income includes the 
Regular Corporate Income Tax (RCIT) ofHMC, TMC and RTN and Minimum Corporate Income 
Tax (MCIT) of NAC, CMC andLCSLC in 2013, RCIT ofHMC, TMC andRTN andMCIT of 
CMC and CEXCI in 2012, andRCIT ofHMC, TMC, RTN, CMC, LCSLC and FBI in 2011, as 
follows: 

2013 2012 201 1 
HMC P487,825 ¥428,994 ¥170,455 
TMC 345,837 399,002 408,179 
RTN 321,338 424,336 852,466 
CMC 7,819 11,936 185,053 
NAC 6,574 
LCSLC 111 3,596 
CExCI 2 
FEI 30 

F1,169,504 ¥ 1,264,270 ¥ 1,6 19,779 

SNMRC, CExCI and FEI were in gross and net taxable loss positions in 2013. 

The reconciliation between the provisions for (benefit from) income tax computed at the statutory 
income tax rates and the provision for (benefit from) income tax at the effective tax rates as shown 
in the consolidated statements of income follow: 

2013 2012 2011 
Income tax at statutory rates from 

non PEZA registered 
activities F1,785,374 ¥ 1,899,359 ¥ 2,31 2,252 

Income tax at statutory rates from 
PEZA registered activities (4,554) 4,729 934 

Add (deduct) tax effects of: 
Dividend income exempted 

from tax (534,152) (732,575) (533,019) 

(Forward) 
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2013 2012 2011 
Movements in deductible 

temporary differences for 
which deferred income 
taxes were recognized (¥73,938) (¥43, 111) ¥ 125,234 

Benefit from availment of 
optional standard 
deduction (56,877) (62,861) (372,062) 

Interest income subjected to 
final tax (46,247) (63,248) (56,393) 

Expired NOLCO and excess 
MCIT over RCIT 37,767 1,496 

Change in unrecognized 
deferred income tax 
assets 23,210 4,876 3,373 

Application of unrecognized 
deferred income tax asset 
onNOLCO (16,915) 

Non-deductible expenses 13,165 169,550 181,524 
Derecognized deferred 

income tax assets 188,184 33,869 
Other (2,618) (3 1,701) (9,697) 

Income tax at effective rates F1,124,215 ¥ 1,334,698 ¥ 1,686,0 15 

The components of the Group 's net deferred income tax assets and liabilities follow: 

2013 2012 2011 

Deferred income tax assets: 
NOLCO F135,139 ¥ 151,340 ¥214,882 
Allowance for : 

Inventory losses 112,276 112,507 121,046 
Impairment losses on trade 

and other receivables 9,216 16,301 67,862 
Impairment of advances to 

claim owners 4,947 4,947 6,420 
Impairment losses on 

property and equipment 
and deferred mine 
exploration costs 1,507 120 32,426 

Pension liability 83,722 40,960 47,120 
Valuation gains on AFS 

financial assets (36,727) (21,090) (1 ,327) 
Excess of MCIT over RCIT 26,330 11 ,936 
Provision for mine 

rehabilitation and 
decommissioning 25,123 21,232 23,222 

Um ealized foreign exchange 
losses (gains) - net (23,918) 12,603 (37,613) 

Deferred income 3,999 4,209 4,208 

(Forward) 
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Deferred income tax assets: 
Costs of share-based payment 

plan 
Undepleted asset retirement 

obligation 
Accrued SDtv1P costs 
Others 

Deferred income tax liabilities: 
Long-term stockpile inventory 
Asset revaluation surplus 
Share in cumulative translation 

adjustment (seeN ote 11) 
Pension asset 
Umealized foreign exchange 

gains- net 
Allowance for inventory losses 
Provis ion for mine 

rehabilitation and 
decommissioning 

Others 

2013 

P3,028 

(1,827) 
1,003 

625 
P344,443 

P351,029 
104,409 

30,790 

P486,228 

2012 

¥5,129 

(1 ,876) 
4,036 
2,543 

¥364,897 

¥421,580 
107,797 

17,095 

8,053 
(2,518) 

(1,143) 
( 413) 

¥550,45 1 

2011 

¥27,561 

3,579 
13,385 

(20,920) 
¥501,851 

¥461 ,479 
111,366 

13,139 

(359) 
¥585,625 

As at December 3 1, 2013 and 20 12, the Group has temporary differences on NOLCO amounting 
to ¥80.6 million and ¥786. 7 million, respectively, for which no deferred income tax asset was 
recognized as management expects that it is not probable that sufficient taxable income will be 
available against which the benefit of the deferred incom e tax asset can be utilized. 

As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Group, except for FEI, has NOL CO and excess MCIT 
over RCIT that can be claimed as deduction from future taxable income as follows: 

Year Incurred 
2011 
2012 
2013 

Year of Expiration 
201 4 
2015 
2016 

NOLCO 
¥99,994 
402, 125 

27,254 
¥529,373 

Excess MCIT over 
RCIT 

¥20 
11,938 
14,394 

¥26,352 

As at December 31 , 2013 and 2012, FEI has NOLCO that can be claimed as deduction from future 
taxable income as follows: 

Year Incurred 
2009 
2011 
2012 
2013 
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Year of Expiration 
2014 
2016 
2017 
2018 

NOLCO 
¥238 

208 
267 
136 

¥849 
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Movements in NOLCO are as follow: 

Balances at January 1 
Additions 
Expirations 
Applications 
Balances at December 31 

Movements in excess of MOT over RCIT are as follow: 

Balances at January 1 
Additions 
Expirations 
Balances at December 31 

34. Financial Instruments 

2013 
P1,291,186 

27,390 
(697,543) 

(90,811) 
P530,222 

2013 
P11,971 

14,394 
(13) 

P26,352 

2012 
¥859,334 

436,819 
(4,967) 

¥1,291,186 

2012 
¥39 

11,938 
(6) 

¥11,971 

The Group's main financial instruments are cash and cash equivalents, AFS financial assets and 
long-term debt. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise funds and maintain 
continuity of funding and financial flexibility for the Group. The Group has various other 
financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables, and cash held in escrow, :MRF, 
SD1.1P fund and long-term negotiable instrument under "Other noncurrent assets" and trade and 
other payables, which arise directly from its operations and investing activities. 

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk. The BOD reviews and approves policies for managing each of these risks and they 
are summarized below. 

Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a fmancial instrument 
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its 
operating activities (primarily for trade receivables) and from its investing activities, including 
deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial 
instruments. 

The Group trades only with recognized, reputable and creditworthy third parties and/or transacts 
only with institutions and/or banks which have demonstrated financial soundness. It is the 
Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit 
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with 
the result that the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant. Except for those impaired 
trade and other receivables, the Group assessed the loans and receivables as collectible and in 
good standing. 
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In managing credit risk on these investments, capital preservation is paramount. The Group 
transacts only with recognized and creditworthy counterparties. For investments in debt 
instruments, funds are invested in highly recommended, creditworthy debt instruments that 
provides satisfactory interest yield and capital appreciation. Investments in foreign and local 
equity funds are made in mutual funds with investments in A-rated companies with good dividend 
track record as well as capital appreciation. The investment portfolio mix between debt and 
equities is reviewed regularly by the Chief Finance Officer. 

Since the Group trades only with recognized third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. 

Credit Risk Exposure 
With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
AFS financial assets and cash held in escrow :tvlRF, SD:tvfP fund and long-term negotiable 
instrument under "Other noncurrent assets", the Group's exposure to credit risk arises from default 
of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. 

Credit Quality and Aging Analyses ofFinancialAssets 
The credit quality and aging analysis of the Group's financial assets as at December 31, 2013 and 
2012 are summarized in the following tables: 

Neither 
Past Due Nor Past Due But Past Due and 

Impaired Not Impaired Individually 
2013 (High) (30-180 da:ys) Im~aired Total 
Cash and cash equivalents: ¥10,226,439 tL tL ¥10,226,439 

Cash with banks 4,973,946 4,973,946 
Short-term cash investments 5,252,493 5,252,493 

Trade and other receivables: 776,295 38,943 815,238 
Trade 628,418 26,150 654,568 
Receivable from CBNC 50,049 50,049 
Amounts owed by related parties 9,212 9,212 
Others 88,616 12,793 101,409 

AFS financial assets: 2,438,938 2,438,938 
Quoted debt securities 1,318,364 1,318,364 
Quoted equity securities 201,830 201,830 
Unquote.d equity securities 918,744 918,744 

Other noncurrent assets: 237,584 237,584 
MRE 125,467 125,467 
Cash held in escrow 65,118 65,118 
Long-term negotiable instruments 30,000 30,000 
SDMPfund 16,999 16,999 

¥13,679,256 tL ¥38,943 ¥13,718,199 
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Neither Past Due But Past Due and 
Past Due Nor Not Impaired Individually 

2012 Impaired (High) (30-180 days) Impaired Total 
Cash and cash equivalents: ¥9,262,795 fL fL ¥9,262,795 

Cash with banks 636,961 636,961 
Short-term cash investments 8,625,834 8,625,834 

Trade and other receivables: 509,229 309,514 43,686 862,429 
Trade 229,199 306,631 32,436 568,266 
Receivable from CBNC 73,429 73,429 
Amounts owed by related parties 14,251 14,251 
Notes receivable 76,278 76,278 
Others 116,072 2,883 11,250 130,205 

AFS financial assets: 2,128,038 2,128,038 
Quoted debt securities 1,020,750 1,020,750 
Quoted equity securities 188,544 188,544 
Unquoted equity securities 918,744 918,744 

Other noncurrent assets: 231,079 231,079 
MRF 134,288 134,288 
Cash held in escrow 64,228 64,228 
Long-term negotiable instruments 30,000 30,000 
SDMP fund 2,563 2,563 

fl12, 131,141 fl309,514 fl43,686 fl12,484,341 

Credit Quality of Financial Assets 
The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using credit ratings and is classified 
into three: High grade, which has no history of default; Standard grade, which pertains to accounts 
with history of one or two defaults; and Substandard grade, which pertains to accounts with 
history of at least three (3) payment defaults. 

Accordingly, the Group has assessed the credit quality of the following financial assets classified 
as neither past due nor impaired: 

• Cash and cash equivalents, cash held in escrow, :MRF and SDMP fund are placed in various 
foreign and local banks. The rest are held by various foreign banks having a Standard and 
Poor's credit rating of at least A Material amounts are held by local banks, as approved by 
the BOD, that have good reputation and low probability of insolvency. Management assesses 
the quality of these assets as high grade. 

• Trade receivables and receivable from CBNC pertain to receivables from customers which 
have good financial capacity and with which the Group has already established a long 
standing relationship. Management assesses the quality of these assets as high grade. Trade 
and other receivables not foreseen to be collected are classified as sub-standard grade. 

• Amounts owed by related parties are advances that are due and demandable. The related 
parties are operating firms capable of repaying the amount due. Management assesses the 
quality of these assets as high grade. 

• Management assesses the quality of other receivables as high grade since amounts pertam to 
receivables from customers which have good financial capacity and with whom the Group has 
already established a long outstanding relationship. The other receivables also include 
amounts owed by officers and employees that are operational advances in nature. These 
operational advances are collected subsequently. 

• AFS financial assets in debt securities and equity securities are investments that can be traded 
and from companies with good financial capacity, making the investment secured and 
realizable. Management assesses the quality of these assets as high grade. 

118 ANNUAL REPORT 2013 



• Long-term negotiable instrument is an investment placed in a local bank with good financial 
capacity and with low probability of insolvency. Management assessed the quality of this 
asset as high grade. 

Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group may encounter difficulties in raising funds 
to meet commitments from financial instruments. 

The Group' s objective is to maintain sufficient funding to finance its exploration and mining 
activities through internally generated funds and advances from related parties. The Group 
considers its available funds and its liquidity in managing its long-term financial requirements. 
For its short-term funding, the Group' s policy is to ensure that there are sufficient capital inflows 
to match repayments of short-term debt. 

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group's fmancialliabilities as at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 based on contractual undiscounted payments. 

Less Than 
Three (3) 

2013 On Demand Months 
Trade and other payables 

T rade P274,770 P179,385 
Accrued expenses 35,371 105,761 
Retention payable 
Others 19,889 

Long-term debt 
Princi pal 
Interes t 

P310 141 P305 035 

Less Than 
Tlrree (3) 

20 12 On Demand Months 
Trade and other payables 

Trade ~298,976 ~88,950 

Accrued expenses 112,537 82, 174 
Retention payable 
Others 26,11 0 17,730 

Long-term debt 
Principal 22,39 1 
Interest 764 

P437,623 ~2 12,009 
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Three (3) to 
Twelve (12) 

Months 

P21,816 
100,090 

14,420 

117,469 
25141 

P278 936 

Three (3) to 
Twelve ( 12) 

Months 

P 14,865 
59,450 

94,228 
28, 106 

~196,649 

More Than 
One (1) Year 

P-

34,168 

1,421 ,128 
481 592 

P1 936,888 

More Than 
One (1) Year 

~59 

239 
446 

1,422,670 
662,088 

~2.085,902 

Total 

P475,971 
241 ,222 

34,168 
34,309 

1,538,597 
506 733 

P2 831 000 

Total 

~03,250 

254,400 
446 

43,840 

1,539,289 
690,958 

~2.932, 1 83 
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The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group's financial assets used to manage 
liquidity risk of the Group as at December 31, 2013 and 2012. 

Less Than Three (3) to 
Three (3) Twelve (12) More Than 

2013 On Demand Months Months One {1} Year Total 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash on hand and with 
banks P4,981,843 P- P- P- P4,981,843 

Short-term cash 
investments 5,252,493 5,252,493 

Trade and other receivables 
Trade 499,028 74,857 22,042 32,491 628,418 
Receivable from CBNC 50,049 50,049 
Amounts owed by related 

parties 9,212 9,212 
Others 74,483 2,729 154 11,250 88,616 

AFS financial assets 
Quoted debt securities 1,318,364 1,318,364 
Quoted equity securities 201,830 201,830 
Unquoted equity securities 918,744 918,744 

Other noncurrent assets 
MRF 125,467 125,467 
Cash held in escrow 65,118 65,118 
Long-term negotiable 

instruments 30,000 30,000 
SDMPfund 16,999 16,999 

P13 513 630 P77 586 P22 196 P73 741 P13 687153 

Less Than Three (3) to 
Three (3) Twelve (12) More Than 

2012 On Demand Months Months One {1) Year Total 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash on hand and with 
banks P637,617 P- P- P--- P637,617 

Short-term cash investments 8,625,834 8,625,834 
Trade and other receivables 

Trade 229,199 306,63 1 535,830 
Receivable from CBNC 73,429 73,429 
Am01mts owed by related 

parties 14,251 14,25 1 
N ctes receivable 76,278 76,278 
Others 116,072 2,883 11 8,955 

AF S financial assets 
Quoted debt securities 1,020,750 1,020,750 
U nquoted equity securities 918,744 918,744 
Quoted equity securities 188,544 188,544 

Other noncurrent assets 
MRF 134,288 134,288 
Cash held in escrow 64,228 64,228 
Long-term negotiable 

instnunents 30,000 30,000 
SDMP fimd 2,563 2,563 

P12, 101,797 P309,5 14 P- P30,000 Pl2,441,311 

Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk of loss to future earnings, to fair values or to future cash flows that may 
result from changes in the price of a financial instrument. The value of a financial instrument may 
change as a result of changes in foreign currency exchanges rates, commodity prices, interest 
rates, equity prices and other market changes. 
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Foreign Currency Risk 
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposure arises from cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and other receivables, AFS financial assets, trade and other payables and long­
term debt. For its foreign currency-denominated trade receivables, the Group ensures timely 
follow-up and collection to mitigate the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations. 

To mitigate the effects of foreign currency risk, the Group will seek to accelerate the collection of 
foreign currency-denominated receivables and the settlement of foreign currency-denominated 
payables and loans, whenever practicable. Also, foreign exchange movements are monitored on a 
daily basis. 

The Group' s foreign currency-denominated financial assets and liabilities and their Philippine 
peso equivalents as at December 31 , 2013 and 2012 are as follows: 

2013 2012 
US$ Peso US$ Peso 

Amount Eguivalent Amount Eguivalent 

Financial assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents $59,395 P2,636,863 $14,956 ¥613,924 
Trade and other receivables 11,526 538,074 13,449 552,075 
AFS financial assets 17,063 757,510 10,302 422,897 

$87,984 P3,932,447 $38,707 ¥ 1,588,896 

Financial liabilities: 
Trade and other payables $1,434 P63,422 $1,230 ¥50,503 
LonB-term debt 34,657 1,538,598 37,498 1,539,289 

$36,091 P1,602,020 $38,728 ¥ 1,589,792 

The exchange rate used for conversion of US$ 1.00 to peso equivalent was ¥44.40 and ¥41.05 as at 
December 3 1, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

The sen">itivity of all the Group's financial instruments to a reasonably possible change in the 
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's income before income tax 
(due to changes in fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) as at December 3 1, 2013 and 2012 
follows: 

Peso (Strengthens) Sensitivity to 
Weakens 12retax income 

2013 P0.70 P36,325 
(0.55) (28,541) 

2012 ¥0.72 (¥15) 
(0.75) 16 

There is no other impact on the Group's equity other than those already affecting the consolidated 
statements of income. 

Interest Rate Risk 
The Group's exposure to the risk for changes in market interest rate relates to AFS quoted debt 
and floating-rate long-term debt. 
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Floating rate instruments expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk, whereas, fixed interest 
rate instruments expose the Group to fair value risk. The Group regularly monitors the market 
interest rate movements and manages its interest rate risks by using a mix of fixed and variable 
rates. 

The following tables set out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group's financial instrument 
that is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk: 

2013 <1,rear 1-5l'ears >5 ,rears Total 
Floating rate (LIBOR plus 2% 

spread) - long-term debt F117,469 F527,679 F893,449 F1,538,597 

2012 <1 year 1-5 years >5 years Total 
Floating rate (LIBOR plus 2% 

spread)- long-term debt ¥116,619 ¥524,701 ¥897,969 ¥1,539,289 

Management believes that cash generated from operations is sufficient to pay for its obligations 
under the loan agreements as they fall due. As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the interest on the 
Group's long-term debt is repriced on a 180-day basis. 

The sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the interest rate (in basis points), with all 
other variables held constant, of the Group's income before income tax and equity as at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 are as follows: 

Change 
in interest 1·ate 

(in basis points) 
December 31, 2013 

Long-term debt +100 
-100 

AFS financial assets +100 
-100 

December 31, 201 2 
Long-term debt +100 

-1 00 

AF S fmancial assets +100 
-1 00 

Sensitivity to 
income before 

income tax 

(15,386) 
15,386 

(15,393) 
15,393 

Sensitivity 
to equity 

(37,923) 
37,923 

(31,31 1) 
31,311 

The impact on the Group's income before income tax is caused by changes in the interest of the 
floating-rate long-term debt, while the impact on the Group's equity is caused by the changes in 
the market value of AFS quoted debt due to interest rate movements. The impact on the Group's 
equity excludes the impact on transactions affecting the consolidated statement of income. 

Equity Price Risk 
Equity price risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from changes in stock prices relating to 
its quoted equity securities. The Group' s exposure to equity price risk relates primarily to its AFS 
financial assets on various stocks of listed companies. 
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The Group's policy is to maintain the risk to an acceptable level. Movement of share price is 
monitored regularly to determine impact on its financial position. 

The table shows the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in equity prices on 
AFS equity instruments as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, except equity-linked investments. 

The equity impact is arrived using the reasonably possible change of the relevant market indices 
and the specific adjusted beta of each stock the Group holds. Adjusted beta is the forecasted 
measure of the volatility of a security or a portfolio in comparison to the market as a whole. 

2013 

2012 

Average change 
in market indices 

(in percentage) 
22.23% 

-22.23% 

22.23% 
-22.23% 

Sensitivity 
to equity 

18,393 
(18,393) 

16,182 
(16,182) 

The stocks of the AFS financial assets are traded in the following markets: Hang Sheng Index, 
Luxembourg StockMarket, PSE and Standard & Poor's 500. 

Capital Management 
The Group considers its equity as capital. Its primary objective in capital management is to 
maintain a strong credit rating in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value. 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new shares 
or declare dividend payments to shareholders. N o changes were made in the objectives, policies 
or processes during the years ended December 31 , 2013 and 2012. 

The Group monitors capital using the debt-to-equity ratio, which is total liabilities divided by 
equity. The Group's policy is to keep the debt-to-equity ratio to not more than 1:1. Total 
liabilities include trade and other payables, income tax payable, deferred income, long-term debt, 
provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning, deferred income tax liabilities- net and 
pension liability. 

The Group considers the following as capital: 

Capital stock 
Additional paid-in capital 
Net valuation gains on AFS financial assets 
Cost of share-based payment plan 
Asset revaluation surplus 
Share in cumulative translation adjustment 
Retained earnings: 

Appropriated 
Unappropriated 

Non-controlling interests 
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2013 201 2 
1!1,266,780 ¥1,013,938 

8,151,603 8,117,558 
99,506 65 ,199 
49,524 57,464 
33,629 34,012 

140,201 (136,909) 

1,000,000 
9,748,905 9,725,164 
4,721,640 4,705,278 

1!25,211,788 ¥ 23,581 ,704 
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The table below shows the Group's debt-to-equity ratio as at December 31, 2013 and 2012. 

T otai liabilities (a) 
Equity (b) 
Debt-to-equity ratio (a/b) 

35. Financial Instruments 

2013 
F3,701,740 
25,211,788 

0.15:1 

2012 
¥3,597,513 
23,581 ,704 

0.15: l 

The management assessed that the following financial instruments approximate their carrying 
amounts based on the methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair values: 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value due to the 
short-term nature and maturity of these financial instruments. 

Trade and Other Receivables and Trade and Other Payables 
Similarly, the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables 
approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these accounts. 

Cash held in Escrow, MRF, SDMP Fund and Long-term Negotiable Instrument 
The carrying amount of cash held in escrow, SDMP fund and MRF approximate their fair values 
since they are restricted cash with banks, which earns interest based on prevailing market rates 
repriced monthly. The long-term negotiable instrument also approximates its fair value since it 
earns interest based on long-term cash investment rate. 

AFS Financial Assets 
The fair values were determined by reference to market bid quotes as at the end of the reporting 
period. For unquoted equity securities for which no reliable basis of fair value measurement is 
available, these are carried at cost, less any impairment losses. 

Long-term Debt 
The fair values of long-term debt is based on the present value of future cash flows discounted 
using applicable risk free rates for similar types of loans adjusted for credit risk. 

Fair Value Hierarchv of Financial Instruments 
As at December 31 , 2013 and 2012, the following table presents the level of hierarchy of the 
Company's AFS debt and equity instruments : 

Financial Assets 
AFS financial assets 

Levell 

Quoted debt securities 1'1,318,364 

Quoted equity securities 202,047 
Unquoted equity 

securities 

1'1,520,411 

2013 

Level2 

P-

P-

Level3 Levell 

P- Pl,023,750 

185,76 1 

918,527 

1'918,527 Pl ,209,511 

20 12 

Level 2 Level 3 

918,527 

P9 18,527 

As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair 
value measurements and no transfers into and out ofLev el 3 fair value measurements. 
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36. Significant Agreements 

a. Throughput Agreement with THNC 
On October 4, 2010, TMC and THNC, a Philippine corporation, executed a Throughput 
Agreement wherein TMC will construct the pier facilities within the TSEZ pursuant to its role 
as Developer. The TSEZ is located within the Surigao Mineral Reservation, an area declared 
for mineral development pursuant to Proclamation 391, under the supervision of the 
Department of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR) that issued an "Order to Use 
Offshore Area" dated September 20, 2010 to TMC for the use of such portion of the Surigao 
Mineral Reservation for the construction of the pier facilities. In relation to this, THNC 
entered into a Registration Agreement with the Philippine Export Zone Authority (PEZA) to 
construct and operate a mineral processing plant within the T SEZ as an Ecozone Export 
Enterprise. 

Under the agreement, TMC will make available the pier facilities and provide certain services 
to THNC in consideration for usage fees and service fees to be paid by the latter starting 
April 2011 until2031, unless terminated earlier. The usage fee amounted to $1,360,000 for 
each semi-annual period to be paid on or before October 10 and April 10. 

THNC also agrees to pay service fee that will be agreed upon by both parties which shall be 
billed on a monthly basis. 

Prior to the commencement date, THNC may also request TMC to use any part of the 
constructed Pier Facilities, which is ready for use, upon payment of reasonable compensation 
which shall be mutually agreed by TMC and THNC. 

b. Throughput Agreement with CBNC 
Under the agreement, CBNC shall pay RTN the price which consists of all its direct costs for 
the pier facilities which includes but not limited to, financial costs, maintenance costs and tax 
as well as indirect costs directly used for the pier facilities and the serv ices as agreed by the 
parties. CBNC shall pay to RTN in US dollars, as a part of such financial costs, the amounts 
to be paid by RTN to SMM such as interests and loan repayments pursuant to the Omnibus 
Agreement made and entered into by and between RTN and SMM. The agreement shall 
continue for twenty-five (25) years after November 25, 2002 unless terminated earlier. 

c. Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
On September 14, 2009, the Parent Company and TMC entered into a MOU with SMM. 
Pursuant to the terms thereof, the Parent Company and SMM will move ahead on a joint 
venture basis to build a nickel-cobalt processing plant (the Project) using the HP AL 
technology adjacent to TMC's mine in Surigao del Norte, while TMC will supply low-grade 
nickel ore to the plant over the life ofthe Proj ect. The estimated cost of the Project is 
$1.42 billion which is further increased to$ 1.59 billion, over a three-year construction period, 
which started in the last quarter of 2010. The plant will have an annual capacity of 30,000 
tons of contained nickel over an estimated 30-year project life. The MOU provides that the 
equity share of the Company and SMM shall be 20%-25% and 75%-80%, respectively. 

Following the MOU is the Taganito HPAL Stockholders Agreement (the Agreement) entered 
into by the Parent Company, SMM and Mitsui, on September 15, 2010 stating that the Project 
will be undertaken by THNC, a company that will be jointly owned by the Company, SMM 
and Mitsui with equity interest of 22.5%, 62.5% and 15.0%, respectively. The said 
Agreement contains the principal terms of an ore supply agreement to be entered into between 
THNC and TMC for the supply of limonite ore. 
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It also sets forth the respective rights and obligations of the Parent Company, S:M:M and 
Mitsui, including their responsibilities in respect of financing the US$1, 420.0 million project 
investment that will be undertaken by THNC. 

As at December 31 , 2013, the Parent Company, SMM and Mitsui made additional investment 
of US$287. 2 million in the form of loans to THNC. S:M:M had agreed to substitute for the 
Parent Company to make these loans for which the latter pays guarantee service fee. 

On October 4, 2013, the Parent Company, S:M:M and Mitsui agreed to extend another loan of 
US$90.0 million to THNC for the construction of the tailings dam. No drawdown was made 
on this loan as at December 31 , 2013. 

d. Sales Agreements 

Nickel Ore Sale Agreement with PAMCO and Sojitz (see Note 31a) 

Nickel Ore Supply and Service Agreement with CBNC (see Note 31 a) 

Nickel Ore Supply Agreement with THNC (see Note 31a) 

Nickel Ore Sale Agreement with SMM (see Note 31a) 

Nickel Ore Supply Agreements with Chinese customers 
HMC, CMC, RTN and TMC have ore supply agreements with a number of Chinese 
customers, each for a fixed tonnage at specific nickel grades and iron content. The fixed 
tonnage of ore is generally the volume of expected delivery within a few months. Sale of ore 
to Chinese customers amounted to ¥7.4 billion, ¥ 7.4 billion and ¥ 7.8 billion for the years 
ended December 31 , 2013, 2012 and 20 11, respectively. 

Ma terials Handling Agreement with THNC (see Note 31a) 

e. Mining Agreements 

MPSA 

RTN 
On June 4, 1998, the Philippine Governm ent (the Government) approved the conversion of 
RTN's M ining Lease Contracts under the old mining regime into an MPSA with the 
Government pursuant to the Philippine M ining Act of 1995. The MPSA allows RTN to 
explore, develop and continue mining operations for nickel ore within the Contract Area 
covering 990 hectares in the Municipality of Bataraza, southern Palawan Island. Under 
RTN' s Environm ental Compliance Certificate, however, 144 hectares of the Contract Area are 
excluded from mining operations, being located within an area classified as "core zone" where 
mining is prohibited under current regulations of the Palawan Council for Sustainable 
Development (PCSD). 

On April 28, 2005, RTN and the Government entered into a second MPSA covering 
85 h ectares in the Municipality of Bataraza, which allows RTN to mine limestone in Sit io 
Gotok. Lim estone being mined by RTN pursuant to this second MPSA is being sold to CBNC 
and used at the Coral Bay HPAL plant. 
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Under both MPSAs, RTN pays a two percent (2%) excise tax on gross revenues as provided in 
the Philippine National International Revenue Code as the Government's share in its output. 
Both MPSAs are valid for twenty five (25) years from issuance and renewable for another 
term of not more than twenty-five (25) years at the option ofRTN, with approval from the 
Government. 

On June 20, 2003, RTN submitted an Application for MPSA covering previously approved 
Mining Lease Contracts over an area of 4,274 hectares within the Municipalities of Bataraza 
and Rizal. Most of the contract area is within the core zone and the application is pending. On 
May 30, 2008, the PCSD issued a resolution interposing no objections to the revision by the 
Municipality of Bataraza of its Environmentally Critical Areas Network map that, among 
others, seeks to reclassify the core zone within the Contract Area into a mineral development 
area. The reclassification was approved by the Municipal Development Council of the 
Municipality ofBataraza on November 18, 2009, and subsequently approved by the Provincial 
Board on January 5, 2010. The processing of the Application for MPSA by the MGB is 
consequently under way. 

HMC 
Tagana-an Nickel Project 
On July 25, 2008, the Government approved the conversion of HNIC's Mining Lease Contract 
into an MPSA, which allows HMC to explore, develop and continue mining operations for 
nickel ore within the Contract Area covering 773.77 hectares in the Municipality of 
Tagana-an, Surigao del Norte. Under the MPSA, HMC pays the Government a two percent 
(2%) excise tax and a five percent (5%) royalty on gross revenues, as the Contract Area is 
within the Surigao 11ineral Reservation. The MPSA is valid for twenty-five (25) years from 
issuance and renewable at the option of HMC, with approval from the Government. 

Manicani Nickel Project 
On August 13, 1992, HMC and the Government entered into an :tvlPSA, which allows HMC to 
explore, develop and mine nickel ore within the Contract Area covering 1,165 hectares in 
Manicani Island, Municipality of Guiuan, Eastern Samar. Under the MPSA, HMC shall pay 
the Government a two percent (2%) excise tax, a one percent (1 %) royalty and ten percent 
(10%) of its net revenues, defined as gross revenues less all cost items that are deductible for 
income tax purposes. The MPSA is valid for twenty-five (25) years from issuance and 
renewable at the option of HMC, with approval from the Government. 

On August 2, 2004, the Regional Panel of Arbitrators of the MGB recommended the 
cancellation of the MPSA as a result of allegations by third parties against the operations of 
HMC. On September 4, 2009, the Mines and Adjudication Board of the DENR issued a 
decision setting aside the decision of the Panel of Arbitrators. Hence, the MPSA remains in 
effect. HMC is currently not conducting mining operations inManicani. 

On July 30, 2010, HMC and SNMRC entered into a Deed of Assignm ent and Transfer of 
Rights whereas HMC shall transfer all its rights, title and interest in Manicani Operations to 
SNMRC. As of December 31, 2013, HMC is still the effective holder of MPSA-012-92-VIII . 
Transfer of the MPSA is still pending approval from MGB though Deed of Assigmnent was 
already executed between HMC and SNMRC. 
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TMC 
On July 28, 2008, the Govermnent approved the conversion of TMC's Operating Lease 
Contract into an :MPSA, which allows TMC to explore, develop and continue mining 
operations for nickel ore within the Contract Area covering 4,584.51 hectares in the 
Municipality of Claver, Surigao del Norte. On June 18, 2009, the :MPSA was amended, 
increasing the Contract Area to 4,862.71 hectares. 

Under the MPSA, TMC pays the Government a two percent (2%) excise tax and a five percent 
(5%) royalty, as the Contract Area is within the Surigao Mineral Reservation. The :MPSA is 
valid for twenty-five (25) years from issuance and renewable at the option of TMC, with 
approval from the Government. 

Operating Agreements 

La Salle 
On December 18, 2006, TMC entered into an Operating Agreement with La Salle, the holder 
of an Application for MPSA covering 6,824 hectares in the Municipality of Gigaquit, Surigao 
del Norte. The Operating Agreement allows TMC to explore, develop and mine nickel ore 
and limestone once the :MPSA is approved, and obliges it to assist La Salle in obtaining the 
JviPSA and to comply with the terms thereof once issued. 

The Operating Agreement specifies a royalty to La Salle of five percent (5%) for nickel ore 
and ¥10.00 per metric ton for limestone. Upon signing of the Agreement, TMC made an 
advance royalty payment of P1.0 million repayable by deductions from future royalties at a 
rate of twenty five percent (25%) per year over a period of four ( 4) years. As at 
December 31 , 2013, the :MPSA remains pending. 

Kepha 
On February 14, 2007, TMC entered .into an Operating Agreement with Kepha, the holder of 
:MPSA no. 284-2009-XII-SMR covering 6,980.75 hectares in the Municipality of Claver, 
Surigao del Norte. The Operating Agreement allows TMC to explore, develop and mine 
nickel ore and limestone and obliges it to comply with the terms of the MPSA. 

The Operating Agreement specifies a royalty to Kepha of five percent (5%) for nickel ore and 
¥10.00 per metric ton for limestone. Upon signing of the Agreement, TMC made an advance 
of $1.0 million and P6.3 million, repayable by deductions from future royalties at a rate often 
percent (1 0%) per year over a period of ten (1 0) years. 

On June 19, 2009, the MPSA was issued to Kepha. Under the terms thereof, upon the start of 
mining operations, TMC shall pay the Govermnent a two percent (2%) excise tax and a 
five percent (5%) royalty, as the Contract Area is within the Surigao Mineral Reservation. 
The MPSA is valid for twenty-five (25) years from issuance and renewable at the option of 
Kepha, with approval from the Government. There were drilling activities related to the 
Kepha project .in 2013 

Ludgoron 
On August 28, 2007, TMC entered into an Operating Agreement with Ludgoron, the holder of 
an :MPSA with Government issued on July 27, 2007 covering a Contract Area of 
3,248 hectares in the Municipality of Carrascal, Surigao del Sur. The Operating Agreement 
allows TMC to explore, develop and mine nickel ore and obliges it to comply with the terms 
of the :MPSA. 
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Under the :MPSA, upon the start of mining operations TMC shall pay the Government a 
two percent (2%) excise tax and a five percent (5%) royalty, as the Contract Area is within the 
Surigao Mineral Reservation. The :tviPSA is valid for twenty-five (25) years from issuance 
and renewable at the option ofLudgoron, with approval from the Government. 

Under the Operating Agreement, TMC shall pay Ludgoron a royalty of five percent (5%). 
Upon signing of the Agreement, TMC made an advance royalty payment of $1.0 million, 
repayable by deductions from future royalties at a rate of ten percent (1 0%) per year over a 
period of ten (1 0) years. In 2009, an additional advances against royalties amounting to 
¥10.0 million was made in order to allow Ludgoron to settle a claims conflict. There were no 
drilling activities related to the Ludgoron project in 2013. 

East Coast 
On November 19, 1997, CMC entered into an Operating Agreement with East Coast, the 
holder of an :MPSA with the Government issued on November 19, 1997 covering a Contract 
Area of 697.05 hectares in the Municipality of Cagdianao, Dinagat Islands. The Operating 
Agreement allows CMC to explore, develop and mine nickel ore and obliges it to comply with 
the terms of the :tviPSA. 

Under the :MPSA, CMC pays the Government a two percent (2%) excise tax and a five percent 
(5%) royalty, as the Contract Area is within the Surigao Mineral Reservation. Under the 
Operating Agreement, CMC also pays East Coast a royalty of seven percent (7%), net of 
withholding taxes. 

The Operating Agreement expired on November 19, 2007 and was renewed for a period often 
(10) years. In consideration, East Coast was paid ¥100.0 million upon signing of the 
extension, and ¥100.0 million as advances against future royalties, repayable over a ten-year 
period at a rate of ¥10.0 million per year. The :MPSA is valid for twenty-five (25) years from 
issuance and renewable at the option of East Coast, with approval from the Government. 

A Mutual Rescission of the above Memorandum of Agreement was executed on 
March 12, 2012, wherein East Coast and CMC mutually agreed to terminate the MOA and to 
release each other from any and all responsibilities and liabilities thereunder. 

On July 29, 2013, East Coast and CMC entered into an agreement to reduce for one-year 
period the marketing and royalty fees. Royalty payments to East Coast reduced from 7% (net 
of withholding taxes) to 5% during this period. Advances against future royalties, to which 
royalty payment shall be credited was also reduced from ¥10.0 million per year to 
¥3.6 million and ¥6.4 million in 2013 and 2014, respectively. 

The commission expense related to East Coast that is reported under marketing amounted to 
¥27.4 million and ¥54.8 million in 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

BOA 
CMC holds :MPSA 241-2007-XIII-SMR- Norweah Metals and Minerals Company Inc. of the 
BOA exploration which was granted an :tviPSA on July 12, 2007 for a period of 25 years and 
renewable upon such terms and conditions as may be mutually agreed upon. The :tviPSA 
covers an area of 226.0235 hectares situated in Boa, Municipality of Cagdianao, Province of 
Dinagat Islands, Surigao del Norte. 
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A Memorandum of Agreement was executed on October 12, 2004 between Norweah and 
CMC for a term of ten (1 0) years from the approval of the :tv!PSA, whereby N orweah granted 
CMC exclusive rights to explore, develop, exploit and operate the mineral property subject of 
the :tv!PSA. 

f. Loan Guarantee/Substitution Agreement 

RTN 
Under a loan guarantee service agreement dated October 22, 2002 between RTN and SMM, 
the latter agreed to satisfy RTN's CBNC loan obligations in consideration of the payment by 
RTN to SMM of an annual fee equal to one percent (1 %) of the relevant outstanding amount. 

The fee is -payable every February 21 and August 20 of each year. In case of default, such 
loan guarantee service agreement will be terminated and RTN shall provide loans to CBNC or 
guarantee the repayment of CBNC's loans payable. Failure to provide such loans or guarantee 
shall be considered a default under the CBNC Stockholder Agreement. 

The loan guarantee service fee amounting to ¥0.9 million, ¥1.3 million and ¥1.7 million in 
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, is recorded under "Finance expense" in the consolidated 
statements of income (see Note 28). 

NAC 
Under a loan guarantee/substitution agreement dated December 9, 2011 between NAC and 
SJvfM, the latter agreed to substitute for NAC to make loans or guarantee the repayment of 
THNC pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement dated September 15, 2010. 

In consideration of the loans and guarantee made by SMM, NAC shall pay to SMM an annual 
fee equal to one percent (1 %) of the relevant outstanding amount, which is payable every 
February 21 and August 21 of each year. 

On December 18, 2013 and December 3, 2013, NAC and SMM entered into another loan 
guarantee/substitution agreement with respect to the new loan agreement made and entered by 
THNC and SMM on December 3, 2013 and January 31, 2013, respectively. The annual fee is 
also equal to 1% of the relevant outstanding amount, which is payable every March 21 and 
September 21 of each year. 

In case of default, such loan guarantee/substitution agreements will be terminated and NAC 
shall provide loans to THNC or guarantee the repayment of THNC's loans payable. Failure to 
provide such loans or guarantee shall be considered a default under the Stockholders' 
Agreement. 

The loan guarantee service fee amounted to ¥103.3 million, ¥82.7 million and ¥24.9 million 
in 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectively, is. recorded under "Finance expense" in the consolidated 
statements of income (see Note 28). 

g. Power Supply Agreement (PSA) with Surigao Del Norte Electric Cooperative. Inc. 
CSURNECO) 
On October 31,2013, the Company and SURNECO signed a fifteen (15) year PSA. Under 
the terms of the PSA, the Company has agreed to construct, operate, and maintain a ten (1 0) 
megawatts bunker-fired diesel power station under build-operate-transfer scheme and to 
supply electricity to SURNECO. 
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h. Participation and Shareholder's Agreement 
In May 2011 , NAC and SMM signed a Participation and Shareholders' Agreement containing 
terms of SMM' s expected equity participation in CExCL Under the terms of the Agreement, 
SMM will invest $1.5 million in CExCI for twenty five percent (25%) equity. Once such 
funds have been exhausted, SlAM has the option to invest $2.8 million for an additional 
fifteen percent (15%) equity which would bring its total equity in CExCI to forty percent 
(40%). 

L Marketing Agreement with Mitsubishi Corporation 
RTN, TMC, HMC, and CMC entered into a marketing agreement with Mitsubishi 
Corporation, wherein they will provide set forth below: 
a) Mitsubishi will use its reasonable endeavors in collecting, studying and analyzing the 

market information related to nickel ore, iron ore, nickel pig iron, and stainless steel; 
b) Mitsubishi will report market information defined in the marketing agreement; 
c) Mitsubishi will make efforts to introduce customers to RTN, TMC, HMC and CMC and 

provide support to both of Companies in negotiating the price and terms and conditions 
of sales contracts of the products by and between the Companies and customers; and 

d) Mitsubishi will monitor and assess trends of customers and support RTN, TMC, HMC 
and CMC to create an effective pricing strategy and marketing plan. 

Marketing expense of three and a half percent (3.5%) shall be charged to RTN, TMC, HMC 
and CMC based on the total amount of revenue on free-on-board price stated in the invoices 
issued by RTN, TMC, HMC and CMC to each customer. 

J Other Agreements 
Registration with PEZ4 
On December 21, 2009, Presidential Proclamation No. 1966 was issued creating and 
establishing the 68 0-hectare area situated in Taganito, Municipality of Claver, Province of 
Surigao Del Norte to be known as TSEZ. TMC is a PEZA-registered operator/developer of 
the economic zone as per Certificate of Registration No. EZ 10-01. The certificate of 
registration was signed on January 7, 2010. 

Pursuant to TMC's registration with PEZA as an economic zone developer/operator, TMC is 
entitled to certain incentives in accordance with the provisions of RA No. 7916, otherwise 
known as "the Special Economic Zone Act of 1995", as amended. The proposed nickel-cobalt 
processing plant using the HPAL technology will be located within the TMC's mine site in 
Surigao del Norte. 

On January 9, 2013, PEZA issued a certification entitling TMC qualification for the purpose 
of VAT zero-rating of its transactions with local suppliers of goods, properties and services 
and exemption from all national and local taxes and licenses except real property taxes on land 
owned by TMC and those required to be paid under the MPSA dated July 28, 2008. In lieu 
thereof, TMC shall pay five percent (5%) final tax on gross income. The certification is valid 
from January 1 to December 31, 2013 and renewable annually, unless otherwise revoked or 
suspended by PEZA prior to expiration of said period. 

Under PEZA Board Resolution No. 11-08 dated March 1, 2011, its directors approved TMC's 
application for extension of its existing TSEZ. On July 28, 2011, pursuant to the resolution, 
the Governm ent issued Proclamation No. 211 designating parcels of land with an aggregate 
area of 7.5 hectares located at Barangay Taganito, municipality of Claver, Province of Surigao 
del Norte, for inclusion to the existing TSEZ. 
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On January 23, 2013, PEZA issued a Letter of Authority No. 13-0426 allowing TMC to 
allocate one (1) hectare lot within the TSEZ located at Barangay Taganito, Claver, 
Surigao del Norte as relocation site for the residents along Hayanggabon River, Barangay 
Hayanggabon, Claver, Surigao del Norte. 

Board of Investments (BOI) Certification 
In January 2013, TMC, RTN, HMC and CMC received BOI certifications pursuant to 
Revenue Memorandum Order No. 9-2000 entitled "Tax Treatment of Sales of Goods, 
Properties and Services made by VAT -registered Suppliers to BOI registered Manufacturers­
Exporters with 100% Export Sales". The certifications are valid from January 1 to 
December 31, 2013 and renewable annually, unless sooner revoked by the BOI Governing 
Board. 

Lease Agreement with THNC 
On October 31, 2013, TMC and THNC executed a lease agreement wherein TMC will lease 
the land within the TSEZ to the lessee. The TSEZ leased area of approximately 675 hectares 
located at Barangays Taganito and Hayanggabon, Claver, Surigao del Norte. The duration of 
the lease agreement shall be a period of twenty (20) years starting January 1, 2013, however, 
rental rate shall be annually agreed by both parties. 

Lease Contract with the DENR 
TMC is a party to a lease contract dated April 1 0, 2003 with the DENR over a tract of 
foreshore land located at the Taganito mine comprising an area of approximately 12,000 
square meters. The foreshore lease has a term of twenty-five (25) years from the date of issue, 
unless terminated earlier. The DENR may renew the foreshore lease for another 
twenty-five (25) years, at its option. In accordance with the foreshore lease, TMC constructed 
permanent improvements appropriate for the wharf to facilitate the barging of mine ore to 
customers' vessels. Under the terms of the lease, if TMC uses or attempts to use the premises 
for other purposes, all rights and interests, including the improvements, will be forfeited in 
favor of the Government. Upon the termination of the lease or any extension, all 
improvements made by TMC will become the property of the Government. 

Joint Undertaking with National Commission on Indigenous Peoples (NCIP) 
On December 8, 2009, TMC and NCIP entered into a Joint Undertaking, which confirmed that 
a one percent (1 %) royalty on annual gross revenues of TMC is payable to the Mamanwa 
Tribe pursuant to a Memorandum of Agreement dated July 18, 2006 between TMC, the NCIP 
and the Tribe and a Certificate of Ancestral Domain Title issued to the Tribe, within which 
area TMC's mining operation is located. 

37. Events after the Reporting Period 

Amendment of Articles of Incorporation 
On March 24, 2014, the Parent Company's BOD approved the amendment of its Articles of 
Incorporation to reflect the change in its principal office address to NAC Tower 32nd Street, 
Bonifacio Global City, Taguig, subject to the approval of the Parent Company's stockholders in 
June 2014. 

Increase in Authorized Capital Stock 
On March 6, 2014, TMC's BOD resolved, subject to the ratification of the shareholders, the 
increase in authorized capital stock from 2 billion to 5 billion common stock with par value of 
¥1.00 per share. 
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Dividend Declarations 
On March 24, 2014, the Parent Company' s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends 
amounting to ¥0.30 per share, to stockholders of record as at AprillO, 2014, which will be paid on 
May 8, 2014. 

On March 20, 2014, HMC's BOD declared cash dividends amounting to ¥1 ,034.2 million, 
equivalent to ¥2.00 per share, to stockholders of record as at February 28, 2014. The cash 
dividends will be paid in two tranches at 50% on each pay-out on June 30, 2014 and 
December 1, 2014. 

On March 6, 2014, TMC's BOD resolved, subject to the ratification of the shareholders, the 
declaration of one hundred percent (100%) stock dividends. The stock dividends shall be used as 
the subscribed and paid up portion to support the application for the increase in authorized capital 
stock of TMC. Also, the stock dividend shall be issued upon approval of the TMC 's application 
for increase of Authorized Capital Stock by the SEC. 

On February 26, 2014, RTN's BOD approved the declaration of its 58,749,999 shares in CBNC, 
with market value of¥1,418.7 million, to stockholders of record as at March 21, 2014, provided 
that all foreign shareholders as at February 28, 2014 shall receive cash dividends of ¥945.8 million 
in lieu of the property dividend, which will be paid on March 31, 2014. On March 28, 2014, SEC 
approved the property dividend declaration ofRTN. 

ESOP 
On March 24, 2014, the Company' s BOD approved the adoption of a new stock option plan for 
officers of the Company, its operating subsidiaries and Resident Mine Managers. Directors will 
likewise be eligible to participate in the plan. A total of 32 million shares of stock will be reserved 
for the plan, which will have a term offive (5) years, from 2014 to 201 9, and annual vesting rate 
of twenty-five percent (25%) of the entitlement shares. The first vesting date is one (1) year after 
the grant of the option. 

38. Supplemental Disclosure to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Noncash financing activity pertains to the declaration of stock dividend amounting to 
¥25 1.9 million and ¥335.6 million in 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

39. Business Segment Information 

The Group's operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature 
of the products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit 
that offers different products and serves different markets. 

The mining segment is engaged in the mining and exploration of nickel saprolite and limonite ore 
and limestone. 

The services segment is engaged in the chartering out of LCT, construction and rendering of 
services to CBNC and THNC. 
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Financial information on the operation of the various business segments are as follows : 

December 31, 2013 
Mining Services 

RTN/TMC/ 
HMC CMC TMC RTN LCSLC Others Eliminations Total 

External customers ~3,438,856 ~737,906 ~3,109,101 ~3,189,634 ~623,942 ~10,090 ~- ~11,109,529 

Inter-seS!!!ent revenues 72,637 434,953 (507,590) 
Total revenues (see Note 31) 3,438,856 737,906 3,109,101 3,189,634 696,579 445,043 (507,590) 11,109,529 
Cost of sales 927,692 422,058 1,122,846 2,016,698 4,489,294 
Co~t of services 335,292 335,292 
Shipping and loading costs 444,164 141,109 457,029 268,847 87,622 1,398,771 
Excise taxes and royalties 240,720 95,368 248,728 63,792 648,608 
Marketi~ 21,065 28,228 4,462 11,874 65,629 
Se~ent OJ!erating earnings ~1,805,215 ~51,143 ~1,276,036 ~28,423 ~73,665 ~445,043 ~507,590l ~4,171,935 

General and administrative ~66,117 ~34,038 ~110,899 ~111,172 ~12,156 ~90,437 ~- ~624,819 

Finance income ~14,332 ~2,515 ~15,683 ~49,750 ~12 ~84,461 ~- ~166,753 

Finance e;..'Pense ~5,327 ~3,450 n,oo7 ~6,896 ~2,267 ~103,351 ~- ~128,298 

Provision for (benefit from) income tax ~516,384 (~,787) ~350,677 ~47,190 ~7,589 ~11,162 IL ~1,124,215 

Net income (loss) attributable to equity holders of the 
parent ~1,473,262 ~21,554 ~640,531 ~595,162 (~98,064) (1'578,771) ~- ~2,053,674 

Segment assets ~1,943,798 ~954,295 ~6,708,837 ~7,740,945 ~263,195 ~10,958,015 IL ~28,569,085 

Deferred income tax assets- net 97,366 93,381 58,458 4,709 90,529 344,443 
Total assets ~2,041,164 ~1,047,676 ~6,767,295 ~7,745,654 ~263,195 ~11,048,544 ~- ~28,913,528 

Segment liabilities ~419,751 ~152,185 ~1,970,952 ~547,866 ~5,270 ~119,488 ~- J>3,215,512 
Deferred income tax liabilities- net 423,608 31,830 30,790 486,228 

l> Total liabilities ~419,751 ~152,185 ~1,970,952 ~71,474 ~37,100 ~150,278 ~- ~3,701,740 z 
z 
c 
l> Capital eXJJenditures ~346,186 ~114,084 ~1,256,229 ~129,461 ~28,009 ~57, 156 ~- ~1,931,125 r 
:u 
JT1 Depreciation, amortization and depletion ~123,760 ~72,484 ~336,736 ~488,985 ~174,003 ~66,683 ~- ~1,262,651 -o 
0 
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--< 

"' s 
w 



.... .. 
"" :;· 

"' :; 
0: .. 
:;· 
:Q .. 
"' -u 
0 
::J 

"' 0' ... 
:;:: 
:;· 
~ 
~ 
0 December 31, 2012, as restated .. 
<: 

Mini a .. Services 0 
-u RTN!fMC/ 3 .. HMC CMC TMC RTN LCSLC Others Elimination Total ~ 

External customers ¥2,881,204 ¥1,130,033 ¥3,093,866 ¥4,038,188 ¥444,202 ¥19,414 iL ¥ 11,606,907 
Inter -segment revenues 347,540 39,519 (387,059) 
Total revenues (see Note 31 ) 2,881 ,204 1,130,033 3,093,866 4,038,188 791,742 58,933 (387,059) 11,606,907 
Cost of sales 721,597 563,897 996,783 2,184,938 4,467,215 
Cost of services 260,399 260,399 
Shipping and loading costs 383,477 203,786 395,446 384,843 32,998 1,400,550 
Excise taxes and royalties 201,684 177,980 247,509 80,764 707,937 
Marketing 32,974 55,003 6,377 94,354 
Segment operating earnings ¥1 ,541,472 ¥129,367 ¥1,454,128 ¥1,381,266 ¥498,345 ¥ 58,933 ~¥387,059) ¥4,676,452 

General and administrative ¥72,567 ¥36,702 ¥ 109,956 ¥71,551 ¥7,686 ¥229,119 iL ¥527,581 

Finance income ¥25,456 ¥4,852 ¥35,363 ¥68,351 ¥17 ¥ 10 1,001 iL ¥235,040 

Finance expense ¥5,089 ¥2,779 ¥1 2,712 ¥11,233 ¥55 ¥82,668 iL ¥ 114,536 

Provision for (benefit from) income tax ¥455,332 ¥25,053 ¥369,150 ¥423,813 (¥8,742) ¥70,092 ¥- ¥ 1,334,698 

Net income (loss) attributable to equity holders 
of the parent ¥ 1,229,157 ¥147,592 ¥773,990 ¥890,414 (¥406,821) (¥427,1 22) ¥- ¥2,207,210 

Segment assets ¥1 ,564,307 ¥986,11 1 ¥5,866,492 ¥8,392,525 ¥238,090 ¥9,766,795 iL ¥26,814,320 
Deferred income tax assets - net 126,032 76,008 48,663 10,333 103,861 364,897 
Total assets ¥1 ,690,339 ¥ 1,062,119 ¥5,915,155 ¥8,392,525 ¥248,423 ¥9,870,656 iL ¥27,179,21 7 

Segment liabilities ¥309,247 ¥148,735 ¥1,840,039 ¥642,346 ¥39,3 19 ¥67,376 iL ¥ 3,047,062 
Deferred income tax liabilities - net 515,767 34 684 550,451 
Total liabilities ¥309,247 ¥148,735 ¥1,840,039 ¥ 1,158,113 ¥74,003 ¥67,376 iL ¥3,597,513 

Capital expenditures ¥ 284,377 ¥180,499 ¥84 1,322 ¥1 ,372,525 ¥30,972 ¥9,338 fL- ¥2,7 19,033 

Depreciation, amortization and depletion ¥72,606 ¥81,841 ¥300,579 ¥416,531 ¥47,263 ¥63,063 iL ¥ 981 ,883 
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Mining 
HMC CMC TMC 

External customers ¥1,790,727 ¥1,723,666 ¥2,75 1,941 
Inter-segment revenues 
Total revenues (see Note 31) 1,790,727 1,723,666 2,751,941 
Cost of sales 572,781 451,668 612,878 
Cost of services 
Shipping and loading costs 405,649 251,985 233,406 
Excise taxes and royalties 125,351 271,477 220,155 
Marketing 241 54,586 
Segment operating earnings P686,705 ¥693,950 ¥1,685,502 

General and administrative P70,315 P43,232 P112,673 

Finance income P6,152 P3,389 P29,705 

Finance expense P2,919 P3,327 P l 7,038 

Provision for (benefit from) income tax ¥167,250 ¥146,845 ¥43 1,437 

Net income (loss) attributable to equity holders 
of the parent ¥396,401 ¥346,029 P607,857 

Segment assets P1,575,261 P1 ,471,363 P4,942,039 
Deferred income tax assets - net 155,413 88,719 21,775 
Total assets ¥1,730,674 P1,560,082 P4,963,814 

Segment liabilities P359,657 P314,648 P l,876,741 
Deferred income tax liabilities - net 
Total liabilities ¥359,657 ¥314,648 P1,876,741 

Capital expenditures P117,134 P74,750 ¥805,329 

Depreciation, amortization and depletion ¥37,470 P86,505 P231,138 

Inter-segment revenues are eliminated upon consolidation. 

December 31, 201 1, as restated 
Services 

RTN RTN/LCSLC Others Elimination Total 
¥5,963,944 ¥344,593 ¥11 9,835 P- ¥12,694,706 

69,231 55,925 (125,156) 
5,963,944 413,824 175,760 ( 125,156) 12,694,706 
1,712,363 3,349,690 

214,260 214,260 
330,348 64,688 1,286,076 
119,279 736,262 

13,349 68,176 
¥3,788,605 ¥ 134,876 ¥175,760 (¥125,156) ¥ 7,040,242 

¥93,450 ¥10,499 P247,256 P- P577,425 

¥61,359 P l 9 P1 07,812 P- P208,436 

P9,519 P- P33,812 P- P66,615 

¥977,893 P742 (¥ 38,152) P- Pl ,686,015 

¥2,225,816 P4,038 (P42,359) P- ¥3,537,782 

P6,982,713 ¥135,747 P1 0, 793,924 P- ¥25,901,047 
4,630 4,445 226,869 501,851 

¥6,987,343 ¥140,192 ¥11,020,793 P- ¥26,402,898 

P886,661 Pl l 2,471 P34,490 P- P3,584,668 
37,537 548,088 585,625 

P886,661 P150,008 P582,578 P- P4, 170,293 

P223,437 P50,359 P22,756 P- P1,293,765 

P263,550 ¥15,319 P99,839 P- ¥733,821 



The Group has revenues from external customers as follows: 

Country of Domicile 2013 2012 2011 
China ¥7,376,742 ¥7,356,918 ¥7,815,248 
Japan 1,462,481 2,403,673 2,405,951 
Local 2,270,306 1,846,316 2,473,507 

¥11,109,529 ¥11,606,907 ¥12,694,706 

The revenue information above is based on the location of the customer. 

Revenue from two key customers amounted to ¥5,257.2 million, ¥5,128.0 million and 
¥5,822.3 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, arising from sale of ores. 

40. Reclassifications 

Certain 2012 and 2011 consolidated financial statement accounts have been reclassified to 
conform to the 2013 consolidated financial statements presentation. 
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Vice President 
Resident Mine Manager 

A Chairman, Nominations and Compensation Committees 
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E Member, Audit & Risk Committee 
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Vice President 
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Mining Corporation 
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Finance 
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3 Effective 01 April 2014 
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+632 798 7622 
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Mine Sites 

Rio Tuba Mine 
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About the Report 
T~l lo 1M ftrsl Annuol Soulainobiily Repcrt to be reeased bV 
Nickol Asia Ali i he lnfonnobon induded in tl>is repcrt are based 
on dotoll\31 wtre submlled lo t he cOJTespoodin~ !IO""mmenl 
o~~tncles ond re.,lls ot regul3rty moMored pelfonnance repcrts 
ftom tJch rnnc ai1e 

We mono~~t our rolotlonsllrPO With our key slakel>ol!lers b;• 
rtgulorty en11Jyn y them lo undersland their areas ot inluest and 
o o 0 ren lh a r con c"" s o bout our o pero lloo s. Altlloo~ ttils report 
dots not CO"t'Cr ~II the •sues: of our s,t.Jkebolders,l illcbdes the 
most sJgru1Ju nt ptOOf'.)ms of our comp.Jrues that W"eR initirted to 
ltd dress tner en Y1ronment31 and soc tat concerns_ 

Tlllo repcrt lllgNrghlo our Envronmentol Prolectioo and 
fnh3ncemenl ~omslEPEP)wlllch cU~e: rehObililatioo and 
reforulobon lnrlrolrl .. , woler quolrty mono~ment and pollution 
conltol !>feted sin uch ot our rrine sites. We have •I so indrded 
ourSoclol Oe'floomenl Mono~~tment Pions (SDMP) in the 
report,lo lhowcaae commun1ty and empbyee projects toot were 
undertoktn In our oreos of 01)4!1\lboo. 

Report Boundary and Scope 
The roport CO'Itrllhe period orJonuory· December 2013 and 
ln~lu oa lhe envlronmentolano aocllll ruponsibllly l>fogr•ms of 
uchmln 11ne. namely. Rio Tubrl Nickel MlnlnwCorp. (RTNMC), 
Tapn~o Min In~ Oorporollon (TMO), Hlnotu on Min In~ Corpor•tion 
(HMO) ono Oo~olon oo Mlnln~ Oorporotion lCM~. we h"''" 
lnclu oeo hl~hll~hlo of our mlnu' rehobllilalion and reforeslotion 
pro~r1m1 •• well a a projecll for the local commun ~ies in the mine 
alteo. 

Reporting Guideline & External A&aurance 
Our reportln~la prepared In occo.,ancoWihthe GAl G3.1 
Suatolnobllly Aeportln~ Guidelines, including I he Mining and 
Melillo S.ctorSupplemenl The GAl ~nldinesencoura~ 
componleolo repcrt on l>fiCUceund pe,ronnancethat reoteto 
auatolnobllly In o manner !MIIIIhlnsporent and uses a globally 
olla!fd frome..ort tA lnlllcllanr 

In •ddlllon lolht -..c10eu1e. Nckfl Alii his also put its 
rtpootlftl..-• lftll dlteloaell ieformlllontlnugb a proce• 
of ondtpelltlflll UlemiiiUUIIOCe bnell o• M lOOOAS- the 
lnlemotlonol aun doni for •••urance fromAcc••-.. Ult 
When c.,..lftd Nc•tl ""'" ... n be the filii .,..._,.,ttoe 
rnrn•ng •••••try 10 ..,.,e acc-tshtd lhlsful 



Joint Message from the 
Chairman and President 

We are happy to release the fu'5t 
sus talnal>lltiY report of Nickel AGtn 
Corporation, whtch htghlights the 
eoVlronmentat, soe~al and economtc 
achtrvemeots of the company 
through t t~ subStdtanes tn 2013 
Ar. one of tne leaders of the m1111n9 
tndustry tn the Phtltppmes, It tr. 
our responsibiflty to be a steward 
of the pnnctples of sus tamable 
development 

W• f""~'"'~'~•lv rehilbtht..t~ mtntd ""' 
I• o!tli• 

OurcnvtrQnm<nlal ptogrome ore de•ICiopetl 
an~ l~lplcment.o t~nlu{lll EnY~onmtnlol 
Ptott<tiQnond Enhoncom<nl Pnlurom• (£PEP). 
wNch le<us lleo•lly on Ill< 1!1\3DIIIOIIon 0( 
~n.,·OUI slits of ~• cur mining lllb>ldlarloa 
The oe tell1lllllilollon ell' on~ h>Vf ruult e d In 
!iOitolnnbly monoged roreolslhol ore 11on1e 
tor., bollorveoetotlon t~on tlleywere wlltn 
we firct began optrnllons, btaouno ort he 
mlnerollled nature of t he soli. 

Wr. l llfJ!I•Jt jl li lt~,., rflil.!"ldl ' IIIII IH!!!I, ·till 
As pori orthe Notional Grrcnlnu PnlUIM~, 
,.rofutallon ocii•Jitl•s or< a too o one 
OIJU11dt 0( !he "'lnlng OJ r!3S In aU of our 
!TOning OPfi'Cillons Employee• and the toe at 
a>m...,nlly come lo~ther to occomphn INI 
objrCIIte 

In Rio 1ub> otone. ov<r on< milton lf<<•IIIVf 
been plonleO In 622.52 nectms u por1 of 
lhe~o< reMb!ltollon ond lefOrtstollon oflona 
OI Mr ml!U ettea enuaue In ~oro net elforu to 
achieve 1llllllar ,.,uiU. 

w~ take watt'! ~~~~h•y m~M9!'f!lffit vep; 
ll'ft~usly 
Each min e"t • It ad <Quat oty pro'llded wi II sill 
contr~ lociiiUu (dralno~ e.nolollt surri)~ 
sonuofslll cotchm<nl ponOs)whicllore 
frequml ... oeslltd onu <lllu<nl disci>arg< .,. 
r.uut>rtv maniiQ< to check confotrnty wttll 
O(NR suneam uo '"'"""''taw >at., ... , .. r 
woterlrom the .. 11 ponee • ., r<·ute for oust 
rntJ!P\101'1 ancJ wattrinW tret pbntl\g aie,n. 
OUr rrumnq sctbsn:llorin tuve 3lso prO'Ii:led 
wateraystemo lor 111 a>mmunnt<s, .,.btino 
fomm .. to h.rve a cceu 10 Cl<on pOlo Ill< woter 

our SOMP ""'' C'.A prr,groms filC\Is Qn th• 
nms nf the <0nllll\WIIfle5 We (OUch 
1hts< communlllt> alao Dtnelll from 
oth<r oocf.ltr .. pon IIDIIIY PnlJ«I~ or our 
llllboldlorlu, corrtttl outthtcu{lll lh<tr 
rupcct~ Se<tol Ot,..lopm.nt Mon•o•menl 
Pions (SOMP}o~~ ~;«por~•~ Soaat 
Rupan5ltllhty (CSR) ocll;llles ltvougb SOMP 
oil NAC oubaldl•nu colb bo<JI< with tMir 
comn.unltle»lo urtolc olllt 04'prlonty prcj<clti 
!hoi will be lmplen\<nletl w"llln 5 yoors. 
rund in u lor SOMP Is set by ••ch mine site 
::mnu oily, and oaconliu u to law. GSA 3CHiities, 
on the other hand, ore implemented depend ino 
on opeclfla loaal nteo~ oulald c ott he orca• 
cove reo bY ~DMP proornm1. Proj<els un d<r 
CSR a,. loaustd on ell uoollon, II•Jellhood, 
lnfroslrvcturt •no In dlgenou• People 0 Ps). 

' ''" II It', 

U~e our tml)4ct .::llt..1 communtles. our 
<mployees tlktw!oe Denefll (rom NAC's s oc101 
r.sponsib<llty p<o~romtl Softly policies art 
tmp~m<nl<d and r~towed In each min • 
lllrough Central Sorely and Multh CocnmiH eea 
formed DY omlllov••• a1 tach tile. Mealin 
\In" safety semlndr5: art 11tsoconduded to 
PfOVid e wor1tc11 .. an tnf«motlon to avoid and/ 
or ,.duct >r:Cldents In lh< wl>ll<pl3ct. The-y 
"" aloo lfi"OVIdd wlh the ptopcrequlpmo•t 
to •• ..,,. 111.11 tlltv ••• orct.ct., !Torn OJIV 

risl(s 3nd hilurd& In tne mine t.11U. 1ho~liie 3re 
Ju•t oltw ol the many cm!)loyu progroms 
!hot enable NAO'a uuooldlollcttOn\~lnloln o 
l\l!jll ltV< I o1 WO!kplace tGiety '" thoir mining 
optf3tiOOS 

Y'IO -s;:P , 4 1 u.t ... Q J 

To proleellhe n1t111ot r111~ on~ f11umpioreol 
II\~ SOIO.,.pb~l art 91~ pe.m•-lo ~ 
ltll'""'rced by lhtorlmOnl an:l 3ot co-.esed by 
lhtor ,.s;>odlft Colltct1~ lllfliOIIIIIIQ A;i,._l$ 
(C8A) Gener>llr co lea"" borg11nng o~roements 
!>:roe terms ot S ye:tll (with prc•<riiOn tor"~ 
renegollallon olter' ynlt) 

Wel,ave pi~M '''' lhr uul of 1111n~· hfe 
We h3'Je also d t~Jtloped decommissioning 
Plans for to en mine silt. rorlmpltmenlation 
on« mlnlnoopcraiiQnlhovt end., Tnt•• 
pions wttl ~ uull u o outfit tn mtortng and/ 
or col'rtertano mine altca 11nd the sutroundllg 
artos Into ottcrnatl\lc ~"' PfodUcb'l< land uses 
'The pbn~ abo en wre U~:1t 1.11tem 3t1ve st!i11s 
ono aualalnoblt livelihood Q1>pO<Iunlllos "" 
provided loth<"''"' •~•piO'(ccu lnaludlng their 
deptnd cnt • on d to the hast and nelghborln o 
communities. 

Ounno decommlnnloniii O uno oner mine 
alosu re. monitoring 0110 '""'"'' n onr.e nhnll be 
conllnued u111il ouc:ll u tl•nelhut rehabilitation 
cnt<rla has b«n auactoarully achlev!d as 
determined by the Mlnu :md Geosciences 
euroou 

ntrl'tdl p 1r-• ~ 
With rt"sped to tM economic perfoml:tnce 
04'1 n< con>pony, NAC Wat oblolo gen<rof• 
tout revenue 0( PhP 11,109 5 mill on In 2013 
from ore .. ,., Willie IIIII II ~-.lowort hon the 
ngurulor ZOIZ, thlo WOI due motnly 10 II\< 
... ., • ., In nlc~et p<lce-. d upll< o lliglm soles 
vokJme ~cl\lev., ond tile dtprtelotlon of lh< 
P111t1PP'n• pcoo •Qolnll the US llolf.lr 

;:.-., ~ !· t. t;r ,,,,~\1!111 , ncr ~m 
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year of continuous sustainable 
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Corporate Structure 

N I C k £l AS I A C OR P 

RID Tuba N1 eke! Mm1ng 
Corporat1on (RTNMC) 

990 
14 
14 

687 

12 
- 16 

15 

35 
:n 

28 

1 00!!. 

Incorporated in 1959 to develop n ickeJ ore d eposts 
Grnntev rights O'ter Ric Tu t>a-Propertv in 19 70 
Commenced mining ill975 
Made 6 !St ~ommen:i>J1 shipment 111 1977 

• lncorporatet1m 198. T 
· rirstcommerc13l shipment mat:rem 19 S.9 

•; r;;a.-~flfit 1n lf:!S ..-
A~lft~lrN Tio)ftf t..:. or.~t- lol1 il.f~8 

• '!':·:~f Q·~t~tahip • MiH lit! tY~ata} • Sa:pt,an-~ 

• ~~~(.a~ \J-g·:tat~} • Mit~ LiE tY~ara} • lilfl.xit~ 

Downstr<>am Process1ng 

Coral Bay Nickel 
Corporation 

I 

Tagantto HPAL 
N1ckel Corporation 

- 22.5~ 

Location 

N1ckel Asia 
corporate office 
Bonifacio Global City, 
Taguig C~y, 
Metro Manila 

Rro Tuba mine 
BJtaraza, n ea r the 
southern tip of 
?313W30 

\ 

I 
I 

10:•1:; SLSTA!W.BILITY REPORT 

71.25% 

-1 1.;agr ,. ~ 111 ne­
Dinagat lsland,northem tip 
of Mindanao Island 

r---1 Taga11a-an m1ne 

J
t Hinatuan Island, 

appmximately ZSkm 
east of Surigao City 
(Nortflern end of 
M indanao) 

r-..., Taganito mine 
Su rigao del Norte, 
north--east corner of 
Mindanao Island 

9 
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Products and Services 

All our mine sites use a low-cost open pit mining metllod. Since limonite and saprolite deposits 
are only about S to 30 meters tllick from tile surface tile mining process only requires tile use of 
excavators, trn ctors and dump trucks and does not use specialized equ ipments, explosives, chemicals 
or complex waste llandling. Rellabilitation of tile mined-out areas is a simple and straightforward 
process because tile mine pits are sllallow. 

Tile ore stockpile areas are also located neartidewater loading areas, enabling easy hauling to barges. 

- .--- - ....... ~ . 
.q. 

Open PJt mjnJng process 

Our company believes in its key strength. wllicll is: ProfrtabJTJty underpDmed by row cost production. 
Tllis is the foundation of our business.. wherein we are able to operate profitably tllrough tile 
commodity price cycle because of our low costs. We rank favornbly in terms of mining costs wllen 
compared to other nickel mining companies. There are a number of factors that account for our low 
cost position, namely: 

We benefit from favorable geologic conditions in all of our four mines. Our lateritic nickel 
deposits are near-surface, blanket-like layered deposits with minimal overburden and generally 
5 to 30 meters thick. Tllis enables us to conduct simple open-pit mining using trucks and 
loaders without blasting and tile use of chemicals or complex waste lla ndling. 
We were able to utilize, wllat were by-products of our mining operntions namely: limonite ore 
and low-grade saprolite ore by finding customers wllo are in need of these materials. 
On average, tile nickel deposits in our four ope rating mines are located within three to 
seven kilometers from tile applicable tidewater loading area, enabling easy hauling and 
transportation using barges and Ia nding craft transport ("LCTs") to our customers' ships. We 
own 9 LCTs and 5 barges. 

Bec-ause our lat-erit1c n 1ckel t.tepo~its are near ~J.ufa-cf! 3nd reiGtb-ely sl\allcw, tile rehab1htabon of 
our mmmu areas 1s a stra1glttforwart1 prt}.eess.1he process generally invoh·es re-ccmtcu nn u ot the­
mme£1 art?Gs~ ret;~l.a cm!J th.e O'Jerbu rd en anr:l ~lanttn g f!.)!•at~W 

Sources and Availability of Raw Materials and Supplies 

NAC sources its supplies, in clud in g diesel fuel, tires and spare parts for mining equipment, from 
reliable third party suppliers to ensure tile quality oftllese materials. Our diesel and aviation fuel and 
lubricants are bougllt from Petron Corporation, while llea''Y mining equipment sucllas trucks and 
excavators, from four manufacturers, Voi•Jo, lsuzu, Caterpillar and Komatsu, tllrou gh their Philippine 
distributors. In addition, we lease LCTs for use at our mine sites during tile shipping season. 

A Mineral Production Sharing 
Agreement (MPSA) is an agreement 
by which the Government grants the 
contractor exclusive rights to conduct 
mining operations within a permitted 
mining area over a specific period, 
usually 25 years. 

As of D~c~mb~r 31, 2013, our min~s had r~s~rv~s· of: 

Estimat~d saprolite ore - 119. 6 million WMT with an av~rage grad~ of 1.50% nick~l 

Estimat~d limonite or~ (including stockpil~s)- 249.7 million WMT with an av~rag~ 
grad~ of 1. 09% nickel 

11 



Our ores are sold'to multi·ple c·u stomers, who use til em to produce intermetliate products, to 
n1an ufacture stainless steel an c1 produce nickel cathodes. 

.Our major custpmers are: 

Pacific Metals Co. Ltd. (PAMCO): 
Largest ferrOnickel producer in Japan 
Buyer of liigll-grad e and low-grade sapr.olit.e ore 
unci er long-term supply agreements 

Sumitomo Metal Mining Co., Ltd. (SMM): 
Japan-based refiner of coppet, gold, nickel, and zinc 
Buyer of lligh·-g.rad e and low-_grade saprolite ore 
unci er lo-ng-term supply agreements. 

Chinese customers: 
Primary customers: DH Kingstone and Baosteel 
Resources 
Buyers of low-grade saprolite and both hig_ll- and 
low-grade limonite ore 
Ore is mainly used to produce Nickel Pig Jron 
and'·Pig Iron 

C<lral Bay Nickel Corporation (CBNC): 
Buyeroflow-gracle limonite ore from RTNMC 
.Un cler along-term supply agreement 

Taganito HPAL Nickel Corporation (THNC): 
Buyer of 1·ow- grade limonite ore from Taganito mine 
Un cler alon{f-term supply agreement 

Nickel Ore Sales (in thousand WMT) 

2'013 

Sales 
Brt*®'»'~ ( inlbousiend Y/Hl;J' 

4,2:79.50 
30% 

• Saprolite Ore to Japanese & 
Chinese Customers 

a limonite Ore to Cllin ese 
Customers 

Limo.nite Ore to CBN~ and THNC 

2,636.7 
2-a% 

2012 

• RTNMC 

• TMC 

CMC 

HMC 

Exploration and D~velopn1ent 

NAC co'!er·s a wide a rea of exploratio.n properties· and an exploration program encompassing: 

l. Brownfield explor.:Jtion- consisting of work at o-ur existing .operations to extend resources and 
to upgrade resources to reser1e~ tlncl 

2. Greenfield explor.:Jtion.. which in'lol'!es exploring and delineating n itkellateritic deposits in our 
existing properties. 

We own more than one hundred (1 00) tlrillin g units that lla'le been designed specifically for cl rilling 
near surfaee lateritic deposits in a quick and economical manner. We also ha'Je an experi.enced 
pool of geologists-and. laboratories at each of'ou r mine site to assess samples as-required. 

Summary of our e-xploration prope-rties: 

Bulalljao: 
Tot>l>re> of 3;60'1.5 h~>res 
Conducted step"out drilling_tbr.oughout the-length of the Genlt>IBul>njoo 
depos~ 
Er.tr>cted 7.,5 m·aiionWMT of S>proflleore w~h an wer>ge_gr.>deof l.Ss:, nicke.l 
>nd 19.2 milli.onWMT of limonite o.re w~b on >Ver>ge gr:>de of 1.01 :, nickel 

~pha: 
• To.l>l>re> of 6,990.75 h~·>res . 

Rig tits l<tlhe proper !I' >re governed IN an O{M'rating eQiered i.nto in rebru>ry 
2001' ,.-~h Keph> Mining Exptor>tion Corp. (KMEC) • 
Ap p lic>iion fo·r· rene\\'> I oflhe Ex p lo,r>fion' PO! m ~ for the Ke)> b > Property h>S 
been gr>nte'd 
rollow·up e.plor>fion work >nd drilling conducted in e>rly· 2013 

La Salle: 
T~l>l>re> of 2,2'3-f ~>res, 
R,igt\1-slo 1.!\e property >re gQVerned b¥ on oper>ting ogr""ment:eDl~red into w'~~ 
l> S>lle Min,i.ng Explor>tion ,Co'mp>.ny (LSMEc) in O.ecernbe1 2006 
rou·nd" nickel bteritic:depos~ on the soutbWesleJn po-rtion of the property >nd 
intend to oon~uct further e,plor>lio.n work on this <le'posi! 

l~dgoron: 
• T~I>)Oie> of 3,2~S.06 h~>res 

Rjg~-s -toJhe property are: governed ,by iln operatin-g rJgreement_.ente,~e:d i~o in 
.1\Ugust 20071)-~h ludaoron.Mining Coip .. (LMC) 
.CO nducte:d geolo.gical r eoo.n na i ssa noe .on t,t\e-pr Q pe rty in 2·0 OS 
Orilled 9.2 holes with >n >gg.reg>le. len~h of·1,071 mete)s in !tie: ide.ntif\Od 
lateritic zones · 

Bo.a: 
Covered by> sep'>r>le MPSA 
167 d'ritl holeS'intended to be drilled 6yt~ird·gu>)ler ·Of 2'012, buh lueto l!\e 
dei>Ye11 iss u> nceo.f1he teneme nl-'s per rniHo t ex len sioMtf "x p tar >l\0 n period; 
there w-e·re: still no exp.lor !d. ion activit"ie.s done: in the· ~rea 

1:--ocrJtjol): 
Rolowon Js·I:Jnd 

O\\•ne1sMp·: 
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location: 
.surioao ijel Norte 

Owne.rship: 
TMQ 

locatiort: 
:>or ill"• del Norte 

O.w (leJ s:h ip: 
fMC 

location: 
P rov·i oce .S'u rigao 
dej No.I l e 0 Od 
Su'r'ig;ao del Sur 

Ow,ne.rsbip: 
Tf1!1C 

Location: 
Province of 
Dinogot lslo(1d 

0\}•oe:rsbip: 
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Corporate Governance 

The Company adopted its Manual on Corporate Governance (the "Manual") on June 16, 201 o and the 
amendments thereto on March 25, 2011, so as to incorporate certain mandatory provisions of the 
Revised Code of Corporate Governance. The Amended Manual was submitted to the SEC on March 
31,2011 . 

The Company is committed to the principles of sound corporate governance and believes that it is 
a necessary component of what constitutes sound strategic business investment. The Amended 
Manual has institutionalized the principles of good corporate governance within the Company and 
embodies the framework of rules, systems and processes that governs the performance of the BOD and 
Management of their respective duties and responsibilities to the shareholders. 

The Company has substantially complied with its Manual of Corporate Governance and there has been 
no deviation from the same. 

The Board 

The BOD is primarily responsible for the governance of the Company and shall provide the policies for 
the accomplishment of the corporate objectives, including the means by which to effectively monitor 
Management's performance. It is the BOD's responsibility to foster the long-term success of the 
Company and to sustain its competitiveness and profitability in a manner consistent with its corporate 
objectives and the best interest of its stockholders. The Company's BOD is comprised of nine (9) 
Directors, with two (2) being Independent Directors. 

Position 

Executive Director, Chairman 

Executive Director, President 
and 
Chief Executive Off1cer 

Executive Director, 
Vice-Chairman 

Non-Executive Director 

Non-Executive Director 

Non-Executive Director 

Executive Director, Senior 
Vice President for Marketing 
and Strategic Planning 

Independent Director 

lnde endent Director 

*Elected as executive director on July 30, 2013 

Age 

76 

63 

73 

60 

70 

59 

42 

71 

59 

Gender Nationality 
Meetings 
attended 

Male Filipino 6/6 (1 00%) 

Male Filipino 6/6 (1 00%) 

Male Filipino 5/6 (83%) 

Male Filipino 5/6 (83%) 

Male Japanese 6/6 1 00%) 

Male Japanese 5/6 (83%) 

Male Filipino 2/2 (1 00%) 

Male Filipino 6/6 (1 00%) 

Male Filipino 6/6 (1 00%) 

Board Committees 

Audit & Risk Committee 

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for 
assisting the Board in its fiduciary responsibilities by 
providing an independent and objective assurance to 
our management and shareholders of the continuous 
improvement of our risk management systems, 
business operations, and the proper safeguarding 
and use of our resources and assets. The Audit and 
Risk Committee provides a general evaluation and 
assistance in the overall improvement of our risk 
management, control and governance processes. 

Assist the Board in the performance of its 
oversight responsibility for the financial reporting 
process, system of internal control, audit process 
and monitoring of compliance with applicable 
laws, rules and regulations. 
Provide oversight over Management's activities 
in managing credit, market, liquidity, operational, 
legal and other risks of the Company. 
Perform oversight functions over the Company's 
internal and external auditors. 
Review the annual internal audit plan to ensure its 
conformity with the objectives of the Company. 
Prior to the commencement of the audit, discuss 
with the external auditor the nature, scope 
and expenses of the audit, and ensure proper 
coordination if more than one audit f1rm is 
involved in the activity to secure proper coverage 
and minimize duplication of efforts. 
Organize an internal audit department and 
consider the appointment of an independent 
internal auditor and the terms and conditions of 
its engagement and removal. 
Monitor and evaluate the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control 
system, including fmancial reporting control and 
information technology security. 
Review the reports submitted by the internal and 
external auditors and fmancial statements. 
Coordinate, monitor and facilitate compliance with 
laws, rules and regulations. 
Evaluate and determine the non-audit work, if any, 
of the external auditor, and review periodically the 
non-audit fees paid to the external auditor. 
Establish and identify the reporting line of the 
internal auditor to enable him to properly fulfill his 
duties and responsibilities. 

Committee Members 
Position in Committee 

Chairman 

Member 

Member 

2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 

Nomination Committee 

The Nomination Committee is responsible for 
providing shareholders with an independent and 
objective evaluation of and assurance that the 
members of its Board are competent and will 
foster the Company's long-term success and 
secure our competitiveness. 

Review and evaluate the qualifications 
of all persons nominated to be a director 
of the Company and of all nominees to 
other positions in the Company requiring 
appointment by the Board; and 
Assess the effectiveness of the Board's 
processes and procedures in the election or 
replacement of directors. 

Committee Members 
Position in Committee 

Chairman 

Member 

Member 

Director 

Manuel B. Zamora Jr. 

Takeshi Kubota 

Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. 

Compensation Committee 

The Compensation Committee is responsible 
for establishment of formal and transparent 
procedures for developing policy on 
remuneration of Directors and officers to ensure 
that their compensation is consistent with the 
Company's culture, strategy and the business 
environment in which it operates. 

Committee Members 
Position in Committee 

Chairman 

Member 

Member 

Note - Details of NAC Corporate Governance can be found in 
2013 Annual Report. 
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Rehabilitation 

In line witll our commHment to maintain a sustainable environment 
in its areas of operation and abide by tile Pllilippine Mining Act of 
199 5, NAC regularly conducts on site environmental assessment to 
ensure that all its subsidiaries are strictly implementing progressive 
rehabilitation within standard set by regulatory agencies. 

The process begins with re-contouring. backfilling and leveling 
the I an d. After this, tile area is covered with top soil and other soil 
amelioration strategies to provide fertile ground for planting. We 
follow tile 'sequential planting method• wile rein we fiorst pia nt 
fast growing species to create vegetative coverwitllin 12-1 B 
montlls, thereafter to enable tile pia ntin g of other species. Anotller 
successful metllod used is by utilizing large planting materials 
wllicll resulted to more til an 90~ surlivalandlligll growtll rate. 

Creating a biod i'Jersity area witll varied species of vegetation 
including native fruit bearings trees will eventually be a source of 
food for a variety of wildlife species tllat will aid in rellabilitating 
mine affected areas by way of succession and regeneration. Tile 
rellabilitation effort is man aged by our expert foresters with tile 
llelp from indigenous peoples (IPs) from tile locality, and we have 
demonstmted tllat a totally mined out area can be significantly re 
vegetated in just 12-1 B months. 

Tile end result is a sustain ably managed forest far better than tile 
stunted 'legetation there before, because of tile mineralized nature 
of tile soil. 

PhP 130.9 mil lion 
provision allotted for mine rehabilitation 
and decommissioning, as of December 
2013 

As a means of restoringthe disturbed areas from mining opemtions.. 
NAC requires each mine site to create a decommissioning/ closure 
plan. The closure plan includes tile process in wllicll mined-out 
areas will be rehabilitated and monitored, until tile rellabilitation 
criteria set by MGB are successfully satisfied. Tile program for 
final rehabilitation and decommissioning includes social package 
wllicll include livelihood components for tile host communities 
and tile affected employees of our companies. Tile four ope rating 
subsidiaries have already developed their respective plans for 
re-1iewand approval of tile MGB. 

I • . . 

Mine- Rehabilrtatirin vs. 
1 Reforestation: What is. 

1 
, the Difference? . 

. . . 

Mi llE' Rehabilitation ·-· ...... --
areas are l'l11 !lE' 
p1ts that have . 
been declared as 
m1ned out by the 
operation. These 

, areas are backfilled 
and reshaped. ill• 

' preparation fo~ tree­
planting 

' Reforested areas .. 
on the other hand, 
are disturbed areas 
(not necessarily · 
mm1ng areas} that 
are enhanced thi'OliQh 
reforestation and · 
usually do not Include. 
backfilling and · 
reshaping •' 

1.33 million 1 ,271 hectares 
Total Seedlings Planted Total Area Rehabilited I Reforestated 

Mine rehobllltalion Is cootalne<lln the Mining Act or 1995.1rs pan olo Sunolnoble Oe""lopmenr.lt\IJ"n or 
OUt 8e'SI PriiCti<e 61 O<tt wbsld~ry. Roo Tub.! Nld<el Mining Corporation. Th! W<>tk SIMS by t<·COCliOuring. b.lctliillng 
and IIM!Wng !11<1 l.lnd. ThM we provide lOP SOt1 to del"'' a fertile ground fa< planting. FQIIowi119 the''Secluentlol 
Planting Method: we f11st plontf•st gt01'ifn91P'(io> c:olled Piooe<r Slle<l<> wch .. S.tino, Atoti4 monglum, Acacl• 
autituliformis i!IKI od1ers-~lgrown and nunured in our nursery. These species provfde w~~~ivt tow. Wtthln 
3 )'eO IS to enable the plbrRr"9of'Oimax SpeOe>"lil<e Apitong. lpiL Narra, Alrna<f9a,Agohc, Komagongand .,...,, 
wl1kh nee<ltnle shade 1o grow. They fOtm the COfeof the .. w ro .... t $land• Nati~ fnnt·bearing t-are also 
planted to proVide a 50<1tte of fOod f01 wtldanimals thot Wilevemually popu\lte the f..e.t To emute the SUMval 
ol all the>< u .. ,.., ha~• foresuy t .. m. Composed mostly ol indigenous Jl<!Opl•from the suiTOOndi\g oreat the 
ream conducts a miuntenance program 1~-ewaterino during summer, ringweedinQ OJhlvatloncJ~ound 5eedlings, 
app!i<atlon of compost and oihet relote<lacUvitit!s. ~work of I he team"'" ar:hieve<la survival tate of9Cilo>for the 

"""'" 
Th!end ...,.h iso sustoin.'lbly m•""'le<e [Ot<$t far bene< tho! the """ted W90tlldonlhere befure, be<...,. of the 
mineralized n.-,ture of tlie'SCill 

Responsible leadership. 
Responsible Mining. 
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CSR Guidelines 

NAC's CSR Program is anchored on 2 central elements: 

1 . Community Partnership and Relationship Building 
a. Establishing and maintaining positive relationships with communities by having 

them as partners for community development and nation building 
b. Partnership building with communities (both social and environmental) -

community as essential partners and not as mere beneficiaries 
c. Community serving as the primary protector of the company through strong 

partnership and relationship 

2. Leadership 
a. Top management strongly supports the company's CSR initiatives 
b. Social Investment -going beyond compliance and considering CSR not as an 

additional cost but as an investment 

Employees 

As of December 31, 2013, NAC approximately has 1,484 employees. Of this number, 623 are 
employed in mining operations, while 130 are engaged in various maintenance and ancillary 
functions and 731 are in administrative, technical and professional roles, including senior 
management. 

The table below shows the distribution of our workforce (full time regular employees only at the minesite): 

Head Off1ce 
I I 

LCSLC I SNMRC ; NAC i CMC HMC TMC RTNMC CEXCI Total 

Senior Management 12 1 - 2 1 - - - 16 

Managers 9 1 2 3 2 2 - - 19 

Supervisors 9 6 4 4 5 4 1 - 33 
Rank & File 15 3 4 9 8 4 1 1 45 

Total 45 11 10 18 16 10 2 1 113 

Minesite 

1,822 

1,327 

1,245 

703 

5,097 

Each mine site also provides work opportunities for the communities. The table below shows 
a breakdown of the workforce (full time, contractual, probationary and casual) hi red from the local 
communities in each area of operation: 

Indigenous People (IPs) 
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NAC complies with the government standards on the wages and labor practices in the Philippine 
mining industry. Labor conditions, including wages and benefits, are governed by Collective 
Bargaining Agreements ("CBA") negotiated at the mine level. Rank and f1le employees in each mine 
site are represented by their respective labor unions. Generally, CBAs have terms of 5 years (with a 
provision for wage renegotiation after 3 years). 

HMC's CBA is being negotiated for the 5 year period 

CBAs of RTNMC and CMC shall be negotiated for remaining 2 years 

TMC's CBA has been agreed upon for f1nal 2 years 

NAG has maintained good relations with employees. The last strike at any of 
our mines occurred in 1981 . 

Risks Related to the Business and Industry 

Our operations are prone to terrorist attacks and other insurgent atrocities due to the location 
of mine sites. NAC ensures the safety of its communities and employees by working with the 
government and tapping all available resources that may help prevent, or at the very least, reduce 
terror-related incidents. 

Each mining operation also employs a safety team under an accredited safety off1cer to 
promulgate safety measures and procedures and to ensure that these are followed. Training 
programs are also being conducted regularly. 

On October 3, 20 7 7, around 200 armed insurgents occupied the TMC mine 
site and destroyed, among others, equipment, building structures, materials 
and supplies by setting them on fire. Accounting, personnel, laboratory and 
administrative records were destroyed. Approximately PhP 239.5 million 
worth of damages were sustained. Fortunately, no life or limb was lost. In 
response to the incident, security was increased, not just in TMC, but all 
our mine sites. This was done in close coordination with the Armed Forces 
of the Philippines tapping the services of the Special Citizen Armed Forces 
Geographical Unit Active Auxiliary Companies. 

NAC expends significant financial and managerial resources to comply with a complex set of 
environmental, health and safety laws, regulations, guidelines and laws drawn from a number of 
different jurisdictions. Our facilities operate under various operating and environmental permits, 
licenses and approvals to satisfy these conditions. Failure to meet these conditions could result 
in interruption or closure of exploration, development or mining operations or material f1nes or 
penalties. 
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Services and Others 

Our revenue from services and others was PhP 634.0 million in 2013. This largely consisted of 
payments made to us in consideration for hauling, manpower and other ancillary services that 
RTNMC and TMC provides to CBNC and THNC, respectively, and usage fees charged by TMC to 
THNC for the use of its pier facility. 

Financial Position 

Total assets amounted to PhP 28,913.5 million for 2013. Current assets increased to PhP 14,601.0 
million in the same year due mainly to the increase in cash and cash equivalents, from PhP 9,263.5 
million to PhP 10,234.3 million, and available-for-sale (AFS) fmancial assets, from PhP 1 ,086. 1 
million to PhP 1,257.4 million. 

Noncurrent assets also increased to PhP 14,312.5 million due to increase in property and equipment 
from PhP 5,949.9 million to PhP 6,585.8 million, consisting mostly of acquisitions of various tractors, 
dump trucks and conveyor belt. 

Total current liabilities increased to PhP 1,309.0 million which was attributable mainly to increase in 
trade and other payables from PhP 864.0 million to PhP 928.1 million. 

Total noncurrent liabilities increased to PhP 2,392.8 million from PhP 2,321.8 million as a result 
of the remeasurement of pension liability in compliance with the revised standard on employee 
benefits which requires immediate recognition of all past service cost in prof1t or loss in the period 
they occur and recognition of all actuarial gains or losses in income. 

Equity - net of non-controlling interests increased to PhP 20,490.1 million as at year ended 201 3 
from PhP 18,876.4 million as at year ended 201 2 due to net earnings in 201 3. 

2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 

Stakeholder Management 
Our stakeholder management process helps us to gain, maintain and 
create positive and long-term relationships with all our stakeholders 
to ensure the continuous development of our business. It is the basis 
of engaging key stakeholders, wherein we identify their issues and 
concerns and develop plans and programs to address them. 

Our key stakeholders are categorized as national and local level 
stakeholder. The national level covers the national government, 
mainstream media and the NGOs. The local level, on the other hand, 
covers key LGU officials, local media, local NGOs, employees and the 
communities. 

In addressing the concerns of the National and Local Government, NAC 
consistently complies with the laws and policies that they have set, in 
relation to mining activities. The Company also regularly monitors these 
activities and updates the national government to assure that daily 
operations are carried out with much consideration to the environmental, 
social and economic impact of the Company. 

Non-Government Organizations (NGOs) are also considered as a key 
stakeholder of NAC as they play an integral part in the promotion of 
sustainable and social development of communities in NAC's areas of 
operation. The Company takes every opportunity to inform NGOs about 
the developments of each mine site, and partner with them in providing 
support to the host communities. 

Media is regularly updated about the activities of the Company. This 
also acts as a means of information dissemination to the general public. 
When necessary, NAC conducts one on one engagements and site visits, 
so that media can get a better idea of the activities of our companies. 

Our employees are major shareholders in our Company. We provide 
them with the proper benef1ts and programs to guarantee a healthy and 
safe working environment and ensure that their professional growth is 
enhanced through trainings and seminars. Our rank and f1le employees 
are also covered by their respective Collective Bargaining Agreements 
(CBAs) in accordance with Philippine Labor Laws. 

Each mine site of NAC has developed a Social Development Management 
Plan (SDMP) for their respective communities. The SDMP has a set of 
programs for each community, that aims to address issues in relation to 
the education, infrastructure, livelihood, environmental and other social 
concerns of residents. Through these programs we have built villages 
for our Indigenous People in Rio Tuba and Taganito, with the help of 
Gawad Kalinga Foundation and provided families with work and self­
sustained food through our "Food for Work" program. We have also built 
and repaired bridges and roads so that communities will have easier and 
faster access for their businesses. 
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Environmental Responsibility 

RTNMC adheres to NAG's mission to protect the environment within its areas of operation. Tllis is done 
Uuou gil programs covering.. mine rehabilitation and reforestation, pollution control, waste management, 
and by following mining laws imposed by tile local and national government. 

Under the company's MPSA. it is required to secure an Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC), 
and Environ mental Protection and Enllan cement Program (EPEP), allocating at least ten percent (1 0~) 
of its total project cost for its initial environment related capital expenditures, but this may be adjusted 
depending on the nature.an d scale of operations and teclln ology to be employed in tile Contract Area. 
RTNMC is required to submit an annual EPEP every year, wherein tile company allocates three to five 
percent (3-5~) of its direct mining and milling cost. It is also mandatory for RTNMC to establish a Mine 
Rehabilitation rund based on the financial requirements of the EPEP. 

Tile EPEP of RTNMC includes its plans on environmental protection, en llancement and rellabilitalion 
of affected areas up to tile e-1entual cessation of activities. In the Philippines.. RTNMC has one of tile 
lligllest budgetary cost and expenses for its EPEP.. among mining companies. 

Amount PhP 
(in million) Expenditure Per Environmental Programs (2013) 

H 
IH 
10.7 
7.7 
0.5 
0.6 
0.7 
6.4 

3S.9 
SA 

• 93.7 

0.1 
0.2 
2.5 

• 2.8 

• 96.6 

RTNMC abide& by the Slrategic fnvrronmental Plan fo'r Palawan Act 
(Republic Act No. 7611), which prohibits operat1ans Witllln an all!a of 1 ~ 4 · 
hectares. classified as "con: zane''. These areas ar.e reqwrecl to be fully 
and stnctly protected and ma1nta1ned free.of human dJsnJption lnciLided 
in the ''care zone" are all types of natural foll!st, areas above 1,000 meters 
~levation, peaks of mountains or other areas with very steep gradient<>, and 
endangered )lab1tatsanq habitats of endangered and rare species. 

. 

( 

RTNMC implements its environmental programs tllrou gil tile Mine Environmental Protection and 
En llancement Office (MEPEO), which is divided into: Mine Rehabilitation and Reforestation Unit 
(MRRU) and Pollution Control Office (PCO). Sotll units lla•Je in itiati'Jes focused on addressing tile 
impact that mining opemtions mey have on the environment around the mining areas. 

Mitigations/lnitiativ~ 

rtnd endemic 
Conversion of mine p~s 
rehabilitiltion of non-

systems .. 



MINE REHABILITATION 

Tile MRRU of ATNMC is in charge of conducting a comprehensive and progressi'Je rellabilitation 
program, in coordination with the Protected Areas and Wildlife Bureau (PAWB) and Department 
of Environment and Natur3.1 Resources (DENA), within and around the surrounding areas bf its 
minesites. 

In tile rehabilitation process, RTNMC uses tile top soil, mostly coming from in situ materials, 
recovered from clearing operations. Oncetlle top soilllas settled, til is is where tree seedlings are 
planted and cultivated. To llelp tile process, RTNMC also conducts en ricllment planting, wile rein 
additional seedlings are planted to ad dress the disturbance ofth:e soil. 

Experts in tile field of rehabilitation were also hired to strengthen the rehabilitation program. A cion al 
laboratory (research facility for cloning plants) and othertree and pia nt propagation measures were 
supported by RTNMCto accelerate tile rehabilitation process. 

REFORESTATION 

Outside of the mined -out sites.. RTNMC con ducts 
reforestation activities in disturbed areas (areas 
indirectly affected by mining operations). In 
coortl.in ation witll DENA, the Local Government Units 
(LGUs) and Non-Government Or~anizations (NGOs), 
RTNMC performed enricllment planting in nearby and 
affected mangrove areas to enllance the protective 
and productive capacities of tile ecosystem. 

RTNMC also initiated the reforestation of several 
patches of mangrove-areas along Rio Tuba River:. 
previously affected by ille~allo~~in g. rrom 2001 -
2004, around 2.51lectares were reforested. Enrichment 
planting was also conducted along Rio Tuba River, 
with more th3n 2..000 Nip a seedlings being planted to 
substitute fort he destroyed mangro•1e trees. 

Tile rellabilitation and reforestation efforts ha•Je 
resulted in approximately 33~ of former1y mined out 
areas rehabilitated/ reforested, witll45~ currently 
being used for otller purposes such as tailings pond, 
ore stockpiles, ere. leaving a balance of 22 ~still due 
for reforestation. 

85.52 hectares of 
totally mined out 
areas were completely 
rehabilitated. Outside of 
the mine area of RTNMC, 

a total of 537.4 
hectares have been 
completely reforested 

A total of 1.33 million 
seedlings/trees were 
planted 

The areas that are not rellabilitated, wllich total363.02 hectares, are currently used for: 

CBNC tailin~s dam and pond (No.1 &2) 1 85.&7 hectares 
HPAL plant 22.49 hectares 
Ore stockpiles 61.47 hectares 
Road network 25.46 hectares 
Solar drying areas 
Ash pit 
San ~ary landfill 
Unrellabilitated/rocky portion 
Unicllamp plant 

18.&1 hectares 
8.1 B llectares 
4.60 hectares 
34.&0 hectares 
2 hectares 

!' - ---

A Mi;;Rellah"iill~\lon and/or Deoomm1ss1onlng Plan(j;,iRDPJ meei1ng'~ -~ :_, 
•waG held w1th ~takel10iderswlthin thl' affected area to-di&c\lss , · . -· 
trecomlnenclatlons on how th.e area willll.e rehabilitated Sugg'esti"C?ri~ !,!riclt 
,comment• werecons1dered 111 crafting the EPEP of RTNMC, which wa& .. 
~ub~JI1e_d to t~e -~t~R Re~l~~al9l_fice and ~M~for r;vll'W and ~pwoval.~ • -- - __.. - . ~ - - - - - -- ---- -

The rehabilitation and reforestation efforts of RTNMC also involves the protection of biod~Jersity in 
and around tile mine-sites. Protected areas and policies were established by RTNMC to preser1e tile 
habitat of wildlife in areas near the RTNMC mines. 

One su cllarea is tile Ursu Ia Island Game Refuge and Bird Sanctuary, which is protected and 
managed by managed by PAMB together witt\ RTNMC and DENR, Protected Area and Management 
Board of Ursula, LGUs of Bataraza and R_io Tuba, and CBNC. The company provides support by 
managingthe plants and animals inhabiting the area throu gil regular monitoring actr1ities tll3t 
ensure tile island is in good condition and to prevent any human actr1ities from affecting the island. 

rorested areas that are still untapped by mining operations are also protected acti•1ely by RTNMC. 
rruit bearing trees were planted around the peripllery of mine pits to benefit wild life species. These 
buffer zones were setup in strategic places to provide temporary shelters or habitat fort he existing 
wildlife species in the area. 

To safeguard wildlife within the mining claims, RTNMC created a policy to prohibit hunting. 
Private company security gu artl s were dispatclled around the periphery of mining claims to keep 
the area safe from intruders wllo are hunting endemic, tllreaten ed or end angered species. The 
company provides monthly Information, Education and Communication (IEC) materials tllat include 
information and a list of threatened/endangered species. 

-



Other measures were created by RTNMC to manage and mitigate any impacts on the environment, 
caused by th.e operntions of tile company: 

Emti1on,menta) Man3gement M:e¥ures 

wor.ks 
Utilization of topsoil to rehabilhteopen and bur~ened areas 

means 

on 

Proper fuel and lube material band ling ;md m::.intemmoe of vehicles and he3VY 
equrpme·nt 

Implementation of Solid Waste Management Program 

se::.oon 

Maint~nanoe of vegetation jn the peripheriesof the mini,ng areas 

Proper maintenanoeof motor vehicles and he!Wf equipme-nt 

Regubr v.:mer sp.1in~ling along expose;! are::.s especially-during dry seasons 

POLLliTION CONTROL 

! 
lDl~ SLSTAINI\81UW REP:)fiT 

I 

RTNMC created th.e-Pollution Control Office (PCO) to keep track of tile operations of tile company and 
ensure that it has littleton o effect on tile -surrounding environment. This involves the development 
and implementation of programs that will monitor and mitig3te dust emissions and noise pollution, 
soil erosion, water quality man3gement land disturbance and waste materials. 

In man aging dust emissions from operations, RTNMC c·ond ucts the following activities: 

Water spr;Jying on haul roads 
Concreting of main llaul roads 
Providing water sprinkler systems 
Installation of tire wash 
Street sweeping 

Silt scrnpin g 
Installation of chutes 
Installation of wind breakers 
Installation of dust collector boxes 

A speed limit was also created and is strictly being implemented witllin tile mining areas and hauling 
roads to reduce dust emissions.. 3S well as noise pollution. Reducing noise pollution decre3ses 
disturbances to the wild life and people working in the area. 

Otller concerns of the PCO are soil erosion and siltation. To control tllis, RTNMC conducts slope 
stabilization activities, which include: engineered slope, proper drain age, boulder toe dressing and 
slope rf!'Jegetation. Siltation is also managed using silt collector sumps placed strategically around 
the mine areas. 

- . - - ' - --- --.-- -- -·-·---- - -w-

tSQ•, 1 04 IMrs of diesel Fuel cc•Qs•.u11ption for ~lect!icltv ~qu1re-ments of tiN rirrj acilitles_tur 
·dryclo~ktng ma<~\en~~ anq ~ar!J~ loadirr£1 operation~ , · - · · 

·10. 315 MW of elegtnc•ty.consum~cl. b1 the facililte~ ~md op~rations of the mir(esots t 

. z,eie,G851tters "!Jiles>:! flnd ·1. 7,220 lttl?f s ;t~~li~e ~dlo~ eq\!'r!ll"Jl-1 J~~avr\ 
' plflCh•nenes. all setvite vehocles ~sell attlle mtnesttl!) , ' ,. _ . - ---·.v· 
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WASTE MANAGEMENT 

Solid Waste Management Plan 

RTNMC strictly implements a proper solid waste management program in its minesites. Mine wastes.. sludge 
and other solid wastes are properly stockpiled and disposed in permanent areas that are away from any 
water systems. Biod.egradables and residuals are disposed tllrouglllandfilling while recyclables sucllas 
wood,. steel, paper, plastic.. etc. are recovered 'tllrougll tile Materials· Recovery facility 

Total amount of waste generated: 10,848 m3 

Top soil and mined material below cut-offgrade are considered waste and are disposed in designated 
areas. Previous wasted ump areas are converted into drying areas for nickel ore from stoc.kpiles. 

Waste dumping is minimal since most materials mined and moved are either stockpil·ed as low grade 
ore or hauled to drying areas for e>Jentual shipment'. This has allowed the company to rehabilitate and 
reforest previous·waste dump areas. 

Hazardous Waste Management 

I 
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Pollutants, like llazardou s wastes, are also properly handled by PCO. These materials are treated, 
transported and stored ·cautiously through '3ccreditecl treatm·ent specialists. 

This chemical is called Polychlonn ated Biphenyls (CAS No. 1336-36-3). The quantity stock 
inventory of waste PCB consisted oftive (5) drums last year. P.CB, along with oth.er llazartl ous 
wastes are stored on site. Other llazartl ous wastes are segregated according to. tile following: 

Used oils (liquid) 
Used oil filters (solid) 
Used batteries (solid) 
Busted fluo-rescent lamps (solid) 

In accordance with Section 5-2 of DAO 201J4-36,_ RTNMC requires vessels, conta1n ers,_ and tanks 
containing llazardou s wastes to be properly marked and labeled with tile llaza n:1 ous waste 
class, sub-category, hazardous waste symboL an cl container maximum capacity. The company 
segregates and stores tile llazarclou s wastes on -site according to type, while recording of tile 
hazardous waste usage is clone by tile units' generating tllem. Tile recon:l ed informatio.n is collated 
by the Pollution Control Officer (PCO), for consolidation into theSe~ Monitoring Report (SMA). 
To transport· and store llazarcl.ous wastes, RTNMC engages tile ser1ices of DENR-accrecl ited 
llazarclou s waste transporters an cl treaters. 

Oil is anotllerwaste material generated from operations of tile company. It is separated from 
water using an oil-water separator installed within motorpool areas in tile mine-s.ite. This prevents 
oil spillages from ·contaminating groundwater and nearby water bodies. Spill containers-are 
put in placed urin g equipment maintenance and repair as a primary measure to avoid spillages 
when transferring oil to elm in age canals. Used oil and oil filters are stored in a BmxBm llazwaste 
building (extension). A contingency plan, in case of an oil spill was also de.velop.ed by RTNMC. Tile 
company stores the following marine pollution control equipment and supplies, in preparation for 
such an event: 

a. 100ft long -x 18" diameter Oil Containment Boom 
b. 150ft long" 36"width Coco net 
c. 6 drums Oil Dispersant 
d. 5 sacks Saw Dust Sorbent materials 
e. 3 units Pump Boat equipped withllandlleld radips 
f. 4 un.its Handheld Radios 
g. 1 unit Sprayer.. 16L c-apacity as Oil Dispersant Equipment 
ll. Existing Bund Walls at Pier Depot can hold more than 5000 barrels of fueL 

Total volume of used oil treated: 112,000 L 

Total we1ght of used oil filters treated= 11.481 kg 
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WATER QUALITY DEGRADATION MEASURES 

Watershed Management Plan 

The bodies of water directly affected by discharges of water and runoffs are the Rio Tuba and Ocayan 
Rivers, which drain to the nearby Coral Bay. Rio Tuba River gets discharges from 5 different siltation 
ponds including Tagpisa Siltation Pond. The maximum depth of the Rio Tuba River estuary is 20m from 
about 3 km from the coastal side. Water impounded in the silt collector facilities are recycled for road 
watering around the mine site. Regular water quality monitoring is conducted to determine the quality 
of water being discharged outside the mine complex. 

There are 12 sub-watersheds covered by the mining claim. The largest watershed is Ocayan River 
having a total area of 2,000 hectares with a stream flow discharge of 0.34 m3/sec. The watershed's 
peak storm flow estimates for different return periods indicate a flow of 51. 1, 62.9, 69.4, 77.6 and 88.6 
m3/sec for 5, 1 0, 1 5, 20, 25 and 50 years, respectively. On the other side, the smallest watershed is 
Sumbiling Tributary 1 with an area of 133.35 hectares and a stream flow discharge of 0.06 m3/sec. 

Source of Effluent/Discharge 
I 

Volume (m3
) 

I 

Receiving Water Body 

~~ 
Lower Kinurong Siltation Pond 1,271 463,824 

Rio Tuba River 
Lower Togpon Siltation Pond 2,921 1,066,256 

TOTAL 4,192 1,530,080 

Coral Bay covers an area of 7,000 hectares and a coastline of 5 km. southeast of Bataraza. It is 
situated biophysically within the Bgys. of Rio Tuba and Ocayan and bounded by the Rio Tuba and 
Ocayan Rivers. The biodiversity value in the area are presumed to be high due to the lush mangroves 
along the banks. Currently, plans are under way to make the bay a marine protected area. 

Identity Size I Area Covered (ha) Protected Status 
I 

Biodiversity/Aesthetic 
Value 

Rio Tuba River Undetermined None High 

Ocayan River 2,000 None High 

Coral Bay 7,000 None High 

Water Consumption 

RTNMC's main source of potable water is the umawi stream water source, wherein the company 
withdrew and treated 136,591 m 3 of water from Umawifor drinking and other domestic needs of 
RTNMC Townsite and some.sitios of Rio l"uba .. Free water is also supplied to the communHies around 
the minesite which includes the IPs as well. The watersupply·system has a capacity of 3,000 m-a/day 
and consists of the following major components: 

One (1) unit Infiltration gallery with Backwash System; 
One (1) unit Dual Media Filter with Backwash System; 
50m3 capacity Filtered Water Well ; 
Steel Transmission Pipes; 
Two (2) units- 300 m3 capacity Elevated Water Tank: and 
Disinfection or Chloritlation System~ 

On the oth~r hand, 127,104 m1 of water was pumpe~ out from RTNMC's sjltation the mining areas and 
along Macadam road to reduce dust emissions. 

2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 

MATERIALS STEWARDSHIP 

According to the International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM), materials stewardship is 
def1ned as 

lithe responsible provision of materials and supervision of material flows 
towards the creation of maximum societal value and minimum impact on man 
and the environment". 

RTNMC created a materials stewardship group and program to ensure the optimal and appropriate 
extraction and use of minerals and metals using a proper framework and strategy. To handle this, 
the company pooled together experts of the group, including the environmental! rehabilitation 
department, occupational and safety unit, community, health, marketing, procurement and supply 
manager, among others. 

The mine engineering and operation team contribute to materials stewardship through their works 
on exploration, surveys and hauling/handling. Assay handles laboratory tests for the proper ore 
classifications. This enhances the understanding of the human health and environmental risks that 
can arise from mining I nickel ore operations. 

Generally, the Materials Stewardship work program acts as a form of risk management providing 
comprehensive information across the supply chain to help companies reduce harmful 
environmental and social footprints and improve operational decision-making. This material 
stewardship applied by RTNMC strictly conforms to the existing laws governed by the Philippine 
government. 

Below is a table reflecting the company's initi ative in dealing with Materi al Stewardship throughout its 
life cycle. 

Program of Actions 

1. Survey I Exploration 

2. Operation - Quarrying/Mining, Hauling, Retrieving, Beneficiation, 
Crushing 

3. Ore Feed 

4. Ore Classifications I Air and Water Quality Tests 

5. Mine Rehabilitation I Reforestation (Mined-out Areas) 

6. Environmental Protection I Pollution Control I Waste Disposal 
Management 

7. Occupational Safety and Health Hazards 

8. Waste Disposal (Used Oil and Oil Filters I Used Battery I Busted 
Fluorescent Lamps and PCBs) 
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Social Responsibility 

RTNMC puts mucll value into. tile communities it works in and the peo.ple it works witll. Programs llave 
been cre;lted to ensure the develop.ment in tile l~1elillood of these stakeholders, and that the gro~llh 
between RTNMC'llnd its communities is mutual. 

Elllployees 

RTNMC commits to ensuring that all its personnel are working in a healthy ani:l safe environment. 
Variou·s programs are ·created add res sing ·concern-sun dertlles·e areas, a ~ well as to en able pe·rsonal 
d.e•l elopm·ent tll ~:Q.ugll trainings ami benefits. 

As of 2013, RTNMC llas a total ·of 1.822 employees, including min·e ser1ice ·contrn ct work·ers. This is 
broken down into the following: 

.. !oGGO::r.rs fot 
f::.•.1t.im.e ~~SS:eg::!o: 
or.d? p•ob<or.ior:o:y, 
emp.byEea or:.ly 

F-;,r ~:-;,r-;,,nk ~AIP~'!'J~rnHrt ·:.ftl"r! IPa, it ia ·=·:~nf~ry ~:~lk~· t·) t.i,r~ ~Blj)I~•Hafr·:IBlll"r! ~>:a liP ·:·:1!11111. r ite a ·'!'~itt.ir tl"r! n•irir{l 
in1p~:tar~a f·:~r tl"r! rnirir'? r~habilitati ·:~·r pr·:~j~·:ta. Tl"r! ·:·:I'Alpary a=aa·:~r ally 111airtair a ~(··1 ~(• IP ~111pb~~~a ir ·,.~t.kh • a. al~ 
;:~·t·:~10:1'!'; ar~ F.Ala~a. 

' 
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Turnover Rate 

CBA and Benefits 
A Collective Ba~aining Agreement (CBA) was entered between RTNMC anti tile Rio Tuba Nickel 
Workers Union covering 1.52.7 employees. Under the CBA. employees are given the followin.g rigllts, 
among others: 

The com,o.any wifr cooperate ill tf?e comilwillgobjecoVe-co erJ.minare accidem:s and Ju~artf'dlaza!ds 
fmproyees sha« not be requiled to work. under conditioi?s, whicf? .are unsafe or unheartl?y beyond 
tf?e normar f?azards illf?erent in che opeJations 
Any serious accidents wm be ioim(y illveso·gated by tf?e CJ?aiJman of the Union Safety 
Committee and two (2) emp(oyees-acquainted witfl tf?e condition offf?e prace of accident, tf1e 
Safety fngiJ?eer and tf?e Sl?ift roreman oftf?e sflitt in wf?icf? ·tf?e ace-ideM occurred and tf?e 
Department Head. Tf?e recommendation and ffndings oftf?e Joint committee shar(be presenred 
in writillg to. tf?e Resident Mine IVJ.lnager 
TJ?e Union Safety Committee represented by 2 membeTs, togetf?er witfl tf?e mille's safe_cy engil?eeT 
sharr make montllty inspections oftf?e mine 
RTNMC wi« sponsoT il?·pramsemil?aTS on LaW Laws; Deuees. Rufes a~ld Regut3tiars, fducao·alar and 
Job Enrichment A"oruc olliry Program, SS S. PHil HfA lTH, PAG-t61G and ""'tude d>e DOl f~ ca ten<llr of 
seminaTs and to Jwrd meetings tOT tf?e disseminao·on of new OJ?es upon Tequest of tf?e union. 
TJ?e company arrows at reasr 3 Union offl'ceTs on offfciar busJJ?ess to attend raboT seminaTs and 
conve~ro·onsandotfw- raboT reraredactivities ourside tf?e mil?esire. as Union representation is required 
Thee ccmpany wm sponsoT job eln·cflment tTainings ro empioyees' out of schoorf unempro.yed 
dependems once a year, ti?Tougf? rf?e assistance of TfSDA 
A comprail?ts mecflanism vii« be pTovided by tf?e company foT tf?e RTNMC WoTf<eTs-UJ?iOn 

Employees are gi'Jen benefits under tile CBA wllicllare way• and above tile stan Clards provided by tile 
Labor Code as amended and other allied laws ton a me a ft w are: . . ' ' ' 
'1>.vg doily w > ge oil>~ k ~ilfile.ern p loyee~ - P hp S97J >1 oomp >red'to loco I minimum w oge-for N >tio n.!il C> pit> I 
Reg·ion {Php ~51) 
Night shift diffe1enli>ls colculoted !It 19:, 
Overtime·& ho lidJy P-ay's are .Jbo~ the loc'l I requirement 
r ree Medic'al Ho.spit·'llii'ljion Jnd Oent'JI Services at c-ompany.-run· RTNn Hosp'ital 
Sh>ri~g of<medidl ref~II>I~'®SI.s .for ·ern.PioYees >id tt~e~ legdimmedependeots 
Anlju>l Ph\'s i!>al. EJ>mtn>!ion oi'>)l eroployeeJ; 
QeJ)er>li E xecutlve C)\eck '"~·every th re:f, ye-lls fo 1 >'II em plOy..,; ·~ ~5 > nd obove 
r ree>lf>nSPQI!fJlion go)ng !oan'djro WO)k 
rree housJog_ \\1ith-free w.nter -Jnd elect rieity and 2Jf<t7 secur·ity~ 

H ~~I ri ng•.AIJoW> nc.e I or those who h >;.e no· ossi gned ho us)n·g unit. or h :we:o pled to s!>y o ulside.t he housing 
bcili\tofthe' Com pony, • 
r re~ u-se:Qh ecrelt'io n al bci lities 
.Sevetance 'l,nd Oe:rth Se.riflts 

~· 
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Health and safety 

As • rnpo<~llblt ITinln~ company, RTNMC ensures the heaiiJ\ an~ $3fely ofils we<l<ers by i~osi:lq 
strtc1 SiJft'ty Pfoorams onct me01sures in i s mine sites. Employtt:~ of! 1o1lso pro•Aded with the Pf®eJ" 
mining and safety equipment to avoid accidents and loss of man ... hours 
Ston~aro mole ri al$ pt!Nide~ IG miners are as folk>ws: 

Skull gu Old High .,;s ibllty Yell 
Plt.'!!ttlc goggfes Rainboots 
OusV gas ~splrator/ rna sk Raincoat 
Air muff Safety shoes 
Hand glo'!es 

RTNMC also established a Central Safety and Health Committee to 
hilndle Issues relating to occupational health and safety progr:Jms of the 
operation :1nd mine site. The committee is composed of; 

Resident Min e Manager Chairman 
Safety EngIn eer Presiding Officer 
Members Division/Group/Department/Section h~ad ~ 
Union represento tl•tes, Contractors representat~1e s.. ven dar 
representot~le&, Comp3ny physician~ and Safety 1 nspector/Officer 
as secretariat. 

1his commlll<e r<P~senls 7al!- of thelotaiWO<k force oflhocompa.ny 
i ncluding lh< BaiJIOining Unii.A total Gf I S safety officers or< oppo4nted 
in file commit! <e. Thos COfloisls of oil penronenl re~lar ronk-on~·file 
e~k>yees 0< WO<k•r.; •~k>yed t;-IITNMCin its mini no opefllilonl, 
anlf e:xchJdilg prob4tlonary~ tenporory~ casuals,. contractu.:tt,. !it'asonal. 
e~k>ymonl for a A••~ period, manogeri:ll e~k>Y"S. super11sory 
empbyees. conn dentbVconfiderrtial technical/ security emptoyee$'; 
employees holding C!Onfldentialan d technical positions :1nt1 safety 
inspectors. 

The safety officer&' c:ond uct walkthrough inspections a round tl\e 
min esite to ensure that safety code is practiced by all the employees 
in the site. The team also conducts daily toolbox meetings os w ell os 
monthly safety meetings to regularly monitor the issu es and concerno 
of the employe·es on $Of elY measures. 

AG a result of RTNMC's 
safety pol1c1es.the 
company was able 
to aoh1eve total 

COh1b1ned man-11ours 
or 7.0~0,597 in 2013. 
Th1s also resulted 1n a 
registered frequency 
rate ofO l~and 
Sf:'Vl'Oiy flJie ofl 98 
far one lost t1me 
acc1dent ,.,.,IIlli\ days 
la&l The recor'd!"d 
rates were calculated 
based on DENR 
Glanda1ds 

' 
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In 1t\e area of health, the company provides t'mJ)Joyeu wllh education, t raining, counselin~ prevention 
and risk·control programs to 3ssist worke-s, tf)ek (amities 11nd community members on con ct"m~ 
related to serioos diseases. The table btlow sf\QWs a !'.ilUQimary ott he assistance prOY«<ed · 

Ernorgency Response 

RTNMC created an emergency respon!ie a no p~p:Hfdness progrnm, 3pprov ed by the DENR· Mines 
and Geosciences Bureau (MGB~ to en~tJre Hlal -an e·tr~tfve and efficie11t response system h:3s been ••I fO< <merqency silualioos. !:<ills ~re peri odic oily CGndU ded to leslllle level of preparedness 0( 
the enp(oyees and to assess iftBere are OJRV ~slc>nt tlut com be done to imprO"'e the emergtncy 
re~DOtlse process. 

Eoch mojorOej)Qrtmenl h3s on emef!!ency ~sponse l..,m (ERTi whose members ore troiled In basic 
titetiUflting and med:icaf rescue._ I hey are assigned to be. thf first responder to emergll!ncies-withJ" 
tMtr d rp11rtment's jurisdiction,. 3swetl as operotlo"al art as InclUding surrounding corrvnuniUes. A fire 
I ruck on d a mbu lance (under IJ\e Rn hosp~aQ, bolh owned by I he cGmpany, .,. always on sill ndby for 
any emergencies. 

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PLAN ..---.... 

One orth< mosl S&Jctessftil s.,..,ice• und•r the SOMP to lh•.cll<llornhip ptogmm >'lllicn Ms 
allowed as 1 students pursue lhfi£ IJCOJderrdc OOwll!t lnfrnsttUdUre repair ;OJRd ifll)rovement fS also 
-art other roc us area .. wherein tlle compony hOei improo1ed 1M lr3ttellime for residents g oing from one 
community to another~ l.ileihood progrnms-were lj(-f'Wt~ v-vtn emphasis to capacitate commun~ty 
members Wfth tlie -appropmte tools and stil!l to creJtt h!!lp their own micro-enterprises. 

RTNMC's SOMP also includes progroms ror lnd IQ•n ouo People (IP) . A !Gtal of 271ribes re•IDe around 
the mine area In which 11 are from the impact comrnun lty. In September 201 o, the company tu rneCI 

O'ler PhP 3 0 million to the Indigenous People~ D•'Jetopmenl Ofr.ce-Bat31aza, In c. (IPOO·BI) lo 
Implement Various social projects exclu si'le to IPs only. This office is registered with Securities and 
Exchange Commission and is run by tts Boord ofiru stees composed of tribal chieftains from the 
Indigenous Cultural Communities. 
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

CSR program• 0( RTNMC ~rt omplemented dlrtclly II\' 11\t RTN roundaiJO<l, Inc. (AT Ill" I~ o non· 
stock ond non-prcllt lnsbtullon duly rtO'stered wfth IJ>e Secunlles and Exch~n!l< Coourission . Ttoe 
foondotion lsln char~~t of lilt ~flltOOns fa< the following 

Secondary ~el HOSP<I~I 
Leon ides S Vlroi~Memo~ol School Q.SVMS) 

• 2Bindogenoot Ltomlftg System (ILS) 
• G3W3d Kalingo (GK) Housing Pn>(ltom 

The RTNn Hospital pro-.tdu regular emoio¥<OS wfth iltontl and dentolseNfces, including pre· 
employmenland annual medical uamlnouons. Oependenll of eft11)1oyees, Including lndigenoos 
People 0Ps) art aloo CO'iertd II\' IM medlcoland dental b<!nents lllne .. es are diognased ond tre:rted 
in o hospital operated II\' I he roondollan. and ftnanced by RTNMC 

RTNFI H:>apltil 

In t erms 0( education•bosed P<OII'Omt, RTN roundaijon PIO'Iided qUality IWnll g tools for !toe Leoni des 
S. Vrot3 Q.S\1) Memori31 Sci\Ool, o school catering to student dependents o4'RTNMC employees, and 
from oiJ>er b3rangoys In Z011·201S, LSVMemorbl School sel'led ololal of1.316 students in wt-ocl> 
926 students art emplo)'fd dependent and 433ol< from tlle loco I convnunoty The school employs 66 
staff mrmbe'~ mo:~de up ol lcensal te3chers and other ilctmtnlstrotrte pmonnd 
An lndigenoos Leomlng System OLS), recogntud II\' lilt Oei>Ell wu also Introduced by RTNMC, as on 
3~em31Ne lrtefllcy progrom designed forlndroenous people (JPI~ Ito m3npower of29teocheiS, ore 
most~ educabon course !lfllduoluwhoartassl gned In dotl'el<nt IP a1<0s Thesetuchersore also 
gi'ten graduate atudy oppollllnlbesto enhanco ther leaching strategy Learnlftg m31eri3ls and supplies 
3re pro:Mded to !toe students, for frte As of December 1013, 281LS centers wert Introduced by RTNMC . 

RTN Foundat1on contmLll!b to collaborat l' w1th Gawad l<ahnga (GK) to btJid 
hou~t'!. and Implement &oft progt ams for commun•t •es 6reluding1nd!genous 
11 bes) n thl' areas oi operation Thl' goal ofRTNR 11> to build 1,000 houses ¥.111m 
10 yearr; ., thl' •dent lied 1mpact a rear. or RTNti.C At present, a total oi 2H ~•I& 
•a·~ bet>n bu 't and h.rned-over to rerodeol ·reCIP•ents m n111e exrst tng Gk s tes 

Tilt &Oft programs of RTN roundaloon and GK art composed of child and youth a.-..lopment 
undertlklngs that target dJferentage groops· 

RTN r oun dation also focuses on Infrastructure for Its CSR activities. support is given to commun Hies 
througl> in frastruclu II! projects, ouch as the construction 3nd mointen once of more than 51 kilometers 
of fa rm · to·mall<et and other ancillary roads within the mining communilyond neighboring borongays. 
These Include the following: 

1. National Highway to Ocayam Elem. School S.S km 
2. Tagdolungon reeder Road 1.5 km 
3 Macadam Roaar 0 km 
~ Macadam Kin urong Road 1 Bl<m 
S TarotacreederRoad lOBI<m 
6 GoiOI<·lul'tmln Rood Z.S km 
7 lgang-1{13ng reeder Rood 3 S km 
8 Notional HghwoytoCIIIondonum2 Skm 
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Environmental Responsibility 
IMC euurts the: ptottclfon oHM emironment surroundiJg tu a reo of operafionsttvough Yariou.s­
progr;~ms lh.tl foCils on rei\Obilitrting/ reforesting mined·out artJs, le55enlng lh<lmll"ct on 
biodtverstty, controlling tht potkJtioo from opef3tions.. mana!)emmt of ~ld wash~, and mana~ment of 
w:rtershed• 

These envtronmentut mitl3tives are carried out ·in nne with the E11vlrorunef'ltal Protection and 
En han cem<n1 Pro~rum (EPEP) ofTMC. Annually, the company seh • bud ~elf or the EPEPs and 
identifies key are:a5 tt\ut pro!Jmms will focus on, in consull3tion v.1th the commun ~ies. Such key areas, 
for example, are the QUality of land, air and water in and around the mine shes:. To mitigate the impact 
on tl\ese aspects of tl\e environment TMC cpn ducts the following oct Mi les: 

1..3nd An W3ter 
RemovoVe~triiCIIOn of SOli dUfiOQ 
the min in~ operotfon \\~11 resu~ in 
1 he deg mdollon of lond ~u rlDO<. 
However, miti~Dting mtD SUies, 
sU<>h os ~tfore!llotion on~ 
rehllbiitatior. ore ~ng bkl to 
miUJote ~om !>XI on milled -<>ut 
9teil:S. 

MINE REHABIUTATION 

Du11ng dl)' mont)ls, dust 
emissions rue monage:d usinQ 
woler truck lorries deployed ta 
sproy the xtivehoubge roods. 

Ou11ng ra1n., run .-off wrrter w1ll flow 
d<rwnstreom f1om the mine pit 
o~using &ikMion. However .. silt:Jtion 
ponds were strotegicollyoonstrucled 
to olbw oollds to settle before 
~tleosln:~ the woterto the rP!er orod 
meet I~ otbwoble OENR stoodllld 
wtooh ls<lO m!liL (ospe~ OA0·35}. 

Mined ooloreas ofTMC ore renoll<liotedtt>roogna Jl(ocess l nv<lNing reshaping. boclrtil ing. 
stlbiizollon ond tr·<e p!onllng. 1 1\rough theseefforts, t llecom!l"nrwu oblelo renoll<liate a t otal of 
9S.B6 hectares of If eclar~t1 mined out areas in 2013, u.slngl 03,3.8& ieedllngs of Mtive speCies and fast· 
g:rowing specie&, Creeping grnsses such as 1'\umidicola and vetiver prasses were i!lso introduced to 
impro'le soil f<MIIIty, 

One oftl\e mined out ph. covering an area of 1.2& hectares was converted to a Gu layan and Prutasan 
(fruits and vegetable farm) wl\ere various kinds of forest trees, fruit trees Bl'!d vegetables were planted. 
rruits and vegetables suet\ as squash, okra, eggplant, tomato, string beans, com, etc are regularly 
har1ested from the form and distributed to employees. This is tangible proof that it is possible to bring 
back the soli fertility of min eel out areas to generate economic valu e. 

In support of reseortt\ on rehilbilitation, TMC allocated one hectare of land to the Department of 
En'liron ment and Natural Resources Ecosystems Research and Oe'lelopment See/ice (DENR·ERDS) 
on~ reseorchers from the Uni>~rsty oflhe Phiippines Los Bonos. Thdr study, called "Lllndscape 
runcti>nol Analysi s (LrA) for Mine Renabiftation•, tries to dlscO"<r ~nerwovs of using land for 
reforesioUon octl-il f<• 

Total of 98.88 hectares 
rehabilitated land, with 
ove1 1 03,386 seed I ings 
planted by 2013 

RE FORI:STA liON 

Oulsid• of rrined out sl es, lMCconducts r<forutlng ond enrictvnent p!ontilg adMti~ Co help 
<nrlch the ecosystem, even outside ns ore .. of cp<f'3Uon To dote, 768.27 hectares of land has been 
rtforested by TMCwithin fts MPSA area, With over 1.028,523 seedings planted, while oolsi de of Its 
clolm ore:~, 17a.43 hectares ho'le benefit od fron> 1 a;111 seedlin gs planted tnru seedling donat ions. •• 
pmrt of the com.pany's commitment to t he NaUon al Greening Program. Nearby coastal areas are also 
reforested byTMC by planting mangrove needlln lls. L.ast year, tt\e company planted 8,214 m~mgro•1e 
propngules along 2.12 l\ect3res of land. 

1'0 supplement tile reforestation progroms oflMC, enrichment planting is also impl-emented, 
using fast growing plants, to help I he Cree seed lln~s propagate foster. A total of 193,6Sa man glum, 
ou riculifonnis, mangkono and lahilalli seedlings were planted along a total area of 1 56.8& 1\ectorec 
stretching within tile Punta Naga and Cogdlonoo ridge slopes. Humedecola grass and cocon et ore 
us eel by the company to support the stabiliZation cf slop~s In open areas and bare lands to stop soil 
er-of>lon. These areas are maintained by lMO through brushing and fertilizer application . So rar.. 90 
hectares of land has been maintained by the company, 

51 ,969 mangrove propagules have been planted by TMC along 
23 81 hectares of land. to date 
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Part of the rehabilitation and reforestation program of TMC is the protection of the biodiversity in the 
environment around its mine sites. TMC monitors the propagation and levels of extinction risk of plants 
and trees around its areas of operation, to create policies and programs that can help protect specific 
species from any man-made threats. The plant species identified by the company are as follows: 

formosum) 

Brackenridgea palustris 

Tanglin (Adenanthera intermedia) 

Narra (Pterocarpus indicus forma indicus) 

Anti polo (Artocarpus blancot) 

Mangkono (Xanthostemon verdugonianus) 

Our exploration operations have minimal impact on the environment. Included in our exploration 
activities are environmental mitigation work programs which includes the establishment of a nursery 
in the exploration area. For the year 201 3, the exploration team was able to gather almost 2,000 
wildings which will be planted in various areas affected by drilling and test pitting activities. 

Nursery at TMC minesite 

TMC takes advantage of international environmental initiatives like the World Environment 
Month Celebration in June 2013, to conduct company-wide tree-planting activities at the 
watershed of Barangay Cagdianao. Two hundred employees participated in the activity, 
planting 3,000 forest tree seedlings along the mountain ridge. Other activities during the 
month long celebration included a motorcade, "Lakad Para sa Kalikasan" and art and photo 
competitions, among others. 
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POLLUTION CONTROL 

Day-to-day operations of the company yield some amount of emission, disturbance and waste 
materials. To address this, TMC implements programs that monitor and reduce the effects of mine 
activities on the environment. In handling dust emissions, TMC conducts water spraying on roads 
around the mine sites, everyday, in a 2 shift schedule. Water lorries are used to spray the active mine 
roads, pier yard roads, campsite, causeway and the national highway. 

Impact on the environment is also minimized by monitoring the energy consumption and GHG 
emissions of mining activities. The table below shows a summary of the emissions and consumption 
the company had for 201 3: 

Category I Material I Consumption I Unit I Source 

Energy Electricity (generated) 863,904 KWH Gen Sets 

Energy Electricity (purchased) 40,260 KWH SURNECO 

Energy Diesel 429,343 Li Third Party Supplier 

*Increase in GHG emission levels from 2012 was due to the construction of a belt conveyor, as well as the improvement of haulage roads, 
wharf and other facilities 

WASTE MANAGEMENT 

Solid Waste Management Plan 

TMC manages its solid waste through a sanitary landfill and a Material Recovery Facility (MRF). Last 
year, 1,498 m3 of solid waste was disposed in the sanitary landfill, while 19,182 kg. of recyclable/ 
scrap metal items were recovered from the MRF. The saleable materials yielded an amount of PhP 
189,907.55 in sales value. 

Hazardous Waste Management Plan 

There are four types of hazardous waste generated from TMC's operations: used oil, used batteries, 
used motor oil filters and chemical acid waste from its assay laboratory. A covered storage facility 
is constructed at the mine site where used oil and oil f1lter contained in metal drums, and wet cell 
batteries are temporarily stored. These are then sold to buyers accredited by the Environment 
Management Bureau (EMB) for proper disposal. Beside the Storage Facility is a two chamber oil-water 
separator where contaminated oil is placed to separate contaminants from the oil, prior to storage in 
metal drums. 

The assay laboratory analyzes the sample of nickel ore as per the required specification uses 
chemicals like HCI, H

2
S0

4
, HN0

3 
and HCL0

4
, HF and H

3
P0

4 
during ore digestion prior to analysis. All the 

waste solutions are f1rst diluted then discharged into a sink which drains into an enclosed storage pit 
at the chemical waste storage area. The storage pit is lined with limestone at the bottom, to neutralize 
the acid solution before it is discharged to the foreshore settling pond. 
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WATER QUALITY DEGRADATION MEASURES 

Watershed Management Plan 

Anotll·er main environmental concern ofTMC is the maintenance of good water quality and siltation. To 
address this, TMC devised a droinage system to collect and separnte c.learwaters from disturbed areas. 
The clean water is discharged into lagan ito River.. while silt-laden runoff is discllarged in settling ponds. 
Once suspended particles settle in the pond, the clean water is discllarged into tile environment. 

ror our purpose, TMC monitors tile rate of water intake atthe settling p.ond sand the quality at the 
d iscllarge points. Parameters closely monitored are the Total Suspended Solids(TSS) and pH le>Jels. 
Samples are regularly gathered at discharge points for quality test in g. Also being monitored is Crb1' 
concentration to establish bencllmarkin g data as agreed witll EMB. 

TMC adopted the Taganito River in colaboration with EMS-Region 13 and the Local Governm.ent Unit 
(LGU). The 6.1 Km river is tile main stream affected by the operation ofTMC. A siltation pond was 
strategically built to a rest run-offfrom the mine pits. Deposited sediment materials from upstream 
sou n:es are periodically dredged using backhoes and a water master drecl ging mach in e. 

In removing accumulated silL TMC uses mecllanical desilting in tile river tllrouglla track excavator 
(Backlloe). Bou ld ering of the river is also being done continuously to strengthen tile embankment 
and in crease its heigllt to protect nearby communities from floods and waves. New environmental 
structures were also con structecl to improve tile quality of the water coming from run-off of n.IIC's 
MPSA area. The drainage system was designed to isolate silted ru n-offfrom natural water so that water 
d ischargecl into the lagan Ho River is clean. 

Total Silt Volume Collected 

W<Jter Consumption 

Mechanized 359,365.85 WMT (Settling ponds) 
Manual 12,423.64 WMT (Settling ponds) 

Catch Drainage 138,971.77WMT (Drainage System) 

Ground water con_sumeli for 1MG cam.psite op.o:r3iion.s-\'/3& 65~ 773.06 m~ .. and was usftl ford 11y lt"Y: 
tl ay· .:>per at tc-n"JI athvltres~ Surt.lce vtater waS; used t•), sprinkle on tl3ul roa cis for Clust suppress1or1 ilOQ - - - - ' -

to dean the notional tUgllwciy. TMC us.:tl 219,216 rn.t Of surface v;ater from the-creek for the10 utsl 
siJppr~SS-IC•n, < • • • • 

j l.O:•l3 SLSTAIH-"81UlY REPORT 
I 

Social Responsibility 

TMC implements different projects to he.lp d e>Jelop tile health.li'Jelihood and address social issues 
facing tile communities it operates in, as part of its corporate responsibility. 

Employees 

TMC's employees are the core of its business. Tile company ensures that each personnel has access 
to a llealtlly and safe working environment to maintain efficient work practices. 

As of2013, TMC has a total of1,327 employees at mine site, including mine ser1ice contractors. This 
is broken clown into tile following: 

FULL liME PROBAllONARV SEASONAL & TOTAL MARKETING 

SR. MANAGEMENT 3 - . 3 
MIDDLE MANAGEMENT 7 - . 7 
STAFF 15 - . 15 
SUPERVISOR ond TECHNICAL 114 4 . 118 
RANK&FILE 219 11 . 230 
SEASONAL WORKER/ . - 954 954 
MARKETING 

GRAND TOTAL 358 15 954 1,377 

Turnover r<Jte: 

Age Group M~le Fem<Jie TOTAL 
18. 25 13 13 
26.40 31 2 33 
41 - 60 15 15 
TOTAL 59 2 61 
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Collective Bargaining Agreement and Benefits 

TMC recognizes the Taganito Labor Union (TLU) as the sole and exclusive bargaining representative 
of the appropriate bargaining unit, which consists of all permanent and regular rank and file 
employees and workers employed by TMC in its mining operations. The union binds itself to respect 
the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) and agrees not to accept employees who do not belong 
to the appropriate bargaining unit. Both TMC and TLU respect the right of each employee to freely 
choose to join a union. The CBA took effect in February 1, 201 0 and lasts until January 31, 2015. 
Sixty percent (60%) of the regular workforce is covered by collective bargaining agreement (CBA) 
which is 219 employees out of 358 regular employees. 

Regular employees are also provided with a comprehensive benefits package to help them maximize 
their physical, fmancial and personal health and well-being. These benef1ts include healthcare (for 
employees and dependents), paid leaves, insurance, retirement benefits and well ness. 

Apart from regular benefits, TMC provides employees with proper training to enhance their work skills. 
Part of the intensified internal training program was the selection of 21 qualified employees, trained 
and certified by TESDA, to become in-house trainers and facilitators. Training courses include topics 
on equipment operation and maintenance, occupational safety and health, environment, sample 
preparation and analysis, exploration, supervision and leadership, and personal development. 

TMC also designs training programs for career advancement opportunities. To address growing 
demands for skilled drivers and operators, TMC screens applicants from its pool of rank and f1le 
employees and provides sufficient training to make them eligible for promotion. A summary of the 
average hours of training spent by employees is in the table below: 

Employee Category 

Senior Management 

Middle 

Su 

Rank& File 

*Male -1.7 hrs. ; Female- 9.5 hrs. 

Health and Safety 

The health and safety of the workforce is an area that the company puts much focus on. Proper 
health and safety policies are enforced to ensure little to no accidents happen within TMC's areas 
of operations. Employees are provided with suitable equipment to protect them from any effects of 
their tasks and enable them to efficiently carry out their work. 

One of the policies of the company is to provide employees under the CBA with proper health and 
safety benefits, such as the ones below 

Health and safety benef1ts provided to CBA members: 
Medical, dental and hospitalization benefits 
Free annual physical exam 
Use of ambulance 
Creation and maintenance of a Central Safety Committee 
Accident investigation and reporting 
Identification and prevention of hazardous and unhealthy working conditions 
Safety paraphernalia 
Proper labeling of chemical containers 
Transportation for employees during weekly marketing 
Physical fitness facilities. 

2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 

TMC workers are also provided with the required PPEs such as skull 
guards, reflectorized vests, rain boots, gloves and goggles to ensure 
their safety during exploration. 

To monitor and advise about the effective implementation of Health 
and Safety Programs, TMC created the Central Safety Committee· 
(esc), Labor Management Committee (LMC), Safety Audit Committee 
and Loss Control Coordinators, These committees are represented 
by a total,of 35 employees which Includes department heads and 
contractors headed by the division manager. 

TMC also conducts practical safety program training and 
development for its employees. Important safety trainings such as 
Basic Occupational Safety and Health (BOSH), Defensive Driving, 
Fire Safety, Fleet Safety and Safety Audit Training were conducted to 
continuously educate employees on safety awareness. A total of 29 
trainings on safety were conducted during the year. 

In terms of internal and external threats, TMC ensures the safety 
of its workers by providing proper security measures around the 
areas of operation. The company enlisted the support of 1 16 Special 
Civilian Armed Auxiliary (SCAA) whose main mission is to protect 
the company against any such threats. This para-military force 
underwent basic military training operations under the supervision 
of the Philippine Army to develop their skills and knowledge on 
security operations. The SCAA are also supplemented by 48 security 
guards who regulate access and man all vital facilities within TMC 
Campsite area. 

TMC allotted 
PhP 3 million 
for internal and 
external training 
programs 

The Labor 
Management 
Council (LMC) 
awarded TMC 
with the .. Most 
Outstanding LMC 
for Industrial 
Peace Award" 

As a result of these programs and activities, there was a dramatic improvement in TMC's 
safety performance with a significant drop of lost-time injury frequency rate from 1 .1 2 in 
2012 to 0.16 in 2013. The company also maintained Zero (0) Fatality, Zero (0) Occupational 
Diseases and 21 lost time due to 1 non-fatal accident. 

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PLAN 

For the SDMP, TMC implements various programs and projects for its 4 host and neighboring 
communities namely barangays Taganito, Urbiztondo, Hayanggabon and Cagdianao as well as for the 
10 non-mining barangays of the Municipality. These projects are governed by the Health, Education, 
Livelihood, Public utilities/ services and Socio-cultural preservation (HELPS) as def1ned by the 
Mines and Geoscience Bureau RXIII and focus on areas such as infrastructure, education, health and 
indigenous people (IPs). 

In terms of education programs, TMC allocated PhP 4.6 million for projects that included school 
repairs, installation of school guard house, improvement of school stage, provision of various 
educational materials and school supplies. Two other major projects under education are the 
scholarship program and the teacher sponsorship program. For the scholarship program, TMC 
provided a full scholarship grant to 25 deserving students from the host communities and fmancial 
assistance to 120 students from the 4 mining communities. Under the teacher sponsorship program, 
7 teachers were supported which paved the way for the schools in the host communities to attain the 
1:45 teacher-student ratio, as required by the DepEd. 
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TMC also participated in Brigada Eskwela 2013, by cleaning and repairing schools in 4 mining 
barangays, including Punta Naga Elementary School. In line with Brigada Eskwela's theme "/sang 
Dekada ng Bayanihan Para sa Paara/an", TMC donated various forest and fruit trees, backfilling and 
painting materials and conducted tree planting activities in the school grounds. Participants of the 
activity were TMC college scholars, summer job students from the communities, and Geology and 
ComRel personnel. 

TMC's active support and participation in these activities contributed to Taganito Elementary School 
winning the National Award for "Best Implementer- Exceptional School Category" for Brigada 
Eskwela 2013. 

For infrastructure projects, TMC allotted PhP 2.7 million for the following activities: 
Construction of Catholic Chapel in Brgy. Urbiztondo 
Renovation of the multi-purpose hall in Brgy. Daywan 
Improvement and installation of various structural requirements (wharf perimeter fence and 
jetmatic pumps) in day care centers in Wangke, Sapa and Cabugo 
Repair of Catholic and non-Catholic buildings of worship and facilities 
Improvement of barangay facilities such as street lighting, health center, pedestrian pathways, 
senior citizens' building, procurement of generator set, waste disposal facilities, and water 
system 

A breakdown of the infrastructure projects of TMC can be found in the table below 

170,000.00 

1,000,000.00 

Community Information Centers Improvement Purok Centers 133,373.34 

Fence Construction (San Labrador Chapel) Church 100,000.00 

Construction of Guard House School 50,000.00 

Church Construction Phase 1 Church 300,000.00 

100,000.00 

Center 

Installation of Roof1ng and Trusses Daycare Center 25,000.00 

CAPSASD PO 150,000.00 

50,000.00 

Boulevard Perimeter Fence 40,000.00 

Commu 100,000.00 

Provision of Materials (Senior Citizens Building) Senior Citizens 30,000.00 

Installation of 1 Jetmatic Pump School 10,000.00 

Total 2,663,373.34 

In the area of health, PhP 1.9 million was spent for various programs in the communities. These 
consisted of activities like a supplemental feeding project that aims to address malnutrition issues 
among children and the provision of medical equipment and facilities, and fmancial support for 
barangay health workers. Senior Citizens and Persons with Disabilities (PWDs) were also given 
focus, through TMC's inclusive community development program. 
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For livelihood programs a total of PhP 2.7M was spent to support different community-based 
entrepreneurial initiatives through company-organized People's Organizations (POs). One of the major 
activities of TMC was the comprehensive assessment of all POs established by the company through 
the years. The Participatory Organizational Profiling and Assessment or POPA was initiated together 
with the POs to collectively determine the strengths, weaknesses and gaps and areas for improvement 
of the groups as basis for appropriate intervention for future projects. 

Under this component of the SDMP, TMC provides both financial and technical assistance to further 
strengthen the capacities of the POs to make them self-reliant and productive organizations of the 
communities. In the table below are the corresponding classifications of community-based POs: 

Corporate Social Responsibility 

CBO 

CWOBB - Capandan Women's Organization Bigasan ng Barangay 
HATA- Hayanggabon Traders' Association 
PRIME- Panaghiusa Reporma sa lnesyatibong Magpalambo sa 
Ekonomiya 
GKKAB - Gawad Kalinga Kapitbahayan Bigasan ng Barangay 
CAPSASD - Capangdan Sabang Alliance for Sustainable Development 
URWASS - Urbiztondo Rural Workers Association 

HARE- Hayanggabon Rural Entrepreneur 

TASFPA- Taganito Seedling Producers Micro-folks Association 

TMC's CSR program is focused on the support and development of the Mamanwa IP group, through 
their registered group collectively known as Ampantrimtu. This organization is composed of 2 tribal 
groups with 120 households coming from Brgys. Taganito and Urbiztondo, with whom the company 
has an ongoing Memorandum of Agreement (MOA), as a result of the Free, Prior and Informed Consent 
(FPIC) provided by the IPs to TMC. Non-IP communities are also supported by the company in the 
areas of health, disaster risk reduction and infrastructure. 

CSR for IP Communities 

For the residents of Punta Naga Mamanwa Village, 2013 was highlighted with projects aimed at the 
continuous development of their tribal communities. 

The Mamanwa tribe is composed of indigenous people (IPs) living in Taganito and Ubiztondo. TMC 
provided 120 homes, constructed in partnership with THPAL Nickel Corporation. Another village was 
also developed in coordinaton with Gawad Kalinga, providing 40 duplex units for 80 households. 

Last year, improvements to a number of homes were made in the village. The project encouyraged 
the Mamanwas to furhter beautify the area and esnure thr safety of the environment and embark 
on individual home expansion and improvements. Apart from housing, slope stabilization abd road 
repairs were done in different parts of the community. 
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Punta Naga fs also home to the Punta Naga School, one ofthe education facilities constructed and 
supported by TMC ond THPAL through the Ad opt • School Program. ror school yeo r 2013-2014, 
enrollment went up to 438, from 236 in tile pre'lious year. This resu lied in tile lliring of 3 additional 
teachers and repa·ir of S additional classrooms to accommodate then ev1 -students. lmpro'!ements of 
otllet school facilities and pro'lision of educational materials sucllas posters and reference books 
were also· key projects .oflMC. Planting of 'lilrious tree species and ·carabao grasses within the scllopl 
grounds and selected areas of tile community were initiated in coordination with. tile company's 
community relations and en'lironment group, scholars~ parents~ teacllers and students. Educational 
assistance to 1 S.lligll school and college scllolar.s was also provided by tile company. 

In terms of health support 1MC establislled 3 
tribal clinic in the Ilea rt of tile Village.. wherein 
community-based medical consultations with 
free medicines were conducted. Tile company 
also encouraged healthier l~1ing by h:a'ling 
famiHes· install vegetable gardens in their 
respective backyards to address malnutrition 
concerns and to contribute to food security. 
Community clean -ups-in partn e·rsllip with tile 
school and tile women sector were :,Jiso regular 
activities that helped maintain tile cleanliness 
of the community. TMC and THPAL are also 
planning tile establishment of 3 Water and 
Sanitation Committee wllich will be respon si.ble 
for tjle care and maintenance of a water system 
that will be installed by both companies. 

' 
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CSR Program for Non-IP Communities 

Apart from programs fortlle IP communities, TMC. also implements CSR acti'l·ilies for non-IP 
·communities both in tile. mintng and non-mining barangay-s. 

One oflMC's major CSR projects for tile year was tile con duct of its annual medical-surgical mission. 
In february 2013, TMC and THPAL went to 6 mining baron gays to provide its residents with: medical 
serlices·sucllas major and minor surgeries, lab exams and general consultations. All in aiL-2,116 
people received d ifje'rent medical ser1ices· during tile mission. Tile br.eakd own is as follows: 

Another major initiative of tile company is its program ford isaster risk red ut'tion and m'an agement 
through: its in-llo.use Emergency Response Team (EAT). In January 2013, incessant rai.ns caused 
e>tacuations in baran gays around tile minesites, prompting TMC to provide assistance to the affected 
communities. The Crisis· Management Team. called Oplan flood, responded by coordinating witll 
the LGU for the evacuation process and management oft he e>lacuation center of the b3Filn_gay. Tllis 
included preparation of food, relief goods and provision water supply. A total of 2.013 evacuees were 
assisted. 

As.ide from natural calamities:. TMC also respo.nds to man.-made disasters. One such event was a fire 
in tile commun it·y of Baran gay Tag_anito, which affecte.d 1 OS households and 367 ind .~liduals.TMC's 

fire brigade spearllead.ed tile responselogether with tile medical team, wllo attended to first-aid 
injuries. Tile ComRel unit ·oflMC also facilitated tile evacuation center management in partners.h·ip 
witt\ the Local Government Unit (LGU). C,ompany employees pooled togetllerto provide assorted 
goods. while TMC management also p·rovided cash grants amounting to PhP2..500 forfamilies 
atfe.ded byth:e fire. 

CLOSURE PLAN 

TMC already h:as a final Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning Plan (rMRDP) that was· approved 
in Ju ty 2012 covering its entire operation. This, however,. is subJect for review and revision to inclu d.e 
newasp.ects of tile company's opemtion. 
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Environmental Responsibility 

HMC recognize.s ns responsibility towards the :environment around its areas of operation. 
ror 2013, HMC. allotted a budget of PhP 91.3 million for its Environ mental Protection and 
Enllancem·ent Programs (EPEP). lllis budget was used forvarious environmental projects that 
focus on rehabilitation and reforestation, biod i'J.ersity, pollution controL solid and hazardous waste 
managem·ent and watershed management, among otllers. O.tllerkey projects ofHMCwere tile 
National Greening Progrnm, environ mental mon ttoring, coastal resource management and various 
research in itiati'Jes witllacademic institutions and private ·organizations. 

HMC's expenditures for its EPEP in 2013 was PhP 91 millio·n 

Other initiatives of HMC focus on tile mitigation of environmental impacts by focusing on key areas 
sucllas L.an d, Air and Water. Effo-rts to mainta·in tile quality of these areas are as follows: 

Land A!l 'Water 

Pro g re:,s swe· re.h:J brlltatroo and 
re{oresbtion 

National Greening Program 

Oust oontrol thru re;_gulaJ road 
gr>di~g,>nd spmyin,a 

J)on.str UC'tiOO of -srltatron po,ndst 
sumps and curtain canals. 

Through the Nation ai .Greening Ptogram (NGP), I-IMC works with its communities to· protect and 
enllan ce tile environment tllrougll reforestation. ramilies witlllimitedli'telilloods were eng3ged. 
by the company to join and help acllieve the company's goal of en'lironmental protection and 
en han ce-ment through community-based seed ling pro-duction and reforestration. 

Some of tile programs d.one in partnership with t ile NGP are: 
Mining rorest Program 
Coastal Resour.ce Management Progrnm 
En'lironmental Mpnitoring Prpgrant 
Researcll and De-1e1o.pment 

REHABILITATION 

I 
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I-IMC llas consistently put an. effort to progressj•/ely rehabilitate-(backfill and reshape) around 1 & 
hectares of mined -out areas. rrom tlliS amount Ofland,about 5 hectares were gradually re-vegetated 
witll19,500 seedlings planted in 2.013. Tile communitywas·also asked to assist in tile efforts to 
expedite the process tllro·ugll its Community Output-Ba-sed Reforestation Progrnm. Since 2.011, HMC 
has rellabilitatecl 31 llectares of land in its areas of operation. 

REFORESTATION 

Outside tile mined-out areas~ HMC. forested a total l)f 1 &31lectares-of d isturbecl areas witlll 88;223 
seedlings planted.l n addition, a total of 15,000 -seedlin,gs equ i'talent to 30 llectares were don a·tecl to 
communities under tile said progrnm. 

The overall reforestation accomplishment outside mining 
areas is 193 hectares. with about 203,200 seedlings planted 
ror coastal areas, 97,848 man grove seedlings were planted on 33.39 hectares· resu ding in 15&,317 
mangrove seedlings ll3ve planted on around40.&41lectares since tile program started in 2.011. 
Regular coastal water monitoring is c·ondu cted by I-IMC and the water Quality has remain eel. within 
DENA limit. 

I-IMC also implements tile Coastal Resource Management Program (CAMP) covering a variety 
of activities su cllas tile assessment of coastal. and mario e. resource's, protection of reeffrom 
degradation due to mining impact and. enhancement of e:<istin_g coastal and marine resources. 

Regular coastal clean-ups and un den'iater clean ups were conducted along tile co.asts of Barangay 
Ta{a•1ern and l-linatuan Island wherein local residents worked w ith company emp.loyees, guest s fr.om 
government an 1:1 non-government agencies and professional divin_g communities. 

On tile aspect of research and linka g_es., H"MC collaborated witll UPLB and ca·rag3 State Uni'lersity 
in the study of various -species -suited for mine rehabilitation. An ongoing study on the feasibility of 
Jatropha was als.o initiated with: a pri'1at.efirm~ Kibitech.lnc. 



Otheoop<eles being studied and listed under the IUCN ofHMCart 
Sho~a negt .. enslo (categorized as wlnerable and olili<al)lendon~~tred species b>t OENRand 
IUCN) 
C.mptostemon phllppt1<11S<! (recognized b'f conserwtlon authofflles ij• end an !!fred species} 
Pophioptdllumb;uballlm (c:~tegcrized as wtl erabte spedes by OENA and IU~ 
xanthosternon ~rcfugoolaPus {Mdemicto tne country Jnd cooshJerect as ttn endangered speci es) 

POUIJTION CONTROl 

HMC manages ltG rtcHd and I\3Z3rdous wastes from operations 11nd coming from comrr.u nities tllrough 
efficient ond respon!'.ilble pro~H3ms. The company implementswute segregiltion. operationalized MRr:. 
composting and landnlllng. lhe compony olso hos oil oppllca ble perm~s to handle hozardou s wastes. 

HMC also contlnuou sly mon hors Rs su rrou m:ling en'Jironment by con duct in g a regular W3ter sampling, 
air sampling and men ttorln{l of the drainage and siltation ponds. l lle: resu nG oftl\e sampling are 
reported to the DENA regional offices of MGB ond EMB on a quarterly basis. A separate monitoring of 
the Mu ~i -Partlte Monitoring Team (MMl) is also being undertaken on a quarterly bosis. 

The HMC TNP e:n•ltronmental monitoring complies wltll the preccrlbed monitoring requirements of 
OENRwhii:llls Implemented through the Mulipartite Monitoring Tum (MMT). MMT m embers are 
composed of OENR-MGB-13., DENR EMS 13~REACH roundiltlonJ tncy 8arong;:ty To bvern LGU, religious 
sec.torrepresenhlli'ie 11nd HMC represenbtiYe. 

Sum1113ry of the emission,.. and "'"llY used it l ast years optrabon$ <r.~n be round in the loble below_ 

WASTE MANAGEMENT 

Solid Waste Management 

~C m.1r\i1QeS its solid waste in oo~lance with 
DAO 2001-34 under RA9003A Wastematenal• 
gentr.s1ed by oper-ations fif th-e company are 
"'tll'•o•ted and disposed occordingly,wNie 
plastic~ wood bronc hoes~ and leaves -are shreDd~d 
into smaller pieces separately by the granulator. 
The shredded biodegrable materials are used a~ 
mulch 111 mine rel\abilnation, and metol scraps 
a~ sold to authorized buyer. 

In man aging these materials, the company 
uses o controlled dumpsite established at 
Eastern 1 where solid wastes are segregated 
In to biodegradable and no.n -biodegradable. 
~fC\'cloble materials are reco'Jered and stored 
111 the Materials Reco"ry racility tMRr') at 
Kae;kog Area and solD to scmp buyers-1 while 
bfodegradable vr.Jstes :lfe utilized as feed to 
th< gorb3oe gmnulalorlcr use in production of 
ftrmlcullure compost. 

WAT13l QUALITY DEGRADATION MEASURES 

Wattrshed Managemt>nl Plan 

HMCinvesled on a number or heavy equlpments 
for ns dr3in3ge maintenance and desilting 
program. One of tlte m3jor projects is tile 
re· engfneering of main settling ponds to 
accommodate tile 'lolume of sediments and 
eroded materials from mine erosion. 

Around 127,529 m• ofsi'ltwere remo'led fl'l)m 
el(lstlng settlin g ponds. silt collector sumps and­
drainages. Sofar.the tot ai•Jolume capacity or 
tile establi shed settling ponds omd silt colitctcx 
sumps stand sat O'Jer 115.523 m'. Additional 
settling ponDs anD sui'Jl)s are being constructed 
lo acconvnod3te lb:ewater run-off from acti1e 
mtne :a'earo and olflerdisturbed ar&s. 

Water Consumption 

HMC used about 26.01 5 G38ons of woter 
(9847149 m? lor drinking purposes. lhe water 
was token from filtered springs around tile area. 
ror planting purposes. HMC uses -about BAOO m • 
ofwater e'leryyear.. while 34,380 m• is used for 
rJu st suppression. Water for these pUrposes are 
sou reed from Kaskag creek and settling pond $, 
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HazardollS Waste managemt>nt 

fttentified M zardous waste are colecteo and 
tronsported b>t trained PCO persoonel ond 
pmp•rty ste<ed ~11\az.lrdousfaciily at central 
Afe3. AJI l\az3nious wastes generoted from tile 
mlnt!slte are properly accounted and reported 
lo I he EMB Reglon:il Olfice. Once ready for 
tron&port. tt\ese llazardous wastes are deliveted, 
treated and stored through OENR-accred~ed 
transporterS/ lreoteOl. 

Used oil is also carefully man aged by the 
comp3ny. l,3st year.. a total of 238 drums of 
used oil were used for operations. To improve 
the monttgement of used oil, tile storage foc lllly 
at til! motorpoolarea was expanded to Utilize 
ll special containment unit. lntemalWaste 
materials (low grade pale gray soil). on the other 
hOnd, ar< also dumped togetherYilh I he top soi 
rcr mine renablliotion purposes_ 

Stnr.e 1he start of 1he proJect 
261.122.23 ms of silt has been 
recovered from established 
settling ponds. stlt collector 
sumps and drainages 
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Social Responsibility 

HMC implements different projects to help develop the healtll..livelihood and ad dress social issues 
facing the communities it operates in, as part of its corporate responsibility. 

Employees 

As of2013, HMC'stotal workforce is at 1,245. Breakdown of tile company's employees belovl 

CBA & Benefits 

Employee Turnover 
Male: 12 
Female: 4 
Total : 16 

As with other NAG companies, a Collective Bargaining Agreement covering 85.86~ of HMC employees, is 
HMC and its workers' union. The breakdown of employees underth:e CBA is as follows: 

Regular employees are also provicl ed witll tile following benefits: 

HMC Regular Employees' Benefits: 
rree meals 
rree laundry 
rree accommodation 
SSS, PHILHEALTH,PAG-IBIG 
Company Uniform 
Rice allowa nee 
Toiletries 
Medicine allowance 
Medicard(HMO) 
Sick leave. 
Vacation leave 
Paternity leave, 
Group insurance, 
fly in-fly out airfare ticket 
Year end bonus & midyear bon us 

Health and Safety 

Rank and rile Benefits 
SSS,PHILHEALTH,PAG-IBIG, 
rree a ccomodation, 
Rice allowance, 
Medicine allowance, 
Medicanl (HMO), 
Group life insurance 
Yearend bonus & midyear bonus, 
Sick leave, Vacation leave, 
P:lternity leave, 
Company uniform 

HMC considers tile immens·e value of its workforce for its everyday operations. To ensure tllat tlleir 
physical and mental well-being are maintained, tile company developed and maintains llealtlland 
safety programs fortllese employees. 

One progmm is tl\~ creation of a Central S3f~ty, Health and Envlronmental Committee (CSH€C) by 
th.l! ccmp;;ny Tills-comrn1ttee is msd.e up c-f 30 employees, 1 Z Labor·Miln3gement'GounciL S 
rT•3n3gement and 13 union officers. Apart from -en su riny til at prop-er 1\ealtt\, safo!ty and environment:JI 
prJ~tices are followed within HMC's areas of op'!·ration; tlle tommlttee is also In ~!large cf aPproving 
tile Annual Safety and Health Progr.Jm fASHP) c·f HMCJ-11\3t 1s submitted tc Mmes and Geosciences 
Bureou H (MGB 13) 

The company also conducts health programs like lectures to educate workers on occupational 
hygiene, pulmonary TB, heat exhaustion/Ileal stroke and other medical conditions to llelp employees 
maintain tlleir good health inside and outside the workplace. HMC also con ducts fitness progrn ms to 
promote an on-sedentary lifestyle to its workers. To monitor the health of employees, the company 
con ducts clleck-ups with sugar blood tests. 
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SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PLAN 

Similar to the other NAC companies (RTNMC, TMC and CM~, HMC also has a Social Development 
Management Plan (SDMP) tllat is developed every five years in con suIt at ion witll tile communities to 
ad dress tlleir issues and needs. Under the SDMP. HMC was able to implement projects covering areas 

lnfonnation Campaign/ 
MiningTecllnolow & 
Research 

l'hl' 12,508,096.55 

--- -

l'hl' 4,4 75,089.33 

Total PhP 25,472,167.56 

l'hl' 28 7,858.5 7 
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Under eel ucation, HMC scllolars from day care pupils to 
secondary students, were provided witll free scllool and 
matriculation fees, slloes, uniforms, bags, and educational 
supplies, wllile schools were given audio-visual equipment which: 
include computer units and accessories. HMC also constructed 
school buildings and otller·scllool infrastructure support to 
augment the shortage of educational facilities in tile community. 

Twenty-tllree (23) college scllolars from llost communities 
and tile Municipality of Tagana-an were fully supported by 
tile company as they took various courses like Engineering.. 
Education, Environment and Mining. Tile students are enrolled 
in tile following cities: Surigao, Butuan, Cebu, Dumaguete, and 
Manila. 

HMC,in partnership with Tecllnical Education ancl Skills 
De-1elopment Authority (TESDA), provides assistance to its 
automotive, electronics ancl welding scholars through tile 
'enrollment to employment' scholarship. Last year, 61 scholars 
benefited from tile program. _going under llolistic training that 
includes cllam cter-building ancl attitude towards work training, 
basic occupational safety and llealtllan d actual skills training at 
TESDA centers in Surigao and Da'Jao. Tile company also enrollee! 
the scllola rs in basic American English training in Butuan to 
prepare them for future employment here ancl abroad. 

Recently, HMC scholars had tile following accomplishments: 
14 welclin g scllolars completed their requirements to be 
eligible for employment abroad, witll tile assistance ofTESDA 
1 B automotive scholars are waiting for tlleir OJT training in 
Butua n City in some of tile world's biggest and well-known 
car companies. 
29 electronic scholars on their OJT at P3 nasonic in Laguna. 

HMC supports 
1,251 scholars 
from day care to 
college including 
those enrolled 
in the technical­
vocational (tech­
voc) scholarship 
program 



"' 

Tile company has also achieved a major milestone in eclu cation 
by implementing the Dynamic Learning Program (DLP)- a new 
science-based teaching metlloclology- forth.e first time in the 
Caraga Region, an 1:1 third in Min clanao. Tile program was developed 
by Drs. Christopher and Ma. Victoria Berniclo, both Ramon 
Magsaysay awarclees for eclu cation. Assistance ttuou gil trainings 
an 1:1 seminars to De pEel teachers and administrators were also 
provided. 

The company assists in the training of De pEel teachers and 
acl ministrators to enhance teaching anclleam in g method. HMC 
also supported other De pEel educational setups and policies such 
as the Altern alive Learning System or and otller extra-curricular 
activities especially in sports. 

Under the llealth component of SDMP. HMC consistently 
implements its quarterly meclical-clental mission, in partn ersllip 
with the Tagana-an Municipal Health Office. The mission is carried 
in 3 host communities, namely: Brw. Talavera, Sitio Cam pan clan 
an 1:1 Sitio Bagong Silang. Tile outreach program ben efittecl 
patients by proviclin gthem with free mecl ical consultation, tooth 
extraction and mecl icines. HMC also conclu ctecl a feeding program 
for 72. underfed children resulting in the complete eradication of 
malnourishment in tile community as reported by tile barangey 
health center. 

Under the ICE 
advocacy, 50 
students benefited 
from the Summer 
Job Program 
through the 
Hinatuan mining 
Employment 
and Learnership 
Program for 
Students (HELPS) 

500 patients benefited from the quarterly medical-dental 
mission of HMC 

In terms of public infrastructure an 1:1 utilities, HMC successfully repaired an 1:1 rehabilitated the 
water systems ofBrw. Talavera and Sitio Bagong Silang. In addition, the operationlization of 
Sitio Campanclan electrification project was attained. Tile company provided homes in the entire 
community with free ser1ice drop wires and electricity meters and street ligt\ting. 

HMC also sponsored tile formulation of tile Baran gay De-1elopment Plan (BOP) of the 13 n eigllboring 
baran gays from the Municipality ofTaga na-an as part of its research program as tile official gu icl in g 
principle in improving the barangay and alta in in g progress in all its communities. 

To help uplift tile economic condition of resicl ents, HMC implemented various livelihood projects in 
2013. These projects were: 

De-1elopment of tile peoples' organizations (POs) 
Support for dress ma.king/tailoring livelihood a nclllancl icraft production 
facilitation of entrepreneurial skills and organization clevelopmenttrainings 
Introduction of proper fish processing 

Close to 650 families are direct beneficiaries of HMC livelihood 
programs and income-generating projects in both, Tag ana-an 
and South Dinagat Nickel Projects 
In acl clition, HMC utilized its Mining Teclln ology a ncl Research fu nels specifically on feasibility study on 
potential livelihood projects an clio cal socio-economic profiling for HMc·s SDMP. 
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c..e is commltelt to the princ~les of sustainable devetopment 3nd recognizes Is roles as stavan:l 
of the etrJfronment. The reforestation program of the cc>fl1)anyls atned to increase forest cover of 
denuded ortos, The P<eo<om is also supports the ~B" Mining ro~tsl Progrom ().1rP) and National 
Greening Program (NGP) oft he !jO'Iernmenl. Managilg the impaet on blodmrsity, tile ell'/ironmenl 
team ho:s COI'YitC! up with an offsetting strategy on activitie s i.'!ssoclo ted by mining through the 
protection of Maragu In g Watershed. Hence impro•1e its habiti.'!t on d consequently meet the living 
conditions of flora and fauna. 

Currently, CMCdoes not hove any mined-out sites. But much action and planning ho•1e already been 
ongoing to ~Ciu ce any environmental impacts that the company may have in and oroun d its areas of 
operation. 

: tA: 6::·:. Park 

REFORESTATION 

Greening and reforestation hils been conducted outside the mining 3re.:~s and in denuded areaswitllil 
its M ineroiProdudion Sharing Agreement (M PSA) whieh are not sultoble for lrining.ln 2014CMC 
pion ted on 4 .3 hectares with almost 5.000 seedlilgs. Orgsnie fertilizer from I he e~ony" 'itnri­
compost ptoject is b<!ing used to imptO'Ie suNi'fol roles of the plonts. CMC spent PhP 23milion for the 
programs under EPEP. 

Other octi'Jitles are continuously conducted for the mointen once and protection of reforested areas, 
including re·plantlng. brushing, fertilizer application and pruning. With respect to coastal areas, the 
company conducts maintenance efforts for4,600 mongro•1e propagules planted on about 0.62 hectares 
of the d ecloreel Valencia Marine Protected Area. 

' 
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198.51 hectares of land has benefited from planting 
proj ects in pursuit of the Carbon Sink Program and National 
Greening Program 

POLLUTION CONTROl 

CMC implements programs 3nd policiesth3t aim to reduce the impact of Hs oper3tions on the 
environment. Some of these projects include man.:~oement of ~ust emissions~ regular m3inten 3nce 
of equipment, management of waste and monitoring of effissions 3nd energy use. 

In on1er to ffinimize the generation of dusl~ I he com~ny eJTC)Ioys the foUo'Wing actHities: 
Regubr water sprayilg of all haul3ge ar~~ lnclu~ing barangay roods~ especialty during dry 
season in the months ofMeytoSeptember 
Employed foor (4) water lorries forsptoylng. wherein o total of 3.305 trips or equiY.:llent to 33,050 
cu.m. ofwoterw:J s sprayed in most mi:!)or mine and commu nity roads 
Periodic grod in g of haulage a reos 
Periodic rood matting of hau l3ge areas 
Creation of dust barriers through the planting of trees at the barangay roadsides and mine 
access road 
Regular conduct of in -house monitoring on ambient air, with the use of a High Volume Sampler. 



So far, ctviC 1\os not e)(perienced any violations or major issues from tile local residents pertaining to 
airborne dust due t tt\e mitigating measures done by tile company. 

As a means or reducing C02 emissions, a considerable number of eQuipment sf facilities were provi ded 
with. mu1flers. P610d ic maintenance schedules on various eQuipments also were con dueled to ensure 
tt\ey run safely and efficiently. 

Planting of di'lersified Spe"cies witflin and ootsi:le WIPSA. area is another .,lfative to reduce greenllouse 
gas errissfon. Trtes are prO'ten to seque~ercarbon and other chemical$ emitted during mining­
operntion. To dote, o toto I of 196.51 hectares ofland has been used ror plonting ac!Nlies in ptJrsuit of 
tile Co!rbon Sink Program and National Greening Program. 

WASTE MANAGEMENT 

Tile company developed a Waste Management Program to ensure that waste gen emted in the camp 
site are collected, segr-egated, stored, transported and disposed properly. CMC also established a Waste 
Management Syr»tem wl\erewastes from tile Mine Camp Area and Mine Pit Area are collected and 
transported to tile Material Recovery facility (MAr). In tile MRf, waste materials are segregated into 
scr.Jp metals. recydables. W3ste oft. wast e tires and batteries. Tile sted scr.1ps !Jilt he red from the MRr 
are sold to 3J)C)(OVed scrap buyers and gene rote additional income. 

Solid waste Management 

The total solid waste (garbage) generated in 2013 was 1A22 m•. Out or thi•, only 595 m•were disposed 
to silnihuy landfills and the rest were stored in the MRr ond used os compostable rrurteriolls, accounting 
for the remaining BU m•. 

Waste generated from mining operations (stripping and extraction), on tile other llan d, produced non 4 

profit rock materials, Tt\ece rocks were dumped temporarily in deslonat! d waste dump areas or stockpile 
zones for future use like fi lling for haul roads, causeways and sin ponrJ. structures. Other overburden 
materials will be u serJ for rehabiJitation/ re•Jegetation for backfilling of denu derJ or mined -out. artas. Tl).e. 
total stripped waste generated during Year 2013 accounted to 656, 653.9 WMl. 
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Hazardous Waste Management 

All Mzardous materials generoted by tile company such as used oi~lubricants. tires and batteries 3re 
temponrily stored in the MRf to keep emi.,lons from otrecting the en >ironment. CMCalso JnslaJied 
oil and water separatorwilhin the fuel depot~ fud stor01ge areas and olherareas handling h3zordous 
subs1ances in adherence to RA6969 known as ,..a.zardous,.loxic and NudearWas1eAd of1990*. 

WATE R QUALITY DEGRADATION MEASURES 

Water Management Plan 

Water is disct\ar.ged from silt ponds and drainage canals that are 
directed into ri'Jers:Jstreams. Currently, CMC 1'\1.1 & nod ata on the 
qu antity of water til at discharges into tllese bodies of water as it 
Is hard to quantity the ~1olu me of run ~oft that goes Into various silt 
ponds. 

In t erms of silt management over 77,000 m• of silt was removed 
from existing settling ponds. To ltelp improve the process, 
3d ditional settling poo ds were constru ded frontin1J1 he CMC Mine 
Comp wit no total ca pocfty of obout 2.060 m'. 

CLOSURE ACTIVITIES 

CMC settling ponds 
have a total volume 
capacity of over 
392.800 m3 

CMC agrees to the principle oflhe final Mine Rehablihatlon and Decommissioning Pion (fMRDP), as 
a means of rellabilitatin.g excavated, minerJ· out, settling ponds and disturbed areas to tile condition or 
environmental safety. 

The company also agrees to prevent or eliminate lontt term enyiron mental impacts by returning mined 
land to a physically and cliemicolly stable,. productive and self-sustaining condition while taking Into 
consideration the beneficial uses of the I:Jnd and tt\e surrounding areas. The Closure Plan ensures 
that alternative skills and sust3inable livelihood opportunities are provided tot he mine employees 
including t heir d epen tlents and to the host 3n d neiglhboring commu nitieS'. 

Otcommissioning- i s also tbe transition period tMt ~gins with the cessation of the mil e pit and 
the nickellateriate production and ends- 'With the remoYal of all unwanted structures. The comp.1ny 
shall adopt a decofm'lissioning strategy for each rrine. component~ including m1igating measures 
lo assure that potential adYerse errJironmentat lfl"'P''dS' s~l be minimized during the course. of the 
decommissioning period. l-lowever, all building struc-tures. recreational facilities. housing. pier i.'!nd 
causeway shaH be turned -o>Jer to tile Loc1.11 Go)J!rnment Unit (LGlf.l of Baran gay Volencia. ou ring til! 
decommissioning and after mine closure, mon itorlng and maintenance shall be continued until such a 
time that the area is declared safe by tile Mines & Geosciences Bureau. 
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Social Responsibility 

CMC gives much time and resources to the development of programs that aim to benefit its 
employees, and the communities that surround its areas of operation. 

Employees 

As of 2013, CMC's total workforce is at 703. This number is made up of regular, probationary and 
other types of employees. The breakdown of CMC's workforce is as follows: 

Sr. Man 

Manager 

Supervisor 

Rank and File 

Total Probationary & Regular 

Seasonal 

TotaiVVorkforce• 

CBA and Benefits 

Of the regular CMC employees, 61% (1 04 of 172) are covered by the collective bargaining agreements 
(CBA) under CMWU-NAFLU-KMU. The union is close shop where all non-confidential rank and f1le 
are automatic members of the union. The CBA is renewed every 5 years while economic provisions are 
reviewed after 3 years. Salient features of the CBA include members' compensation and benefits, 
incentives, union security, grievance procedure, no strike, lock-out and work stoppage provisions and 
Labor Management Committee. 

Full time employees and rank and f1le employees are also given the following benef1ts: 
Supervisors up to Senior Managers- free housing and messing, Fly In- Fly Out (FIFO), vacation and 
sick leave credits, life insurance, medical insurance including legal dependents, rice allowance, and 
toiletries allowance 
Rank and File employees- free housing ,vacation and sick leave credits, life insurance, medical 
insurance including legal dependents, rice allowance, and toiletries allowance 
Seasonal drivers and heavy equipment operators are given rice and cash production incentives. 

CMC considers the immense value of its workforce for its everyday operations. To ensure that their 
physical and mental well-being are maintained, the company developed and maintains health and 
safety programs for its employees. 

2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 

Health and Safety 

It is the objective of the company to integrate total loss control into the management system so that 
people, equipment, materials and the environment are amply protected from accidents. Line managers 
take direct hand in pursuing loss prevention activities through the following standards: 

1. Personal Injury and Loss of Life Prevention 
2. Property Damage and Wastage Control 
3. Comfortable Health Care Environment 
4. Safety, Health and Environment Policy 
5. Total Loss Control Management 
6. Central Safety and Health Committee 
7. Safety and Health/Loss Control Tours 

Programs and activities implemented to ensure achievement of the health and safety objectives 
include planned Inspection, job and task analysis, accident/incident investigation, emergency 
preparedness, maintenance organizational health and safety rules, accident and incident analysis, 
employee training, issuance and monitoring of proper usage of personal protective equipment, health 
services, regular group meetings, advocacy, regular monitoring and evaluation. 

Million Manhour Milestone 

As of December 2013 the company acquired Ten Milliol] Two Hundred Thousand Three Hundred 
Eighty: and 01 / 100 (1 0,204,380~ 01) without lost time acciqent. For Fiscal Year July Z013 to June· 
2014 the company acquired Eight Hundred Nineteen Thousand Five Hundred .sixty Sev.en and 75/100 
(819,567.75) iaS of December 2013. Incidents have significantly 1educed from 156 in Y201 1 to 40 !n 
.Y2013 or 74% reduction. 
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3 year Accident Record 

YEAR Jan May Jun 

2011 2 2 6 10 11 26 18 24 31 23 2 156 

2012 5 8 13 7 9 14 18 14 5 6 0 1 100 

2013 3 0 0 15 4 0 3 5 4 6 0 0 40 
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SOCIAl DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PLAN 

CMC ml)lerntnted v3rtous Pfosects in t he areas of Htattf\ f&tuUtiO((.. 
LNdihO<If, Pvbloc Ulllotiu and Socto Col ural values (!{B.Pi) under 11\t 
SDMPlo bendiHII ,..,. ••d ne~gbbom~boron!13Ys:Volenoa. Boo, 
L<li"SPI Jnf SoUo M•;1ublg Apan from !!leSDMP. tilt ..,,.....ny •lso 
imt>lemena utendm progr•ms lor Corporole Soc" I Resi)OftSibllly, 
whicl> Jrt ootsltlelllt SO~ fund CUmnUy,tb< company is II~~'' 
yeorOI t!le Syeor SDMP 

To u pllrt edu co lion In I toe lour boron ~ays, CMC provides suppoo11 o 
tile public scl\oohaln 11\e form of subsidies forvolunteerteachers, 
3ssiG1once for bu lhHno repairs and improvements and provision of 
multHneello equipment, decktop computers, and printers. Lost y~or, 
2 classrooms were constructed ond materials for school renovotlonn 
and facll~les were provided to communities. 

Elemen lory and high scllOol 
students Wert p<O'fldod w•h 
ossislance to poy lorlb<lr 
scboolng,WIIIItlB d'"errln~ 
colle9< scl\04ora from 11\t IIOsl •no! 
naghbolino com,..,nllu wn 
glitn 111< ooe>onuMy o! flu collOQ< 
educ.thon lwentv·four tucners 
were .11S0 PfO'IIdd wUh subsilf1es 
by Uot SDMP lund 

CMC has been conductln~ 
annual medical mls slon s1n t 1\e 
comniunllles wtoere I toe company 
opeooleo.ltoeoe mtcslonslnctude 
free med leal conouttallon&, with 
first· ald medicln eo and v itamins, 
feeding program• tor Children 
between the age• 4· r years 
old, ond th< pro•IIDion of health 
suppliu lor the S<nlor Citizens. 
Undtr tile Company's CSA. a NAC. 
wiSe medfQI rnnlon was atso 
conducted wNd\ cattl'\!0 moJor 
3nd rnnot IUt'tptritl for 111 PJhrnts 
commg from tl>e c...,munrtlu o! 
rt•tlvu OD<ro~ny eo,.....nles on 
CAAAGA 

~itt ~Nkg at :abit.:~r ., 

9t1 elementary 
and htgh schccl 
students benefrted 
hotn ftnancial 
assistance of CMC 
lht ough the SDMP 
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l'o hell) dewlop infroslructure in lb< boFI10JI3VI CMC pn>'lldes ossisbnC! by buik!in~ r.rurbishin~ 
ot ret\.lbill~ting buildings and other strvcturc.a.ln 8.uiolngifY'Vaaenct3~ two day care ce.nterswtrt 
constructed whfle centers in neighbOnnfl l>ouonoats tJ~tl"t: QN'Cft nststance for i~rowment W.ster 
ayueno. UT~UD'tement iJ t lle four ~l'.JI1o;JYJI1nd 11\f 1nsull~t.on of sol-3r powered street l1gtC1 wn 
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In wms ot IMiihood, tecooic:al 
seMen tr3~ti1g on he3"JY equipment 
opet:llooos th<oo!lfl l'ES!Y. was 
cooducled lor qualified men from II>< 
communlty, 1 t\e production of curtains 
and fiSsl\lon ilccessories were also 
tnughl to women and out-of-scllool~ 
youtl\ wherein trainees were pro'litled 
whll tools and materials needed to 
stort·up a small business. Other 
women go ups were also trained in 
hot meals commercial cooking and 
fooCI processing, also pro'lided with 
lilt ne<dodtng redienls.materiols and 
equ.,ment A lib pia culture project 
wu lntroctuced and implemented tor 
one ~>a~n(py~ and other J)R'Iiousty :O.••Nr:a l:;»l.,0 tuW'i'~.n•:atu.Sa 
imt>lement<o projects s um as hog 
4n&t I)OUltty raising" rice retailn!J~ 
anlf ogrtte1 stJpples retaiingwere 
austomed Tmi'lil~ on organLZabonat 
dtvdoe>ement. financial and proied 
mano"ement were also cooducted 
In order to equip t toe beneflclo ries, 0< 

1 toe People's Dr~anization s (PDs), in 
tM estcbli&l\ement. management and 
monit orin {I phases, th us,strengt henino 
tl\e groups ond enabling them to 
ouotoln these programs. A li'lelihood 
center building was also constru ctedot 
tl\t host community, which will ser1e 
as a trade venue for SOMP's li'lelihood 
ptograms fort he \tliOmen's 3ssociation 
IUCh as h.lnMoue supply stor~ c:redl 
cooptl'3ttvc and tailorilg shop. ttullfu.,.tt• b•tt~ •..-b :tiEr• 

rurthermOf"t. in tt~,e ligt.t of i1spfln!l an" tl(l'tglng hOOt to OtJf future generorti>ns., a first ~er 
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tor trleyouno people. toe "YOIJTH•. t>eiO lost vur ov CMC SK Oftl<i•ls ond o!!ler J10u1~ luders from 
lilt l>o$1 community ot !!le Company adrwtlr wenllh<OUgh I be Uptrlence of beilg shoD<O onto 
t>ecommg: responsbte future leadrrs and cruu.n• oft he community and of the country. 
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4.8 

4.9 

4.10 

4 .11 

4.12 

4.13 

4.14 

4.15 

4.16 

4.17 

EC1 

EC2 

EC3 

EC4 

ECS 

EC6 

EC7 

EC8 

EC9 

84 

Internally developed statements of mission or values, codes of 
conduct, and prineiples relevant to economic, environmental, 
and social performance and the status of their implementation 

Procedures of the highest governance body for overseeing the 
organization's identification and management of economic, 
environmental, and social performance, including relevant 
risks and opportunities, and adherence or compliance with 
internationally agreed standards, codes of conduct, and 
principles 

Processes for evaluating the highest governance body's 
own performance, particularly with respect to economic, 
environmental, and social performance 

Explanation of Whether and how the precautionary approach or 
principle is addressed by the organization 

Externally developed economic, environmental, and 
social charters, principles, or other initiatives to which the 
organization subscribes or endorses 

Memberships in associations and/or national/international 
advocacy organizations in which the organization 

List of stakeholder groups engaged by the organization 

Basis for identification and selection of stakeholders with whom 
to engage 

Approaches to stakeholder engagement, including frequency of 
engagement by type and by stakeholder group 

Key topics and concerns that have been raised through 
stakeholder engagement, and how the organization has 
responded to those key topics and concerns, including through 
its reporting 

Direct economic va lue generated and distributed, 
including revenues, operating costs, employee 
compensation, donations and other community 
investments, retained earnings, and payments to capital 
providers and governments. 

Financial implications and other risks and opportunities 
for the organization's activities due to climate change. 

Coverage ofthe organization's defined benefit plan 
obligations. 

Significant financial assistance rece ived from 
government. 

Range of ratios of standard entry level wage by gender 
compared to local minimum wage at significant locations 
of operation. 

Policy, practices, and proportion of spending on locally­
based suppliers at significant locations of operation. 

Procedures for local hiring and proportion of senior 
management hired from the loca l community at 
significant locations of operation. 

7 

15 

27 

27 

27 

27 

24 

23,26 

Mission , vision, corporate values 

Audit & Risk Committee 

None 

Chamber of Mines, Philippines 

Stakeholder Management 

Stakeholder Management 

Stakeholder Management 

Stakeholder Management 

Economic Profitability 

Risk related to business and industry, 
financial position 

PhP 963 Million was spent on employee 
benefits 

We pay equal I higher to the local 
minimum wage as specified by the local 
government for the region 

We have. specific suppliers for the services 
they comply with our environmental/ 
social requirement criteria. 

We hire site workers (rank & file level 
employees from the local community of 
the mine site. 

Social Development Mgmt. Plan 
Corporate Social Responsibility 

Social Development Mgmt. Plan Development and impact of infrastructure investments 
and services provided primarily for public benefit 
through commercial, in-kind, or pro bono engagement. 

43, 55, 68, 80 Corporate Social Responsibi lity 

Understanding and describing significant indirect 
economic impacts, including the extent of impacts. 

Social Development Mgmt. Plan 
43, 55, 68, 80 Corporate Social Responsibil ity 

EnVIronment 

EN1 

EN2 

EN3 

EN4 

ENS 

EN6 

EN7 

EN8 

EN9 

EN10 

ENll 

EN12 

EN13 

EN14 

EN15 

EN16 

EN17 

EN18 

EN19 

EN20 

EN21 

EN22 

EN23 

EN24 

EN25 

EN26 

2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 

Materials used by weight or volume. 39 Materials Stewardship 

Percentage of materials used that are recycled input 
materials. 

Direct energy consumption by primary energy source. 36,51,64, 75 Pollution Control 

Indirect energy consumption by primary source. 

Energy saved due to conservation and efficiency 
64 Pollution Control 

improvements. 

Initiatives to provide energy-efficient or renewable 
energy based products and services, and reductions in 
energy requirements as a result of these initiatives. 

Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption and 
reductions achieved. 

Total water withdrawal by source. 38, 52, 66, 77 Water Quality Measures 

Water sources significantly affected by withdrawal of 
38, 52, 66, 77 Water Quality Measures 

water. 

Percentage and total volume of water recycled and 
reused . 

Location and size of land owned, leased, managed 
in, or adjacent to, protected areas and areas of high 32,49,63, 74 Reforestation 
biodiversity value outside protected areas. 

Description of significant impacts of activities, products, 
and services on biodiversity in protected areas and areas 18 Environmental Responsibility 
of high biodiversity value outside protected areas. 

Habitats protected or restored , 32,49,63, 74 Reforestation 

Strategies, current actions, and future pla ns for 
18 Mine Rehabilitation Reforestation 

managing impacts on biodiversity. 

Number of IUCN Red List species and national 
conservation list species with habitats in areas affected None of the IUCN species are affected 
by operations, by level of extinction risk. 

Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by 
36,51, 64, 75 Pollution Control 

weight. 

Other relevant indirect greenhouse gas emissions by 
36,51,64, 75 Pollution Control 

weight. 

Initiatives to reduce greenhouse ga.s emissions and 
36,51,64, 75 Pollution Control 

reductions achieved. 

Emissions of ozone-depleting substances by weight. We don't emit ODS 

NOx, SOx, and other significant air emissions by type and 
weight. 

Total water discharge by quality and destination. 38, 52, 66, 77 Water Quality Measures 

Total weight of waste by type and disposal method. 36, 51,66, 77 Waste Manageme11t 

Total number and volume of significant spills. There were no significant spills 

Weight of transported, imported, exported, or treated 
waste deemed hazardous under the terms of the Basel All our waste are properly disposed by the 
Cor)ventior) Annex I, II, Jll , and VIII, and percentage of DENR accredited recycler 
transported waste sh ipped internationally. 

Identity, size, protected status, a11d biodiversity value of 
water bodies and related habitats significantly affected 

38, 52, 66, 77 Water Quality Measures 
by the reporting organization's discharges of Water and 
runoff. 

Initiatives to mitigate environmental impacts of products 17, 30,48,62, 
Environmental Responsibility 

and services, and extent of impact mitigatior). 74 
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EN27 
Percentage of products sold and their packaging 
materials that are reclaimed by category. 

Human Resources 

Percentage and total number of significant investment 
Monetary value of significant fines and total number 

EN28 of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance w ith There were no significant fines 
HRl 

agreements and contracts that include clauses 
incorporating human rights concerns, or that have 

environmental laws and regulations. undergone human rights screening. 

Significant environmental impacts of transporting 

EN29 
products and other goods and materials used for the 

Impact on Biodiversity- Sea transport 
organization's operations, and transporting members of 

Percentage of significant suppliers, contractors and other 
All our suppliers need to implement social 

HR2 business partners that have undergone human rights 
standards of the company 

screening, and actions taken. 
the workforce. Tota l hours of employee training on policies and 

EN30 
Total environmental protection expenditures and 17, 30, 48, 62, 

Environmental Responsibility 
investments by type. 74 

HR3 
procedures concerning aspects of human rights that 
are relevant to operations, including the percentage of 

Labor PliiCtk:es employees trained. 

LAl 
Total workforce by employment type, employment 22, 40, 53, 66, 

Employees 
contract, and region, broken down by gender. 78 

HR4 
Total number of incidents of discrimination and actions There were no actions of discrimination 
taken. taken 

LA2 
Total number and rate of new employee hires and 

41,53,66 Employees 
employee turnover by age group, gender, and region. 

Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not 
LA3 provided to temporary or part-time employees, by major 41, 53, 66, 78 Benefits 

operations. 

LA15 
Return to work and retention rates after parental leave, All the employees returned after their 
by gender. parental leave 

Operations and significant suppliers identified in 
We ensure that there are no risk to the CBA 

HRS 
which the right to exercise freedom of association and 

we have with the employees and al the 
collective bargaining may be violated or at significant 
risk, and actions taken to support these rights . 

members fully enjoy their rights 

Operations and significant suppliers identified as having 
We ensure that none of our as well as our 

HR6 
significant risk for incidents of child labor, and measures 

local suppliers have any incidents of child 
taken to contribute to the effective abolition of child 

labor practice. 
labor. 

LA4 
Percentage of employees covered by collective 

41,53,66, 78 CBA 
bargaining agreements. 

Minimum notice period(s) regarding significant 

Operations and significant suppliers identified as having 

HR7 
significant risk for incidents of forced or compulsory There were no incidents of forced I com-
labor, and measures to contribute to the elimination of pulsory labor in the company and mine site 

LAS operational changes, including whether it is specified in all forms of forced or compulsory labor. 

collective agreements. Percentage of security personne l trained in the 

Percentage of total workforce represented in fo rmal HR8 organization's policies or procedures concerning aspects 42,54,67, 79 Health & Safety 

LA6 
joint management-worker health and safety committees 

42,54,67, 79 Health & Safety 
that help monitor and advice on occupational health and 
safety programs. 

of human rights that are relevant to ope rations. 

HR9 
Total number of incidents of v iolations involv ing rights of 

42,57 Corporate Social Responsibility 
indigenous people and actions taken. 

Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, and 
LA7 absenteeism, and number ofwork-related fatalities by 42,54,67, 79 Health & Safety 

region and by gender. 

Education, training, counseling, prevention, and risk-

LAS 
control programs in place to assist workforce members, 

42,54,67, 79 Health & Safety 
their families, or community members regarding serious 

We ensure that none of our operations 

Percentage and total number of operations that have 
have any impact on human rights of our 

HRlO been subject to human rights reviews and/or impact 
employees and surrounding communities. 
We have designed programs to ensure no 

assessments. 
violations of such occur in through any of 
our operations. 

diseases. Number of grievances related to human rights filed, 

LA9 
Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements 

41,54, 66 Health & Safety 
with trade un ions. 

HRll addressed and resolved through forma l There were no such grievances 
grievance mechanisms. 

LAlO 
Average hours of training per year per employee by 

41,54,66 Benefits 
gender, and by employee category. 

Programs for skills management and lifelong learning 
LAll that support the continued employability of employees 41,54,66 Benefits 

and assist them in managing ca reer endings. 

Society 

Perce ntage of operations with implemented local 
Community Relations & Development 

SOl community engagement, impact assessments, and 
Social Development Management Plan 

development programs. 
Corporate Social Responsibility 

LA12 
Percentage of employees receiving regular performance We conduct annual performance reviews 
and career development reviews, by gender. for our employees 

Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of 

Community Relations & Development 

509 
Operations With significant potentia l or actual negative Social Development Management Plan 
impacts on local communities. Corporate Social Responsibility 

LA13 
employees per employee category according to gender, 

14 Reported in employment level 
age group, minority group membership, and other Prevention and mitigation measures implemented in Community Relations & Development 
indicators of diversity. SOlO operations with significant potential or actual negative Social Development Management Plan 

Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of women to Employee sa lary is based on the position impacts on local communities. Corporate Social Responsibility 

LA14 men by employee cat egory, by significant locations of and level of responsibility they hold in the 
operation. company but not based on the gender. 

S02 
Percentage and total number of business units analyzed 
for risks re lated to corruption. 

S03 
Percentage of employees trained in organization's anti-
corruption policies and procedures. 

S04 Actions taken in response to incidents of corruption. 

sos Public policy positions and participation in public policy 
development and lobbying. 
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Total value of financial and in-kind contributions to Mining Sector Supplement 

S06 political parties, politicians, and related institutions by Profile Disclosure Description Page No. Section I Direct Answer 
country. 

Total number of legal actions for anti-competitive 
EC7- MMSS 

Commentary added to include Proportion of local workforce as 
22 Social Responsibility 

well as local management 
S07 behavior, anti-trust, and monopoly practices and their There were no such actions 

outcomes. 
EN2-MMSS Commentary added to clarify the scope of scrap 16 Environmental Responsibility 

Monetary value of significant fines and tota l number of 
S08 non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws There were no such fines 

and regulations. 

Commentary added t o emphasize the link to resettlement and 

EN12-MMSS 
closure activities. 

59, 77 Closure Plan 
Compilation added to report on biodiversity impacts of 
resettlement or closure. 

Product Responslbllltv 

Life cycle stages in which health and safety impacts of MMl 
Amount of land (owned or leased, and managed for production 18, 32, 49, 

Mine Rehabilitation 
activities or extractive use) disturbed or rehabilitated. 63, 74 

PR1 
products and services are assessed for improvement, 

39 Material Stewardship 
and percentage of significant products and services 
categories subject to such procedures. 

Rio Tuba Nickel Mining Corp. 

EN13- MMSS Compilation added to report on biodiversity offsets. 
18, 32, 49, Taganito M ining Corp. 

63,74 Hinatuan Mining Corp. 
Total number of incidents of non-compliance w ith Cagdinao Mining Corp. 

PR2 
regulations and voluntary codes concern ing health and 

There were no such incidents 
safety impacts of products and services during their life 
cycle, by type of outcomes. 

Commentary added to describe the relevance of ecosystems 

EN14-MMSS 
services. 18, 32, 49, 

Mine Rehabilitation 
Commentary added to compilation to invite reporting on 63, 74 

Type of product and serv ice information required by ecosystems services and approaches. 
PR3 procedures and percentage of significant products and 

services subject to such information requirements. 

Total number of incidents of non-compliance w ith 

The number and percentage of total sites identified as requiring 
18, 32, 49, 

MM2 biodiversity management plans according to stated criteria, and Environmental Responsibility 
the number(%) of those sites with plans in place. 

63, 74 

PR4 regulations and voluntary codes concern ing product and 
service information and labeling, by type of outcomes. 

EN20 - MMSS Commentary added to include mobile and stationary sources. Environmental Responsibility 

PR5 
Practices related to customer satisfaction, including 
results of surveys measuring customer satisfaction. 

Tota l amounts of overburden, rock, tailings, and sludge and their 
All our sites have EPEP plans 

MM3 
associated risks. 

in place for environmental 
protection 

Programs for adherence to laws, standards, and 
PR6 vo lunta ry codes related to marketing comm unications, 

including advertising, promotion, and sponsorship. 

EN23 - MMSS 
Commentary added to clarify the scope of spillages. 
Compilation added to report on the outcome of spillage incidents. 

Total number of incidents of non-compliance with 

PR7 
regulations and voluntary codes concerning marketing 
communications, including advertising, promotion, and 
sponsorship by type of outcomes. 

MM4 
Number of strikes and lock-outs exceeding one week's duration, 
by country. 

LA7-MMSS 
Commentary added under compilation to include a description of 42, 54, 67, 

Health & Safety Mgmt 
fatal accidents. 79 

Total number of substantiated complaints regarding 
PR8 breaches of customer privacy and losses of customer 

HRS-MMSS 
Commenta ry added under compilation to report how freedom of The re were no incident of 
association policy is implemented. spillage 

data. Total number of operations taking place in or adjacent to 

Monetary value of significant fines for non-compliance 
PR9 w ith laws and regulations concerning the provision and -

MMS 
Indigenous Peoples' territories, and number and percentage 

42,57 
Corporate Social 

of operations or sites where there are formal agreements with Responsibility 

use of products and services. Indigenous Peoples' communities. 

501-MMSS 
Commentary added to describe the relevance of community 43,55, 68, 

Health & Safety 
engagement processes. 80 

Number and description of significant disputes relating to land There were no such disputes 
MM6 use, customary rights of local communities and lnd igenous 42, 57 w ith any of our host 

Peoples. communities 

The extent to which grievance mechanisms were used to 
There were no such 

MM7 resolve disputes relating to land use, customary rights of local 
grievances 

communities and Indigenous Peoples, and the outcomes. 

Number (and percent age) of company operating sites where 

MM8 
artisanal and small-sca le mining (ASM) t akes place on, or adjacent 
to, the site; the associated risks and the actions taken t o manage 
and mitigate these risks. 

Sites where resettlements took place, the number of households 
MM9 resettled in each , and how their livelihoods were affected in the 

process. 

MM10 Number and percentage of operations with closure plans. 
All our .sites have closure 
plan 

508 - MMSS 
Commentary added on j udgments relat ed to healt h, safety and 42,54, 67, 

Healt h & Safety 
labor laws. 79 

MM11 Programs and progress relating to materials stewardship. 39 M aterial Stewardship 
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About the Report
This is the first Annual Sustainability Report to be released by 
Nickel Asia. All the information included in this report are based 
on data that were submitted to the corresponding government 
agencies and results of regularly monitored performance reports 
from each mine site. 

We manage our relationships with our key stakeholders by 
regularly engaging them to understand their areas of interest and 
address their concerns about our operations. Although this report 
does not cover all the issues of our stakeholders, it includes the 
most significant programs of our companies that were initiated to 
address their environmental and social concerns.

This report highlights our Environmental Protection and 
Enhancement Programs (EPEP) which cover rehabilitation and 
reforestation initiatives, water quality management and pollution 
control projects in each of our mine sites. We have also included 
our Social Development Management Plans (SDMP) in the 
report, to showcase community and employee projects that were 
undertaken in our areas of operation. 

Report Boundary and Scope
The report covers the period of January- December 2013 and 
includes the environmental and social responsibility programs of 
each mine site, namely: Rio Tuba Nickel Mining Corp. (RTNMC), 
Taganito Mining Corporation (TMC), Hinatuan Mining Corporation 
(HMC) and Cagdianao Mining Corporation (CMC). We have 
included highlights of our mines’ rehabilitation and reforestation 
programs as well as projects for the local communities in the mine 
sites.  

Reporting Guideline & External Assurance
Our reporting is prepared in accordance with the GRI G3.1 
Sustainability Reporting Guidelines, including the Mining and 
Metals Sector Supplement. The GRI guidelines encourage 
companies to report on practices and performance that relate to 
sustainability in a manner that is transparent and uses a globally 
shared framework of indicators. 

In addition to the disclosure, Nickel Asia has also put its 
reporting process and disclosed information through a process 
of independent external assurance based on AA 1000 AS - the 
International standard for assurance from AccountAbility, UK. 
When completed Nickel Asia will be the first company in the 
mining industry to have accomplished this feat.
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risks and hazards in the mine sites. These are 
just a few of the many employee programs 
that enable NAC’s subsidiaries to maintain a 
high level of workplace safety in their mining 
operations.  

We respect and protect employees’ rights. 
To protect the rights of rank and file employees, 
mine site employees are given permission to be 
represented by their Unions and are covered by 
their respective Collective Bargaining Agreements 
(CBA). Generally, collective bargaining agreements 
have terms of 5 years (with a provision for wage 
renegotiation after 3 years).

We have plans for the end of mine-life. 
We have also developed decommissioning 
plans for each mine site, for implementation 
once mining operations have ended. These 
plans will be used as a guide in restoring and/
or converting mine sites and the surrounding 
areas into alternative and productive land uses.
The plans also ensure that alternative skills 
and sustainable livelihood opportunities are 
provided to the mine employees including their 
dependents and to the host and neighboring 
communities. 

During decommissioning and after mine 
closure, monitoring and maintenance shall be 
continued until such a time that rehabilitation 
criteria has been successfully achieved as 
determined by the Mines and Geosciences 
Bureau.   
 
We sell more even in the face of weaker 
metal prices. 
With respect to the economic performance 
of the company, NAC was able to generate 
total revenue of PhP 11,109.5 million in 2013 
from ore sales. While this is 4% lower than the 
figures for 2012, this was due mainly to the 
decrease in nickel prices, despite a higher sales 
volume achieved and the depreciation of the 
Philippine peso against the US dollar.

Manuel B. Zamora, Jr. 
Chairman

Gerard H. Brimo, 
President and CEO

Acknowledgement

We thank the managerial and technical teams 
and the workforce in all our mine sites for 
another year of dedication and hard work. We 
are grateful for all the accomplishments that 
we have achieved, while maintaining safe and 
environmentally sound operations, throughout 
2013.

We look forward to 2014, for another 
year of continuous sustainable 
growth.

Joint Message from the
Chairman and President
We are happy to release the first 
sustainability report of Nickel Asia 
Corporation, which highlights the 
environmental, social and economic 
achievements of the company 
through its subsidiaries in 2013. 
As one of the leaders of the mining 
industry in the Philippines, it is 
our responsibility to be a steward 
of the principles of sustainable 
development. 

We progressively rehabilitate mined-out 
areas.
Our environmental programs are developed 
and implemented through Environmental 
Protection and Enhancement Programs (EPEP), 
which focus heavily on the rehabilitation of 
mined-out sites at all our mining subsidiaries. 
These rehabilitation efforts have resulted in 
sustainably managed forests that are home 
to far better vegetation than they were when 
we first began operations, because of the 
mineralized nature of the soil. 

We regreen areas outside our mine sites. 
As part of the National Greening Program, 
reforestation activities are also done 
outside of the mining areas in all of our 
mining operations. Employees and the local 
community come together to accomplish this 
objective.

In Rio Tuba alone, over one million trees have 
been planted in 622.92 hectares as part of 
these rehabilitation and reforestation efforts. 
Other mine sites engage in parallel efforts to 
achieve similar results.

We take water quality management very 
seriously. 
Each minesite is adequately provided with silt 
control facilities (drainage canal, silt sumps, 
series of silt catchment ponds) which are 
frequently desilted and effluent discharge are 
regularly monitor to check conformity with 
DENR Standard. No resource is wasted as clear 
water from the silt ponds are re-use for dust 
mitigation and watering tree planting areas. 
Our mining subsidiaries have also provided 
water systems for its communities, enabling 
families to have access to clean potable water.  

Our SDMP and CSR programs focus on the 
needs of the communities we touch. 
These communities also benefit from 
other social responsibility projects of our 
subsidiaries, carried out through their 
respective Social Development Management 
Plans (SDMP) and Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) activities. Through SDMP, 
all NAC subsidiaries collaborate with their 
communities to create a list of priority projects 
that will be implemented within 5 years. 
Funding for SDMP is set by each mine site 
annually, and according to law. CSR activities, 
on the other hand, are implemented depending 
on specific local needs outside of the areas 
covered by SDMP programs. Projects under 
CSR are focused on education, livelihood, 
infrastructure and Indigenous People (IPs). 

Our Employees’ Health and Safety is a 
priority. 
Like our impact area communities, our 
employees likewise benefit from NAC’s social 
responsibility programs. Safety policies are 
implemented and followed in each mine 
through Central Safety and Health Committees 
formed by employees at each site. Health 
and safety seminars are also conducted to 
provide workers with information to avoid and/
or reduce accidents in the workplace. They 
are also provided with the proper equipment 
to ensure that they are protected from any 
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Nickel Asia Corporation
Nickel Asia Corporation (NAC) is the Philippines’ largest producer of 
lateritic nickel ore and one of the largest in the world. We have a long 
operating history, starting with the sale of ore in 1977 from our first mine 
in Rio Tuba. Since then, we have expanded to four mine sites and have 
sold a total of 96 million tonnes of limonite and saprolite ore. 

We export both saprolite and limonite ore to customers in Japan and 
China. Our customers use our ore for the production of ferronickel 
and nickel pig iron, both used to produce stainless steel, and for the 
production of pig iron used for carbon steel.  We are also the exclusive 
supplier of limonite ore from our Rio Tuba mine to the country’s first 
hydrometallurgical nickel processing plant, Coral Bay, where we have a 
10% equity interest. Coral Bay became operational in 2005 and currently 
operates at a capacity of 24,000 tonnes of contained nickel and 1,500 
tonnes of contained cobalt per year in the form of a mixed nickel-cobalt 
sulfide. It has proven to be the world’s most efficient facility using the 
high-pressure acid leach (HPAL) process.

In 2010 we made an investment of PhP 4.4 Billion for a 22.5% equity 
interest in the country’s second hydrometallurgical nickel processing 
plant under Taganito HPAL Nickel Corporation. The plant started its 
commercial operation in October 2013, with a capacity of 30,000 tonnes 
of contained nickel and 2,600 tonnes of contained cobalt per year. Our 
Taganito mine supplies all of the limonite ore for the plant. At a total 
project cost of US$ 1.7 Billion, the plant represents the single largest 
investment in the Philippine minerals sector.

Apart from our four operating mines, we have five properties in various 
stages of exploration for nickel. In November 2010 we concluded the 
purchase of Cordillera Exploration Co., Inc. from Anglo-American with 
four properties in the Central Cordilleras of northern Luzon that are 
prospective for gold and copper. The purchase marks our first step in our 
vision to become a diversified mineral resource company . In November 
2011, Sumitomo Metal Mining Co., Ltd., acquired 25% equity in the 
company with an option to purchase additional shares to increase its 
total equity to 40%.

We are focused on growth. At the same time we take our responsibilities 
towards safety, environmental protection and community relations 
and development seriously. Our efforts in these fields have resulted in 
numerous awards receive over the years during the annual Presidential 
Mineral Industry Environmental Awards. We believe that sustainable 
development is the only way forward for any mining operation and 
we exert great effort to achieve its principles. We are committed to 
responsible mining and to running every facet of our operations in a 
world-class manner.



6 7 

NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION 2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Corporate Objective
We are focused on growth. At the same time, we take our responsibilities 

toward safety, environmental protection and community relations and 
development seriously. We believe that sustainable development is the only 
way forward for any mining operation and we exert great effort to achieve its 

principles. We are committed to responsible mining and to running every facet 
of our operations in a world-class manner.

Vision
To be a world-class diversified mineral resource company that has 

exemplary relationships with all stakeholders.

Mission Statement
Using best global industry practices, we are committed in

•	 Optimizing our current operations;
•	 Exploring and developing additional deposits for nickel and other 

minerals to sustain our growth;
•	 Delivering to our customers quality mineral products in a timely manner;
•	 Nurturing our employees and providing a safe and healthy workplace for 

them to achieve their full potential;
•	 Uplifting the quality of life of our host communities;

•	 Protecting the environment in all our operations; and
•	 Adopting the highest standards of corporate governance.

Core Values
Competence

Efficiency
Responsibility to all stakeholders

Teamwork
Integrity and honesty

Financial growth
Dedication
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Corporate Structure

Nickel Mining and Exploration Downstream Processing Copper and Gold Exploration

Rio Tuba Nickel Mining 
Corporation (RTNMC)

Coral Bay Nickel 
Corporation 

Cordillera Exploration 
Company, Inc. 

Taganito Mining 
Corporation (TMC) 

Cagdianao Mining 
Corporation  (CMC)

Hinatuan Mining 
Corporation (HMC)

•	 Incorporated in 1969 to develop nickel ore deposits
•	 Granted rights over Rio Tuba Property in 1970
•	 Commenced mining in 1975
•	 Made first commercial shipment in 1977

990

% of Ownership

Coverage (Hectares)

Mine Life (Years) - Saprolite

Mine Life (Years) - Limonite

14
14

60%

65%

100%

4,862
35
31

687
15

28

100%
774

2
16

•	 Incorporated in 1987
•	 First commercial shipment made in 1989 

•	 Incorporated in 1997
•	 Acquired right to operate in 1998

•	 Incorporated in 1979
•	 Developed in 1981
•	 First commercial shipment made in 1982
•	 Expanded in 1983
•	 Temporary suspension of operations from 

2002-2003 due to low prices

10%

22.5%

Taganito HPAL 
Nickel Corporation

71.25%

Location

Rio Tuba mine
Bataraza, near the 
southern tip of 
Palawan

Taganito mine
Surigao del Norte, 
north-east corner of 
Mindanao Island

Cagdianao mine
Dinagat Island, northern tip 
of Mindanao Island

Tagana-an mine
Hinatuan Island,  
approximately 25km 
east of Surigao City 
(Northern end of 
Mindanao)

Nickel Asia 
corporate office
Bonifacio Global City, 
Taguig City, 
Metro Manila
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Products and Services

All our mine sites use a low-cost open pit mining method. Since limonite and saprolite deposits 
are only about 5 to 30 meters thick from the surface, the mining process only requires the use of 
excavators, tractors and dump trucks and does not use specialized equipments, explosives, chemicals 
or complex waste handling. Rehabilitation of the mined-out areas is a simple and straightforward 
process because the mine pits are shallow.

The ore stockpile areas are also located near tidewater loading areas, enabling easy hauling to barges. 

Open Pit mining process

Our company believes in its key strength, which is: Profitability underpinned by low cost production. 
This is the foundation of our business, wherein we are able to operate profitably through the 
commodity price cycle because of our low costs. We rank favorably in terms of mining costs when 
compared to other nickel mining companies. There are a number of factors that account for our low 
cost position, namely:

•	 We benefit from favorable geologic conditions in all of our four mines. Our lateritic nickel 
deposits are near-surface, blanket-like layered deposits with minimal overburden and generally 
5 to 30 meters thick. This enables us to conduct simple open-pit mining using trucks and 
loaders without blasting and the use of chemicals or complex waste handling.

•	 We were able to utilize, what were by-products of our mining operations namely: limonite ore 
and low-grade saprolite ore by finding customers who are in need of these materials.

•	 On average, the nickel deposits in our four operating mines are located within three to 
seven kilometers from the applicable tidewater loading area, enabling easy hauling and 
transportation using barges and landing craft transport (“LCTs”) to our customers’ ships. We 
own 9 LCTs and 5 barges.

Because our lateritic nickel deposits are near surface and relatively shallow, the rehabilitation of 
our mining areas is a straightforward process. The process generally involves re-contouring of the 
mined areas, replacing the overburden and planting foliage. 

Sources and Availability of Raw Materials and Supplies

NAC sources its supplies, including diesel fuel, tires and spare parts for mining equipment, from 
reliable third party suppliers to ensure the quality of these materials. Our diesel and aviation fuel and 
lubricants are bought from Petron Corporation, while heavy mining equipment, such as trucks and 
excavators, from four manufacturers, Volvo, Isuzu, Caterpillar and Komatsu, through their Philippine 
distributors. In addition, we lease LCTs for use at our mine sites during the shipping season. 

A Mineral Production Sharing 
Agreement (MPSA) is an agreement 
by which the Government grants the 
contractor exclusive rights to conduct 
mining operations within a permitted 
mining area over a specific period, 
usually 25 years. 

Since the start of our operations, 
we have delivered over 
96 million wet metric tonnes 
(WMT) of saprolite and limonite 
ore to our customers

As of December 31, 2013, our mines had reserves* of:

Estimated saprolite ore - 119.6 million WMT with an average grade of 1.50% nickel

Estimated limonite ore (including stockpiles) - 249.7 million WMT with an average 
grade of 1.09% nickel

*Each case as estimated in accordance with the Philippine Mineral Reporting Code (PMRC)

2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Mining process
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Our ores are sold to multiple customers, who use them to produce intermediate products, to 
manufacture stainless steel and produce nickel cathodes. 

Our major customers are:

Pacific Metals Co. Ltd. (PAMCO): 
Largest ferronickel producer in Japan
Buyer of high-grade and low-grade saprolite ore 
under long-term supply agreements

Sumitomo Metal Mining Co., Ltd. (SMM):  
Japan-based refiner of copper, gold, nickel, and zinc
Buyer of high-grade and low-grade saprolite ore 
under long-term supply agreements. 

Chinese customers: 
Primary customers: DH Kingstone and Baosteel 
Resources
Buyers of low-grade saprolite and both high- and 
low-grade limonite ore 
Ore is mainly used to produce Nickel Pig Iron 
and Pig Iron 

Coral Bay Nickel Corporation (CBNC): 
Buyer of low-grade limonite ore from RTNMC
Under a long-term supply agreement

Taganito HPAL Nickel Corporation (THNC): 
Buyer of  low-grade limonite ore from Taganito mine 
Under a long-term supply agreement

Exploration and Development 

NAC covers a wide area of exploration properties and an exploration program encompassing:

1.	 Brownfield exploration- consisting of work at our existing operations to extend resources and 
to upgrade resources to reserves; and 

2.	 Greenfield exploration, which involves exploring and delineating nickel lateritic deposits in our 
existing properties. 

We own more than one hundred (100) drilling units that have been designed specifically for drilling 
near surface lateritic deposits in a quick and economical manner. We also have an experienced 
pool of geologists and laboratories at each of our mine site to assess samples as required.

Breakdown ( in thousand WHT)

3,594.20 
26%

6,124.70 
44%

4,279.50 
30%

Sales

Summary of our exploration properties:

Bulanjao: 
•	 Total area of 3,604.5 hectares
•	 Conducted step-out drilling throughout the length of the Central Bulanjao 

deposit 
•	 Extracted 7.5 million WMT of saprolite ore with an average grade of 1.88% nickel 

and 19.2 million WMT of limonite ore with an average grade of 1.01% nickel

Kepha:
•	 Total area of 6,980.75 hectares
•	 Rights to the property are governed by an operating entered into in February 

2007 with Kepha Mining Exploration Corp. (KMEC)
•	 Application for renewal of the Exploration Permit for the Kepha Property has 

been granted
•	 Follow-up exploration work and drilling conducted in early 2013 

La Salle:
•	 Total area of 2,234 hectares
•	 Rights to the property are governed by an operating agreement entered into with 

La Salle Mining Exploration Company (LSMEC) in December 2006
•	 Found a nickel lateritic deposit on the southwestern portion of the property and 

intend to conduct further exploration work on this deposit

Ludgoron:
•	 Total area of 3,248.06 hectares
•	 Rights to the property are governed by an operating agreement entered into in 

August 2007 with Ludgoron Mining Corp. (LMC)
•	 Conducted geological reconnaissance on the property in 2008
•	 Drilled 92 holes with an aggregate length of 1,071 meters in the identified 

lateritic zones

Boa:
•	 Covered by a separate MPSA
•	 167 drill holes intended to be drilled by third quarter of 2012, but due to the 

delayed issuance of the tenement’s permit for extension of exploration period, 
there were still no exploration activities done in the area

Location: 
Palawan Island

Ownership: 
RTNMC

Location: 
Surigao del Norte

Ownership: 
TMC

Location: 
Surigao del Norte

Ownership: 
TMC

Location: 
Province Surigao 
del Norte and 
Surigao del Sur

Ownership: 
TMC

Location: 
Province of 
Dinagat Island

Ownership: 
CMC

Saprolite Ore to Japanese & 
Chinese Customers

Limonite Ore to Chinese 
Customers

Limonite Ore to CBNC and THNC

3,441.9 
25%

5,774.4 
41%

3,893.1 
28%

888.8 
6%

5,626.4 
48%

2,381.5 
20%

2,636.7 
23%

1,085.6 
9%

RTNMC

TMC

CMC

HMC

2013 2012 

Nickel Ore Sales (in thousand WMT) 
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Corporate Governance
The Company adopted its Manual on Corporate Governance (the “Manual”) on June 16, 2010 and the 
amendments thereto on March 25, 2011, so as to incorporate certain mandatory provisions of the 
Revised Code of Corporate Governance. The Amended Manual was submitted to the SEC on March 
31, 2011.

The Company is committed to the principles of sound corporate governance and believes that it is 
a necessary component of what constitutes sound strategic business investment. The Amended 
Manual has institutionalized the principles of good corporate governance within the Company and 
embodies the framework of rules, systems and processes that governs the performance of the BOD and 
Management of their respective duties and responsibilities to the shareholders.

The Company has substantially complied with its Manual of Corporate Governance and there has been 
no deviation from the same.

The Board

The BOD is primarily responsible for the governance of the Company and shall provide the policies for 
the accomplishment of the corporate objectives, including the means by which to effectively monitor 
Management’s performance. It is the BOD’s responsibility to foster the long-term success of the 
Company and to sustain its competitiveness and profitability in a manner consistent with its corporate 
objectives and the best interest of its stockholders. The Company’s BOD is comprised of nine (9) 
Directors, with two (2) being Independent Directors.

Name Position Age Gender Nationality Meetings 
attended

Manuel B. Zamora, Jr. Executive Director, Chairman 76 Male Filipino 6/6 (100%)

Gerard H. Brimo
Executive Director, President 
and 
Chief Executive Officer

63 Male Filipino 6/6 (100%)

Philip T. Ang Executive Director, 
Vice-Chairman 73 Male Filipino 5/6 (83%)

Luis J. L. Virata Non-Executive Director 60 Male Filipino 5/6 (83%)
Takanori Fujimura Non-Executive Director 70 Male Japanese 6/6 (100%)
Takeshi Kubota Non-Executive Director 59 Male Japanese 5/6 (83%)

Martin Antonio G. 
Zamora*

Executive Director, Senior 
Vice President for Marketing 
and Strategic Planning

42 Male Filipino 2/2 (100%)

Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. Independent Director 71 Male Filipino 6/6 (100%)
Frederick Y. Dy Independent Director 59 Male Filipino 6/6 (100%)

Board Committees 

Audit & Risk Committee
 
The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for 
assisting the Board in its fiduciary responsibilities by 
providing an independent and objective assurance to 
our management and shareholders of the continuous 
improvement of our risk management systems, 
business operations, and the proper safeguarding 
and use of our resources and assets. The Audit and 
Risk Committee provides a general evaluation and 
assistance in the overall improvement of our risk 
management, control and governance processes.

•	 Assist the Board in the performance of its 
oversight responsibility for the financial reporting 
process, system of internal control, audit process 
and monitoring of compliance with applicable 
laws, rules and regulations.

•	 Provide oversight over Management’s activities 
in managing credit, market, liquidity, operational, 
legal and other risks of the Company. 

•	 Perform oversight functions over the Company’s 
internal and external auditors. 

•	 Review the annual internal audit plan to ensure its 
conformity with the objectives of the Company. 

•	 Prior to the commencement of the audit, discuss 
with the external auditor the nature, scope 
and expenses of the audit, and ensure proper 
coordination if more than one audit firm is 
involved in the activity to secure proper coverage 
and minimize duplication of efforts.

•	 Organize an internal audit department and 
consider the appointment of an independent 
internal auditor and the terms and conditions of 
its engagement and removal.

•	 Monitor and evaluate the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
system, including financial reporting control and 
information technology security.

•	 Review the reports submitted by the internal and 
external auditors and financial statements.

•	 Coordinate, monitor and facilitate compliance with 
laws, rules and regulations.

•	 Evaluate and determine the non-audit work, if any, 
of the external auditor, and review periodically the 
non-audit fees paid to the external auditor.

•	 Establish and identify the reporting line of the 
internal auditor to enable him to properly fulfill his 
duties and responsibilities. 

Committee Members
Position in Committee Director

Chairman Fredrick Y. Dy
Member Gerard H. Brimo
Member Takanori Fujimura

Nomination Committee 

The Nomination Committee is responsible for 
providing shareholders with an independent and 
objective evaluation of and assurance that the 
members of its Board are competent and will 
foster the Company’s long-term success and 
secure our competitiveness. 

•	 Review and evaluate the qualifications 
of all persons nominated to be a director 
of the Company and of all nominees to 
other positions in the Company requiring 
appointment by the Board; and

•	 Assess the effectiveness of the Board’s 
processes and procedures in the election or 
replacement of directors.

Committee Members
Position in Committee  Director

Chairman Manuel B. Zamora Jr.
Member Takeshi Kubota
Member Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee is responsible 
for establishment of formal and transparent 
procedures for developing policy on 
remuneration of Directors and officers to ensure 
that their compensation is consistent with the 
Company’s culture, strategy and the business 
environment in which it operates.

Committee Members
Position in Committee Director

Chairman Manuel B. Zamora Jr.
Member Gerard H. Brimo
Member Fredrick Y. Dy

Note - Details of NAC Corporate Governance can be found in 
2013 Annual Report.

* Elected as executive director on July 30, 2013
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Environmental 
Responsibility

Activities undertaken through our Annual 
Environmental Protection and Enhancement 
Program (AEPEP) include, among others: 

•	 Rehabilitation of mine disturbed areas
•	 Reforestation
•	 Construction and/or maintenance of 

environmental facilities
•	 Solid waste management
•	 Hazardous waste management
•	 Air quality monitoring and water quality 

monitoring
•	 Preservation of downstream water quality

NAC is committed to following 
best practices in managing the 
environmental impacts of its 
operations. We use progressive 
rehabilitation of mine sites 
to restore, if not improve, the 
environment to its pre mining 
condition.

PhP 336 million 
spent on EPEP in 2013

We adhere to the principles and practices of 
sustainable development. We are also committed 
to complying and following environmental 
regulations by implementing best practices 
in managing environmental impacts of our 
operations. Mining is a temporary land use and 
once mining operations in our sites have ended, 
we plan to restore these properties to at least as 
close as possible to their pre-mining condition or 
to develop alternative productive land uses for the 
benefit of the surrounding communities.

To manage environmental impacts, NAC's 
subsidiaries have an Environmental Protection 
and Enhancement Program (EPEP).This refers to 

the comprehensive and strategic environmental 
management plan for the life of mining projects 
to achieve the environmental management 
objectives, criteria and commitments including 
protection and rehabilitation of the affected 
environment.

It is the operational link between the 
environmental protection and enhancement 
commitments under CDAO 2010-21, 
consolidated implementing rules and regulations 
of RA No. 7942, as well as those stipulated in 
the Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC) 
under P.D. 1586 and the Contractor’s plan of 
mining operation.

NAC also complies with the Environmental 
Compliance Certificate (ECC) conditions and the 
performance of commitments through our Annual 
Environmental Protection and Enhancement 
Program (AEPEP). This program is monitored 
and evaluated by the Multipartite Monitoring 
Team (MMT)- a multi-sector group headed by 
a representative from the Regional Mines and 
Geosciences Bureau (MGB) and representatives of 
local government units (LGUs), other government 
agencies, non-government organizations, people’s 
organizations, the church sector and the Company.
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Rehabilitation

In line with our commitment to maintain a sustainable environment 
in its areas of operation and abide by the Philippine Mining Act of 
1995, NAC regularly conducts onsite environmental assessment to 
ensure that all its subsidiaries are strictly implementing progressive 
rehabilitation within standard set by regulatory agencies.  

The process begins with re-contouring, backfilling and leveling 
the land. After this, the area is covered with top soil and other soil 
amelioration strategies to provide fertile ground for planting. We 
follow the "sequential planting method" wherein we fiorst plant 
fast growing species to create vegetative cover within 12-18 
months, thereafter to enable the planting of other species. Another 
successful method used is by utilizing large planting materials 
which resulted to more than 90% survival and high growth rate. 

Creating a biodiversity area with varied species of vegetation 
including native fruit bearings trees will eventually be a source of 
food for a variety of wildlife species that will aid in rehabilitating 
mine affected areas by way of succession and regeneration. The 
rehabilitation effort is managed by our expert foresters with the 
help from indigenous peoples (IPs) from the locality, and we have 
demonstrated that a totally mined out area can be significantly re 
vegetated in just 12-18 months.
 
The end result is a sustainably managed forest far better than the 
stunted vegetation there before, because of the mineralized nature 
of the soil.

As a means of restoring the disturbed areas from mining operations, 
NAC requires each mine site to create a decommissioning/ closure 
plan. The closure plan includes the process in which mined-out 
areas will be rehabilitated and monitored, until the rehabilitation 
criteria set by MGB are successfully satisfied. The program for 
final rehabilitation and decommissioning includes social package 
which include livelihood components for the host communities 
and the affected employees of our companies. The four operating 
subsidiaries have already developed their respective plans for 
review and approval of the MGB. 

PhP 130.9 million 
provision allotted for mine rehabilitation 
and decommissioning, as of December 
2013

Mine Rehabilitation vs. 
Reforestation: What is 
the Difference?

Mine Rehabilitation 
areas are mine 
pits that have 
been declared as 
mined out by the 
operation. These 
areas are backfilled 
and reshaped, in 
preparation for tree-
planting. 

Reforested areas, 
on the other hand, 
are disturbed areas 
(not necessarily 
mining areas) that 
are enhanced through 
reforestation and 
usually do not include 
backfilling and 
reshaping. 

1.33 million
Total Seedlings Planted

1,271 hectares
Total Area Rehabilited / Reforestated
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Social 
Responsibility

Our communities and 
employees are integral parts 
of our Company. We ensure 
the protection of their welfare 
and the improvement of the 
quality of their lives through 
our social responsibility 
programs. 

Social development programs are created and implemented in all the mines. The focus areas of these 
programs are designed to address needs of communities around the mine sites. These programs 
are carried out through the Social Development Management Plans (SDMPs) and Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) activities of the company. The main difference between the two programs is that 
the SDMP is required by the government, while CSR is voluntary on the part of the Company. 

Each of our operating mines manages their social expenditures through its respective SDMPs. 
These are five-year programs that contain a list of priority projects identified and approved for 
implementation, in consultation with the host communities. Each mine site has a community relations 
team that is in charge of identifying and implementing SDMPs, and maintaining strong relationships 
with communities. Annually, NAC sets aside a budget for SDMP projects that focus on health, 
education, livelihood, public utilities and socio-cultural preservation. The implementation of the 
programs are monitored, audited and evaluated by the Mines and Geosciences Bureau (MGB). 

PhP165.9 million  
allocated for the SDMP fund in 2013
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HMC’s CBA is being negotiated for the 5 year period

CBAs of RTNMC and CMC shall be negotiated for remaining 2 years

TMC’s CBA has been agreed upon for final 2 years

NAC has maintained good relations with employees. The last strike at any of 
our mines occurred in 1981.

CSR Guidelines 

NAC’s CSR Program is anchored on 2 central elements:

1. Community Partnership and Relationship Building 
	 a.

	 b.

	 c.

2. Leadership 
	 a. Top management strongly supports the company’s CSR initiatives
	 b. Social Investment –going beyond compliance and considering CSR not as an 
	      additional cost but as an investment

Establishing and maintaining positive relationships with communities by having 
them as partners for community development and nation building 
Partnership building with communities (both social and environmental) – 
community as essential partners and not as mere beneficiaries
Community serving as the primary protector of the company through strong 
partnership and relationship

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, NAC approximately has 1,484 employees. Of this number, 623 are 
employed in mining operations, while 130 are engaged in various maintenance and ancillary 
functions and 731 are in administrative, technical and professional roles, including senior 
management. 

The table below shows the distribution of our workforce (full time regular employees only at the minesite):

Each mine site also provides work opportunities for the communities. The table below shows 
a breakdown of the workforce (full time, contractual, probationary and casual) hired from the local 
communities in each area of operation:

Mine Site Manpower from Local community Indigenous People (IPs)
Rio Tuba 517 25
Taganito 1,176 155
Hinatuan 795 -

Cagdianao 442 -

NAC complies with the government standards on the wages and labor practices in the Philippine 
mining industry. Labor conditions, including wages and benefits, are governed by Collective 
Bargaining Agreements (“CBA”) negotiated at the mine level. Rank and file employees in each mine 
site are represented by their respective labor unions. Generally, CBAs have terms of 5 years (with a 
provision for wage renegotiation after 3 years).

Risks Related to the Business and Industry

Our operations are prone to terrorist attacks and other insurgent atrocities due  to the location 
of mine sites. NAC ensures the safety of its communities and employees by working with the 
government and tapping all available resources that may help prevent, or at the very least, reduce 
terror-related incidents. 

Each mining operation also employs a safety team under an accredited safety officer to 
promulgate safety measures and procedures and to ensure that these are followed. Training 
programs are also being conducted regularly.

NAC expends significant financial and managerial resources to comply with a complex set of 
environmental, health and safety laws, regulations, guidelines and laws drawn from a number of 
different jurisdictions. Our facilities operate under various operating and environmental permits, 
licenses and approvals to satisfy these conditions. Failure to meet these conditions could result 
in interruption or closure of exploration, development or mining operations or material fines or 
penalties.

On October 3, 2011, around 200 armed insurgents occupied the TMC mine 
site and destroyed, among others, equipment, building structures, materials 
and supplies by setting them on fire. Accounting, personnel, laboratory and 
administrative records were destroyed. Approximately PhP 239.5 million 
worth of damages were sustained. Fortunately, no life or limb was lost. In 
response to the incident, security was increased, not just in TMC, but all 
our mine sites. This was done in close coordination with the Armed Forces 
of the Philippines tapping the services of the Special Citizen Armed Forces 
Geographical Unit Active Auxiliary Companies. 

NAC CMC HMC TMC RTNMC CEXCI LCSLC SNMRC Total
Senior Management 12 1 - 2 1 - - - 16
Managers 9 1 2 3 2 2 - - 19
Supervisors 9 6 4 4 5 4 1 - 33
Rank & File 15 3 4 9 8 4 1 1 45
Total 45 11 10 18 16 10 2 1 113

Head Office

Minesite

RTNMC 1,822
TMC 1,327
HMC 1,245
CMC 703
Total 5,097
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Results of Operations

2013 (million PhP) 2012 (million PhP)
Revenues 11,109.5 11,606.9
Cost & Expense 7,562.4 7,458.0
Finance Income 166.7 235.0
Net Income 2,586.4 3,120.3

Total revenue of the company in 2013, was PhP 11,109.5 million, as compared to PhP 11,606.9 
million in 2012, a decrease of PhP 497.4 million, or 4%, mainly as a result of lower LME nickel 
prices despite a higher sales volume achieved and depreciation of peso as against the US dollar. 

NAC remains focused on 
sustainable growth and 
achieving targets that are 
set each year. This is done 
through our investments 
in downstream processing, 
and the expansion of nickel 
resources and reserve base 
through exploration in our 
existing properties.

3,438.9 
33%

3,035.8 
30%

3,109.1 
30%

737.9 
7%

3,994.1
36%

3,093.9
28%

2,881.2
26%

1,130
10%

Revenue Breakdown of Nickel 
Ore in 2012 per mine site

Revenue Breakdown Nickel Ore 
in 2013 per mine site

2013 (PhP million)	 2012 (PhP million)	

Total sale of Nickel Ore (2013):  
13,998.4 thousand WMT 

RTNMC

TMC

CMC

HMC

Economic 
Profitability
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Services and Others

Our revenue from services and others was PhP 634.0 million in 2013. This largely consisted of 
payments made to us in consideration for hauling, manpower and other ancillary services that 
RTNMC and TMC provides to CBNC and THNC, respectively, and usage fees charged by TMC to 
THNC for the use of its pier facility. 

Financial Position

Total assets amounted to PhP 28,913.5 million for 2013. Current assets increased to PhP 14,601.0 
million in the same year due mainly to the increase in cash and cash equivalents, from PhP 9,263.5 
million to PhP 10,234.3 million, and available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets, from PhP 1,086.1 
million to PhP 1,257.4 million. 

Noncurrent assets also increased to PhP 14,312.5 million due to increase in property and equipment 
from PhP 5,949.9 million to PhP 6,585.8 million, consisting mostly of acquisitions of various tractors, 
dump trucks and conveyor belt.

Total current liabilities increased to PhP 1,309.0 million which was attributable mainly to increase in 
trade and other payables from PhP 864.0 million to PhP 928.1 million. 

Total noncurrent liabilities increased to PhP 2,392.8 million from PhP 2,321.8 million as a result 
of the remeasurement of pension liability in compliance with the revised standard on employee 
benefits which requires immediate recognition of all past service cost in profit or loss in the period 
they occur and recognition of all actuarial gains or losses in income.

Equity - net of non-controlling interests increased to PhP 20,490.1 million as at year ended 2013 
from PhP 18,876.4 million as at year ended 2012 due to net earnings in 2013.

Stakeholder Management
Our stakeholder management process helps us to gain, maintain and 
create positive and long-term relationships with all our stakeholders 
to ensure the continuous development of our business. It is the basis 
of engaging key stakeholders, wherein we identify their issues and 
concerns and develop plans and programs to address them.

Our key stakeholders are categorized as national and local level 
stakeholder. The national level covers the national government, 
mainstream media and the NGOs. The local level, on the other hand, 
covers key LGU officials, local media, local NGOs, employees and the 
communities. 

In addressing the concerns of the National and Local Government, NAC 
consistently complies with the laws and policies that they have set, in 
relation to mining activities. The Company also regularly monitors these 
activities and updates the national government to assure that daily 
operations are carried out with much consideration to the environmental, 
social and economic impact of the Company. 

Non-Government Organizations (NGOs) are also considered as a key 
stakeholder of NAC as they play an integral part in the promotion of 
sustainable and social development of communities in NAC’s areas of 
operation. The Company takes every opportunity to inform NGOs about 
the developments of each mine site, and partner with them in providing 
support to the host communities.  

Media is regularly updated about the activities of the Company. This 
also acts as a means of information dissemination to the general public. 
When necessary, NAC conducts one on one engagements and site visits, 
so that media can get a better idea of the activities of our companies.

Our employees are major shareholders in our Company. We provide 
them with the proper benefits and programs to guarantee a healthy and 
safe working environment and ensure that their professional growth is 
enhanced through trainings and seminars. Our rank and file employees 
are also covered by their respective Collective Bargaining Agreements 
(CBAs) in accordance with Philippine Labor Laws.

Each mine site of NAC has developed a Social Development Management 
Plan (SDMP) for their respective communities. The SDMP has a set of 
programs for each community, that aims to address issues in relation to 
the education, infrastructure, livelihood, environmental and other social 
concerns of residents. Through these programs we have built villages 
for our Indigenous People in Rio Tuba and Taganito, with the help of 
Gawad Kalinga Foundation and provided families with work and self-
sustained food through our “Food for Work” program. We have also built 
and repaired bridges and roads so that communities will have easier and 
faster access for their businesses. 
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Rio Tuba Nickel Mining Corporation (RTNMC) was the first operational minesite of NAC, established 
in 1975. It operates in Bataraza, Palawan, covering an area of 990 h.a., with 276.41 hectares of 
rehabilitated area. The Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC) of RTNMC was issued on 
December 11, 1997, and received by the company on January 17, 1998. Its Mineral Production 
Sharing Agreement (MPSA) was also issued in 1998, and is valid until 2023 (25 years). NAC has 60% 
ownership of RTNMC.

RTNMC’s revenue for sale of nickel ore was PhP 3,035.8 million, selling an aggregate 5,774.4 
thousand WMT of nickel ore. The volume of saprolite ore sold decreased by 546.6 thousand WMT 
while limonite ore increased by 53.7 thousand WMT.

Rio Tuba 
Nickel Mining 
Corporation
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Environmental Responsibility
RTNMC adheres to NAC’s mission to protect the environment within its areas of operation. This is done 
through programs covering, mine rehabilitation and reforestation, pollution control, waste management, 
and by following mining laws imposed by the local and national government. 

Under the company’s MPSA, it is required to secure an Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC), 
and Environmental Protection and Enhancement Program (EPEP), allocating at least ten percent (10%) 
of its total project cost for its initial environment related capital expenditures, but this may be adjusted 
depending on the nature and scale of operations and technology to be employed in the Contract Area. 
RTNMC is required to submit an annual EPEP every year, wherein the company allocates three to five 
percent (3-5%) of its direct mining and milling cost. It is also mandatory for RTNMC to establish a Mine 
Rehabilitation Fund based on the financial requirements of the EPEP.

The EPEP of RTNMC includes its plans on environmental protection, enhancement and rehabilitation 
of affected areas up to the eventual cessation of activities. In the Philippines, RTNMC has one of the 
highest budgetary cost and expenses for its EPEP, among mining companies.

Expenditure Per Environmental Programs (2013) Amount PhP
(in million)

Tree Planting / Reforestation Projects                                   4.8
Mine Rehabilitation                                                        14.6
Silt Control Projects                                                       10.7
Dust Emission Control Projects                              7.7
Heavy Metal Control Projects                                  0.5
Wastewater Treatment/Control Projects          0.6
Solid Waste Disposal Project                                   0.7
IEC and Monitoring                                                      6.4
AEPEP Activities                                                             38.9
Others 8.4

S U B - T O T A L 93.7
        GOTOK QUARRY

Tree Planting / Reforestation                                    0.1
Dust Emission  Control Projects                              0.2
Others 2.5

S U B - T O T A L 2.8
T O T A L  96.6

RTNMC implements its environmental programs through the Mine Environmental Protection and 
Enhancement Office (MEPEO), which is divided into: Mine Rehabilitation and Reforestation Unit 
(MRRU) and Pollution Control Office (PCO). Both units have initiatives focused on addressing the 
impact that mining operations may have on the environment around the mining areas.

MEPEO Environmental 
Impacts of Mining Mitigations / Initiatives

1.	 Mine Rehabilitation       
and Reforestation 
Unit (MRRU)

Deforestation / 
Excavation 

Surface preparation and rehabilitation of mined-out areas, 
cloning, planting of large planting materials and endemic 
tree species. Provision of nursery. Conversion of mine pits 
into “palay-isdaan” area. Likewise, rehabilitation of non-
mineralized areas and national greening programs.    

2. Pollution Control Office

Siltation Desilting of ponds and monitoring of SCS’s.
Dust Watering haul road regularly, wind breaker
Soil Erosion Covering stockpiles with coconets, drainage systems, 

slope re-vegetation of vetiver grasses.  
Hazardous wastes Construction of Haz waste Extension Building   
Oil and grease 
contamination of 
water bodies

Construction of oil-water separators

Noise Conduct monthly noise level monitoring at different 
stations

Air and Water 
contaminations

Conduct monthly air and water samplings at different 
stations

RTNMC abides by the Strategic Environmental Plan for Palawan Act 
(Republic Act No. 7611), which prohibits operations within an area of 144 
hectares, classified as “core zone”. These areas are required to be fully 
and strictly protected and maintained free of human disruption. Included 
in the “core zone” are all types of natural forest, areas above 1,000 meters 
elevation, peaks of mountains or other areas with very steep gradients, and 
endangered habitats and habitats of endangered and rare species.

2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Water quality monitoring test
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MINE REHABILITATION

The MRRU of RTNMC is in charge of conducting a comprehensive and progressive rehabilitation 
program, in coordination with the Protected Areas and Wildlife Bureau (PAWB) and Department 
of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR), within and around the surrounding areas of its 
minesites. 

In the rehabilitation process, RTNMC uses the top soil, mostly coming from in situ materials, 
recovered from clearing operations. Once the top soil has settled, this is where tree seedlings are 
planted and cultivated. To help the process, RTNMC also conducts enrichment planting, wherein 
additional seedlings are planted to address the disturbance of the soil.

Experts in the field of rehabilitation were also hired to strengthen the rehabilitation program. A clonal 
laboratory (research facility for cloning plants) and other tree and plant propagation measures were 
supported by RTNMC to accelerate the rehabilitation process. 

The areas that are not rehabilitated, which total 363.02 hectares, are currently used for: 

85.52 hectares of 
totally mined out 
areas were completely 
rehabilitated. Outside of 
the mine area of RTNMC, 
a total of 537.4 
hectares have been 
completely reforested 

A total of 1.33 million 
seedlings/trees were 
planted.

A Mine Rehabilitation and/or Decommissioning Plan (MRDP) meeting 
was held with stakeholders within the affected area to discuss 
recommendations on how the area will be rehabilitated. Suggestions and 
comments were considered in crafting the EPEP of RTNMC, which was 
submitted to the DENR Regional Office and EMB for review and approval.

The rehabilitation and reforestation efforts of RTNMC also involves the protection of biodiversity in 
and around the mine-sites. Protected areas and policies were established by RTNMC to preserve the 
habitat of wildlife in areas near the RTNMC mines. 

One such area is the Ursula Island Game Refuge and Bird Sanctuary, which is protected and 
managed by managed by PAMB together with RTNMC and DENR, Protected Area and Management 
Board of Ursula, LGUs of Bataraza and Rio Tuba, and CBNC.   The company provides support by 
managing the plants and animals inhabiting the area through regular monitoring activities that 
ensure the island is in good condition and to prevent any human activities from affecting the island.

Forested areas that are still untapped by mining operations are also protected actively by RTNMC. 
Fruit bearing trees were planted around the periphery of mine pits to benefit wildlife species. These 
buffer zones were setup in strategic places to provide temporary shelters or habitat for the existing 
wildlife species in the area. 

To safeguard wildlife within the mining claims, RTNMC created a policy to prohibit hunting. 
Private company security guards were dispatched around the periphery of mining claims to keep 
the area safe from intruders who are hunting endemic, threatened or endangered species. The 
company provides monthly Information, Education and Communication (IEC) materials that include 
information and a list of threatened/endangered species.

CBNC tailings dam and pond (No.1 &2)
HPAL plant
Ore stockpiles
Road network
Solar drying areas
Ash pit
Sanitary landfill
Unrehabilitated/rocky portion
Unichamp plant

185.67 hectares
22.49 hectares
61.47 hectares
25.46 hectares
18.61 hectares
8.18 hectares
4.60 hectares
34.60 hectares
2 hectares

REFORESTATION

Outside of the mined-out sites, RTNMC conducts 
reforestation activities in disturbed areas (areas 
indirectly affected by mining operations). In 
coordination with DENR, the Local Government Units 
(LGUs) and Non-Government Organizations (NGOs), 
RTNMC performed enrichment planting in nearby and 
affected mangrove areas to enhance the protective 
and productive capacities of the ecosystem.

RTNMC also initiated the reforestation of several 
patches of mangrove areas along Rio Tuba River, 
previously affected by illegal logging. From 2001-
2004, around 2.5 hectares were reforested. Enrichment 
planting was also conducted along Rio Tuba River, 
with more than 2,000 Nipa seedlings being planted to 
substitute for the destroyed mangrove trees. 

The rehabilitation and reforestation efforts have 
resulted in approximately 33% of formerly mined out 
areas rehabilitated/ reforested, with 45% currently 
being used for other purposes such as tailings pond, 
ore stockpiles, etc. leaving a balance of 22% still due 
for reforestation.

2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Rehabilitated area
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Other measures were created by RTNMC to manage and mitigate any impacts on the environment, 
caused by the operations of the company:

Impacts Environmental Management Measures

1 Loss of top soil
Minimization of extensive ground works

Utilization of topsoil to rehabilitate open and burdened areas

2 Soil erosion

Keeping stockpiles with moderate slope to minimize erosion
Use of engineering structures and vegetative means to stabilize slopes of 
stockpiles
Revegetation of disturbed areas
Installation of sediment traps
Installation of erosion plots

3 Soil degradation

Close monitoring of ground works only to the specified locations
Proper installation of water drainage structure
Proper scheduling of hauling activities to minimize soil compaction on 
unpaved roads

4 Change in landform
Maintenance of vegetation cover in the designated buffer zones and in the 
peripheries of roads and mine pits
Rehabilitation of mined-out areas

5
Contamination of soil 
and water resources 
with oil, grease and 
heavy metals

Proper fuel and lube material handling and maintenance of vehicles and heavy 
equipment

6 Generation of solid 
waste Implementation of Solid Waste Management Program

7
Increase in surface 
run-off and flash 
floods

Proper design and construction of roads and drainage channels
Regular monitoring of drainage facilities especially during rainy season
Regular desilting of silt ponds
Maintenance and operation of drainage canals and sediment control 
structures

8 Loss of flora and fauna

Inventory of flora and fauna species
Rehabilitation of mined-out areas
Conduct of rehabilitation programs
Retaining a protection forest and establishment of buffer zone

9 Wildlife species 
displacement Maintenance of vegetation in the peripheries of the mining areas

10
Increase in 
concentration of air 
pollutants

Proper maintenance of motor vehicles and heavy equipment

11 Dust generation
Regular water sprinkling along exposed areas especially during dry seasons

Limiting the speed of vehicles
Covering haulage trucks with tarpaulin or canvas

POLLUTION CONTROL

RTNMC created the Pollution Control Office (PCO) to keep track of the operations of the company and 
ensure that it has little to no effect on the surrounding environment. This involves the development 
and implementation of programs that will monitor and mitigate dust emissions and noise pollution, 
soil erosion, water quality management, land disturbance and waste materials. 

In managing dust emissions from operations, RTNMC conducts the following activities:

A speed limit was also created and is strictly being implemented within the mining areas and hauling 
roads to reduce dust emissions, as well as noise pollution. Reducing noise pollution decreases 
disturbances to the wildlife and people working in the area. 

Other concerns of the PCO are soil erosion and siltation. To control this, RTNMC conducts slope 
stabilization activities, which include: engineered slope, proper drainage, boulder toe dressing and 
slope revegetation. Siltation is also managed using silt collector sumps placed strategically around 
the mine areas.  

•	 Water spraying on haul roads
•	 Concreting of main haul roads
•	 Providing water sprinkler systems
•	 Installation of tire wash
•	 Street sweeping

82,104 liters of diesel fuel consumption for electricity requirements of the pier facilities for 
drydocking maintenance and barge loading operations

10, 315 MW of electricity consumed by the facilities and operations of the minesite

2,878,685 liters of diesel and  17,220 liters of gasoline used for equipment (heavy 
machineries, all service vehicles used at the minesite)

•	 Silt scraping
•	 Installation of chutes
•	 Installation of wind breakers
•	 Installation of dust collector boxes

Water springkler system Tire wash

Street sweeping Water spraying on haul roads
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WASTE MANAGEMENT

Solid Waste Management Plan

RTNMC strictly implements a proper solid waste management program in its minesites. Mine wastes, sludge 
and other solid wastes are properly stockpiled and disposed in permanent areas that are away from any 
water systems. Biodegradables and residuals are disposed through landfilling while recyclables such as 
wood, steel, paper, plastic, etc. are recovered through the Materials Recovery Facility

Total amount of waste generated: 10,848 m3

Top soil and mined material below cut-off grade are considered waste and are disposed in designated 
areas. Previous waste dump areas are converted into drying areas for nickel ore from stockpiles. 

Waste dumping is minimal since most materials mined and moved are either stockpiled as low grade 
ore or hauled to drying areas for eventual shipment. This has allowed the company to rehabilitate and 
reforest previous waste dump areas. 

RTNMC also collects domestic waste generated in both plant complex and surrounding barangays. The 
wastes are disposed in an abandoned pit, which has an estimated holding capacity of 240,000 m3. The 
pit has been allowed to operate by DENR Region IV and is expected to last for 20 years. It is equipped 
with a leachate filtration and odor control system. Disposed waste in the pit is covered with a layer of 
soil twice a week. 

Hazardous Waste Management

Pollutants, like hazardous wastes, are also properly handled by PCO. These materials are treated, 
transported and stored cautiously through accredited treatment specialists. 

This chemical is called Polychlorinated Biphenyls (CAS No. 1336-36-3). The quantity stock 
inventory of waste PCB consisted of five (5) drums last year. PCB, along with other hazardous 
wastes are stored onsite. Other hazardous wastes are segregated according to the following: 

•	 Used oils (liquid)
•	 Used oil filters (solid)
•	 Used batteries (solid)
•	 Busted fluorescent lamps (solid)

In accordance with Section 5-2 of DAO 2004-36, RTNMC requires vessels, containers, and tanks 
containing hazardous wastes to be properly marked and labeled with the hazardous waste 
class, sub-category, hazardous waste symbol, and container maximum capacity. The company 
segregates and stores the hazardous wastes on-site according to type, while recording of the 
hazardous waste usage is done by the units generating them. The recorded information is collated 
by the Pollution Control Officer (PCO), for consolidation into the Self Monitoring Report (SMR). 
To transport and store hazardous wastes, RTNMC engages the services of DENR-accredited 
hazardous waste transporters and treaters. 

Oil is another waste material generated from operations of the company. It is separated from 
water using an oil-water separator installed within motorpool areas in the mine-site. This prevents 
oil spillages from contaminating groundwater and nearby water bodies. Spill containers are 
put in place during equipment maintenance and repair as a primary measure to avoid spillages 
when transferring oil to drainage canals. Used oil and oil filters are stored in a 8mx8m hazwaste 
building (extension).  A contingency plan, in case of an oil spill was also developed by RTNMC. The 
company stores the following marine pollution control equipment and supplies, in preparation for 
such an event:  

a. 100 ft long x 18” diameter Oil Containment Boom 
b. 150 ft long x 36” width Coco net 
c. 6 drums Oil Dispersant 
d. 5 sacks Saw Dust Sorbent materials 
e.  3 units Pump Boat equipped with handheld radios 
f.  4 units Handheld Radios 
g. 1 unit Sprayer, 16L capacity as Oil Dispersant Equipment 
h.  Existing Bund Walls at Pier Depot can hold more than 5000 barrels of fuel. 

Total volume of used oil treated = 112,000 L

Total weight of used oil filters treated = 11,481 kg

Garbage compactor collecting waste materials
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Identity Size / Area Covered (ha) Protected Status Biodiversity/Aesthetic 
Value   

Rio Tuba River Undetermined None High 
Ocayan River 2,000 None High 
Coral Bay 7,000 None High 

Water Consumption

RTNMC’s main source of potable water is the Umawi stream water source, wherein the company 
withdrew and treated 136,591 m3  of water from Umawi for drinking and other domestic needs of 
RTNMC Townsite and some sitios of Rio Tuba. Free water is also supplied to the communities around 
the minesite which includes the IPs as well. The water supply system has a capacity of 3,000 m³/day 
and consists of the following major components: 

On the other hand, 127,104 m3 of water was pumped out from RTNMC’s siltation the mining areas and 
along Macadam road to reduce dust emissions.

•	 One (1) unit Infiltration gallery with Backwash System; 
•	 One (1) unit Dual Media Filter with Backwash System; 
•	 50 m3 capacity Filtered Water Well; 
•	 Steel Transmission Pipes; 
•	 Two (2) units – 300 m3 capacity Elevated Water Tank; and 
•	 Disinfection or Chlorination System. 

MATERIALS STEWARDSHIP

According to the International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM), materials stewardship is 
defined as 

“the responsible provision of materials and supervision of material flows 
towards the creation of maximum societal value and minimum impact on man 
and the environment”.

RTNMC created a materials stewardship group and program to ensure the optimal and appropriate 
extraction and use of minerals and metals using a proper framework and strategy. To handle this, 
the company pooled together experts of the group, including the environmental/ rehabilitation 
department, occupational and safety unit, community, health, marketing, procurement and supply 
manager, among others. 

The mine engineering and operation team contribute to materials stewardship through their works 
on exploration, surveys and hauling/handling. Assay handles laboratory tests for the proper ore 
classifications. This enhances the understanding of the human health and environmental risks that 
can arise from mining / nickel ore operations. 

Generally, the Materials Stewardship work program acts as a form of risk management providing 
comprehensive information across the supply chain to help companies reduce harmful 
environmental and social footprints and improve operational decision-making. This material 
stewardship applied by RTNMC strictly conforms to the existing laws governed by the Philippine 
government. 

Below is a table reflecting the company’s initiative in dealing with Material Stewardship throughout its 
life cycle. 

Program of Actions  Progress

1. Survey / Exploration Daily 

2. Operation – Quarrying/Mining, Hauling, Retrieving, Beneficiation, 
     Crushing Daily

3. Ore Feed Daily 

4. Ore Classifications / Air and Water Quality Tests Daily / Monthly

5. Mine Rehabilitation / Reforestation (Mined-out Areas) On-going

6. Environmental Protection / Pollution Control / Waste Disposal 
     Management On-Going

7. Occupational Safety and Health Hazards Daily

8. Waste Disposal (Used Oil and Oil Filters / Used Battery / Busted 
Fluorescent Lamps and PCBs)

Monthly/ Quarterly/ 
Annual

Coral Bay covers an area of 7,000 hectares and a coastline of 5 km. southeast of Bataraza. It is 
situated biophysically within the Bgys. of Rio Tuba and Ocayan and bounded by the Rio Tuba and 
Ocayan Rivers. The biodiversity value in the area are presumed to be high due to the lush mangroves 
along the banks. Currently, plans are under way to make the bay a marine protected area.

WATER QUALITY DEGRADATION MEASURES

Watershed Management Plan

The bodies of water directly affected by discharges of water and runoffs are the Rio Tuba and Ocayan 
Rivers, which drain to the nearby Coral Bay. Rio Tuba River gets discharges from 5 different siltation 
ponds including Tagpisa Siltation Pond. The maximum depth of the Rio Tuba River estuary is 20 m from 
about 3 km from the coastal side. Water impounded in the silt collector facilities are recycled for road 
watering around the mine site.  Regular water quality monitoring is conducted to determine the quality 
of water being discharged outside the mine complex.

There are 12 sub-watersheds covered by the mining claim.  The largest watershed is Ocayan River 
having a total area of 2,000 hectares with a stream flow discharge of 0.34 m3/sec. The watershed’s 
peak storm flow estimates for different return periods indicate a flow of  51.1, 62.9, 69.4, 77.6 and 88.6 
m3/sec for 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 50 years, respectively. On the other side, the smallest watershed is 
Sumbiling Tributary 1 with an area of 133.35 hectares and a stream flow discharge of 0.06 m3/sec.\

Source of Effluent/Discharge Volume (m3) Receiving Water Body

Daily Average Total Discharge
Lower Kinurong Siltation Pond 1,271 463,824 

Rio Tuba River
Lower Togpon Siltation Pond 2,921 1,066,256 
TOTAL                                                                     4,192 1,530,080  



40 41 

NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION 2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Social Responsibility
RTNMC puts much value into the communities it works in and the people it works with. Programs have 
been created to ensure the development in the livelihood of these stakeholders, and that the growth 
between RTNMC and its communities is mutual. 

Employees

RTNMC commits to ensuring that all its personnel are working in a healthy and safe environment. 
Various programs are created addressing concerns under these areas, as well as to enable personal 
development through trainings and benefits.

As of 2013, RTNMC has a total of 1,822 employees, including mine service contract workers. This is 
broken down into the following:

JOB CLASS NUMBER of EMPLOYEES
Senior Staff 10
Junior Staff 17
Foreman 17
Supervisor 60
Technical 34
Confidential Technical/Clerical 10
Clerical 20
Rank & File 497
Casual/Seasonal/Contractual 147

Sub-Total 812
Mine Service Contract Workers 1,010
GRAND TOTAL* 1,822

* Total number of employees inclusive of regular, probationary, casual and contractual employees. 

Male Female
626* 39

* Accounts for 
fulltime (658 regular 
and 7 probationary)
employees only 

Turnover Rate

AGE  
  Gender Region

Headcount Male Female Local Outside Operations
18-25 0 0 0 0 0
25-40 4 4 0 3 1
40-60 9 9 0 3 6
60+ 1 1 0 1 0

Turnover rate is inclusive of 9 employees who retired in 2013.

CBA and Benefits
A Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) was entered between RTNMC and the Rio Tuba Nickel 
Workers Union covering 1,527 employees. Under the CBA, employees are given the following rights, 
among others:
•	 The company will cooperate in the continuing objective to eliminate accidents and health hazards
•	 Employees shall not be required to work under conditions, which are unsafe or unhealthy beyond 

the normal hazards inherent in the operations
•	 Any serious accidents will be jointly investigated  by the Chairman of the Union Safety 

Committee and two (2) employees acquainted with the condition of the place of accident, the 
Safety Engineer and the Shift Foreman of the shift in which the accident occurred and the 
Department Head. The recommendation and findings of the joint committee shall be presented 
in writing to the Resident Mine Manager

•	 The Union Safety Committee represented by 2 members, together with the mine’s safety engineer 
shall make monthly inspections of the mine

•	 RTNMC will sponsor in-plant seminars on Labor Laws, Decrees, Rules and Regulations, Educational and 
Job Enrichment Productivity Program, SSS, PHILHEALTH, PAG-IBIG and include the DOLE’s calendar of 
seminars and to hold meetings for the dissemination of new ones upon request of the union.

•	 The company allows at least 3 Union officers on official business to attend labor seminars and 
conventions and other labor related activities outside the minesite, as Union representation is required

•	 The company will sponsor job enrichment trainings to employees’ out of school/ unemployed 
dependents once a year, through the assistance of TESDA

•	 A complaints mechanism will be provided by the company for the RTNMC Workers Union

Employees are given benefits under the CBA which are way and above the standards provided by the 
Labor Code, as amended, and other allied laws, to name a few are:
Avg daily wage of rank & file employees - Php 597.14 compared to local minimum wage for National Capital 
Region (Php 451)
Night shift differentials calculated at 18%
Overtime & holiday pays are above the local requirement
Free Medical Hospitalization and Dental Services at company-run RTNFI Hospital
Sharing of medical referrals costs for employees and their legitimate dependents
Annual Physical Examination of all employees
General / Executive Check-up every three years for all employees aged 45 and above
Free transportation going to and fro work
Free housing with free water and electricity and 24/7 security.
Housing Allowance for those who have no assigned housing unit or have opted to stay outside the housing 
facility of the Company.
Free use of recreational facilities
Severance and Death Benefits

For economic empowerment of the IPs, it is company policy to hire employees from the local IP communities within the mining 
impact areas for the mining rehabilitation projects. The company seasonally maintains 50-150 IP employees in which usually 
30% to 40% are females. 
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Health and Safety

As a responsible mining company, RTNMC ensures the health and safety of its workers by imposing 
strict safety programs and measures in its mine sites. Employees are also provided with the proper 
mining and safety equipment to avoid accidents and loss of man-hours. 

In the area of health, the company provides employees with education, training, counseling, prevention 
and risk-control programs to assist workers, their families and community members on concerns 
related to serious diseases. The table below shows a summary of the assistance provided:

Assistance Program For Serious Diseases (HIV/AIDS, Diabetes, RSI, and Stress.)

Education/Training Counselling Prevention / Risk 
Control Treatment

Program 
Recipients X X X X

Workers

Workers 
Families
Community 
Members

Emergency Response

RTNMC created an emergency response and preparedness program, approved by the DENR- Mines 
and Geosciences Bureau (MGB), to ensure that an effective and efficient response system has been 
set for emergency situations. Drills are periodically conducted to test the level of preparedness of 
the employees and to assess if there are any revisions that can be done to improve the emergency 
response process. 

Each major Department has an emergency response team (ERT), whose members are trained in basic 
firefighting and medical rescue. They are assigned to be the first responder to emergencies within 
their department’s jurisdiction, as well as operational areas including surrounding communities. A fire 
truck and ambulance (under the RFI hospital), both owned by the company, are always on standby for 
any emergencies.

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PLAN

In accordance with law, RTNMC has a Social Development and Management Plan (SDMP) that 
provides welfare services in the areas of education, health and sanitation, infrastructure and livelihood 
projects. The SDMP was formed through a memorandum of agreement with RTNMC, Coral Bay Nickel 
Corporation (CBNC) and the 11 surrounding barangays. In the agreement, CBNC will shoulder 2/3 
while RTNMC will shoulder 1/3 of the budget for SDMP. At least 1.5% of RTNMC’s gross cost is allotted 
to the implementation of SDMP services.  

One of the most successful services under the SDMP is the scholarship program which has 
allowed 351 students pursue their academic goals. Infrastructure repair and improvement is also 
another focus area, wherein the company has improved the travel time for residents going from one 
community to another. Livelihood programs were likewise given emphasis to capacitate community 
members with the appropriate tools and skills to create help their own micro-enterprises.

RTNMC’s SDMP also includes programs for Indigenous People (IP). A total of 27 tribes reside around 
the mine area in which 11 are from the impact community. In September 2010, the company turned 
over PhP 30 million to the Indigenous Peoples Development Office-Bataraza, Inc. (IPDO-BI) to 
implement various social projects exclusive to IPs only. This office is registered with Securities and 
Exchange Commission and is run by its Board of Trustees composed of tribal chieftains from the 
Indigenous Cultural Communities. 

RTNMC also established a Central Safety and Health Committee to 
handle issues relating to occupational health and safety programs of the 
operation and mine site. The committee is composed of:
•	 Resident Mine Manager – Chairman
•	 Safety Engineer – Presiding Officer
•	 Members – Division/Group/Department/Section heads, 

Union representatives, Contractors representatives, vendor 
representatives, Company physician, and Safety Inspector/Officer 
as secretariat.

This committee represents 78% of the total work force of the company 
including the Bargaining Unit. A total of 15 safety officers are appointed 
in the committee. This consists of all permanent, regular rank-and-file 
employees or workers employed by RTNMC in its mining operations, 
and excluding probationary, temporary, casuals, contractual, seasonal, 
employment for a fixed period, managerial employees, supervisory 
employees, confidential/confidential technical / security employees, 
employees holding confidential and technical positions and safety 
inspectors.

The safety officers conduct walkthrough inspections around the 
minesite to ensure that safety code is practiced by all the employees 
in the site. The team also conducts daily toolbox meetings as well as 
monthly safety meetings to regularly monitor the issues and concerns 
of the employees on safety measures. 

Standard materials provided to miners are as follows:
•	 Skull guard
•	 Plastic goggles
•	 Dust/ gas respirator/ mask
•	 Air muff
•	 Hand gloves

•	 High visibility vest
•	 Rainboots
•	 Raincoat
•	 Safety shoes

As a result of RTNMC’s 
safety policies, the 
company was able 
to achieve total 
combined man-hours 
of 7,040,597 in 2013. 
This also resulted in a 
registered frequency 
rate of 0.14 and 
severity rate of 1.98 
for one lost time 
accident with 14 days 
lost. The recorded 
rates were calculated 
based on DENR 
standards.

RTNMC employees
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

CSR programs of RTNMC are implemented directly by the RTN Foundation, Inc. (RTNFI), a non-
stock and non-profit institution duly registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The 
Foundation is in charge of the operations for the following:
•	 Secondary Level Hospital
•	 Leonides S. Virata Memorial School (LSVMS)
•	 28 Indigenous Learning System (ILS)
•	 Gawad Kalinga (GK) Housing Program

The RTNFI Hospital provides regular employees with health and dental services, including pre-
employment and annual medical examinations. Dependents of employees, including Indigenous 
People (IPs) are also covered by the medical and dental benefits. Illnesses are diagnosed and treated 
in a hospital operated by the Foundation, and financed by RTNMC. 

In terms of education-based programs, RTN Foundation provided quality learning tools for the Leonides 
S. Virata (LSV) Memorial School, a school catering to student dependents of RTNMC employees, and 
from other barangays. In 2012-2013, LSV Memorial School served a total of 1,316 students in which 
926 students are employed dependent and 433 are from the local community. The school employs 66 
staff members, made up of licensed teachers and other administrative personnel. 
An Indigenous Learning System (ILS), recognized by the DepEd was also introduced by RTNMC, as an 
alternative literacy program designed for indigenous people (IPs). Its manpower of 29 teachers, are 
mostly education course graduates who are assigned in different IP areas. These teachers are also 
given graduate study opportunities to enhance their teaching strategy. Learning materials and supplies 
are provided to the students, for free. As of December 2013, 28 ILS centers were introduced by RTNMC.

RTN Foundation continues to collaborate with Gawad Kalinga (GK) to build 
houses and implement soft programs for communities (including indigenous 
tribes) in the areas of operation. The goal of RTNFI is to build 1,000 houses within 
10 years, in the identified impact areas of RTNMC.  At present, a total of 214 units 
have been built and turned-over to resident-recipients in nine existing GK sites.
The soft programs of RTN Foundation and GK are composed of child and youth development 
undertakings that target different age groups:

PROGRAM AGE GROUP
SIBOL (Pre-School Program) 3-6 Years Old
SAGIP (Tutorial activities for elementary pupils) 7-12 Years Old
SIGA (Workshops - arts, dancing, singing for out of school and high school youth) 13-21 Years Old

RTN Foundation also focuses on infrastructure for its CSR activities. Support is given to communities 
through infrastructure projects, such as the construction and maintenance of more than 51 kilometers 
of farm-to-market and other ancillary roads within the mining community and neighboring barangays. 
These include the following: 
1.	 National Highway to Ocayam Elem. School 3.5 km 
2.	 Tagdalungon Feeder Road 1.5 km 
3.	 Macadam Road 7.0 km 
4.	 Macadam – Kinurong Road 1.8 km 
5.	 Taratac Feeder Road 10.8 km 
6.	 Gotok-Luzvimin Road 2.5 km 
7.	 Igang-Igang Feeder Road 3.5 km 
8.	 National Highway to Culandanum 2.5 km

Livelihood programs are carried out by RTNMC to capacitate community members with the right tools 
and skills to create help their own micro-enterprises. Fisher folks working within Rio Tuba were given 
easier access to ice through the construction of an ice plant, run by RTNMC, which sells its products 
to fishermen at reasonable prices. This has been of great help to fisher folks who need to transport 
their harvest from one town to another. Owners of fishponds were also assisted by RTNMC in the 
construction of culverts for the inflow and outflow of brackish water. RTN Foundation also has a 
“Bayan-Anihan” program wherein a 10 m2 plot is planted with 5 commonly-grown vegetables. This is 
to encourage families to have their own plots so that food security is assured. 

2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

RTNFI Hospital

Students of Leonides S. Virata Memorial School
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In 1987, Taganito Mining Coporation (TMC) became 
operational in Taganito, Surigao del Norte through 
NAC’s acquisition of the property from HMC, and, 
by 1989 TMC had already made its first commercial 
shipment. The Taganito minesite covers 4,862 h.a. of 
land, with 1,157.42 hectares disturbed and 3,705.29 
hectares undisturbed. NAC has 65% ownership of the 
company. Its Mineral Production Sharing Agreement 
(MPSA) will expire by 2034.

TMC has ore sales revenue of PhP 3,109.1 million, 
with 3,893,150 WMT of nickel ore sold. Meanwhile, 
Saprolite ore sold to customers decreased to 
1,416,588 WMT, while limonite ore sold increased to 
2,476,562 WMT. 

Taganito Mining 
Corporation
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Environmental Responsibility
TMC ensures the protection of the environment surrounding its area of operations through various 
programs that focus on rehabilitating/ reforesting mined-out areas, lessening the impact on 
biodiversity, controlling the pollution from operations, management of solid waste, and management of 
watersheds. 

These environmental initiatives are carried out in line with the Environmental Protection and 
Enhancement Program (EPEP) of TMC. Annually, the company sets a budget for the EPEPs and 
identifies key areas that programs will focus on, in consultation with the communities. Such key areas, 
for example, are the quality of land, air and water in and around the mine sites. To mitigate the impact 
on these aspects of the environment, TMC conducts the following activities:

Land Air Water
Removal/extraction of soil during 
the mining operation will result in 
the degradation of land surface. 
However, mitigating measures, 
such as reforestation and 
rehabilitation, are being laid to 
mitigate the impact on mined-out 
areas.

During dry months, dust 
emissions are managed using 
water truck lorries deployed to 
spray the active haulage roads.

During rain, run-off water will flow 
downstream from the mine pit, 
causing siltation. However, siltation 
ponds were strategically constructed 
to allow solids to settle before 
releasing the water to the river and 
meet the allowable DENR standard 
which is 90 mg/L (as per DAO-35).

MINE REHABILITATION

Mined out areas of TMC are rehabilitated through a process involving reshaping, backfilling, 
stabilization and tree planting. Through these efforts, the company was able to rehabilitate a total of 
98.88 hectares of declared mined out areas in 2013, using 103,386 seedlings of native species and fast-
growing species. Creeping grasses such as humidicola and vetiver grasses were also introduced to 
improve soil fertility.

One of the mined out pits, covering an area of 1.26 hectares was converted to a Gulayan and Prutasan 
(fruits and vegetable farm) where various kinds of forest trees, fruit trees and vegetables were planted. 
Fruits and vegetables such as squash, okra, eggplant, tomato, string beans, corn, etc are regularly 
harvested from the farm and distributed to employees. This is tangible proof that it is possible to bring 
back the soil fertility of mined out areas to generate economic value. 

In support of research on rehabilitation, TMC allocated one hectare of land to the Department of 
Environment and Natural Resources – Ecosystems Research and Development Service (DENR-ERDS) 
and researchers from the University of the Philippines Los Banos. Their study, called “Landscape 
Functional Analysis (LFA) for Mine Rehabilitation”, tries to discover better ways of using land for 
reforestation activities.

TMC allotted PhP 199 million 
for operational expenditures and 
PhP 61 million for capital 
expenditures, under the EPEP

Total of 98.88 hectares 
rehabilitated land, with 
over 103,386 seedlings 
planted by 2013

2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

REFORESTATION

Outside of mined out sites, TMC conducts reforesting and enrichment planting activities to help 
enrich the ecosystem, even outside its areas of operation. To date, 768.27 hectares of land has been 
reforested by TMC within its MPSA area, with over 1,028,523 seedlings planted, while outside of its 
claim area, 178.43 hectares have benefited from 18,471 seedlings planted thru seedling donations, as 
part of the company’s commitment to the National Greening Program. Nearby coastal areas are also 
reforested by TMC by planting mangrove seedlings. Last year, the company planted 8,214 mangrove 
propagules along 2.12 hectares of land.

To supplement the reforestation programs of TMC, enrichment planting is also implemented, 
using fast growing plants, to help the tree seedlings propagate faster. A total of 193,658 mangium, 
auriculiformis, mangkono and lahilahi seedlings were planted along a total area of 156.86 hectares 
stretching within the Punta Naga and Cagdianao ridge slopes. Humedecola grass and coconet are 
used by the company to support the stabilization of slopes in open areas and bare lands to stop soil 
erosion. These areas are maintained by TMC through brushing and fertilizer application. So far, 90 
hectares of land has been maintained by the company.

51,969 mangrove propagules have been planted by TMC along 
23.81 hectares of land, to date

Tree-planting activity 
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Lower Risk / Least Concern 
(4)

Batino (Alstonia macrophylla)
Dita (Alstonia scholaris)
Salingogon (Cratoxylum formosum)
Brackenridgea palustris

Vulnerable (4)

Tanglin (Adenanthera intermedia)
Narra (Pterocarpus indicus forma indicus)
Antipolo (Artocarpus blancoi)
Mangkono (Xanthostemon verdugonianus)

Our exploration operations have minimal impact on the environment. Included in our exploration 
activities are environmental mitigation work programs which includes the establishment of a nursery 
in the exploration area. For the year 2013, the exploration team was able to gather almost 2,000 
wildings which will be planted in various areas affected by drilling and test pitting activities.

POLLUTION CONTROL

Day-to-day operations of the company yield some amount of emission, disturbance and waste 
materials. To address this, TMC implements programs that monitor and reduce the effects of mine 
activities on the environment. In handling dust emissions, TMC conducts water spraying on roads 
around the mine sites, everyday, in a 2 shift schedule. Water lorries are used to spray the active mine 
roads, pier yard roads, campsite, causeway and the national highway. 

Impact on the environment is also minimized by monitoring the energy consumption and GHG 
emissions of mining activities. The table below shows a summary of the emissions and consumption 
the company had for 2013:

Category Material Consumption Unit Source
Energy Electricity (generated) 863,904 KWH Gen Sets
Energy Electricity (purchased) 40,260 KWH SURNECO
Energy Diesel 429,343 Li Third Party Supplier

*Increase in GHG emission levels from 2012 was due to the construction of a belt conveyor, as well as the improvement of haulage roads, 
wharf and other facilities

TMC takes advantage of international environmental initiatives like the World Environment 
Month Celebration in June 2013, to conduct company-wide tree-planting activities at the 
watershed of Barangay Cagdianao. Two hundred employees participated in the activity, 
planting 3,000 forest tree seedlings along the mountain ridge.  Other activities during the 
month long celebration included a motorcade, “Lakad Para sa Kalikasan” and art and photo 
competitions, among others.

Part of the rehabilitation and reforestation program of TMC is the protection of the biodiversity in the 
environment around its mine sites. TMC monitors the propagation and levels of extinction risk of plants 
and trees around its areas of operation, to create policies and programs that can help protect specific 
species from any man-made threats. The plant species identified by the company are as follows:

WASTE MANAGEMENT

Solid Waste Management Plan

TMC manages its solid waste through a sanitary landfill and a Material Recovery Facility (MRF). Last 
year, 1,498 m3 of solid waste was disposed in the sanitary landfill, while 19,182 kg. of recyclable/
scrap metal items were recovered from the MRF. The saleable materials yielded an amount of PhP 
189,907.55 in sales value.

Another solid waste material produced from mining activities are low grade boulders with no economic 
value. Mining operations yielded a total of 404,585 WMT of this material, in 2013, with 65,277 WMT 
used for matting mine yards and stockyards while the remaining 339,308 WMT was utilized for road 
ballasting and surfacing.

Hazardous Waste Management Plan

There are four types of hazardous waste generated from TMC’s operations: used oil, used batteries, 
used motor oil filters and chemical acid waste from its assay laboratory. A covered storage facility 
is constructed at the mine site where used oil and oil filter contained in metal drums, and wet cell 
batteries are temporarily stored. These are then sold to buyers accredited by the Environment 
Management Bureau (EMB) for proper disposal. Beside the Storage Facility is a two chamber oil-water 
separator where contaminated oil is placed to separate contaminants from the oil, prior to storage in 
metal drums. 

The assay laboratory analyzes the sample of nickel ore as per the required specification uses 
chemicals like HCl, H2SO4, HNO3 and HCLO4, HF and H3PO4 during ore digestion prior to analysis. All the 
waste solutions are first diluted then discharged into a sink which drains into an enclosed storage pit 
at the chemical waste storage area. The storage pit is lined with limestone at the bottom, to neutralize 
the acid solution before it is discharged to the foreshore settling pond.

Nursery at TMC minesite
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Social Responsibility

TMC implements different projects to help develop the health, livelihood and address social issues 
facing the communities it operates in, as part of its corporate responsibility.

Employees

Total Silt Volume Collected 
Mechanized

Manual 
Catch Drainage

359,365.85 WMT (Settling ponds)
12,423.64 WMT (Settling ponds)
138,971.77 WMT (Drainage System)

WATER QUALITY DEGRADATION MEASURES

Watershed Management Plan

Another main environmental concern of TMC is the maintenance of good water quality and siltation. To 
address this, TMC devised a drainage system to collect and separate clear waters from disturbed areas. 
The clean water is discharged into Taganito River, while silt-laden runoff is discharged in settling ponds. 
Once suspended particles settle in the pond, the clean water is discharged into the environment. 

For our purpose, TMC monitors the rate of water intake at the settling ponds and the quality at the 
discharge points. Parameters closely monitored are the Total Suspended Solids(TSS) and pH levels. 
Samples are regularly gathered at discharge points for quality testing. Also being monitored is Cr6+ 
concentration to establish benchmarking data as agreed with EMB.

TMC adopted the Taganito River in colaboration with EMB-Region 13 and the Local Government Unit 
(LGU). The 6.1 Km river is the main stream affected by the operation of TMC. A siltation pond was 
strategically built to arest run-off from the mine pits. Deposited sediment materials from upstream 
sources are periodically dredged using backhoes and a water master dredging machine.

In removing accumulated silt, TMC uses mechanical desilting in the river through a track excavator 
(Backhoe). Bouldering of the river is also being done continuously to strengthen the embankment 
and increase its height to protect nearby communities from floods and waves. New environmental 
structures were also constructed to improve the quality of the water coming from run-off of TMC’s 
MPSA area. The drainage system was designed to isolate silted run-off from natural water so that water 
discharged into the Taganito River is clean.    

Water Consumption
Ground water consumed for TMC campsite operations was 65,773.06 m3, and was used for day-to-
day operational activities. Surface water was used to sprinkle on haul roads for dust suppression and 
to clean the national highway. TMC used 219,216 m3 of surface water from the creek for the dust 
suppression.

TMC’s employees are the core of its business. The company ensures that each personnel has access 
to a healthy and safe working environment to maintain efficient work practices. 

As of 2013, TMC has a total of 1,327 employees at mine site, including mine service contractors. This 
is broken down into the following:

FULL TIME PROBATIONARY SEASONAL & 
MARKETING TOTAL

SR. MANAGEMENT 3 - - 3
MIDDLE MANAGEMENT 7 - - 7
STAFF 15 - - 15
SUPERVISOR and TECHNICAL 114 4 - 118
RANK & FILE 219 11 - 230
SEASONAL WORKER/
MARKETING - - 954 954

GRAND TOTAL 358 15 954          1,327 

Turnover rate:

Age Group Male Female TOTAL
18 - 25 13   13
26 - 40 31 2 33
41 - 60 15   15
TOTAL 59 2 61

Settling ponds 

TMC employees 
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Collective Bargaining Agreement and Benefits

TMC recognizes the Taganito Labor Union (TLU) as the sole and exclusive bargaining representative 
of the appropriate bargaining unit, which consists of all permanent and regular rank and file 
employees and workers employed by TMC in its mining operations.  The union binds itself to respect 
the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) and agrees not to accept employees who do not belong 
to the appropriate bargaining unit.  Both TMC and TLU respect the right of each employee to freely 
choose to join a union.  The CBA took effect in February 1, 2010 and lasts until January 31, 2015. 
Sixty percent (60%) of the regular workforce is covered by collective bargaining agreement (CBA) 
which is 219 employees out of 358 regular employees.

Regular employees are also provided with a comprehensive benefits package to help them maximize 
their physical, financial and personal health and well-being. These benefits include healthcare (for 
employees and dependents), paid leaves, insurance, retirement benefits and wellness.

Apart from regular benefits, TMC provides employees with proper training to enhance their work skills. 
Part of the intensified internal training program was the selection of 21 qualified employees, trained 
and certified by TESDA, to become in-house trainers and facilitators. Training courses include topics 
on equipment operation and maintenance, occupational safety and health, environment, sample 
preparation and analysis, exploration, supervision and leadership, and personal development. 

TMC also designs training programs for career advancement opportunities. To address growing 
demands for skilled drivers and operators, TMC screens applicants from its pool of rank and file 
employees and provides sufficient training to make them eligible for promotion. A summary of the 
average hours of training spent by employees is in the table below:

Employee Category Training Hours
Senior Management 14.4 Hrs.
Middle Management 9.1 Hrs.
Supervisory/Technical 5.8 Hrs.
Rank & File 1.7 Hrs.

* Male -1.7 hrs. ; Female - 9.5 hrs.

Health and Safety

The health and safety of the workforce is an area that the company puts much focus on. Proper 
health and safety policies are enforced to ensure little to no accidents happen within TMC’s areas 
of operations. Employees are provided with suitable equipment to protect them from any effects of 
their tasks and enable them to efficiently carry out their work.

One of the policies of the company is to provide employees under the CBA with proper health and 
safety benefits, such as the ones below:

TMC workers are also provided with the required PPEs such as skull 
guards, reflectorized vests, rain boots, gloves and goggles to ensure 
their safety during exploration.  

To monitor and advise about the effective implementation of Health 
and Safety Programs, TMC created the Central Safety Committee 
(CSC), Labor Management Committee (LMC), Safety Audit Committee 
and Loss Control Coordinators. These committees are represented 
by a total of 35 employees which includes department heads and 
contractors headed by the division manager.

TMC also conducts practical safety program training and 
development for its employees. Important safety trainings such as 
Basic Occupational Safety and Health (BOSH), Defensive Driving, 
Fire Safety, Fleet Safety and Safety Audit Training were conducted to 
continuously educate employees on safety awareness. A total of 29 
trainings on safety were conducted during the year.

In terms of internal and external threats, TMC ensures the safety 
of its workers by providing proper security measures around the 
areas of operation. The company enlisted the support of 116 Special 
Civilian Armed Auxiliary (SCAA) whose main mission is to protect 
the company against any such threats. This para-military force 
underwent basic military training operations under the supervision 
of the Philippine Army to develop their skills and knowledge on 
security operations. The SCAA are also supplemented by 48 security 
guards who regulate access and man all vital facilities within TMC 
Campsite area.

TMC allotted 
PhP 3 million 
for internal and 
external training 
programs

The Labor 
Management 
Council (LMC) 
awarded TMC 
with the “Most 
Outstanding LMC 
for Industrial 
Peace Award”

Health and safety benefits provided to CBA members: 
•	 Medical, dental and hospitalization benefits
•	 Free annual physical exam
•	 Use of ambulance
•	 Creation and maintenance of a Central Safety Committee
•	 Accident investigation and reporting
•	 Identification and prevention of hazardous and unhealthy working conditions
•	 Safety paraphernalia
•	 Proper labeling of chemical containers
•	 Transportation for employees during weekly marketing
•	 Physical fitness facilities.

As a result of these programs and activities, there was a dramatic improvement in TMC’s 
safety performance with a significant drop of lost-time injury frequency rate from 1.12 in 
2012 to 0.16 in 2013. The company also maintained Zero (0) Fatality, Zero (0) Occupational 
Diseases and 21 lost time due to 1 non-fatal accident.

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PLAN 

For the SDMP, TMC implements various programs and projects for its 4 host and neighboring 
communities namely barangays Taganito, Urbiztondo, Hayanggabon and Cagdianao as well as for the 
10 non-mining barangays of the Municipality. These projects are governed by the Health, Education, 
Livelihood, Public utilities/ services and Socio-cultural preservation (HELPS) as defined by the 
Mines and Geoscience Bureau RXIII and focus on areas such as infrastructure, education, health and 
indigenous people (IPs). 

In terms of education programs, TMC allocated PhP 4.6 million for projects that included school 
repairs, installation of school guard house, improvement of school stage, provision of various 
educational materials and school supplies. Two other major projects under education are the 
scholarship program and the teacher sponsorship program. For the scholarship program, TMC 
provided a full scholarship grant to 25 deserving students from the host communities and financial 
assistance to 120 students from the 4 mining communities. Under the teacher sponsorship program, 
7 teachers were supported which paved the way for the schools in the host communities to attain the 
1:45 teacher-student ratio, as required by the DepEd.
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TMC also participated in Brigada Eskwela 2013, by cleaning and repairing schools in 4 mining 
barangays, including Punta Naga Elementary School. In line with Brigada Eskwela’s theme “Isang 
Dekada ng Bayanihan Para sa Paaralan”, TMC donated various forest and fruit trees, backfilling and 
painting materials and conducted tree planting activities in the school grounds. Participants of the 
activity were TMC college scholars, summer job students from the communities, and Geology and 
ComRel personnel.

TMC’s active support and participation in these activities contributed to Taganito Elementary School 
winning the National Award for “Best Implementer- Exceptional School Category” for Brigada 
Eskwela 2013.  

For infrastructure projects, TMC allotted PhP 2.7 million for the following activities: 
•	 Construction of Catholic Chapel in Brgy. Urbiztondo 
•	 Renovation of the multi-purpose hall in Brgy. Daywan
•	 Improvement and installation of various structural requirements (wharf perimeter fence and 

jetmatic pumps) in day care centers in Wangke, Sapa and Cabugo
•	 Repair of Catholic and non-Catholic buildings of worship and facilities
•	 Improvement of barangay facilities such as street lighting, health center, pedestrian pathways, 

senior citizens’ building, procurement of generator set, waste disposal facilities, and water 
system

A breakdown of the infrastructure projects of TMC can be found in the table below:

Year 2013 Infrastructure Development Projects
Program / Project Stakeholder involved Project Cost (PhP)

Construction of Health Center Left Wing Community 300,000.00
School Stage Improvement School 170,000.00
Church Construction Phase 2 (Capangdan Catholic Chapel) Church 1,000,000.00
Community Information Centers Improvement Purok Centers 133,373.34
Fence Construction (San Labrador Chapel) Church 100,000.00
Construction of Guard House School 50,000.00
Church Construction Phase 1 (Valley Cathedral ) Church 300,000.00
Comfort Rooms Construction (Male and Female) Senior Citizens 100,000.00
Daycare Center Improvement & Elem. Riprapping School 50,000.00
Provision of Materials for Daycare Center Ceiling Installation Daycare Center 30,000.00
Construction of Dental Trough Daycare Center 25,000.00
Installation of Roofing and Trusses Daycare Center 25,000.00
Store Building Construction CAPSASD PO 150,000.00
Multi-purpose Hall Renovation Community 50,000.00
Boulevard Perimeter Fence (Barangay  Gymnasium) Community 40,000.00
Street Lights  Installation Community 100,000.00
Provision of Materials (Senior Citizens Building) Senior Citizens 30,000.00
Installation of  1 Jetmatic Pump School 10,000.00

Total 2,663,373.34

In the area of health, PhP 1.9 million was spent for various programs in the communities. These 
consisted of activities like a supplemental feeding project that aims to address malnutrition issues 
among children and the provision of medical equipment and facilities, and financial support for 
barangay health workers. Senior Citizens and Persons with Disabilities (PWDs) were also given 
focus, through TMC’s inclusive community development program. 

For livelihood programs a total of PhP 2.7M was spent to support different community-based 
entrepreneurial initiatives through company-organized People’s Organizations (POs). One of the major 
activities of TMC was the comprehensive assessment of all POs established by the company through 
the years. The Participatory Organizational Profiling and Assessment or POPA was initiated together 
with the POs to collectively determine the strengths, weaknesses and gaps and areas for improvement 
of the groups as basis for appropriate intervention for future projects.

Under this component of the SDMP, TMC provides both financial and technical assistance to further 
strengthen the capacities of the POs to make them self-reliant and productive organizations of the 
communities. In the table below are the corresponding classifications of community-based POs:

Type of Business/
Enterprise

No. of 
CBOs CBO

Merchandising 

(e.g., General Merchandise, 
Hardware and Agrivet 
Supply,Bigasan and 
Assorted Goods, Sari-sari 
Store)

6 CWOBB - Capandan Women’s Organization Bigasan ng Barangay
HATA - Hayanggabon Traders’ Association
PRIME- Panaghiusa Reporma sa Inesyatibong Magpalambo sa 
Ekonomiya
GKKAB – Gawad Kalinga Kapitbahayan Bigasan ng Barangay
CAPSASD – Capangdan Sabang Alliance for Sustainable Development
URWASS - Urbiztondo Rural Workers Association

 Home-Based Enterprises

(e.g., Waste Rugs and 
Doormat Making, food 
service)

1 HARE - Hayanggabon Rural Entrepreneur

Transport service / 
Passenger Vehicles

1 TASFPA - Taganito Seedling Producers Micro-folks Association

Corporate Social Responsibility  

TMC's CSR program is focused on the support and development of the Mamanwa IP group, through 
their registered group collectively known as Ampantrimtu. This organization is composed of 2 tribal 
groups with 120 households coming from Brgys. Taganito and Urbiztondo, with whom the company 
has an ongoing Memorandum of Agreement (MOA), as a result of the Free, Prior and Informed Consent 
(FPIC) provided by the IPs to TMC. Non-IP communities are also supported by the company in the 
areas of health, disaster risk reduction and infrastructure. 

CSR for IP Communities

For the residents of Punta Naga Mamanwa Village, 2013 was highlighted with projects aimed at the 
continuous development of their tribal communities. 

The Mamanwa tribe is composed of indigenous people (IPs) living in Taganito and Ubiztondo. TMC 
provided 120 homes, constructed in partnership with THPAL Nickel Corporation. Another village was 
also developed in coordinaton with Gawad Kalinga, providing 40 duplex units for 80 households.

Last year, improvements to a number of homes were made in the village. The project encouyraged 
the Mamanwas to furhter beautify the area and esnure thr safety of the environment and embark 
on individual home expansion and improvements. Apart from housing, slope stabilization abd road 
repairs were done in different parts of the community.
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Punta Naga is also home to the Punta Naga School, one of the education facilities constructed and 
supported by TMC and THPAL through the Adopt a School Program. For school year 2013-2014, 
enrollment went up to 438, from 236 in the previous year. This resulted in the hiring of 3 additional 
teachers and repair of 5 additional classrooms to accommodate the new students. Improvements of 
other school facilities and provision of educational materials such as posters and reference books 
were also key projects of TMC. Planting of various tree species and carabao grasses within the school 
grounds and selected areas of the community were initiated in coordination with the company’s 
community relations and environment group,  scholars, parents, teachers and students. Educational 
assistance to 15 high school and college scholars was also provided by the company.

CSR Program for Non-IP Communities

Apart from programs for the IP communities, TMC also implements CSR activities for non-IP 
communities both in the mining and non-mining barangays.

One of TMC’s major CSR projects for the year was the conduct of its annual medical-surgical mission. 
In February 2013, TMC and THPAL went to 6 mining barangays to provide its residents with medical 
services such as major and minor surgeries, lab exams and general consultations. All in all, 2,116 
people received different medical services during the mission. The breakdown is as follows:

Service Persons Benefitted
Minor Surgery 89
Major Surgery 109
General Consultation 1,696
Laboratory Exam 420

Another major initiative of the company is its program for disaster risk reduction and management 
through its in-house Emergency Response Team (ERT). In January 2013, incessant rains caused 
evacuations in barangays around the minesites, prompting TMC to provide assistance to the affected 
communities. The Crisis Management Team, called Oplan Flood, responded by coordinating with 
the LGU for the evacuation process and management of the evacuation center of the barangay. This 
included preparation of food, relief goods and provision water supply. A total of 2,013 evacuees were 
assisted.

Aside from natural calamities, TMC also responds to man-made disasters. One such event was a fire 
in the community of Barangay Taganito, which affected 105 households and 367 individuals. TMC’s 
fire brigade spearheaded the response together with the medical team, who attended to first-aid 
injuries. The ComRel unit of TMC also facilitated the evacuation center management in partnership 
with the Local Government Unit (LGU). Company employees pooled together to provide assorted 
goods, while TMC management also provided cash grants amounting to PhP2,500 for families 
affected by the fire.

CLOSURE PLAN

TMC already has a Final Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning Plan (FMRDP) that was approved 
in July 2012 covering its entire operation. This, however, is subject for review and revision to include 
new aspects of the company’s operation.

In terms of health support, TMC established a 
tribal clinic in the heart of the Village, wherein 
community-based medical consultations with 
free medicines were conducted. The company 
also encouraged healthier living by having 
families install vegetable gardens in their 
respective backyards to address malnutrition 
concerns and to contribute to food security. 
Community clean-ups in partnership with the 
school and the women sector were also regular 
activities that helped maintain the cleanliness 
of the community. TMC and THPAL are also 
planning the establishment of a Water and 
Sanitation Committee which will be responsible 
for the care and maintenance of a water system 
that will be installed by both companies.

Other programs were also conducted with the IPs, such as informal classes for the women sector referred 
to as “Mother Classes”, and Youth Classes which aim to address specific concerns related to target 
sectors. Values formation, reproductive health, hygiene, grooming, proper nutrition and basic home 
management and emergency preparedness were the focal topics throughout the year. Aside from these 
activities, the company also continued to assist the IPs in the facilitation of their medical referrals, papers 
for employment and coordination with the National Commission on Indigenous People (NCIP).

Students of the Punta Naga School
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The Hinatuan Mining Corporation (HMC) was incorporated in 1979 and was granted rights over 
Tagana-an, Surigao del Norte, in 1980. By 1983, the size of the property expanded with the 
acquisition of additional claims. The Tagana-an minesite covers an area of 773.77 hectares and 
is 100% owned by NAC. Since 2011, HMC has recorded 327.49 hectares of disturbed land. The 
Mineral Production Sharing Agreement (MPSA) of HMC for the Taganaan Mine will expire in 2032. 

In 2013, HMC’s revenue from sale of ore was PhP 3,438.9 million. An aggregate of 99.0 thousand 
WMT of saprolite ore was sold to Japanese and Chinese customers and 3,342.9 thousand WMT of 
limonite ore to Chinese customers.

Hinatuan Mining 
Corporation
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Environmental Responsibility

HMC recognizes its responsibility towards the environment around its areas of operation. 
For 2013, HMC allotted a budget of PhP 91.3 million for its Environmental Protection and 
Enhancement Programs (EPEP). This budget was used for various environmental projects that 
focus on rehabilitation and reforestation, biodiversity, pollution control, solid and hazardous waste 
management and watershed management, among others. Other key projects of HMC were the 
National Greening Program, environmental monitoring, coastal resource management and various 
research initiatives with academic institutions and private organizations.

Other initiatives of HMC focus on the mitigation of environmental impacts by focusing on key areas 
such as Land, Air and Water. Efforts to maintain the quality of these areas are as follows:

Land Air Water
Progressive rehabilitation and 
reforestation

Dust control thru regular road 
grading and spraying

Construction of siltation ponds/
sumps and curtain canals

National Greening Program

Through the National Greening Program (NGP), HMC works with its communities to protect and 
enhance the environment through reforestation. Families with limited livelihoods were engaged 
by the company to join and help achieve the company’s goal of environmental protection and 
enhancement through community-based seedling production and reforestration. 

Some of the programs done in partnership with the NGP are:
•	 Mining Forest Program
•	 Coastal Resource Management Program
•	 Environmental Monitoring Program
•	 Research and Development

REHABILITATION

HMC has consistently put an effort to progressively rehabilitate (backfill and reshape) around 15 
hectares of mined-out areas. From this amount of land, about 5 hectares were gradually re-vegetated 
with 19,500 seedlings planted in 2013. The community was also asked to assist in the efforts to 
expedite the process through its Community Output-Based Reforestation Program. Since 2011, HMC 
has rehabilitated 31 hectares of land in its areas of operation.

REFORESTATION

Outside the mined-out areas, HMC forested a total of 163 hectares of disturbed areas with 188,223 
seedlings planted. In addition, a total of 15,000 seedlings equivalent to 30 hectares were donated to 
communities under the said program. 

For coastal areas, 97,848 mangrove seedlings were planted on 33.39 hectares resulting in 156,317 
mangrove seedlings have planted on around 40.64 hectares since the program started in 2011. 
Regular coastal water monitoring is conducted by HMC and the water quality has remained within 
DENR limit. 

Year 2013 Cumulative (as of Dec 31 2013)
Area (In Hectares) # of Seedlings Planted Area (In Hectares) # of Seedlings Planted

Mined Out areas
HMC 5.28 19,536 31.12 55,238
Outside Mining Areas
HMC 192.85 203,223 228.73 243,080
Mining Disturbed Areas
HMC 33.30 83,832 64.66 118,661
Coastal Areas

HMC 33.39 97,848 40.64 156,317

HMC also implements the Coastal Resource Management Program (CRMP) covering a variety 
of activities such as the assessment of coastal and marine resources, protection of reef from 
degradation due to mining impact and enhancement of existing coastal and marine resources. 

Regular coastal clean-ups and underwater clean ups were conducted along the coasts of Barangay 
Talavera and Hinatuan Island wherein local residents worked with company employees, guests from 
government and non-government agencies and professional diving communities. 

On the aspect of research and linkages, HMC collaborated with UPLB and Caraga State University 
in the study of various species suited for mine rehabilitation. An ongoing study on the feasibility of 
Jatropha was also initiated with a private firm, Kibitech, Inc.

HMC’s expenditures for its EPEP in 2013 was PhP 91 million

The overall reforestation accomplishment outside mining 
areas is 193 hectares, with about 203,200 seedlings planted

Hinatuan Island
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Other species being studied and listed under the IUCN of HMC are: 
•	 Shorea negrosensis (categorized as vulnerable and critically endangered  species by DENR and 

IUCN) 
•	 Camptostemon philippinense (recognized by conservation authorities as endangered species)
•	 Paphiopedilum barbatum (categorized as vulnerable species by DENR and IUCN)
•	 Xanthostemon verdugonianus (endemic to the country and considered as an endangered species)

POLLUTION CONTROL

HMC manages its solid and hazardous wastes from operations and coming from communities through 
efficient and responsible programs. The company implements waste segregation, operationalized MRF, 
composting and landfilling. The company also has all applicable permits to handle hazardous wastes. 

HMC also continuously monitors its surrounding environment by conducting a regular water sampling, 
air sampling and monitoring of the drainage and siltation ponds. The results of the sampling are 
reported to the DENR regional offices of MGB and EMB on a quarterly basis. A separate monitoring of 
the Multi-Partite Monitoring Team (MMT) is also being undertaken on a quarterly basis. 

The HMC TNP environmental monitoring complies with the prescribed monitoring requirements of 
DENR which is implemented through the Multipartite Monitoring Team (MMT).  MMT members are 
composed of DENR-MGB 13, DENR EMB 13, REACH Foundation, Inc., Barangay Talavera LGU, religious 
sector representative and HMC representative.
	
Summary of the emissions, and energy used in last year’s operations can be found in the table below:

Category Material Amount Unit Source
Energy Electricity 394,027 KWH Gen Sets
Energy Diesel 5,382,227 Li Third Party Supplier
GHG Emissions CO2 14,454 Tonnes -

WASTE MANAGEMENT

Solid Waste Management

HMC manages its solid waste in compliance with 
DAO 2001-34 under RA 9003A. Waste materials 
generated by operations of the company are 
segregated and disposed accordingly, while 
plastics, wood branches, and leaves are shredded 
into smaller pieces separately by the granulator. 
The shredded biodegrable materials are used as 
mulch in mine rehabilitation, and metal scraps 
are sold to authorized buyer.

In managing these materials, the company 
uses a controlled dumpsite established at 
Eastern 1 where solid wastes are segregated 
into biodegradable and non-biodegradable. 
Recyclable materials are recovered and stored 
in the Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) at 
Kaskag Area and sold to scrap buyers, while 
biodegradable wastes are utilized as feed to 
the garbage granulator for use in production of 
vermiculture compost.

What is the difference between NGP and Mining Forest Program?

The National Greening Program (NGP) covers 
all mining contractors, permittees, permit 
holders and/or lessees. It was created by 
President Aquino in the early part of CY 2011 
through Executive Order No. 26 declaring the 
implementation of NGP as a government priority. 

The Mining Forest Program, however covers tree 
planting within areas encompassed by permit/
lease/contract areas of mining companies 
especially those that are idle or not needed for 
active mining operations and mined-out areas or 
areas programmed for rehabilitation after mining 
operations have already been fully completed.

Under the NGP guidelines, however, mining 
companies are now compelled to undertake 
reforestation projects over and above or in addition 
to those implemented under their respective 
mining forest programs. To differentiate between 
the two mandatory reforestation programs, the 
“mining forest program” covers only reforestation 
activities within the confines or boundaries of 
mining permit/contract/lease/tenement areas 
while the NGP guidelines specifically covers 
mandatory reforestation activities outside of 
mining contract/permit/lease/tenement areas.

Since the start of the project, 
264,122.23 m3 of silt has been 
recovered from established 
settling ponds, silt collector 
sumps and drainages

WATER QUALITY DEGRADATION MEASURES

Watershed Management Plan

HMC invested on a number of heavy equipments 
for its drainage maintenance and desilting 
program. One of the major projects is the 
re-engineering of main settling ponds to 
accommodate the volume of sediments and 
eroded materials from mine erosion. 

Around 127,529 m3 of silt were removed from 
existing settling ponds, silt collector sumps and 
drainages. So far, the total volume capacity of 
the established settling ponds and silt collector 
sumps stands at over 115,323 m3. Additional 
settling ponds and sumps are being constructed 
to accommodate the water run-off from active 
mine areas and other disturbed areas. 

Water Consumption

HMC used about 26,015 Gallons of water 
(98.47749 m3) for drinking purposes. The water 
was taken from filtered springs around the area. 
For planting purposes, HMC uses about 8,400 m3 
of water every year, while 34,380 m3 is used for 
dust suppression. Water for these purposes are 
sourced from Kaskag creek and settling ponds.

Hazardous Waste management

Identified hazardous waste are collected and 
transported by trained PCO personnel and 
properly stored at hazardous facility at Central 
Area. All hazardous wastes generated from the 
minesite are properly accounted and reported 
to the EMB Regional Office. Once ready for 
transport, these hazardous wastes are delivered, 
treated and stored through DENR-accredited 
transporters/ treaters. 

Used oil is also carefully managed by the 
company. Last year, a total of 238 drums of 
used oil were used for operations. To improve 
the management of used oil, the storage facility 
at the motorpool area was expanded to utilize 
a special containment unit. Internal waste 
materials (low grade pale gray soil), on the other 
hand, are also dumped together with the top soil 
for mine rehabilitation purposes. 

Multi-series settling pond
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Social Responsibility
HMC implements different projects to help develop the health, livelihood and address social issues 
facing the communities it operates in, as part of its corporate responsibility.

Regular employees are also provided with the following benefits:

Health and Safety

HMC considers the immense value of its workforce for its everyday operations. To ensure that their 
physical and mental well-being are maintained, the company developed and maintains health and 
safety programs for these employees.

One program is the creation of a Central Safety, Health and Environmental Committee (CSHEC) by 
the company. This committee is made up of 30 employees, 12 Labor-Management Council, 5 
management and 13 union officers. Apart from ensuring that proper health, safety and environmental 
practices are followed within HMC’s areas of operation, the committee is also in charge of approving 
the Annual Safety and Health Program (ASHP) of HMC, that is submitted to Mines and Geosciences 
Bureau 13 (MGB 13).

Employees

As of 2013, HMC’s total workforce is at 1,245. Breakdown of the company’s employees below: 

HMC Regular Employees’ Benefits: 
•	 Free meals
•	 Free laundry
•	 Free accommodation
•	 SSS, PHILHEALTH,PAG-IBIG
•	 Company Uniform
•	 Rice allowance
•	 Toiletries
•	 Medicine allowance
•	 Medicard(HMO)
•	 Sick leave
•	 Vacation leave
•	 Paternity leave, 
•	 Group insurance,
•	 Fly in-fly out airfare ticket
•	 Year end bonus & midyear bonus

Rank and File Benefits
•	 SSS,PHILHEALTH,PAG-IBIG,
•	 Free accomodation,
•	 Rice allowance,
•	 Medicine allowance, 
•	 Medicard (HMO),
•	 Group life insurance,
•	 Year end bonus & midyear bonus, 
•	 Sick leave, Vacation leave, 
•	 Paternity leave, 
•	 Company uniform

CBA & Benefits

As with other NAC companies, a Collective Bargaining Agreement, covering 85.86% of HMC employees, is 
agreed upon by HMC and its workers’ union. The breakdown of employees under the CBA is as follows:
Total number of employees 155
Total Rank & File employees 92
Confidential employees 13
Union members 9

JOB CLASS NUMBER of EMPLOYEES
Regular 148
Probationary 6
Consultant 1
PMI Agency 642
Security Agency 46
Rio Grande 128 
Germar 74
Tombo 200
GRAND TOTAL 1,245

Employee Turnover
Male: 12
Female: 4
Total: 16

The company also conducts health programs like lectures to educate workers on occupational 
hygiene, pulmonary TB, heat exhaustion/ heat stroke and other medical conditions to help employees 
maintain their good health inside and outside the workplace. HMC also conducts fitness programs to 
promote a non-sedentary lifestyle to its workers. To monitor the health of employees, the company 
conducts check-ups with sugar blood tests. 

Disaster recovery rescue drill

Group tree-planting activity
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SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PLAN

Similar to the other NAC companies (RTNMC, TMC and CMC), HMC also has a Social Development 
Management Plan (SDMP) that is developed every five years in consultation with the communities to 
address their issues and needs. Under the SDMP, HMC was able to implement projects covering areas 
of education, health, infrastructure and livelihood, for residents around the areas of operation. 

HMC supports 
1,251 scholars 
from day care to 
college including 
those enrolled 
in the technical-
vocational (tech-
voc) scholarship 
program

Under education, HMC scholars from day care pupils to 
secondary students, were provided with free school and 
matriculation fees, shoes, uniforms, bags, and educational 
supplies, while schools were given audio-visual equipment which 
include computer units and accessories. HMC also constructed 
school buildings and other school infrastructure support to 
augment the shortage of educational facilities in the community. 

Twenty-three (23) college scholars from host communities 
and the Municipality of Tagana-an were fully supported by 
the company as they took various courses like Engineering, 
Education, Environment and Mining. The students are enrolled 
in the following cities: Surigao, Butuan, Cebu, Dumaguete, and 
Manila. 

HMC, in partnership with Technical Education and Skills 
Development Authority (TESDA), provides assistance to its 
automotive, electronics and welding scholars through the 
‘enrollment to employment’ scholarship. Last year, 61 scholars 
benefited from the program, going under holistic training that 
includes character-building and attitude towards work training, 
basic occupational safety and health and actual skills training at 
TESDA centers in Surigao and Davao. The company also enrolled 
the scholars in basic American English training in Butuan to 
prepare them for future employment here and abroad. 

Recently, HMC scholars had the following accomplishments:
•	 14 welding scholars completed their requirements to be 

eligible for employment abroad, with the assistance of TESDA.
•	 18 automotive scholars are waiting for their OJT training in 

Butuan City in some of the world’s biggest and well-known 
car companies.

•	 29 electronic scholars on their OJT at Panasonic in Laguna.
Total  PhP 25,472,167.56

Educational Assistance Health

Infrastructure Livelihood

Information Campaign/
Mining Technology & 
Research

Socio-Cultural

PhP 12,508,096.55 PhP 3,290,469.36

PhP 3,057,778.00 PhP 1,852,875.75

PhP 287,858.57PhP 4,475,089.33

Tech-Voc Scholars attending TESDA skills training
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The company has also achieved a major milestone in education 
by implementing the Dynamic Learning Program (DLP)- a new 
science-based teaching methodology- for the first time in the 
Caraga Region, and third in Mindanao. The program was developed 
by Drs. Christopher and Ma. Victoria Bernido, both Ramon 
Magsaysay awardees for education. Assistance through trainings 
and seminars to DepEd teachers and administrators were also 
provided.

The company assists in the training of DepEd teachers and 
administrators to enhance teaching and learning method. HMC 
also supported other DepEd educational setups and policies such 
as the Alternative Learning System or and other extra-curricular 
activities especially in sports.

Under the health component of SDMP, HMC consistently 
implements its quarterly medical-dental mission, in partnership 
with the Tagana-an Municipal Health Office. The mission is carried 
in 3 host communities, namely: Brgy. Talavera, Sitio Campandan 
and Sitio Bagong Silang. The outreach program benefitted 
patients by providing them with free medical consultation, tooth 
extraction and medicines. HMC also conducted a feeding program 
for 72 underfed children resulting in the complete eradication of 
malnourishment in the community as reported by the barangay 
health center.

500 patients benefited from the quarterly medical-dental 
mission of HMC

Close to 650 families are direct beneficiaries of HMC livelihood 
programs and income-generating projects in both, Tagana-an 
and South Dinagat Nickel Projects

In terms of public infrastructure and utilities, HMC successfully repaired and rehabilitated the 
water systems of Brgy. Talavera and Sitio Bagong Silang. In addition, the operationlization of 
Sitio Campandan electrification project was attained. The company provided homes in the entire 
community with free service drop wires and electricity meters and street lighting.

HMC also sponsored the formulation of the Barangay Development Plan (BDP) of the 13 neighboring 
barangays from the Municipality of Tagana-an as part of its research program as the official guiding 
principle in improving the barangay and attaining progress in all its communities.

To help uplift the economic condition of residents, HMC implemented various livelihood projects in 
2013. These projects were:
•	 Development of the peoples’ organizations (POs)
•	 Support for dress making/tailoring livelihood and handicraft production
•	 Facilitation of entrepreneurial skills and organization development trainings
•	 Introduction of proper fish processing

Under the ICE 
advocacy, 50 
students benefited 
from the Summer 
Job Program 
through the 
Hinatuan mining 
Employment 
and Learnership 
Program for 
Students (HELPS)

In addition, HMC utilized its Mining Technology and Research funds specifically on Feasibility Study on 
potential livelihood projects and local socio-economic profiling for HMCs SDMP.

HMC medical mission

HMC supported Peoples Organization with their custom-made handbags
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Incorporated in 1979, Cagdianao Mining Coporation (CMC) is located in Cagdianao, Dinagat Island. 
The company acquired the rights to operate its mine in 1998, and was operational by 1999. Like 
HMC, CMC is 100% owned by NAC. Mining operations cover 697 hectares of land in Dinagat Island.

In 2013, revenue from sale of ore was at PhP 737.9 million. CMC sold an aggregate of 888.8 
thousand WMT of nickel ore ore in the same year. The volume of saprolite ore sold increased by 
60.0 thousand WMT however, there was a 256.8 decrease in limonite ore sold.

Cagdianao Mining 
Corporation
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Environmental Responsibility

CMC is committed to the principles of sustainable development and recognizes its roles as steward 
of the environment. The reforestation program of the company is aimed to increase forest cover of 
denuded areas. The program is also supports the MGB’s Mining Forest Program (MFP) and National 
Greening Program (NGP) of the government. Managing the impact on biodiversity, the environment 
team has come up with an offsetting strategy on activities associated by mining through the 
protection of Maraguing Watershed. Hence, improve its habitat and consequently meet the living 
conditions of flora and fauna. 

Currently, CMC does not have any mined-out sites. But much action and planning have already been 
ongoing to reduce any environmental impacts that the company may have in and around its areas of 
operation.

198.51 hectares  of land has benefited from planting 
projects in pursuit of the Carbon Sink Program and National 
Greening Program

Similar to RTNMC, for their exemplary environmental programs, CMC 
received the Presidential Mineral Industry Environmental Award - Platinum 
Achievement (surface mining category) during the 2010 annual National Mine 
Safety and Environment Conference.

REFORESTATION

Greening and reforestation has been conducted outside the mining areas and in denuded areas within 
its Mineral Production Sharing Agreement (MPSA) which are not suitable for mining. In 2012, CMC 
planted on 4.3 hectares with almost 5,000 seedlings. Organic fertilizer from the company’s vermi-
compost project is being used to improve survival rates of the plants. CMC spent PhP 23 million for the 
programs under EPEP. 
Other activities are continuously conducted for the maintenance and protection of reforested areas, 
including re-planting, brushing, fertilizer application and pruning. With respect to coastal areas, the 
company conducts maintenance efforts for 4,600 mangrove propagules planted on about 0.62 hectares 
of the declared Valencia Marine Protected Area.

POLLUTION CONTROL

CMC implements programs and policies that aim to reduce the impact of its operations on the 
environment. Some of these projects include management of dust emissions, regular maintenance 
of equipment, management of waste and monitoring of emissions and energy use. 

In order to minimize the generation of dust, the company employs the following activities: 
•	 Regular water spraying of all haulage areas, including barangay roads, especially during dry 

season in the months of May to September
•	 Employed four (4) water Lorries for spraying, wherein a total of 3,305 trips or equivalent to 33,050 

cu.m. of water was sprayed in most major mine and community roads
•	 Periodic grading of haulage areas
•	 Periodic road matting of haulage areas
•	 Creation of dust barriers through the planting of trees at the barangay roadsides and mine 

access road
•	 Regular conduct of in-house monitoring on ambient air, with the use of a High Volume Sampler. 

CMC Eco Park

CMC rehabilitated area
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So far, CMC has not experienced any violations or major issues from the local residents pertaining to 
airborne dust due t the mitigating measures done by the company.

As a means of reducing CO2 emissions, a considerable number of equipments/ facilities were provided 
with mufflers. Periodic maintenance schedules on various equipments also were conducted to ensure 
they run safely and efficiently. 

Planting of diversified species within and outside MPSA area is another initiative to reduce greenhouse 
gas emission. Trees are proven to sequester carbon and other chemicals emitted during mining 
operation. To date, a total of 198.51 hectares of land has been used for planting activities in pursuit of 
the Carbon Sink Program and National Greening Program.

In terms of energy consumption, CMC used 817 MWH for operational activities, through its gen sets. 
To power these gen sets and other heavy equipment, the company consumed 1.88 million liters of 
diesel fuel, while 11,910 liters of gasoline was used for other equipment.

WASTE MANAGEMENT

The company developed a Waste Management Program to ensure that waste generated in the camp 
site are collected, segregated, stored, transported and disposed properly. CMC also established a Waste 
Management System where wastes from the Mine Camp Area and Mine Pit Area are collected and 
transported to the Material Recovery Facility (MRF). In the MRF, waste materials are segregated into 
scrap metals, recyclables, waste oil, waste tires and batteries. The steel scraps gathered from the MRF 
are sold to approved scrap buyers and generate additional income.

Hazardous Waste Management

All hazardous materials generated by the company such as used oil, lubricants, tires and batteries are 
temporarily stored in the MRF to keep emissions from affecting the environment.  CMC also installed 
oil and water separator within the fuel depot, fuel storage areas and other areas handling hazardous 
substances in adherence to RA 6969 known as “Hazardous, Toxic and Nuclear Waste Act of 1990”.

WATER QUALITY DEGRADATION MEASURES

Water Management Plan

Solid Waste Management

The total solid waste (garbage) generated in 2013 was 1,422 m3. Out of this, only 595 m3 were disposed 
to sanitary landfills and the rest were stored in the MRF and used as compostable materials, accounting 
for the remaining 827 m3.  

Waste generated from mining operations (stripping and extraction), on the other hand, produced non-
profit rock materials. These rocks were dumped temporarily in designated waste dump areas or stockpile 
zones for future use like filling for haul roads, causeways and silt pond structures. Other overburden 
materials will be used for rehabilitation/ revegetation for backfilling of denuded or mined-out areas. The 
total stripped waste generated during Year 2013 accounted to 656, 653.9 WMT.

CMC settling ponds 
have a total volume 
capacity of over 
392,800 m3

Water is discharged from silt ponds and drainage canals that are 
directed into rivers/streams. Currently, CMC has no data on the 
quantity of water that discharges into these bodies of water as it 
is hard to quantify the volume of run-off that goes into various silt 
ponds.

In terms of silt management, over 77,000 m3 of silt was removed 
from existing settling ponds. To help improve the process, 
additional settling ponds were constructed fronting the CMC Mine 
Camp with a total capacity of about 2,060 m3. 

Water Consumption

CMC’s main source of water supply for domestic consumption is drawn from two spring water 
sources of Pinagbahan  area and Maraguing watershed. In 2013, a total of 33,050 cu.m was withdrawn 
from both sources. 

CLOSURE ACTIVITIES

CMC agrees to the principle of the Final Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning Plan (FMRDP), as 
a means of rehabilitating excavated, mined-out, settling ponds and disturbed areas to the condition of 
environmental safety. 

The company also agrees to prevent or eliminate long term environmental impacts by returning mined 
land to a physically and chemically stable, productive and self-sustaining condition while taking into 
consideration the beneficial uses of the land and the surrounding areas. The Closure Plan ensures 
that alternative skills and sustainable livelihood opportunities are provided to the mine employees 
including their dependents and to the host and neighboring communities. 

Decommissioning is also the transition period that begins with the cessation of the mine pit and 
the nickel lateriate production and ends with the removal of all unwanted structures. The company 
shall adopt a decommissioning strategy for each mine component, including mitigating measures 
to assure that potential adverse environmental impacts shall be minimized during the course of the 
decommissioning period. However, all building structures, recreational facilities, housing, pier and 
causeway shall be turned-over to the Local Government Unit (LGU) of Barangay Valencia. During the 
decommissioning and after mine closure, monitoring and maintenance shall be continued until such a 
time that the area is declared safe by the Mines & Geosciences Bureau.

Water spraying at CMC minesite
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Social Responsibility
CMC gives much time and resources to the development of programs that aim to benefit its 
employees, and the communities that surround its areas of operation.

Employees

As of 2013, CMC’s total workforce is at 703. This number is made up of regular, probationary and 
other types of employees. The breakdown of CMC’s workforce is as follows:

Sr. Manager 1
Manager 3
Supervisor 36
Rank and File 132
Total Probationary & Regular 172
Seasonal 531
Total Workforce* 703

CBA and Benefits

Of the regular CMC employees, 61% (104 of 172) are covered by the collective bargaining agreements 
(CBA) under CMWU-NAFLU-KMU. The union is close shop where all non-confidential rank and file 
are automatic members of the union. The CBA is renewed every 5 years while economic provisions are 
reviewed after 3 years. Salient features of the CBA include members’ compensation and benefits, 
incentives, union security, grievance procedure, no strike, lock-out and work stoppage provisions and 
Labor Management Committee. 

Full time employees and rank and file employees are also given the following benefits: 
•	 Supervisors up to Senior Managers - free housing and messing, Fly In- Fly Out (FIFO), vacation and 

sick leave credits, life insurance, medical insurance including legal dependents, rice allowance, and 
toiletries allowance

•	 Rank and File employees - free housing ,vacation and sick leave credits, life insurance, medical 
insurance including legal dependents, rice allowance, and toiletries allowance

•	 Seasonal drivers and heavy equipment operators are  given rice and cash production incentives.

CMC considers the immense value of its workforce for its everyday operations. To ensure that their 
physical and mental well-being are maintained, the company developed and maintains health and  
safety programs for its employees.

Health and Safety

It is the objective of the company to integrate total loss control into the management system so that 
people, equipment, materials and the environment are amply protected from accidents. Line managers 
take direct hand in pursuing loss prevention activities through the following standards:

1.	 Personal Injury and Loss of Life Prevention
2.	 Property Damage and Wastage Control
3.	 Comfortable Health Care Environment
4.	 Safety, Health and Environment Policy
5.	 Total Loss Control Management
6.	 Central Safety and Health Committee
7.	 Safety and Health/Loss Control Tours

Programs and activities implemented to ensure achievement of the health and safety objectives 
include planned Inspection, job and task analysis, accident/incident investigation, emergency 
preparedness, maintenance organizational health and safety rules, accident and incident analysis, 
employee training, issuance and monitoring of proper usage of personal protective equipment, health 
services, regular group meetings, advocacy, regular monitoring and evaluation.

Million Manhour Milestone

As of December 2013 the company acquired Ten Million Two Hundred Thousand Three Hundred 
Eighty and 01/100 (10,204,380.01) without lost time accident. For Fiscal Year July 2013 to June 
2014 the company acquired Eight Hundred Nineteen Thousand Five Hundred Sixty Seven and 75/100 
(819,567.75) as of December 2013. Incidents have significantly reduced from 156 in Y2011 to 40 in 
Y2013 or 74% reduction. 

YEAR Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total
2011 2 2 6 10 11 26 18 24 31 23 2 1 156
2012 5 8 13 7 9 14 18 14 5 6 0 1 100
2013 3 0 0 15 4 0 3 5 4 6 0 0 40

		

3 year Accident Record
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SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PLAN

977 elementary 
and high school 
students benefited 
from financial 
assistance of CMC 
through the SDMP

CMC implemented various projects in the areas of Health, Education, 
Livelihood, Public Utilities and Socio Cultural Values (HELPS) under the 
SDMP to benefit its host and neighboring barangays: Valencia, Boa, 
Legaspi and Sitio Maytubig. Apart from the SDMP, the company also 
implements extended programs for Corporate Social Responsibility, 
which are outside the SDMP fund. Currently, the company is in its 3rd 
year of the 5 year SDMP.

To uplift education in the four barangays, CMC provides support to 
the public schools in the form of subsidies for volunteer teachers, 
assistance for building repairs and improvements and provision of 
multi-media equipment, desktop computers, and printers. Last year, 
2 classrooms were constructed and materials for school renovations 
and facilities were provided to communities.

Elementary and high school 
students were provided with 
assistance to pay for their 
schooling, while 18 deserving 
college scholars from the host and 
neighboring communities were 
given the opportunity of free college 
education. Twenty-four teachers 
were also provided with subsidies 
by the SDMP fund.

CMC has been conducting 
annual medical missions in the 
communities where the company 
operates. These missions include 
free medical consultations, with 
first-aid medicines and vitamins, 
feeding programs for children 
between the ages 4-7 years 
old, and the provision of health 
supplies for the Senior Citizens.. 
Under the Company’s CSR, a NAC-
wide medical mission was also 
conducted which catered major 
and minor surgeries for all patients 
coming from the communities of 
its three Operating Companies in 
CARAGA.

To help develop infrastructure in the barangays CMC provides assistance by building, refurbishing 
or rehabilitating buildings and other structures. In Barangay Valencia, two day care centers were 
constructed while centers in neighboring barangays were given assistance for improvement. Water 
systems improvement in the four Barangays and the installation of solar powered street lights were 
also conducted, in 2013.

In terms of livelihood, technical 
services training on heavy equipment 
operations through TESDA was 
conducted for qualified men from the 
community. The production of curtains 
and fashion accessories were also 
taught to women and out-of-school-
youth, wherein trainees were provided 
with tools and materials needed to 
start-up a small business. Other 
women goups were also trained in 
hot meals – commercial cooking and 
food processing, also provided with 
the needed ingredients, materials and 
equipment. A tilapia culture project 
was introduced and implemented for 
one barangay, and other previously 
implemented projects such as hog 
and poultry raising, rice retailing, 
and agrivet supplies retailing were 
sustained. Trainings on organizational 
developement, financial and project 
management were also conducted 
in order to equip the beneficiaries, or 
the People’s Organizations (POs), in 
the establishement, management and 
monitoring phases, thus,strengthening 
the groups and enabling them to 
sustain these programs. A livelihood 
center building was also constructedat 
the host community, which will serve 
as a trade venue for SDMP’s livelihood 
programs for the women’s association 
such as hardware supply store, credit 
cooperative and tailoring shop.
 

Gift giving at Cabiton-an

Commercial cooking training at Valencia

Medical missions at Brgy. Legaspi

Health supplies for the senior citizens

Furthermore, in the light of inspiring and bringing hope to our future generations, a first ever 
conducted in the mining communities of CARAGA Region, was the 3-day Values Formation Seminar 
for the young people, the “YOUTH”, held last year by CMC. SK Officials and other youth leaders from 
the host community of the Company actively went through the experience of being shaped into 
becoming responsible future leaders and citizens of the community and of the country.
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Road Ahead 

NAC is committed to continue growing sustainably, always taking into consideration our responsibility 
towards the people and environment.

Being in the minerals development industry for so long, we have been creating plans to further improve 
our business, looking beyond profit and focusing on better ways to mesh social and environmental 
development into our operations.

Guided by our values, we have identified focus areas which can bring us closer to achieving our targets. 

GRI Content Index Sheet
Profile 

Disclosure Description Page No. Section / Direct Answer

1.1
Statement from the most senior decision-maker of the 
organization

2 Joint Message from Chairman and President

1.2 Description of key impacts, risks, and opportunities 23 Risk related to business

2.1 Name of the organization 4 About NAC

2.2 Primary brands, products, and/or services 10 Products & Services

2.3 Operational structure of the organization 8 Corporate Structure

2.4 Location of organization’s headquarters 92 Corporate Directory

2.5 Number of countries where the organization operates 9 Overview of 4 operating mines

2.6 Nature of ownership and legal form 8 About NAC

2.7 Markets served 12 Products & Services

2.8 Scale of the reporting organization 22 Social Responsibility

2.9 Significant changes during the reporting period There were no major changes

2.10 Awards received in the reporting period

3.1 Reporting period 1 About the Report

3.2 Date of most recent previous report 1 About the Report

3.3 Reporting cycle 1 About the Report

3.4 Contact point for questions regarding the report 92 Corporate Directory

3.5 Process for defining report content 1 About the Report

3.6 Boundary of the report 1 Corporate Structure

3.7
State any specific limitations on the scope or boundary of the 
report 

Reported in operational mine sites only

3.8
Basis for reporting on joint ventures, subsidiaries, leased 
facilities, outsourced operations, and other entities

Ownership percentage

3.9 Data measurement techniques and the bases of calculations
Based on the internal standards for mining 
industry

3.10

Explanation of the effect of any re-statements of information 
provided in earlier reports, and the reasons for such re-
statement 

None

3.11
Significant changes from previous reporting periods in the 
scope, boundary, or measurement methods 

This is the first sustainability report

3.12
Table identifying the location of the Standard Disclosures in the 
report. 

83 GRI Content Index Sheet 

3.13
Policy and current practice with regard to seeking external 
assurance for the report. 

90 External Assurance Certificate

4.1
Governance structure of the organization, including committees 
under the highest governance body 

14 Board Committee

4.2
Indicate whether the Chair of the highest governance body is 
also an executive officer

14 The Board

4.3

For organizations that have a unitary board structure, state the 
number and gender of members of the highest governance 
body that are independent and/or non-executive members

14 The Board

4.4
Mechanisms for shareholders and employees to provide 
recommendations or direction to the highest governance body

2013 Annual Report

4.5

Linkage between compensation for members of the highest 
governance body, senior managers, and executives and the 
organization’s performance

2013 Annual Report

4.6
Processes in place for the highest governance body to ensure 
conflicts of interest are avoided

15 Audit & Risk Committee 

4.7

Process for determining the composition, qualifications, and 
expertise of the members of the highest governance body and 
its committees

15 Nomination Committee 
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4.8

Internally developed statements of mission or values, codes of 
conduct, and principles relevant to economic, environmental, 
and social performance and the status of their implementation

7 Mission, vision, corporate values

4.9

Procedures of the highest governance body for overseeing the 
organization’s identification and management of economic, 
environmental, and social performance, including relevant 
risks and opportunities, and adherence or compliance with 
internationally agreed standards, codes of conduct, and 
principles

15 Audit & Risk Committee 

4.10

Processes for evaluating the highest governance body’s 
own performance, particularly with respect to economic, 
environmental, and social performance

 

4.11
Explanation of whether and how the precautionary approach or 
principle is addressed by the organization

 

4.12

Externally developed economic, environmental, and 
social charters, principles, or other initiatives to which the 
organization subscribes or endorses

None

4.13
Memberships in associations  and/or national/international 
advocacy organizations in which the organization 

Chamber of Mines, Philippines

4.14 List of stakeholder groups engaged by the organization 27 Stakeholder Management 

4.15
Basis for identification and selection of stakeholders with whom 
to engage

27 Stakeholder Management 

4.16
Approaches to stakeholder engagement, including frequency of 
engagement by type and by stakeholder group

27 Stakeholder Management 

4.17

Key topics and concerns that have been raised through 
stakeholder engagement, and how the organization has 
responded to those key topics and concerns, including through 
its reporting

27 Stakeholder Management 

Performance 
Indicator Description Page No. Section / Direct Answer

Economic
EC1

Direct economic value generated and distributed, 
including revenues, operating costs, employee 
compensation, donations and other community 
investments, retained earnings, and payments to capital 
providers and governments.

24 Economic Profitability

EC2 Financial implications and othe r risks and opportunities 
for the organization’s activities due to climate change. 

23, 26
Risk related to business and industry, 
financial position

EC3 Coverage of the organization’s defined benefit plan 
obligations. 

PhP 963 Million was spent on employee 
benefits

EC4
Significant financial assistance received from 
government. 

We pay equal / higher to the local 
minimum wage as specified by the local 
government for the region

EC5 Range of ratios of standard entry level wage by gender 
compared to local minimum wage at significant locations 
of operation.

We have specific suppliers for the services 
they comply with our environmental / 
social requirement criteria.

EC6 Policy, practices, and proportion of spending on locally-
based suppliers at significant locations of operation. 

We hire site workers (rank & file level 
employees from the local community of 
the mine site.

EC7 Procedures for local hiring and proportion of senior 
management hired from the local community at 
significant locations of operation. 

Social Development Mgmt. Plan
Corporate Social Responsibility

EC8 Development and impact of infrastructure investments 
and services provided primarily for public benefit 
through commercial, in-kind, or pro bono engagement. 

43, 55, 68, 80
Social Development Mgmt. Plan
Corporate Social Responsibility

EC9
Understanding and describing significant indirect 
economic impacts, including the extent of impacts. 

43,  55, 68, 80
Social Development Mgmt. Plan
Corporate Social Responsibility

Environment

EN1 Materials used by weight or volume. 39 Materials Stewardship

EN2
Percentage of materials used that are recycled input 
materials. 

EN3 Direct energy consumption by primary energy source. 36, 51, 64, 75 Pollution Control

EN4 Indirect energy consumption by primary source.

EN5
Energy saved due to conservation and efficiency 
improvements.

64 Pollution Control

EN6

Initiatives to provide energy-efficient or renewable 
energy based products and services, and reductions in 
energy requirements as a result of these initiatives. 

EN7
Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption and 
reductions achieved. 

EN8 Total water withdrawal by source. 38, 52, 66, 77 Water Quality Measures

EN9
Water sources significantly affected by withdrawal of 
water. 

38, 52, 66, 77 Water Quality Measures

EN10
Percentage and total volume of water recycled and 
reused. 

EN11

Location and size of land owned, leased, managed 
in, or adjacent to, protected areas and areas of high 
biodiversity value outside protected areas.

32, 49, 63, 74 Reforestation

EN12
Description of significant impacts of activities, products, 
and services on biodiversity in protected areas and areas 
of high biodiversity value outside protected areas. 

18 Environmental Responsibility

EN13 Habitats protected or restored. 32, 49, 63, 74 Reforestation

EN14
Strategies, current actions, and future plans for 
managing impacts on biodiversity.

18 Mine Rehabilitation Reforestation

EN15
Number of IUCN Red List species and national 
conservation list species with habitats in areas affected 
by operations, by level of extinction risk. 

None of the IUCN species are affected

EN16
Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by 
weight. 

36, 51, 64, 75 Pollution Control

EN17
Other relevant indirect greenhouse gas emissions by 
weight. 

36, 51, 64, 75 Pollution Control

EN18
Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and 
reductions achieved.

36, 51, 64, 75 Pollution Control

EN19 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances by weight. We don’t emit ODS

EN20
NOx, SOx, and other significant air emissions by type and 
weight. 

 

EN21 Total water discharge by quality and destination. 38, 52, 66, 77 Water Quality Measures

EN22 Total weight of waste by type and disposal method. 36, 51, 66, 77 Waste Management 

EN23 Total number and volume of significant spills. There were no significant spills

EN24

Weight of transported, imported, exported, or treated 
waste deemed hazardous under the terms of the Basel 
Convention Annex I, II, III, and VIII, and percentage of 
transported waste shipped internationally. 

All our waste are properly disposed by the 
DENR accredited recycler

EN25

Identity, size, protected status, and biodiversity value of 
water bodies and related habitats significantly affected 
by the reporting organization’s discharges of water and 
runoff. 

38, 52, 66, 77 Water Quality Measures

EN26
Initiatives to mitigate environmental impacts of products 
and services, and extent of impact mitigation.

17, 30, 48, 62, 
74

Environmental Responsibility 
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EN27
Percentage of products sold and their packaging 
materials that are reclaimed by category. 

 

EN28
Monetary value of significant fines and total number 
of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and regulations. 

There were no significant fines

EN29

Significant environmental impacts of transporting 
products and other goods and materials used for the 
organization’s operations, and transporting members of 
the workforce. 

Impact on Biodiversity - Sea transport

EN30
Total environmental protection expenditures and 
investments by type.

17, 30, 48, 62, 
74

Environmental Responsibility 

Labor Practices

LA1
Total workforce by employment type, employment 
contract, and region, broken down by gender.

22, 40, 53, 66, 
78

Employees

LA2
Total number and rate of new employee hires and 
employee turnover by age group, gender, and region.

41, 53, 66 Employees

LA3
Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not 
provided to temporary or part-time employees, by major 
operations. 

41, 53, 66, 78 Benefits

LA15
Return to work and retention rates after parental leave, 
by gender.

All the employees returned after their 
parental leave

LA4
Percentage of employees covered by collective 
bargaining agreements.

41, 53, 66, 78  CBA

LA5
Minimum notice period(s) regarding significant 
operational changes, including whether it is specified in 
collective agreements. 

LA6

Percentage of total workforce represented in formal 
joint management-worker health and safety committees 
that help monitor and advice on occupational health and 
safety programs. 

42, 54, 67, 79 Health & Safety 

LA7
Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, and 
absenteeism, and number of work-related fatalities by 
region and by gender.

42, 54, 67, 79 Health & Safety 

LA8

Education, training, counseling, prevention, and risk-
control programs in place to assist workforce members, 
their families, or community members regarding serious 
diseases.

42, 54, 67, 79 Health & Safety 

LA9
Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements 
with trade unions. 

41, 54, 66 Health & Safety 

LA10
Average hours of training per year per employee by 
gender, and by employee category. 

41, 54, 66 Benefits

LA11
Programs for skills management and lifelong learning 
that support the continued employability of employees 
and assist them in managing career endings. 

41, 54, 66 Benefits

LA12
Percentage of employees receiving regular performance 
and career development reviews, by gender.

We conduct annual performance reviews 
for our employees

LA13

Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of 
employees per employee category according to gender, 
age group, minority group membership, and other 
indicators of diversity.

14 Reported in employment level

LA14
Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of women to 
men by employee category, by significant locations of 
operation. 

Employee salary is based on the position 
and level of responsibility they hold in the 
company but not based on the gender.

Human Resources

HR1

Percentage and total number of significant investment 
agreements and contracts that include clauses 
incorporating human rights concerns, or that have 
undergone human rights screening. 

HR2
Percentage of significant suppliers, contractors and other 
business partners that have undergone human rights 
screening, and actions taken. 

All our suppliers need to implement social 
standards of the company 

HR3

Total hours of employee training on policies and 
procedures concerning aspects of human rights that 
are relevant to operations, including the percentage of 
employees trained. 

 

HR4
Total number of incidents of discrimination and actions 
taken.

There were no actions of discrimination 
taken

HR5

Operations and significant suppliers identified in 
which the right to exercise freedom of association and 
collective bargaining may be violated or at significant 
risk, and actions taken to support these rights. 

We ensure that there are no risk to the CBA 
we have with the employees and al the 
members fully enjoy their rights

HR6

Operations and significant suppliers identified as having 
significant risk for incidents of child labor, and measures 
taken to contribute to the effective abolition of child 
labor.

We ensure that none of our as well as our 
local suppliers have any incidents of child 
labor practice. 

HR7

Operations and significant suppliers identified as having 
significant risk for incidents of forced or compulsory 
labor, and measures to contribute to the elimination of 
all forms of forced or compulsory labor. 

There were no incidents of forced / com-
pulsory labor in the company and mine site

HR8
Percentage of security personnel trained in the 
organization’s policies or procedures concerning aspects 
of human rights that are relevant to operations. 

42, 54, 67, 79 Health & Safety 

HR9
Total number of incidents of violations involving rights of 
indigenous people and actions taken.

42, 57 Corporate Social Responsibility

HR10
Percentage and total number of operations that have 
been subject to human rights reviews and/or impact 
assessments.

We ensure that none of our operations 
have any impact on human rights of our 
employees and surrounding communities. 
We have designed programs to ensure no 
violations of such occur in through any of 
our operations. 

HR11
Number of grievances related to human rights filed, 
addressed and resolved through formal 
grievance mechanisms.

There were no such grievances

Society

SO1
Percentage of operations with implemented local 
community engagement, impact assessments, and 
development programs.

Community Relations & Development
Social Development Management Plan
Corporate Social Responsibility

SO9
Operations with significant potential or actual negative 
impacts on local communities.

Community Relations & Development
Social Development Management Plan
Corporate Social Responsibility

SO10
Prevention and mitigation measures implemented in 
operations with significant potential or actual negative 
impacts on local communities.

Community Relations & Development
Social Development Management Plan
Corporate Social Responsibility

SO2
Percentage and total number of business units analyzed 
for risks related to corruption. 

SO3
Percentage of employees trained in organization’s anti-
corruption policies and procedures. 

SO4 Actions taken in response to incidents of corruption.

SO5
Public policy positions and participation in public policy 
development and lobbying. 



88 89 

NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION 2013 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

SO6
Total value of financial and in-kind contributions to 
political parties, politicians, and related institutions by 
country.

SO7
Total number of legal actions for anti-competitive 
behavior, anti-trust, and monopoly practices and their 
outcomes. 

There were no such actions

SO8
Monetary value of significant fines and total number of 
non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws 
and regulations. 

There were no such fines

Product Responsibility

PR1

Life cycle stages in which health and safety impacts of 
products and services are assessed for improvement, 
and percentage of significant products and services 
categories subject to such procedures. 

39 Material Stewardship

PR2

Total number of incidents of non-compliance with 
regulations and voluntary codes concerning health and 
safety impacts of products and services during their life 
cycle, by type of outcomes. 

There were no such incidents

PR3
Type of product and service information required by 
procedures and percentage of significant products and 
services subject to such information requirements. 

PR4
Total number of incidents of non-compliance with 
regulations and voluntary codes concerning product and 
service information and labeling, by type of outcomes. 

PR5
Practices related to customer satisfaction, including 
results of surveys measuring customer satisfaction. 

PR6
Programs for adherence to laws, standards, and 
voluntary codes related to marketing communications, 
including advertising, promotion, and sponsorship. 

PR7

Total number of incidents of non-compliance with 
regulations and voluntary codes concerning marketing 
communications, including advertising, promotion, and 
sponsorship by type of outcomes. 

PR8
Total number of substantiated complaints regarding 
breaches of customer privacy and losses of customer 
data. 

PR9
Monetary value of significant fines for non-compliance 
with laws and regulations concerning the provision and 
use of products and services. 

-

Mining Sector Supplement

Profile Disclosure Description Page No. Section / Direct Answer

EC7 – MMSS
Commentary added to include Proportion of local workforce as 
well as local management

22 Social Responsibility

EN2 – MMSS Commentary added to clarify the scope of scrap 16 Environmental Responsibility

EN12 – MMSS

Commentary added to emphasize the link to resettlement and 
closure activities.
Compilation added to report on biodiversity impacts of 
resettlement or closure.

59, 77 Closure Plan

MM1
Amount of land (owned or leased, and managed for production 
activities or extractive use) disturbed or rehabilitated.

18, 32, 49, 
63, 74

Mine Rehabilitation

EN13 – MMSS Compilation added to report on biodiversity offsets.
18, 32, 49, 

63, 74

Rio Tuba Nickel Mining Corp.
Taganito Mining Corp.
Hinatuan Mining Corp.
Cagdinao Mining Corp.

EN14 – MMSS

Commentary added to describe the relevance of ecosystems 
services.
Commentary added to compilation to invite reporting on 
ecosystems services and approaches.

18, 32, 49, 
63, 74

Mine Rehabilitation

MM2
The number and percentage of total sites identified as requiring 
biodiversity management plans according to stated criteria, and 
the number (%) of those sites with plans in place.

18, 32, 49, 
63, 74

Environmental Responsibility

EN20 – MMSS Commentary added to include mobile and stationary sources. Environmental Responsibility

MM3
Total amounts of overburden, rock, tailings, and sludge and their 
associated risks.

All our sites have EPEP plans 
in place for environmental 
protection

EN23 – MMSS
Commentary added to clarify the scope of spillages.
Compilation added to report on the outcome of spillage incidents.

 

MM4
Number of strikes and lock-outs exceeding one week’s duration, 
by country.

 

LA7 – MMSS 
Commentary added under compilation to include a description of 
fatal accidents.

42, 54, 67, 
79

Health & Safety Mgmt

HR5 – MMSS 
Commentary added under compilation to report how freedom of 
association policy is implemented.

There were no incident of 
spillage

MM5

Total number of operations taking place in or adjacent to 
Indigenous Peoples’ territories, and number and percentage 
of operations or sites where there are formal agreements with 
Indigenous Peoples’ communities.

42, 57
Corporate Social 
Responsibility

SO1 – MMSS 
Commentary added to describe the relevance of community 
engagement processes.

43, 55, 68, 
80

Health & Safety 

MM6
Number and description of significant disputes relating to land 
use, customary rights of local communities and Indigenous 
Peoples.

42, 57
There were no such disputes 
with any of our host 
communities

MM7
The extent to which grievance mechanisms were used to 
resolve disputes relating to land use, customary rights of local 
communities and Indigenous Peoples, and the outcomes.

There were no such 
grievances

MM8

Number (and percentage) of company operating sites where 
artisanal and small-scale mining (ASM) takes place on, or adjacent 
to, the site; the associated risks and the actions taken to manage 
and mitigate these risks.

MM9
Sites where resettlements took place, the number of households 
resettled in each, and how their livelihoods were affected in the 
process.

MM10 Number and percentage of operations with closure plans.
All our sites have closure 
plan

SO8 – MMSS 
Commentary added on judgments related to health, safety and 
labor laws.

42, 54, 67, 
79

Health & Safety 

MM11 Programs and progress relating to materials stewardship. 39 Material Stewardship
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Corporate Directory
Address:

Head Office
28th Floor NAC Tower Bldg., 32nd Street
Bonifacio Global City, Fort Bonifacio
Taguig City, Philippines 1634
T: +632 892 6669
F: +632 892 5344

Mine Sites:

Rio Tuba Mine
Barangay Rio Tuba, Bataraza, Palawan

Taganito Mine
Barangay Taganito, Claver, Surigao del Norte

Cagdianao Mine
Barangay Valencia, Cagdianao, Dinagat Islands

Hinatuan Mine
Barangay Talavera, Taganaan, Surigao del Norte

Corporate Website:
www.nickelasia.com
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